Vascular Smooth Muscle Structure and Function in Health and Disease

Chi-Ming Hai editor

World Scientific

Vascular Smooth Muscle Structure and Function in Health and Disease

This page intentionally left blank

Vascular Smooth Muscle Structure and Function in Health and Disease

Editor Chi-Ming Hai Brown University



NEW JERSEY · LONDON · SINGAPORE · BEIJING · SHANGHAI · HONG KONG · TAIPEI · CHENNAI · TOKYO

Published by
World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.
5 Toh Tuck Link, Singapore 596224
USA office: 27 Warren Street, Suite 401-402, Hackensack, NJ 07601
UK office: 57 Shelton Street, Covent Garden, London WC2H 9HE

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

VASCULAR SMOOTH MUSCLE Structure and Function in Health and Disease

Copyright © 2017 by World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.

All rights reserved. This book, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or any information storage and retrieval system now known or to be invented, without written permission from the publisher.

For photocopying of material in this volume, please pay a copying fee through the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA. In this case permission to photocopy is not required from the publisher.

ISBN 978-981-3144-05-7

Typeset by Stallion Press Email: enquiries@stallionpress.com

Printed in Singapore

This book is dedicated to the many pioneers of smooth muscle research, especially my mentor, colleague and friend, Dr. Richard A. Murphy, to current investigators who have brought unique insight into this complex field of endeavor, and to future investigators who we hope will solve the numerous important questions that remain. This page intentionally left blank

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
	Chi-Ming Hai	
2.	Structure of Differentiated/Contractile Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Thomas I. Eddinger	7
3.	Vascular Structure and Function Paul H. Ratz	47
4.	Actin Filament Dynamics During Vascular Smooth Muscle Contraction William C. Cole and Michael P. Walsh	145
5.	Developmental Basis of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypes Christine Cheung and B. C. Narmada	165
6.	Regulation of Podosomes in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Invasion of the Extracellular Matrix <i>Alan Mak</i>	183
7.	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Invasion in Atherosclerosis <i>Chi-Ming Hai</i>	213

viii Contents

8.	The Role of Non-coding RNA in the Control	
	of Vascular Contractility and Disease	239
	C. J. Nicholson and K. G. Morgan	
9.	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells as Therapeutic	
	Target for the Treatment of Circulatory Shock	263
	Liangming Liu, Tao Li and Chengyang Duan	

Chapter 1

Introduction

Chi-Ming Hai

Department of Molecular Pharmacology, Physiology and Biotechnology, Brown University Providence, Rhode Island 02912, USA chi-ming_hai@brown.edu

This book covers core concepts in the structure and function of vascular smooth muscle cells in health and disease. Supplemental reading may be drawn from the extensive number of references listed at the end of each chapter. Vascular smooth muscle cell is the major cell type in blood vessels. Dysfunction of vascular smooth muscle cells is an important cause of vascular diseases — for example, atherosclerosis, hypertension, and circulatory shock. Vascular smooth muscle cells are phenotypically plastic, capable of switching between two major phenotypes - contractile/differentiated phenotype and invasive/ proliferative phenotype - in response to environmental clues. This book is organized in three sections. Section I (chapters 2 to 4) addresses the structure and function of the contractile/differentiated phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cell. Section II (chapters 5 and 6) addresses the developmental basis of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype and structure and function of podosomes (invasive organelles) in the invasive/proliferative phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cell. Section III (chapters 7 to 9) addresses the role of vascular smooth muscle cell dysfunction in three vascular diseases — atherosclerosis, hypertension, and circulatory shock.

1. Section I (Chapters 2 to 4)

Structure and Function of Contractile/Differentiated Phenotype of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell. In Chapter 2, Dr. Thomas Eddinger discusses the structure of blood vessel and contractile phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cell at multiple layers of organization — blood vessel, smooth muscle cell, contractile filaments, cytoskeleton, membrane associated proteins, nucleoskeleton, regulatory proteins, organelles, and extracellular matrix. Contractile filaments include thin and thick filaments, and the associated proteins and isoforms - for example, tropomyosin, myosin heavy chain and light chain isoforms. Cytoskeleton includes actin, intermediate filament (vimentin and desmin), microtubules, and their associated proteins — for example, plectin, filamin, cadherins, and catenins. Regulatory proteins include tropomyosin, caldesmon, calponin, myosin light chain kinase and myosin light chain phosphatase. Organelles include sarcoplasmic reticulum and nucleus. Dr. Eddinger concludes his chapter by posing some unanswered questions on vascular smooth muscle structure and function.

In Chapter 3, Dr. Paul Ratz discusses receptor signaling mechanisms for vascular smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Dr. Ratz first provides an overview of the classification of smooth muscle cells into fast, phasic and slow, tonic subtypes, and their differential muscle mechanics, intracellular [Ca²⁺] regulation, and cell signaling. He then discusses extracellular stimuli (neurotransmitters, hormones and local mediators) that regulate smooth muscle contraction and the canonical control of smooth muscle contraction through regulation of myosin light chain phosphorylation. In particular, he discusses the phosphorylation of myosin light chain by Ca²⁺, calmodulin-dependent myosin light chain kinase and the modulation of Ca2+-sensitivity of myosin light chain phosphorylation by myosin light chain phosphatase. He further details the roles of small GTPases (rac and rhoA), rho-activated kinase (ROCK), calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII), mitogen activated kinase (Erk), and PKC in the regulation of myosin light chain phosphorylation and contraction. He concludes the chapter by discussing the function of multiple phosphorylation sites of myosin light chain and non-canonical myosin light chain kinases in the regulation of smooth muscle contraction.

In Chapter 4, Drs. William Cole and Michael Walsh discuss the function of actin filament dynamics during vascular smooth muscle contraction. Drs. Cole and Walsh first discuss the contribution of vascular smooth muscle contraction to the control of blood flow and the concepts of Ca2+-induced vasoconstriction and Ca2+-sensitization of vasoconstriction. Specific Ca2+-sensitization mechanisms include RhoA, Rho-associated coiled-coil kinase (ROCK), myosin targeting subunit of myosin light chain phosphatase (MYPT1) and a 17-kDa cytosolic protein (CPI-17). They then discuss recent findings on the function of actin polymerization in Ca2+ sensitization of vasoconstriction and signal transduction pathways mediating stimulus-evoked actin polymerization. Specific signaling mechanisms include Src family kinases (SFK), focal adhesion kinase (FAK), Pyk2, p130CAS and PKC. Specific cytoskeletal proteins include α -actinin, vinculin, talin and paxillin. They conclude the chapter by discussing the potential pathophysiological significance of actin polymerization in vascular dysfunction such as hypertension and cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage.

2. Section II (Chapters 5 and 6)

Developmental Basis of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotype, and Structure and Function of Podosomes (Invasive Organelles) in the Invasive/Proliferative Phenotype of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell. In Chapter 5, Drs. Christine Cheung and B C Narmada discuss the developmental basis of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype by first emphasizing the diverse embryonic lineages of vascular smooth muscle cells from different blood vessels and even different regions within the same blood vessel. This observation suggests the hypothesis that lineage differences among vascular smooth muscle cells at different regions of the vasculature can explain region-specific vascular disease development. They then discuss the following specific topics: (a) triggers of phenotypic modulation, (b) influence of embryonic origins on regional differences of vascular smooth muscle cells, and (c) molecular basis of lineage-specific differences in vascular smooth muscle subtypes — embryonic smooth muscle cells, postnatal smooth muscle cells, and human pluripotent stem cell-derived smooth muscle cells. They conclude the chapter by suggesting that stem cellderived vascular smooth muscle cells hold great potential for tissue engineering applications and regenerative medicine, high throughput drug screening and pharmacokinetic testing, and targeted therapeutic interventions for restoration of vascular health.

In Chapter 6, Dr. Alan Mak discusses the structure and function of podosomes — invasive organelles that enable vascular smooth muscle cells to degrade and invade the extracellular matrix. He begins the chapter by emphasizing the remarkable plasticity of vascular smooth muscle cells in switching between contractile and synthetic phenotypes and highlighting the importance of acquiring the migratory and invasive phenotype for vascular smooth muscle cells to degrade the extracellular matrix and cross the basement membrane in the process of reaching the intima. He then discusses the following specific topics: (a) podosomes in non-smooth muscle and vascular smooth muscle cells, (b) regulation of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells by the PKC and cSrc-dependent pro-podosome and p53-dependent anti-podosome signaling pathways, and (c) regulators of podosomemediated extracellular matrix adhesion and degradation. He concludes the chapter by suggesting future directions for research on the structure and function of podosomes in vascular smooth muscle cells in relation to the specific roles of vascular smooth muscle cells in the pathogenesis and progression of atherosclerotic plaques.

3. Section III (Chapters 7 to 9)

Role of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells in Vascular Diseases — Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Circulatory Shock. In Chapter 7, I discuss the role of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and invasion in atherosclerosis. I first emphasize the important role of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis by highlighting the observation that vascular smooth muscle-rich regions of coronary arteries are more prone to the development of atherosclerosis, whereas vascular smooth muscle-sparse regions are more resistant to the development of atherosclerosis. I then discuss the multiple stages of atherosclerosis progression and the specific roles of vascular smooth muscle cells in promoting atherosclerosis development and plaque stabilization at each stage of atherosclerosis. I conclude the chapter by suggesting that there is emerging consensus that vascular smooth muscle cells are a central player in all stages of atherosclerosis and re-emphasizing the two opposing roles of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis — detrimental role in promoting plaque development during early stage of atherosclerosis but beneficial role in promoting plaque stabilization during later stage of atherosclerosis.

In Chapter 8, Drs. Christopher Nicholson and Kathleen Morgan discuss the role of non-coding RNA in the control of vascular contractility and disease. They begin the chapter by introducing the general structure and function of microRNAs and long non-coding RNAs. In the first section, they discuss the following topics on the molecular biology of non-coding RNA: (a) microRNA biogenesis, (b) RNA-induced silencing complex, (c) microRNA target recognition, and (d) control of microRNA expression. In the second section, they discuss the following topics on the function of microRNA in vascular smooth muscle cells: (a) microRNA-dependent contractile differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells, (b) role of microRNAs in vascular smooth muscle pathways of contraction, and (c) micro-RNA dysfunction in hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes, atherosclerosis, and pulmonary vascular disease. They conclude the chapter by discussing the function of microRNA in extracellular communication in vascular cells, function of long non-coding RNAs in vascular smooth muscle, and modulating microRNAs in the treatment of vascular disease.

In Chapter 9, Drs. Liangming Liu, Tao Li, and Chengyang Duan discuss the potential of vascular smooth muscle cells as therapeutic target for the treatment of circulatory shock. They first discuss the clinical significance of circulatory shock, function of vascular smooth muscle cells in vasodilation and vasoconstriction, and the contribution of reduced vascular reactivity to circulatory shock. They then discuss the general concepts of inducing factors of vascular smooth

6 C.-M. Hai

muscle cell damage and features of vascular dysfunction during circulatory shock. Third, they discuss the following topics on hemorrhagic shock: (a) biphasic change of vascular reactivity, (b) vasculature, gender, and age-differences of vascular reactivity, (c) metabolic diseases suffering from hemorrhagic shock, and (d) similarities and differences between endotoxin/septic shock and hemorrhagic shock. Fourth, they discuss the following topics on shock-induced vascular smooth muscle cell damage and vascular hypo-reactivity: (a) receptor desensitization, (b) membrane hyperpolarization, and (c) calcium desensitization. They conclude the chapter by discussing treatments of circulatory shock based on mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle cell damage and vascular hypo-reactivity.

Chapter 2

Structure of Differentiated/Contractile Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

Thomas J. Eddinger

Biological Sciences Department, Marquette University, Milwaukee, WI 53233, USA thomas.eddinger@marquette.edu

The study of structure and its relationship to function has been, and will continue to be, significant for advancing our understanding of organismal, systems, organ, tissue, cell and sub-cellular physiology. While novel organismal anatomical observations have become rather rare at the gross level, this is far from true at the molecular level where new data on molecular structures continue to expedite advancement of our understanding of their function. William Harvey (1578–1657) is credited with significant advances in our understanding of cardiovascular function through his "exercises" where he applied quantitative reasoning with cardiac and vascular anatomy to derive physiological significance. In so doing he resolved major questions that had no answers, or perhaps worse, had answers but that were incorrect. He is credited with numerous cardiovascular advancements including both ventricles beating simultaneously (not asynchronously), systole forcing blood through the vascular bed (not by vascular contraction), one way circular flow (veins do not carry blood to the tissue), blood recirculation (it is not made in the liver and consumed by the tissue), and valves preventing backflow of blood in the veins (not necessary when the blood is traveling to the tissues via the

veins) to list a few.¹ Significant technological advances since Harvey, especially in the past century, have allowed cellular and subcellular anatomy to continue to add to our understanding of function at these levels. Not least of these advances are a host of new and/or refined crystallization methods and microscopic techniques that allow us to "see" things that were never possible before. Thus while much of what we know about the vascular system in general, and smooth muscle cell structure and function specifically has been known for decades and longer, researchers continue to use old and new knowledge of structure (including protein distribution, localization, and interactions) to facilitate our understanding of function. With this in mind, it is the goal of this chapter to review the major structural organization of the vascular smooth muscle cell (SMC), but also to remind the reader that none of what is in the cell is there in isolation. Everything is connected to something else either physically or through sometimes very complex signaling pathways. This chapter will proceed with a brief overview of the vascular system followed by the major molecules in and around the vascular SMC, and then some observations about where this may lead us with further research.

1. Vascular Structure

Smooth muscle tissue is one of the three contractile muscle tissues in the body (skeletal, cardiac, and smooth). Unlike skeletal and cardiac muscles which are both "striated" (showing a banding pattern with microscopy as a result of the highly organized and repeating pattern of the contractile proteins), smooth muscle is not striated. Smooth muscle tissue is a major component in the wall of hollow organs, which may include, beside the muscle cells, other components such as capillaries, nerves, endothelium, mucosa, secretory cells and so-forth. Smooth muscle cells are present in every major organ system either as a major cell type present (i.e., vascular, digestive, reproductive, urinary, and respiratory systems) or as a critical component (vascular system) for supplying nutrients to and removing waste products from other organ systems (i.e., skeletal, muscle, and nervous systems). In the vascular system the SMC are typically located between the endothelium (squamous epithelium on the luminal surface of vessels) and the adventitia (loose connective tissue layer with wandering cells, nerves, etc., on the adluminal surface) in all but the smallest of vessels (capillaries)² (Fig. 1). In the high pressure arterial side of the vascular system the larger conduit vessels and elastic arteries have both an internal and external elastic lamina (internal between the endothelium and the media and the external between the media and the adventitia), and numerous elastin layers separating the medial SMCs into lamina. These alternating contractile SMC and elastic layers form functional units.³ With the blood pressure drop along the vascular system the arteries change to "muscular" arteries that do not have elastin layers in the medial layer and eventually lose all of their elastin layers. The capillaries have a single endothelial/pericyte cell surrounding their lumen which minimizes diffusion distances for exchange of gases and nutrients. The venous side of the arterial system is generically similar to the arterial side in containing endothelial, medial and advential layers. However, these layers may not be as well resolved, and include fewer smooth muscle cells with less elastic fibers while generally having more advential tissue.² Between the SMCs, there are varying amounts of extracellular matrix including significant elastin (in the larger vessels), collagen, laminin, fibrillin, fibulin and proteoglycans.⁴ Primarily in the adventitia, smaller blood vessels and nerves may be observed.

2. Smooth Muscle Cells

Numerous structural studies of smooth muscle including subcellular, cellular, and tissue level organization, going back approximately 50 years, provide the basis for our current understanding of this tissue system and an excellent introduction to and/or review of vascular and smooth muscle cell anatomy and histology.^{5–14} Figure 2 shows electron micrographs (longitudinal and transverse to the SMC) at increasing magnifications showing the distribution and density of structural components within the SMC. SMCs develop primarily from the lateral plate mesoderm and the cranial neural crest cells.^{15,16} SMCs are spindle shaped with either a single tapered tip at each end or multiple tips at each end.¹⁷ Their size is variable and dependent on being in a



Fig. 1. A and B show a mesenteric artery in transverse section (A) and cut longitudinally right through the middle (B), examined by light microscopy. The lumen, emptied of blood, is at the top and is lined by an endothelium; four or five tiers of

Fig. 1. (*Continued*) muscle cells form the media of this artery, and the adventitia is at the bottom. The thickness of the vessel's wall is about 32 μ m. (C), (D) and (E) are electron micrographs of three arteries of decreasing diameter (from the tree of a mesenteric artery), sectioned longitudinally right through the middle of their lumen. In all cases the lumen is to the right, and in (C) and (E) the lumen shows parts of red blood cells, and adjacent to it an endothelium and then an elastic lamella (which appears amorphous and almost unstained). In (C) the total thickness of the artery's wall is about 80 μ m, in (D) it is about 22 μ m and in (E) it is about 5 μ m. All the muscle cells are approximately in transverse section, and some of them show the nucleus; the outlines of the cells are markedly different in the three vessels, in relation to the different mechanical conditions. Courtesy of Dr. Giorgio Gabella, University College London.

relaxed or contracted state. Their length is generally one to two orders of magnitude longer than their width, and varies with species and tissue source. In general, vascular SMCs (50–200 μ m) are smaller than digestive (100–600 μ m) (personal observation) or urinary (200–1000 μ m),¹⁸ and SMCs size also shows a positive correlation with animal size as mouse and rat SMCs are smaller than rabbit which are smaller than dog or pig (personal observation). Freshly isolated arterial SMCs from rabbit carotid or aorta are generally in the 100 μ m range for length, which is shorter than those from the stomach (~300 μ m).^{19–21} This is similar to some values reported using electron microscopy techniques (Gabella, 1984) and shorter than others for visceral and detrusor SMCs which have been reported to be 500–1000 μ m in length.^{22,23}

Getting an exact size for SMCs is problematic as activation of the cells prior to isolation/fixation may result in cell shortening. Fixation itself can lead to cell shrinkage. Measurements in intact tissue are difficult because of resolution problems (including keeping the entire cell in the tissue section/focal plane), and in isolated cells the isolation proceedure and the fixation can affect the cells. In addition, very long isolated cells are prone to breakage. With activation of smooth muscle tissues, the SMCs may shorten (even if the tissue is held in isometric conditions) which can affect cell length measurements. Cells with radial to length ratios less than ~1:5 are generally believed to be contracted. Unlike striated muscle where shortening is limited by the sarcomere structure and the extent of thin and thick filament

12 T. J. Eddinger



Fig. 2. A. is an electron micrograph of an arteriole cut transversely (this vessel was fixed in a condition of mild contraction); red blood cells and the endothelium are visible at the top, while the media is formed by a single muscle cell which is curved

Fig. 2. (*Continued*) and is sectioned roughly along its length. Prominent dense bands, attachment sites for the contractile apparatus, are well in evidence, especially on the abluminal part of the cell. At the bottom is the adventitia, made of connective tissue; its collagen fibrils run predominantly longitudinally, preventing elongation of the vessel with contraction. The microscopic field is about 18 μ m wide. B. shows a transversely sectioned muscle cell from a large artery, embedded in a vascular matrix which consists of collagen fibrils, elastic bands and fibers, amorphous material and microfibrils. The cell profile is mainly occupied by myofilaments (actin and myosin), and it also shows intermediate filaments, microtubules, dense bands that project deeply into the cytoplasm, sarcoplasmic reticulum of smooth and rough type, ribosomes, vesicles and mitochondria. The plasma membrane presents invaginations, known as caveolae, and is lined externally by a thick basal lamina. The microscopic field is about 5 μ m wide. C. shows details of a similar cell from the same vessel at higher magnification. The width of the microscopic field is about 3 μ m. Courtesy of Dr. Giorgio Gabella, University College London.

overlap, isolated vascular SMCs can shorten to greater than ~50% of their initial length. Isolated visceral and detrusor SMCs have been reported to shorten 70–80% of their initial rest length.^{20,22,23} It remains unclear how it is possible for an isolated SMC cell to change its length by 80%, but there must be some significant rearrangment of organelles and filamentous systems for this to occur.

By far the most apparent organelle in the smooth muscle cell is the nucleus, which is generally centrally located in both the longitudinal and cross-sectional axes. Perinuclearly at either end of the nucleus on the long axis of the cell are large numbers of mitochondria, Golgi, and sarcoplasmic reticulum and other smaller organelles. Usually near the plasma membrane but also in other areas in the cytoplasm, regions with few or no filaments that may or may not have organelles are present.^{13,21,24} Changes in the shape and distribution of organelles during contraction are consistent with the increasing data that the various filament systems within the cell attach to and push or pull on these organelles during contraction.

3. Contractile Filaments

For this chapter, the term "contractile filaments" will be used in reference to the "thick" (primarily myosin) and "thin" (primarily actin)

filaments that are believed to be the primary source of contractile force generation in SMCs ("thin" filaments are also part of the cell cytoskeleton and are discussed later). The thick filaments are composed primarily of the protein myosin while the thin filaments are composed of actin, tropomyosin and a number of other reported regulatory proteins. Repeated ATP-dependent interactions of the myosin S1 head with actin thin filaments are responsible for force generation and/or shortening of SMCs.

Myosins are a large family of proteins²⁵ that are expressed in essentially every cell. The contractile muscle protein myosin that most people think of when discussing muscles are part of the type two family of myosin (here simply referred to as "myosin") that include a long α -helical coiled tail that can associate with other myosin to form a thick filament. Multiple reviews and books on myosin have been published²⁵⁻²⁸ and so only the basics will be reviewed here. Myosin is a hexamer of two myosin heavy chains (MHC) and four myosin light chains (MLC) (two light chains associate with each of the heavy chains heads (S1 domains). The MHC can be separated into the S1 head (consisting of the motor domain and the lever arm) which is responsible for force generation and/or cell shortening, while the rod (an α -helical coil) is the remainder of the MHC and is responsible for the association of the two MHCs to form the myosin molecule and for thick filament formation.²⁶ There is a single SM MHC gene in smooth muscle cells which via alternate splicing can generate four different SM MHC isoforms.²⁹⁻³⁴ In addition there are three non-muscle (NM) MHC genes with alternate splicing of at least one of these.³⁵⁻⁴⁰ The myosin light chains include two myosin light chain 20 (MLC20 approximately 20,000 Daltons) isoforms which are the same size but the product of two different genes.⁴¹ This is the MLC that is phosphorylated at serine 19 (and other sites) to regulate myosin ATPase activity required for force generation and or shortening. In addition there are two myosin light chain $17 (MLC_{17} - approximately)$ 17,000 Daltons) isoforms, but these are the product of a single gene with alternate splicing.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ While adult SM tissues express primarily (solely in the case of rabbit) the SM MHC isoforms,^{41,45-47} both the SM and NM MLC₂₀ and MLC₁₇ isoforms are routinely expressed in

adult tissue.^{41,48-51} The reported correlations between expression of these various myosin heavy and light chain isoforms with animal development and tissue type appear to correlate with specific function, but this remains controversial and further work is required. Other chapters in this volume will discuss the expression of these SM and NM isoforms with development and disease.

The thin filaments are composed of globular (G) actin monomers (42,000 Daltons, 375 amino acids,⁵² which assemble to form filamentous (F) actin. There are six actin isoforms resulting from six different genes, including α - (skeletal, cardiac, and SM), β -nonmuscle, and γ - (smooth and non-muscle), which are all the same size (375 AA) with greater than 90% homology (all of the differences include up to 8 AA substitutions located within the first 18 NH₂termius AA).^{52,53} While all SM tissues appear to contain multiple actin isoforms (α -SM, γ -SM, γ -NM, and β -NM), vascular tissues generally express a majority of the α -SM isoform while digestive tissues express larger amounts of the γ (SM and NM) isoform.⁵⁴ Biochemical and electron microscopic measurements put the thin (actin) to thick (myosin) filament ratio in smooth muscle at $\sim 15:1^{5,55-57}$ as compared to 2:1 for skeletal muscle. This difference may be relevant for the thin filament's role as part of the cell cytoskeleton in SM in addition to its role as a contractile protein.

Arterial SM is reported to have ~8 mg/g tissue of myosin and 25 mg/g tissue actin which gives both weight and mole ratios of actin: myosin of greater than 3:1 and 30:1 respectively (these numbers are approximately ten times higher than those in skeletal muscle).⁵⁵ In veins there is a similar amount of myosin as in arteries, but the actin content is only about half of that expressed in arteries.⁵⁸ In spite of only expressing approximately 25% of the myosin that is expressed in skeletal muscle, SM is reported to generate a similar stress per cross-sectional area as skeletal muscle.^{55,59}

Associated with the F-actin is tropomyosin (low and high molecular weight forms — ~247 and ~284 amino acids and ~45,000 Daltons), for reviews,⁶⁰⁻⁶⁴ an α -helical protein that forms dimers which lie along the length of the F-actin filament. A single TM is of a length to span 6–7 actin monomers on the F-actin filament. In

mammals there are four tropomyosin genes that through various regulatory processes can generate over 40 tropomyosin isoforms.^{65–67} In striated muscle this protein in association with troponin acts to regulate contractile activity. In smooth muscle there is no troponin, leaving several options for the role of tropomyosin. Because there are several other proteins that can associate with the thin filament, they may function in a similar fashion to troponin in regulating actomyosin interactions via tropomyosin. Alternatively, while possibly difficult to perceive, tropomyosin may not play a regulatory role in SM, but be strictly involved in thin filament stability.⁶⁰ Tropomyosin isoforms have been reported to be distributed in discrete subcellular domains on thin filaments, thereby affecting thin filament organization, and myosin interactions with actin.^{61,68-70} Proteins that can associate with the thin filament in SM and function to regulate tropomyosin include calponin (a calmodulin-binding troponin like protein), and caldesmon (an actin binding SM protein that may also interact with calmodulin, myosin, and tropomyosin) along with a host of other less prevalent proteins. Specific tropomyosin isoforms have been reported to be involved in a diverse range of functions including formation and stabilization of stress fibers, focal adhesion formation, myosin recruitment, maintaining transverse-tubule structure, filapodia formation and a host of growth and differentiation processes in a wide range of cell types (for review⁶⁸).

An interesting distinction between striated and smooth muscle is the dramatic difference (1) between the expressed levels of actin and myosin, (2) the length and stability of the thick and thin filaments, and (3) the organization of the thick filaments. Unlike skeletal and cardiac muscles, smooth muscles do not have highly organized repeating arrangements of thick and thin filaments resulting in the striated appearance with microscopy. Functionally, there are the equivalent of "sarcomeres" in smooth muscle (dense bodies associated with thin and thick filaments), but their arrangement is significantly less organized with the contractile filaments not all necessarily in the exact same orientation. The thick filaments in SM have been described as being 'side-polar', with all the myosin heads on one side of the filament facing in one direction and all the myosin heads on the other side of the filament facing in the other direction.^{71,72} This arrangement eliminates the "bare-zone" of the bi-polar filament organization of striated muscle, and along with the absence of "Z-lines", allows for an apparent unrestrained thick and thin filament sliding during contraction. This may explain in part the greater amount of cell shortening that is observed in smooth vs. striated muscle.

Thick myosin and thin actin contractile filaments are often reported as being obliquely oriented relative to the long axis of the SMC,^{73–75} which can result in the corkscrew shortening that has been reported in isolated SMCs.^{74–76} However, there is evidence that the thin and thick filaments run parallel to the long axis of the SMC.^{22,77}

4. Cytoskeleton and Membrane Associated Proteins

The cytoskeleton is comprised primarily of thin (actin), intermediate (primarily vimentin and desmin) and larger microtubule filaments. The cytoskeleton is generally considered in its role connecting the various regions and structures of the cell, from the plasma membrane to the nucleus and everything in between. However, it is also involved in organizing and locating intracellular components as well as generating and or transmitting forces throughout the cell. In all these roles the cytoskeleton is dynamic so that where it is and what it is doing may not be the same at any two points in time. There is no way to explain, as mentioned above, how an isolated SMC can shorten by upwards of 80% of its rest length without significant remodeling of these filaments and their association with each other and the rest of the cells components. Each of these filament systems are specific in terms of their mechanical properties, the motors that associate with them to move things within the cell and or generate force, their distribution of monomer to polymer structures and filament stability, the other cell structures they interact with, and their ability to interact with each other.^{78,79} Future studies need to take into account not only what is happening in a SMC to thin, intermediate, or microtubule filaments generically with an experiment, but what is happening to the specific isoforms of these proteins in spatial and temporal terms.

It appears that recognizing changes in specific protein isoforms spatially and temporally may be critical to fully understand SMC function and regulation.

As mentioned above, thin filaments are composed primarily of actin which consists of 6 isoforms. Increasing data suggests that there are thin filaments with diverse composition and distribution within the SMC.^{80,81} As reviewed,⁷⁸ in addition to the typical actin thin filaments, there are also branched networks, filament bundles, cortical networks and stress fibers. There are at least 150 reported actin binding proteins.⁸² The nucleus is generally held near the center of the SMC by the cytoskeleton via a host of nuclear membrane proteins,^{83,84} including actin stress fibers which may also be involved in positioning and stabilizing intranuclear chromatin.⁸⁵ Thus, thin actin filaments near the plasma membrane, near the nuclear membrane, or in the nucleus itself may all have different functional roles depending on these locations, specific proteins they interact with in these locations and/or second messenger pathways working in these regions of the cell.

The major cytoplasmic intermediate filaments (type III) in smooth muscle are composed primarily of vimentin, desmin⁸⁶ and synemin (type VI),⁸⁷ with vimentin being the major intermediate filament present in vascular SM. These have common α -helical rod domains that form a coiled-coil dimer and then larger associations. Stimulation of SM cells may cause disassembly/reassembly of these intermediate filaments and/or detachment from the dense bodies, which via second messenger pathway activity or re-localization may affect force production, gene regulation, and other cell functions.^{86,88,89} Intermediate filaments have also been reported to form connections with the nuclear envelope and mitochondria, possibly affecting function of these organelles and/or allowing their subcellular localization to be maintained or returned to "normal" following extreme cell shortening.⁹⁰

Microtubules are present in smooth muscle cells where the dynamics between the α and β monomers within the microtubules they form has been postulated to be important for, among other things, cell division, cell structure, intracellular transport,

contractility, and nuclear transcription.⁹¹ They can bind to the plasma membrane at caveolae,⁹² as well as to most other organelles including the nucleus.^{93,94} Being a polarized filament, the molecular motors kinesin and dynein can transport cargo along these filaments toward either the "plus" or the "minus" ends of these filaments, respectively. Determining their roles in SM function has been difficult as there is constant turnover of the tubulin monomers within the microtubule. Microtubules are stiffer than the intermediate or thin filaments, and thus while working well for chromosome sorting in mitosis, they can be a problem for extensive SMC shortening as they may cause an internal load that contraction would have to work against. Microtubule polymerization/depolymerization appears to be regulated in a contraction cycle dependent manner,95,96 and affects cell alignment in the tissue.⁹⁷ Microtubule association with caveolae appears to have a direct effect on increasing polymerization, which would thus also affect intracellular trafficking and cell function.92

Plectin is one of numerous plakan isoforms of large MW proteins (~500 KD) that can cross link microtubules, thin, and intermediate filaments to each other, to other proteins, and to proteins in the plasma and nuclear membranes.^{79,98,99} The expression and distribution of the various plectin isoforms and their ability to link the various filament systems with each other and the membranes make them critically important in overall SMC mechanics.¹⁰⁰ These molecules along with nucleation and depolymerizing promoting factors all appear instrumental in cell structure and function.

Filamin is a high molecular weight (280 kD) protein that was identified as an actin binding protein.^{101,102} Three isoforms have been identified and the protein has been reported to interact with over 90 proteins and is involved in cell signaling, cytoskeletal organization, force transmission, and transcription.^{103–106} Its interaction with integrin is important in cell adhesion and migration, while its interaction with small GTPases are important for cytoskeletal remodeling.^{107,108} Filamin can be phosphorylated by PKA and PKC,^{109,110} which can affect its interaction with actin, integrin and multiple other proteins, and can prevent its cleavage by calpain.¹¹¹ Interestingly, its interaction

with actin, caveolae, and PKC α is critical for the linear distribution of caveolae at the plasma membrane.¹¹² The dynamic inward trafficking of caveolae has been shown to be regulated by hormonal stimulation, PKC α dependent phosphorylation of proteins, and microtubule interactions.^{113–115}

Caveolae are flask shaped invaginations of the plasma membrane with caveolin present along with numerous cell signaling molecules, glycosphingolipids and cholesterol. These structures are directly involved in cell regulation via receptors and second messenger pathways, as well as endo- and exo-cytosis.¹¹⁶ They have been observed to alternate with focal adhesions along the plasma membrane, but are either absent or significantly fewer in number near the tapered ends of the SMCs.^{21,117} It remains unclear why these two structures (focal adhesions and caveolae) are so consistent in their close association, but with the increased concentration of receptors and second messenger proteins at the caveolae, interaction and regulation of the extensive network of focal adhesion associated regulatory and cytoskeletal proteins appears to be critically linked.

The cytoskeleton and the contractile component of the SMC need to be attached to the cell membrane (and the extracellular matrix/neighboring SMCs) via cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) including four major classes of proteins (cadherins, immunoglobulin super family, integrins and selectins) in addition to other membrane proteins.^{118,119} Cadherins are a large family (greater than 100¹²⁰) of Ca²⁺ dependent cell-cell adhesion molecules that are critical for cell morphology and signaling.^{118,121-124} Via catenins, the intracellular domain of cadherin links ultimately to actin thin filaments to transmit force.125-127 These adherens junctions have also been implicated in signaling microtubule assembly as part of cytoskeletal regulation,¹²⁸ interacting with integrin,^{129,130} interacting with immunoglobulin cell adhesion molecules¹³¹ and with numerous other signaling events (see¹¹⁸ for review). Integrins are a large family of single transmembrane-spanning receptors that attach the cell's cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix¹³²⁻¹³⁴ and ultimately to a vast array of signaling molecules.135-137 These proteins can be clustered in localized domains or distributed widely throughout the membrane. Adapter proteins in

the cytosol can connect CAMs to the cytoskeleton in order to maintain cell shape and transmit forces, as well as affect gene expression and protein distribution for signalling.

Early evidence for potentially discrete distributions of contractile and cytoskeletal filament domains in SM has been available for 3-4 decades,¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁰ and has more recently found another resurgence^{69,141-144} Actin isoforms have also been reported to be uniformly distributed amongst the thin filaments within a given tissue by some groups,^{145,146} but to differ in expression between SM tissues.¹⁴⁷ Some more recent studies suggest that there are in fact specific distributions of the actin isoforms that comprise the thin filaments and that these filaments play different roles in the SMCs. Discreet distribution of actin filaments comprised of primarily or exclusively one actin isoform between the sub-plasmalemmal (cortical) vs. cytosolic domains has been described.¹⁴² Fletcher and Mullins⁷⁸ review four actin filament organizations (branched networks, bundled filaments, cortical networks, and stress fibers) that are specifically arranged to act on or respond to different cellular forces. It is unclear exactly what determines how these different arrangements are organized, localized and maintained in a given cell, but accumulating data suggests that there is physiological relevance to these specific structures and their distribution within the cell.

5. Nucleoskeleton

The nucleoskeleton, while currently less well understood than the cytoskeleton, is also of major significance in the functioning of the cell. The nucleoskeleton is upwards of an order of magnitude stiffer than the cytoskeleton,^{148,149} with the cytoskeleton being critically dependent on it for its own function.^{94,150} Lamins (type V intermediate proteins) are present in the nucleus where they contribute to the nuclear skeleton and interact with numerous other proteins in the nucleoplasm and nuclear envelope, and are hypothesized to be involved in nuclear assembly, chromatin organization, and gene expression. Lamins and multiple other nuclear proteins form a nucleoskeleton that is connected to the cytoskeleton via LINC

proteins (linkers of the nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton) (see93,151 Meinke et al. 2015 for reviews). In addition to the intermediate filament lamins, many of the known cytoskeletal/transport proteins are also present in the nucleus including actin, myosin, titin, spectrin and kinesin, where they are believed to have structural functions similar to their roles in the cytoskeleton. There is also evidence that these proteins are involved with signaling roles for transcription.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁸ This allows for direct communication between forces at the plasma membrane and genetic information and regulation in the nucleus,94,159,160 including nuclear and chromatin organization, replication, and transcription.¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶³ LINC complex proteins at the nuclear membrane transmit force to and from the cytoskeleton and the nucleoskeleton (analogous in function to focal adhesions at the plasma membrane transmitting extracellular forces to and from the cytoskeleton).164 Changes in these LINC complexes affect mechanotransduction (altered gene transcription, replication and repair via second messenger pathways)¹⁶⁵ via lamin and lamin binding proteins,¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸ cytoskeletal and nucleoskeletal organization, and cell differentiation.160,169

6. Regulatory Proteins

Regulatory proteins that are reported to be involved in SM regulation include tropomyosin, desmin, vimentin, caldesmon, calponin, myosin light chain kinase, myosin light chain phosphatase, protein kinases, small GTPases, and a host of other second messengers which have been reviewed extensively. Localization within the SM cell, associations with each other or contractile/intermediate filaments, and localization with cell activation, force generation and or shortening are likely all critical to our full understanding of SM contraction. These proteins are involved in signal transduction for regulation of many cell functions including transcription and translation, contraction and relaxation, cell division and differentiation, and protein translocation.

As mentioned above under contractile proteins, four tropomyosin genes are responsible for over 40 tropomyosin isoforms. These may

specifically interact with particular actin isoforms in thin filaments based on isoform composition and location.^{61–63,68–70,81,170} Thus, while there are only four actin isoforms expressed in SMC's, the large number of tropomyosins that can be expressed and associate with them significantly increases their potential specific functional roles in the cell. This includes not only differential regulation of actomyosin interactions throughout the cell, but also localized domains for specific regional control. In addition, specific regulation of metabolic pathways, cell cycling, growth, and probably most other cell activities are affected by the individual expression, distribution and function of these thin filament-tropomyosin pairings (see above references).

Caldesmon in smooth muscle (h-caldesmon, ~88kD; as compared the non-muscle expressed l-caldesmon — ~59kD)¹⁷¹ appears to co-localize with either thin or thick filaments^{172,173} in the cytoskeletal domain.¹⁷⁴ Caldesmon has binding sites for actin and calmodulin,¹⁷⁵ myosin,^{176,177} and tropomyosin,^{178,179} where it is reported to affect actin-activated myosin ATPase activity.

Calponin was first described as an actin and calmodulin binding protein¹⁸⁰ that was subsequently shown to have multiple isoforms, and bind to numerous other proteins including α -actinin,¹⁸¹ myosin,¹⁸² PKC,¹⁸³ tropomyosin,¹⁸⁴ tubulin,¹⁸⁵ and a host of other proteins. It has been reported to bind to G- and F-actin with similar affinity,¹⁸⁶ thereby affecting polymerization of actin monomers and bundling of F-actin. Calponin has also been reported to inhibit myosin ATPase activity.¹⁸⁷ According to North *et al.*¹⁸⁸ calponin in chicken gizzard can associate with actin in either the contractile (myosin, SM actin and caldesmon) or the cytoskeletal (β -actin, filamin and desmin) domains, and thus is most likely active in regulation of both the cytoskeletal and contractile functions of the SMC.

Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP) are believed to be the primary regulators of smooth muscle contractile function via regulation of myosin light chain phosphorylation levels.¹⁸⁹ These enzymes are regulated in turn via a seemingly endless number of second messenger pathways that continue to perplex our understanding of smooth muscle function.^{189–194} Isoforms, expression, distribution, localization and possible translocation of many or all of these molecules with activation and relaxation of the tissue, appears to be relevant to the function of the SMC.

7. Organelles

The sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) in SM is directly involved in [Ca²⁺] regulation. In tonic (aortic) SM there are both peripheral (near the plasma membrane) and central (not near the plasma membrane) SR domains (Fig. 2) with the central SR (often in a perinuclear location) being more prevalent.^{195,196} This is the opposite of phasic (vas deferens) SM where the peripheral SR is dominant, with both the peripheral and central pools appearing to be continuous with each other and perhaps not functionally distinct.¹⁹⁵ The SR is in close association with the mitochondria and the caveolae, and may be continuous from the plasma membrane to the nuclear membrane. Mitochondria and vesicles may be observed throughout the cell, but often are present in greatest density near the nucleus.

As the nucleus may take up in excess of 60% of the cross-sectional area of the SMC where the nucleus is located, there needs to be a mechanism to transmit force across this region of the SMC. Data suggests that the contractile filaments attach directly to the nuclear envelope allowing force to be transmitted through the nucleus. Consistent with this, nuclear lengths in relaxed tracheal SMCs are shorter than those in isometrically contracted SMCs as the nucleus gets elongated during SMC contraction as it is pulled on by the force generated by contraction.⁷⁷

8. Extracellular Matrix

The extracellular matrix is a deposition of proteins and glycosaminoglycans that are secreted by the SMC's themselves or by other cell types that are also found in SM tissues. The protein fibers generally consist of collagen, fibrin, elastin, laminins, fibrillins and fibulins.⁴ The presence of these fibers and other extracellular components are critical for SMC migration, replication, and differentiation, and thus overall function of SMCs.¹⁹⁷⁻²⁰⁰

9. SMC Structure and Function Questions

Smooth muscle cells and a host of other cell types exist in varying ratios within different SM tissue and can consequently have an important impact on how they interact. In the vascular system, the media is generally primarily SMCs, but even then there are always non-muscle type cells closely associated at the luminal and adluminal surfaces. SMCs are either constitutively or transiently generating force, and thus their connections and interactions to each other and or the extracellular matrix is critical for their (patho)- physiological function. In addition, SMC heterogeneity occurs between and within the various regions of the vascular tree. In an attempt to simplify the experimental system of all this variability for studying SMCs, and thereby increase our understanding of SMC function, numerous model systems have been developed. Isolated vessels, vessel rings and strips, isolated cells, cultured cells, and purified filaments or proteins are some of the systems commonly used to good effect. An ongoing concern, however, is the common assumption that much of what is learned from all of these systems is universally relevant to the intact SM tissue system. There is extensive evidence that SMCs removed from their 3-dimentional organization and constraints become at best a modified SMC, or at worst, something other than a SMC all together. There is also an ever increasing data base showing that everything that can potentially have an effect on a SMC in vivo or in vitro does have an effect on it. Thus while we know for example that SMCs and tissues can have a "memory" of previous activity that affects future activity, and that epigenetic changes occur independent of genetic regulation, we do not know enough about either of these things to know how SM tissue or cell preparations for in vitro measurements change these phenomena.

Besides the signals SMCs receive from neural, endocrine, paracrine, and autocrine mechanisms in vivo, their physical interactions and stress/strain relationship with their neighboring cells/matrix is important in determining their shape, function and cellular determination/differentiation.^{201,202} The ability of isolated SMCs to shorten by 50–80% of their initial length (not predicted to occur in SMCs in intact vessels), generate peak tension at multiple cell lengths, and alter organelle distribution and function are all indicative of the distinctive ability of all the filament types to interact with each other, reorganize themselves, and for cell-cell interactions to be reorganized depending on the external conditions leading up to or at the time of measurement (much of this work has been done on respiratory SMCs and tissues.^{203–210} Another ongoing unresolved question includes the concentration of specific proteins within the SMC. Myosin light chain kinase for example, is expressed at a 10-fold lower concentration than the protein that it phosphorylates (MLCK ~4 uM and myosin $\sim 40 \ \mu$ M). This raises questions of how full phosphorylation of MLC₂₀ occurs in a physiologically relevant time frame. MLCK binding to the thin filament may allow the myosin to be "delivered" to the MLCK on the thin filaments as they slide past the thick filaments.²¹¹ Thus knowing its location and distribution within the SMC may help resolve if there is localized activation of myosin, or if it progresses in a specific pattern across the cell.

Smooth muscles contain approximately 10 times the actin and $\sim 1/4^{\text{th}}$ the myosin expressed in skeletal muscle, but still manages to generate a similar force per cross-sectional area as skeletal muscle.55 The ratios of actin to myosin filaments have been estimated to be as high as 50:1²¹² (Fig. 2) which makes one question why there is such an apparent excess of actin in the SMC. As noted above, there is evidence for specific distributions of actin within the cell, and suggestions that it is compartmentalized into contractile and cytoskeletal domains. The gross excess of actin to myosin filaments suggests that it has significant physiological relevance beyond acto-myosin force generation. Actin isoforms can combine to form a range of thin filaments with distinct function across the phylogenetic tree.⁸¹ In addition, the physiological function of specific actin thin filaments and formation of various large scale actin associated structures (thin filaments, stress fibers, podosomes) are inherently linked to the associating proteins in general, and the tropomyosin isoforms specifically.^{68,69} Indeed, as reagents and methodologies advance, it appears that most (all) proteins that are expressed as multiple isoforms have some type of specific distribution within the cell that correlates with a particular function.

Additional unique observations in contracting SM include the seemingly sporadic intracellular domains, (primarily near the plasmalemma) that appear to be devoid of myofilaments or other electron dense structures (Fig. 3 — "LOW" — low density area devoid of filaments) and can result in outward blebbing of the membrane at these sites with contraction.²¹³ Why these would exist and what possible function they serve remains unknown. There are also multiple reports of cells or portions of cells that fail to contract with the remaining cells in a tissue, or another portion of the SMC. This may result in "wavy" cells that are being pulled shorter by surrounding contracting cells,^{21,213} contractile zones in isolated SMCs,²¹⁴ or regions of freshly isolated SMCs (1/3 - 1/2 of the cell) that do not contract while the other portion of the cell does (unpublished data).

As schematically shown in Fig. 3, there appears to be a direct physical link between all the contractile and cytoskeletal filaments, which in turn make connections from the plasma membrane to the nuclear membrane, and with all the other organelles in between. This also extends to the nuclear material within the nucleus and the extracellular matrix material outside the cell, so that any changes in force acting on or generated within the SMC affects everything else upstream and downstream from that point.94,119,215-217 As shown in Fig. 2 (and represented in Fig. 3), there appears to be very little space within the cell that is not occupied by an organelle, structural or contractile protein. Further, this does not take into account the hundreds of second messenger molecules and messenger pathways that are also known to be present within the cell to regulate cell function. How all these components affect each other as they interact and reorganize, with and without the significant cell shortening that is possible, remains an area of much needed work. Relevant to this chapter is the concept that actin for example, (but this would apply to any protein with isoforms present) located near the plasmalemma vs. actin in the cytosol, or near or in the nucleus etc., has specific temporal and spatial function.

A final observation is that there appears to be a consensus in the literature that SMCs need to de-differentiate in order to undergo cell division and that this de-differentiation to a "synthetic" phenotype


Fig. 3. Schematic of smooth muscle cell showing representative locations, distributions and associations of major contractile, cytoskeletal and membrane associated proteins in the SMC. The complexity of the protein number, type and distribution in the figure is representative of a real SMC (see figure two), although grossly oversimplified. Actin thin filaments for example, may be comprised of different actin isoforms, in different locations (near plasma membrane receptors, caveolae or cell adhesion molecules, near (or not) myosin filaments, near nucleus or other organelles, or in the nucleus) and have different filament stabilities and functions in each of these locations. Abbreviations: AM = Actin-Myosin; C = Calveolae; CAD = Cadherin; CAM = Cell Adhesion Molecules; CHR = Chromosomes; COL = Collagen; DB = Dense Bodies; ELAS = Elastin; FIB = Fibronectin; IF = Intermediate Filaments; IMP = Integral Membrane Proteins; INT = Integrin and Associated Proteins; LAM = Lamins; LINC = Linker of Nucleoskeleton and Cytoskeleton; LMN = Laminin; LOW = Low Density Areas Devoid of Filaments; MICRO = Microtubules; MT = Mitochondria; PL = Plectin; PMP = Peripheral Membrane Proteins; REC = Receptors; SR = Sarcoplasmic Reticulum.

and re-differentiation to a "contractile" phenotype is a routine occurrence in SMCs dependent on external conditions (for reviews^{198,218-220}). In fact, there are multiple reports of SMC division without de-differentiation from a "contractile" phenotype.²²¹⁻²²⁴ This difference in observations is significant as it potentially leads to very different conclusions for relevance of de-differentiation in SMC replication. If SMC de-differentiation for SMC replication is a physiological process for growth and repair, then pathological conditions like intimal wall thickening in atherosclerosis may be a failure to regulate this process correctly. However, if the physiological process of SMC replication for growth and repair does not require de-differentiation of SMCs, then the intimal wall thickening in atherosclerosis may be due to factors causing SMC de-differentiation itself. De-differentiation and redifferentiation of SMCs for vascular growth and repair may not be a physiological process, but a pathological process. Finding treatments and cures for smooth muscle diseases will look very different if the solution is to find a way to alter the mis-regulation of a physiological process vs. finding a way to prevent a pathological process.

In conclusion, while we have known a good deal about the anatomy of the SMC for quite some time now, new methods and technologies are allowing us to further clarify when proteins and their isoforms are expressed in SMCs. In addition, the organization, distribution, localization, interaction and potential temporal translocation of these proteins/isoforms continues to be revealed. This new information is allowing us to go beyond our understanding for example, that actin and myosin are the major contractile proteins in the SMC. Expression of their respective isoforms (and possibly also for all the protein isoforms present) are developmentally and (patho-) physiologically regulated. Isoforms appear to be distinctively localized throughout the cell where they can associate with different proteins in different structural organizations at different times that are specifically regulated for particular functions via hundreds of regulatory proteins and pathways. Thus, specific actin and myosin isoforms in specific filament organization and association with specific other proteins in defined locations of the SMC are in fact "contractile filaments". In addition, however, by changing any of these variables (specific actin or myosin isoform, structural organization, specific associating proteins or their isoforms, location in the SMC, etc.) may result in a functional "cytoskeletal filament" that maintains stress, organizes intracellular distribution and location of other cellular structures, or redistributes cellular components in the cell. Or also possible, when specific isoforms of these proteins associate with each other, change from individual proteins to filaments, or redistribute within the SMC they may now be a part of one or more regulatory pathways signaling contraction, cellular reorganization, changes in protein expression, or cell replication. We know SMC function is much more complex than we previously believed. If we, like William Harvey many centuries ago, will continue to use quantitative reasoning with anatomical information, we will also be able to continue to derive physiological significance from our new observations. In so doing we should be able to resolve just how complex the SMC is in its structure and function.

References

- 1. Ribatti D. (2009) William Harvey and the discovery of the circulation of the blood. *J Angiogenes Res* 1: 3–6.
- 2. Martini F, Timmons MJ, and Tallitsch RB. (2003) Human Anatomy. Pearson Benjamin Cummings, London.
- Davis EC. (1993) Smooth muscle cell to elastic lamina connections in developing mouse aorta. Role in aortic medial organization. *Laboratory Investigation* 68(1): 89–99.
- 4. Wagenseil JE, and Mecham RP. (2009) Vascular extracellular matrix and arterial mechanics. *Physiol Rev* **89**(3): 957–89.
- 5. Ashton FT, Somlyo AV, and Somlyo AP. (1975) The contractile apparatus of vascular smooth muscle: Intermediate high voltage stereo electron microscopy. *J Mol Biol* **98**(1): 17–29.
- Bagby R. (1983) Biochemistry of Smooth Muscle. N. Stephens. (ed) Organization of contractile/cytoskeletal elements, Vol. 1, CRC Press Boca Raton, FL: 1–84.
- Gabella G. (1973) Cellular structures and electrophysiological behaviour. Fine structure of smooth muscle. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 265(867): 7–16.
- 8. Gabella G. (1979) Smooth muscle cell junctions and structural aspects of contraction. *Br Med Bull* **35**(3): 213–8.

- Small JV. (1985) Geometry of actin-membrane attachments in the smooth muscle cell: the localisations of vinculin and alpha-actinin. *Embo J* 4(1): 45–9.
- 10. Small JV. (1977) Studies on isolated smooth muscle cells: The contractile apparatus. *J Cell Sci* 24: 327–49.
- 11. Small JV, Furst DO, and Thornell LE. (1992) The cytoskeletal lattice of muscle cells. *Eur J Biochem* **208**(3): 559–72.
- 12. Small JV, and Gimona M. (1998) The cytoskeleton of the vertebrate smooth muscle cell. *Acta Physiol Scand* **164**(4): 341–8.
- Somlyo AP, and Somlyo AV. (1968) Vascular smooth muscle. I. Normal structure, pathology, biochemistry, and biophysics. *Pharmacol Rev* 20(4): 197–272.
- 14. Somlyo AP, *et al.* (1983) Ultrastructure, function and composition of smooth muscle. *Ann Biomed Eng* **11**(6): 579–88.
- 15. Stoller JZ, and Epstein JA. (2005) Cardiac neural crest. Sem Cell Dev Biol 16(6): 704–15.
- Majesky MW. (2007) Developmental basis of vascular smooth muscle diversity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 27(6): 1248–58.
- Gabella G. (1976) The force generated by a visceral smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 263(2): 199–213.
- Uvelius B, and Gabella G. (1980) Relation between cell length and force production in urinary bladder smooth muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand* 110(4): 357–65.
- Meer DP, and Eddinger TJ. (1997) Expression of smooth muscle myosin heavy chains and unloaded shortening in single smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol* 273(4 Pt 1): C1259–66.
- Eddinger TJ, and Meer DP. (2001) Single rabbit stomach smooth muscle cell myosin heavy chain SMB expression and shortening velocity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 280(2): C309–16.
- 21. Gabella G. (1984) Structural apparatus for force transmission in smooth muscles. *Physiol Rev* 64(2): 455–77.
- 22. Gabella G. (2012) Cells of visceral smooth muscles. J Smooth Muscle Res 48(4): 65–95.
- 23. Uvelius B. (1976) Isometric and isotonic length-tension relations and variaitonsin cell length in longitudinal smooth muscel from rabbit urinary bladder. *Acta Physiol Scand* **97**(1): 1–12.
- 24. Gabella G. (1989) Isometric contraction, isotonic contraction and passive contraction in smooth muscles. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 295: 133–8.

- 25. Krendel M, and Mooseker MS. (2005) Mysosins: Tails (and Heads) of Functional Diversity. *Physiology* **20**: 239–251.
- 26. Sellers J, Myosins. (1999) 2nd ed., Oxford University Press, New York.
- Eddinger TJ, and Meer DP. (2007) Myosin II isoforms in smooth muscle: Heterogeneity and function. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 293(2): C493–508.
- Cheney RE, Riley MA, and Mooseker MS. (1993) Phylogenetic analysis of the myosin superfamily. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 24(4): 215-23.
- 29. Hamada Y, *et al.* (1990) Distinct vascular and intestinal smooth muscle myosin heavy chain mRNAs are encoded by a single-copy gene in the chicken. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **170**(1): 53–8.
- Kelley CA, *et al.* (1993) An insert of seven amino acids confers functional differences between smooth muscle myosins from the intestines and vasculature. *J Biol Chem* 268(17): 12848–54.
- White S, Martin AF, and Periasamy M. (1993) Identification of a novel smooth muscle myosin heavy chain cDNA: isoform diversity in the S1 head region. *Am J Physiol* 264(5 Pt 1): C1252–8.
- Babij P, and Periasamy M. (1989) Myosin heavy chain isoform diversity in smooth muscle is produced by differential RNA processing. *J Mol Biol* 210(3): 673–9.
- 33. Nagai R, et al. (1989) Identification of two types of smooth muscle myosin heavy chain isoforms by cDNA cloning and immunoblot analysis. J Biol Chem 264(17): 9734–7.
- 34. Nagai R, Larson DM, and Periasamy M. (1988) Characterization of a mammalian smooth muscle myosin heavy chain cDNA clone and its expression in various smooth muscle types. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 85(4): 1047–51.
- 35. Golomb E, *et al.* (2004) Identification and characterization of nonmuscle myosin II-C, a new member of the myosin II family. *J Biol Chem* 279(4): 2800–8.
- Itoh K, and Adelstein RS. (1995) Neuronal cell expression of inserted isoforms of vertebrate nonmuscle myosin heavy chain II-B. J Biol Chem 270(24): 14533–40.
- 37. Katsuragawa Y, *et al.* (1989) Two distinct nonmuscle myosin-heavy-chain mRNAs are differentially expressed in various chicken tissues. Identification of a novel gene family of vertebrate non-sarcomeric myosin heavy chains. *Eur J Biochem* 184(3): 611–6.

- Simons M, et al. (1991) Human nonmuscle myosin heavy chains are encoded by two genes located on different chromosomes. Circ Res 69(2): 530–9.
- Takahashi M, Kawamoto S, and Adelstein RS (1992) Evidence for inserted sequences in the head region of nonmuscle myosin specific to the nervous system. Cloning of the cDNA encoding the myosin heavy chain-B isoform of vertebrate nonmuscle myosin. J Biol Chem 267(25): 17864–71.
- Shohet RV, *et al.* (1989) Cloning of the cDNA encoding the myosin heavy chain of a vertebrate cellular myosin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 86(20): 7726–30.
- 41. Gaylinn BD, *et al.* (1989) Expression of nonmuscle myosin heavy and light chains in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* **25**7(5 Pt 1): C997–1004.
- 42. Lash JA, *et al.* (1990) Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of cDNAs encoding two isoforms for the 17,000 dalton myosin light chain in bovine aortic smooth muscle. *Nucleic Acids Res* 18(23): 7176.
- 43. Lenz S, *et al.* (1989) The alkali light chains of human smooth and nonmuscle myosins are encoded by a single gene. Tissue-specific expression by alternative splicing pathways. *J Biol Chem* 264(15): 9009–15.
- 44. Nabeshima Y, *et al.* (1987) Nonmuscle and smooth muscle myosin light chain mRNAs are generated from a single gene by the tissue-specific alternative RNA splicing. *J Biol Chem* **262**(22): 10608–12.
- 45. Eddinger TJ, and Murphy RA. (1991) Developmental changes in actin and myosin heavy chain isoform expression in smooth muscle. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **284**(2): 232–7.
- 46. Eddinger TJ, and Wolf JA. (1993) Expression of four myosin heavy chain isoforms with development in mouse uterus. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* **25**(4): 358–68.
- 47. Frid MG, Moiseeva EP, and Stenmark KR. (1994) Multiple phenotypically distinct smooth muscle cell populations exist in the adult and developing bovine pulmonary arterial media in vivo. *Circ Res* 75(4): 669–81.
- 48. Cavaille F, *et al.* (1986) Isoforms of myosin and actin in human, monkey and rat myometrium. Comparison of pregnant and non-pregnant uterus proteins. *Eur J Biochem* **160**(3): 507–13.
- 49. Hasegawa Y, *et al.* (1988) Two isoforms of 17–kDa essential light chain of aorta media smooth muscle myosin. *J Biochem* (Tokyo) **103**(1): 15–8.

34 T. J. Eddinger

- 50. Helper DJ, Lash JA, and Hathaway DR. (1988) Distribution of isoelectric variants of the 17,000–dalton myosin light chain in mammalian smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **263**(30): 15748–53.
- 51. Monical PL, Owens GK, and Murphy RA. (1993) Expression of myosin regulatory light-chain isoforms and regulation of phosphorylation in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* **264**(6 Pt 1): C1466–72.
- 52. Vandekerckhove J, and Weber K. (1979) The complete amino acid sequence of actins from bovine aorta, bovine heart, bovine fast skeletal muscle, and rabbit slow skeletal muscle. A protein-chemical analysis of muscle actin differentiation. *Differentiation* 14(3): 123–33.
- 53. Vandekerckhove J, and Weber K. (1978) At least six different actins are expressed in a higher mammal: an analysis based on the amino acid sequence of the amino-terminal tryptic peptide. J Mol Biol 126(4): 783–802.
- 54. Fatigati V, and Murphy RA. (1984) Actin and tropomyosin variants in smooth muscles. Dependence on tissue type. *J Biol Chem* **259**(23): 14383–8.
- 55. Murphy RA, Herlihy JT, and Megerman J. (1974) Force-generating capacity and contractile protein content of arterial smooth muscle. *J Gen Physiol* **64**(6): 691–705.
- 56. Somlyo AP, et al. (1973) Filament organization in vertebrate smooth muscle. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London — Series B: *Biological Sciences* 265(867): 223–9.
- 57. Bois RM. (1973) The organization of the contractile apparatus of vertebrate smooth muscle. *Anat Rec* 177(1): 61–77.
- Cohen DM, and Murphy RA. (1979) Cellular thin filament protein contents and force generation in porcine arteries and veins. *Circ Res* 45(5): 661–5.
- 59. Gabella G. (1990) General aspects of the fine structure of smooth muscles. *Ultrastructure of Smooth Muscle*, P. Motta. (ed.) Boston: Kluwer Academic 1–22.
- 60. Cooper JA. (2002) Actin dynamics: tropomyosin provides stability. *Curr Biol* **12**(15): R523–5.
- 61. Gunning PW, et al. (2005) Tropomyosin isoforms: divining rods for actin cytoskeleton function. *Trends Cell Biol* **15**(6): 333–41.
- Gunning P, O'Neill G, and Hardeman E. (2008) Tropomyosin-based regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in time and space. *Physiol Rev* 88(1): 1–35.

- 63. Perry SV. (2001) Vertebrate tropomyosin: distribution, properties and function. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **22**(1): 5–49.
- 64. Janco M, et al. (2013) Polymorphism in tropomyosin structure and function. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 34(3-4): 177-87.
- 65. Cooley BC, and Bergtrom G. (2001) Multiple combinations of alternatively spliced exons in rat tropomyosin-alpha gene mRNA: Evidence for 20 new isoforms in adult tissues and cultured cells. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **390**(1): 71–7.
- 66. Dufour C, *et al.* (1998) Splicing of two internal and four carboxylterminal alternative exons in nonmuscle tropomyosin 5 pre-mRNA is independently regulated during development. *J Biol Chem* **273**(29): 18547–55.
- 67. Pittenger MF, Kazzaz JA, and Helfman DM. (1994) Functional properties of non-muscle tropomyosin isoforms. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **6**(1): 96–104.
- 68. Gunning PW, *et al.* (2015) Tropomyosin master regulator of actin filament function in the cytoskeleton. *J Cell Sci* **128**(16): 2965–74.
- 69. Gallant C, *et al.* (2011) Tropomyosin variants describe distinct functional subcellular domains in differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **300**(6): C1356–65.
- Vindin H, and Gunning P. (2013) Cytoskeletal tropomyosins: choreographers of actin filament functional diversity. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 34(3–4): 261–74.
- Cooke PH, Fay FS, and Craig R. (1989) Myosin filaments isolated from skinned amphibian smooth muscle cells are side-polar. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 10(3): 206–20.
- 72. Xu JQ, *et al.* (1996) Myosin filament structure in vertebrate smooth muscle. *J Cell Biol* **134**(1): 53–66.
- 73. Fay FS, and Delise CM. (1973) Contraction of isolated smooth-muscle cells-structural changes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 70(3): 641–5.
- Fisher BA, and Bagby RM. (1977) Reorientation of myofilaments during contraction of a vertebrate smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 232(1): C5–14.
- 75. Small JV. (1977) Studies on isolated smooth muscle cells: The contractile apparatus *J Cell Sci* 24: 327–49.
- Warshaw DM, McBride WJ, and Work SS. (1987) Corkscrewlike shortening in single smooth muscle cells. *Science* 236(4807): 1457–9.

36 T. J. Eddinger

- Kuo KH, and Seow CY. (2004) Contractile filament architecture and force transmission in swine airway smooth muscle. *J Cell Sci* 117(Pt 8): 1503–11.
- 78. Fletcher DA, and Mullins RD. (2010) Cell mechanics and the cytoskeleton. *Nature* **463**(7280): 485–92.
- 79. Wiche G. (1998) Role of plectin in cytoskeleton organization and dynamics. *J Cell Sci* 111(Pt 17): 2477–86.
- Yamin R, and Morgan KG. (2012) Deciphering actin cytoskeletal function in the contractile vascular smooth muscle cell. *J Physiol* 590(Pt 17): 4145–54.
- 81. Gunning PW, *et al.* (2015) The evolution of compositionally and functionally distinct actin filaments. *J Cell Sci* **128**(11): 2009–19.
- 82. dos Remedios CG, *et al.* (2003) Actin binding proteins: regulation of cytoskeletal microfilaments. *Physiol Rev* **83**(2): 433–73.
- 83. Ye G, Nesmith AP, and Parker KK, *et al.* (2014) The role of mechanotransduction on vascular smooth muscle myocytes' [corrected] cytoskeleton and contractile function **297**(9): 1758–69.
- Wilhelmsen K, *et al.* (2005) Nesprin-3, a novel outer nuclear membrane protein, associates with the cytoskeletal linker protein plectin. *J Cell Biol* 171(5): 799–810.
- Nagayama K, Yahiro Y, and Matsumoto T. (2011) Stress fibers stabilize the position of intranuclear DNA through mechanical connection with the nucleus in vascular smooth muscle cells. *FEBS Letters* 585(24): 3992–7.
- Tang DD. (2008) Intermediate filaments in smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 294(4): C869–78.
- 87. Titeux M, *et al.* (2001) Human synemin gene generates splice variants encoding two distinct intermediate filament proteins. *European J Biochem* **268**(24): 6435–49.
- 88. Chang L, and Goldman RD. (2004) Intermediate filaments mediate cytoskeletal crosstalk. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 5(8): 601–13.
- Helfand BT, Chang L, and Goldman RD. (2004) Intermediate filaments are dynamic and motile elements of cellular architecture. *J Cell Sci* 117(Pt 2): 133–41.
- 90. Stromer MH, and Bendayan M. (1990) Immunocytochemical identification of cytoskeletal linkages to smooth muscle cell nuclei and mitochondria. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 17(1): 11–8.
- 91. Gundersen GG, and Cook TA. (1999) Microtubules and signal transduction. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 11(1): 81–94.

- Kawabe J, *et al.* (2006) Caveolin regulates microtubule polymerization in the vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Com* 342(1): 164–9.
- Simon DN, and Wilson KL. (2011) The nucleoskeleton as a genomeassociated dynamic 'network of networks'. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12(11): 695–708.
- 94. Wang N, Tytell JD, and Ingber DE. (2009) Mechanotransduction at a distance: Mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**(1): 75–82.
- 95. Zhang D, *et al.* (2004) Unloaded shortening velocity in single permeabilized vascular smooth muscle cells is independent of microtubule status. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **25**(2): 167–75.
- 96. Sheridan BC, *et al.* (1996) Microtubules regulate pulmonary vascular smooth muscle contraction. *J Surg Res* **62**(2): 284–7.
- 97. Morioka M, *et al.* (2011) Microtubule dynamics regulate cyclic stretch-induced cell alignment in human airway smooth muscle cells. *PLoS One* 6(10): e26384.
- Svitkina TM, Verkhovsky AB, and Borisy GG. (1996) Plectin sidearms mediate interaction of intermediate filaments with microtubules and other components of the cytoskeleton. *J Cell Biol* 135(4): 991–1007.
- 99. Jefferson JJ, Leung CL, and Liem RK. (2004) Plakins: Goliaths that link cell junctions and the cytoskeleton. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **5**(7): 542–53.
- 100. Rezniczek GA, Janda L, and Wiche G. (2004) Plectin. Methods Cell Biol 78: 721–55.
- 101. Hartwig JH, and Stossel TP. (1975) Isolation and properties of actin, myosin, and a new actinbinding protein in rabbit alveolar macrophages. J Biol Chem 250(14): 5696–705.
- 102. Wang K, Ash JF, and Singer SJ. (1975) Filamin, a new high-molecularweight protein found in smooth muscle and non-muscle cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 72(11): 4483–6.
- Stossel TP, et al. (2001) Filamins as integrators of cell mechanics and signalling. Nat Rev Mole Cell Biol 2(2): 138–45.
- 104. Kim H, and McCulloch CA. (2011) Filamin A mediates interactions between cytoskeletal proteins that control cell adhesion. *FEBS Lett* 585(1): 18–22.
- 105. Nakamura F, Stossel TP, and Hartwig JH. (2011) The filamins: Organizers of cell structure and function. *Cell Adh Migr* 5(2): 160–9.

- 38 T. J. Eddinger
- 106. Loy CJ, Sim KS, and Yong EL. (2003) Filamin-A fragment localizes to the nucleus to regulate androgen receptor and coactivator functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100(8): 4562–7.
- 107. Ohta Y, *et al.* (1999) The small GTPase RalA targets filamin to induce filopodia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96**(5): 2122–8.
- 108. Kiema T, et al. (2006) The molecular basis of filamin binding to integrins and competition with talin. *Molecular Cell* 21(3): 337–47.
- 109. Kawamoto S, and H. Hidaka. (1984) Ca2+-activated, phospholipiddependent protein kinase catalyzes the phosphorylation of actin-binding proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **118**(3): 736–42.
- Wallach D, Davies PJ, and Pastan I. (1978) Cyclic AMP-dependent phosphorylation of filamin in mammalian smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 253(13): 4739–45.
- 111. Chen M, and Stracher A. (1989) In situ phosphorylation of platelet actin-binding protein by cAMP-dependent protein kinase stabilizes it against proteolysis by calpain. *J Biol Chem* **264**(24): 14282–9.
- 112. Muriel O, *et al.* (2011) Phosphorylated filamin A regulates actinlinked caveolae dynamics. *J Cell Sci* **124**(Pt 16): 2763–76.
- 113. Conrad PA, *et al.* (1995) Caveolin cycles between plasma membrane caveolae and the Golgi complex by microtubule-dependent and microtubule-independent steps. *J Cell Biol* 131(6 Pt 1): 1421–33.
- 114. Smart EJ, et al. (1994) Protein kinase C activators inhibit receptormediated potocytosis by preventing internalization of caveolae. J Cell Biol 124(3): 307–13.
- 115. Smart EJ, Ying YS, and Anderson RG. (1995) Hormonal regulation of caveolae internalization. *J Cell Biol* **131**(4): 929–38.
- Anderson RG. (1998) The caveolae membrane system. Annu Rev Biochem 67: 199–225.
- 117. Eddinger TJ, Schiebout JD, and Swartz DR. (2005) Smooth muscle adherens junctions associated proteins are stable at the cell periphery during relaxation and activation. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 289(6): C1379–87.
- 118. Juliano RL. (2002) Signal transduction by cell adhesion receptors and the cytoskeleton: Functions of integrins, cadherins, selectins, and immunoglobulin-superfamily members. *Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 42: 283–323.
- 119. Moiseeva EP. (2001) Adhesion receptors of vascular smooth muscle cells and their functions. *Cardiovasc Res* **52**(3): 372–86.
- 120. Niessen CM, Leckband D, and Yap AS. (2011) Tissue organization by cadherin adhesion molecules: dynamic molecular and cellular mechanisms of morphogenetic regulation. *Physiol Rev* **91**(2): 691–731.

- 121. Hulpiau P, and van Roy F. (2009) Molecular evolution of the cadherin superfamily. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* **41**(2): 349–69.
- 122. Zaidel-Bar R. (2013) Cadherin adhesome at a glance. J Cell Sci 126(Pt 2): 373–8.
- 123. Zaidel-Bar R, et al. (2007) Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. Nature Cell Biol 9(8): 858–67.
- 124. Sun Z, et al. (2014) N-cadherin, a vascular smooth muscle cell-cell adhesion molecule: Function and signaling for vasomotor control. *Microcirculation* 21(3): 208–18.
- 125. Desai RA, et al. (2009) Cell polarity triggered by cell-cell adhesion via E-cadherin. J Cell Sci 122(Pt 7): 905–11.
- 126. Ganz A, et al. (2006) Traction forces exerted through N-cadherin contacts. Biol Cell 98(12): 721–30.
- 127. Liu Z, et al. (2010) Mechanical tugging force regulates the size of cellcell junctions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107(22): 9944–9.
- 128. Chausovsky A, Bershadsky AD, and Borisy GG. (2000) Cadherinmediated regulation of microtubule dynamics. Nat Cell Biol 2(11): 797–804.
- 129. Arregui C, et al. (2000) The nonreceptor tyrosine kinase fer mediates cross-talk between N-cadherin and beta1-integrins. J Cell Biol 149(6): 1263–74.
- 130. Gimond C, *et al.* (1999) Induction of cell scattering by expression of beta1 integrins in beta1-deficient epithelial cells requires activation of members of the rho family of GTPases and downregulation of cadherin and catenin function. *J Cell Biol* 147(6): 1325–40.
- 131. Sheibani N, Sorenson CM, and Frazier WA. (2000) Differential modulation of cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion by platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 isoforms through activation of extracellular regulated kinases. *Mol Biol Cell* 11(8): 2793–802.
- 132. Burridge K, and Chrzanowska-Wodnicka M. (1996) Focal adhesions, contractility, and signaling. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **12**: 463–518.
- Hynes RO. (1992) Integrins: Versatility, modulation, and signaling in cell adhesion. *Cell* 69(1): 11–25.
- Schwartz MA. (2010) Integrins and extracellular matrix in mechanotransduction. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in Biology* 2(12): a005066.
- Miranti CK, and Brugge JS. (2002) Sensing the environment: A historical perspective on integrin signal transduction. *Nat Cell Biol* 4(4): E83–90.
- 136. Zamir E, and Geiger B. (2001) Molecular complexity and dynamics of cell-matrix adhesions. J Cell Sci 114(Pt 20): 3583–90.

- 40 T. J. Eddinger
- 137. Zaidel-Bar R, and Geiger B. (2010) The switchable integrin adhesome. J Cell Sci 123(Pt 9): 1385–8.
- Draeger A, *et al.* (1990) The cytoskeletal and contractile apparatus of smooth muscle: contraction bands and segmentation of the contractile elements. *J Cell Biol* 111(6 Pt 1): 2463–73.
- Small JV, Furst DO, and De Mey J. (1986) Localization of filamin in smooth muscle. J Cell Biol 102(1): 210–20.
- 140. North AJ, et al. (1994) Actin isoform compartments in chicken gizzard smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 107(Pt 3): 445–55.
- 141. Gunst SJ, and Zhang W. (2008) Actin cytoskeletal dynamics in smooth muscle: a new paradigm for the regulation of smooth muscle contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 295(3): C576–87.
- 142. Kim HR, et al. (2008) Cytoskeletal remodeling in differentiated vascular smooth muscle is actin isoform dependent and stimulus dependent. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295(3): C768–78.
- 143. Lehman W, and Morgan KG. (2012) Structure and dynamics of the actin-based smooth muscle contractile and cytoskeletal apparatus. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 33(6): 461–9.
- 144. Zhang W, Huang Y, and Gunst SJ. (2012) The small GTPase RhoA regulates the contraction of smooth muscle tissues by catalyzing the assembly of cytoskeletal signaling complexes at membrane adhesion sites. *J Biol Chem* **28**7(41): 33996–4008.
- 145. Drew JS, and Murphy RA. (1997) Actin isoform expression, cellular heterogeneity, and contractile function in smooth muscle. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **75**(7): 869–77.
- 146. Drew JS, Moos C, and Murphy RA. (1991) Localization of isoactins in isolated smooth muscle thin filaments by double gold immunolabeling. *Am J Physiol* **260**(6 Pt 1): C1332–40.
- 147. Fatigati V, and Murphy RA. (1984) Actin and tropomyosin variants in smooth muscles. Dependence on tissue type. J Biol Chem 259(23): 14383–8.
- 148. Dahl KN, et al. (2004) The nuclear envelope lamina network has elasticity and a compressibility limit suggestive of a molecular shock absorber. J Cell Sci 117(Pt 20): 4779–86.
- 149. Guilak F, Tedrow JR, and Burgkart R. (2000) Viscoelastic properties of the cell nucleus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **269**(3): 781–6.
- Jaalouk DE, and Lammerding J. (2009) Mechanotransduction gone awry. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(1): 63–73.
- Dahl KN, and Kalinowski A. (2011) Nucleoskeleton mechanics at a glance. J Cell Sci 124(Pt 5): 675–8.

- 152. Visa N, and Percipalle P. (2010) Nuclear functions of actin. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2(4): a000620.
- Hofmann WA. (2009) Cell and molecular biology of nuclear actin. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 273: 219–63.
- 154. Philimonenko VV, *et al.* (2004) Nuclear actin and myosin I are required for RNA polymerase I transcription. *Nat Cell Biol* **6**(12): 1165–72.
- 155. Hofmann WA, *et al.* (2006) From transcription to transport: emerging roles for nuclear myosin I. *Biochem Cell Biol* **84**(4): 418–26.
- 156. Dingova H, *et al.* (2009) Ultrastructural localization of actin and actinbinding proteins in the nucleus. *Histochem Cell Biol* **131**(3): 425–34.
- 157. McMahon LW, *et al.* (2009) Knockdown of alphaII spectrin in normal human cells by siRNA leads to chromosomal instability and decreased DNA interstrand cross-link repair. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 381(2): 288–93.
- 158. Sridharan DM, McMahon LW, and Lambert MW. (2006) alphaII-Spectrin interacts with five groups of functionally important proteins in the nucleus. *Cell Biol Int* **30**(11): 866–78.
- 159. Maniotis AJ, Chen CS, and Ingber DE. (1997) Demonstration of mechanical connections between integrins, cytoskeletal filaments and nucleoplasm that stabilize nuclear structure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94(3): 849–54.
- 160. Brosig M, et al. (2010) Interfering with the connection between the nucleus and the cytoskeleton affects nuclear rotation, mechanotransduction and myogenesis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 42(10): 1717–28.
- Dechat T, Adam SA, and Goldman RD. (2009) Nuclear lamins and chromatin: When structure meets function. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 49(1): 157–66.
- Dechat T, et al. (2008) Nuclear lamins: major factors in the structural organization and function of the nucleus and chromatin. Genes Dev 22(7): 832–53.
- Martin C, et al. (2009) Lamin B1 maintains the functional plasticity of nucleoli. J Cell Sci 122(Pt 10): 1551–62.
- 164. Bertrand A, Yaou RB, Bonne G. (2012) Diseases of the Nucleoskeleton. Muscle. Fundamental Biology and Mechanisms of Disease, In. Hill J, and Olson, EN. (eds) vol. 2, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- 165. Chen CS. (2008) Mechanotransduction a field pulling together? J Cell Sci 121(Pt 20): 3285–92.
- 166. Ahmed S, and Brickner JH. (2007) Regulation and epigenetic control of transcription at the nuclear periphery. *Trends in Genetics* 23(8): 396–402.

- 167. Lee DC, *et al.* (2009) A-type nuclear lamins act as transcriptional repressors when targeted to promoters. *Exp Cell Res* **315**(6): 996–1007.
- 168. Towbin BD, Meister P, and Gasser SM. (2009) The nuclear envelope a scaffold for silencing? *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **19**(2): 180–6.
- 169. Lombardi ML, *et al.* (2011) The interaction between nesprins and sun proteins at the nuclear envelope is critical for force transmission between the nucleus and cytoskeleton. *J Biol Chem* **286**(30): 26743–53.
- 170. Lees-Miller JP, and Helfman DM. (1991) The molecular basis for tropomyosin isoform diversity. *Bioessays* 13(9): 429–37.
- 171. Hayashi K, et al. (1991) Structural and functional relationships between h- and l-caldesmons. J Biol Chem 266(1): 355-61.
- 172. Mabuchi K, et al. (1996) Immunocytochemical localization of caldesmon and calponin in chicken gizzard smooth muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 17(2): 243–60.
- 173. Wang CL. (2001) Caldesmon and smooth-muscle regulation. Cell Biochem Biophys 35(3): 275–88.
- 174. North AJ, et al. (1994) Calponin is localised in both the contractile apparatus and the cytoskeleton of smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 107(Pt 3): 437–44.
- 175. Sobue K, et al. (1981) Purification of a calmodulin-binding protein from chicken gizzard that interacts with F-actin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78(9): 5652–5.
- 176. Hemric ME, and Chalovich JM. (1988) Effect of caldesmon on the ATPase activity and the binding of smooth and skeletal myosin sub-fragments to actin. *J Biol Chem* **263**(4): 1878–85.
- 177. Ikebe M, and Reardon S. (1988) Binding of caldesmon to smooth muscle myosin. *J Biol Chem* 263(7): 3055–8.
- 178. Horiuchi KY, and Chacko S. (1988) Interaction between caldesmon and tropomyosin in the presence and absence of smooth muscle actin. *Biochemistry* 27(22): 8388–93.
- 179. Redwood CS, and Marston SB. (1993) Binding and regulatory properties of expressed functional domains of chicken gizzard smooth muscle caldesmon. *J Biol Chem* **268**(15): 10969–76.
- 180. Takahashi K, Hiwada K, and Kokubu T. (1986) Isolation and characterization of a 34,000-dalton calmodulin- and F-actin-binding protein from chicken gizzard smooth muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 141(1): 20–6.

- 181. Leinweber B, *et al.* (1999) Calponin interaction with alpha-actinin-actin: evidence for a structural role for calponin. *Biophys J* 77(6): 3208–17.
- 182. Szymanski PT, Grabarek Z, and Tao T. (1997) Correlation between calponin and myosin subfragment 1 binding to F-actin and ATPase inhibition. *Biochem J* **321**(Pt 2): 519–23.
- 183. Leinweber B, *et al.* (2000) Regulation of protein kinase C by the cytoskeletal protein calponin. *J Biol Chem* **275**(51): 40329–36.
- 184. Takahashi K, *et al.* (1988) A novel troponin T-like protein (calponin) in vascular smooth muscle: interaction with tropomyosin paracrystals. *J Hypertens Suppl* 6(4): S40–3.
- 185. Fujii T, *et al.* (1997) Interaction of chicken gizzard smooth muscle calponin with brain microtubules. *J Biochem* **122**(2): 344–51.
- 186. Ferjani I, et al. (2006) Calponin binds G-actin and F-actin with similar affinity. FEBS Lett **580**(20): 4801–6.
- 187. Shirinsky VP, *et al.* (1992) Inhibition of the relative movement of actin and myosin by caldesmon and calponin. *J Biol Chem* **267**(22): 15886–92.
- 188. North AJ, et al. (1994) Calponin is localised in both the contractile apparatus and the cytoskeleton of smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 107(Pt 3): 437–44.
- 189. Ratz PH, et al. (2005) Regulation of smooth muscle calcium sensitivity: KCl as a calcium-sensitizing stimulus. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 288(4): C769–83.
- 190. Sward K, et al. (2003) The role of RhoA and Rho-associated kinase in vascular smooth muscle contraction. Curr Hypertens Rep 5(1): 66–72.
- 191. Murthy KS. (2006) Signaling for contraction and relaxation in smooth muscle of the gut. *Annu Rev Physiol* **68**: 345–74.
- 192. Somlyo AV, et al. (2004) Smooth muscle myosin: Regulation and properties. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 359(1452): 1921-30.
- 193. Somlyo AP, and Somlyo AV. (2003) Ca2+ sensitivity of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II: modulated by G proteins, kinases, and myosin phosphatase. *Physiol Rev* **83**(4): 1325–58.
- 194. Kim HR, et al. (2008) Smooth muscle signalling pathways in health and disease. J Cell Mol Med 12(6A): 2165–80.
- 195. Nixon GF, Mignery GA, and Somlyo AV. (1994) Immunogold localization of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors and characterization of ultrastructural features of the sarcoplasmic reticulum in phasic and tonic smooth muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **15**(6): 682–700.

44 T. J. Eddinger

- 196. Devine CE, Somlyo AV, and Somlyo AP. (1972) Sarcoplasmic reticulum and excitation-contraction coupling in mammalian smooth muscles. *J Cell Biol* **52**(3): 690–718.
- 197. Chen CS, Tan J, and Tien J. (2004) Mechanotransduction at cellmatrix and cell-cell contacts. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* 6: 275–302.
- 198. Owens GK. (1995) Regulation of differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Physiol Rev* 75(3): 487–517.
- 199. Kelleher CM, McLean SE, and Mecham RP. (2004) Vascular extracellular matrix and aortic development. *Curr Top Dev Biol* **62**: 153–88.
- 200. Chen Q, et al. (2013) Matrix metalloproteinases: inflammatory regulators of cell behaviors in vascular formation and remodeling. *Mediators Inflamm* 2013: 928315.
- 201. Janmey PA. (1998) The cytoskeleton and cell signaling: component localization and mechanical coupling. *Physiol Rev* 78(3): 763–81.
- 202. Janmey PA, et al. (2013) From tissue mechanics to transcription factors. Differentiation 86(3): 112–20.
- 203. Bosse Y, et al. (2008) Length adaptation of airway smooth muscle. Proc Am Thorac Soc 5(1): 62–7.
- 204. Nguyen TT, and Fredberg JJ. (2008) Strange dynamics of a dynamic cytoskeleton. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 5(1): 58–61.
- 205. Zhang W, and Gunst SJ. (2008) Interactions of airway smooth muscle cells with their tissue matrix: implications for contraction. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 5(1): 32–9.
- Lenormand G, and Fredberg JJ. (2006) Deformability, dynamics, and remodeling of cytoskeleton of the adherent living cell. *Biorheology* 43(1): 1–30.
- 207. Seow CY. (2005) Myosin filament assembly in an ever-changing myofilament lattice of smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289(6): C1363–8.
- 208. Smith PG, et al. (2003) Mechanical strain increases cell stiffness through cytoskeletal filament reorganization. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285(2): L456–63.
- 209. Stamenovic D, et al. (2002) Cell prestress. II. Contribution of microtubules. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 282(3): C617–24.
- 210. Crotty TP. (1999) Contraction in the smooth muscle cell. Med Hypotheses 53(5): 432–46.
- Lin P, Luby-Phelps K, and Stull JT. (1999) Properties of filamentbound myosin light chain kinase. J Biol Chem 274(9): 5987–94.

- Rice RV, et al. (1970) The organization of contractile filaments in a mammalian smooth muscle. J Cell Biol 47(1): 183–96.
- 213. Gabbiani G. (1997) Morphology of Smooth Muscle. *Cellular Aspects of Smooth Muscle*. Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom.
- Bennett JP, *et al.* (1988) Spatial pattern of myosin phosphorylation in contracting smooth muscle cells: evidence for contractile zones. *J Cell Biol* 107(6 Pt 2): 2623–9.
- 215. Nagayama K, Adachi A, and Matsumoto T. (2011) Heterogeneous response of traction force at focal adhesions of vascular smooth muscle cells subjected to macroscopic stretch on a micropillar substrate. *J Biomec* 44(15): 2699–705.
- 216. Wilson E, Sudhir K, and Ives HE. (1995) Mechanical strain of rat vascular smooth muscle cells is sensed by specific extracellular matrix/ integrin interactions. *J Clin Invest* 96(5): 2364–72.
- 217. Yusko EC, and Asbury CL. (2014) Force is a signal that cells cannot ignore. *Mole Biol Cell* 25(23): 3717–25.
- 218. Owens GK, Kumar MS, and Wamhoff BR. (2004) Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol Rev* 84(3): 767–801.
- Campbell JH, and Campbell GR. (2012) Smooth muscle phenotypic modulation — a personal experience. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32(8): 1784–9.
- Fisher SA. (2010) Vascular smooth muscle phenotypic diversity and function. *Physiol Genomics* 42A(3): 169–87.
- 221. Gabella G. (1997) Morphology of Smooth Muscle. *Cellular Aspects of Smooth Muscle Function*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 222. Imai H, *et al.* (1970) Ultrastructural features of aortic cells in mitosis in control and cholesterol-fed swine. *Lab Invest* **23**(4): 401–15.
- 223. McGeachie J. (1971) Ultra-structureal Specificity in Regenerating Smooth Muscle. *Experientia* 27: 436–437.
- 224. Cobb JL, and Bennett T. (1970) An ultrastructural study of mitotic division in differentiated gastric smooth muscle cells. *Ptschrift Fur Zellforschung Und Mikroskopische Anatomielexus* **108**(2): 177–89.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 3

Vascular Structure and Function

Paul H. Ratz

Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia, USA paul.ratz@vcuhealth.org

Vascular smooth muscle motor protein regulation acutely adjusts vascular diameters and determines the stress-strain characteristics of arteries and veins. Net muscle contraction occurs when the tension generated by motor proteins is greater than that generated by blood pressure, and net relaxation occurs when pressure- and radius-dependent wall tension exceeds muscle tension. Numerous stimuli generated locally and distantly acting through multiple cell signaling systems modify the level of motor protein activation. Unlike skeletal muscle that is inactive until "called on" to contract, vascular smooth muscle is always "on" to some degree, even when no apparent stimuli are present. Smooth muscle down the vascular tree, and similar vasculatures across species, display some similarities, but also a significant degree of heterogeneity. The canonical vascular smooth muscle contraction control system involves regulation of 20 kDa myosin light chain phosphorylation by Ca²⁺ calmodulin-dependent myosin light chain kinase, rhoA kinase and protein kinase C. The latter two kinases act, in part, by inhibiting the activity of myosin phosphatase, and thus, by increasing the degree of force for a given increase in Ca²⁺. Several novel kinases also appear to participate in myosin light chain regulation, including Ca2+-calmodulin-dependent kinase II, mitogen activated protein kinases, zipper-interacting kinase, integrin-linked kinase,

kinase inhibitor of NF- κ B 2, and AMP-dependent protein kinase. Regulation of vascular smooth muscle contraction is not limited to modulation of myosin light chain phosphorylation. Non-canonical regulation includes control of actin and myosin polymerization, thin filament regulation, latch bridge formation and regulation of force transmission. Stimuli that increase nitric oxide, cyclic nucleotides and their kinases inhibit the contraction control system. The effect of such complex regulation is to maintain blood pressure at levels necessary for perfusion of essential organs, and to ensure appropriate nutrient supply to, and waste removal from, all cells of the body.

1. Introduction

The vasculature is a network of heterogenous tubes through which blood is propelled by a pulsatile pump to perfuse every organ of the body. As multicellular organisms grew in size, the heart and vasculature arose from the need to convectively supply O_2 and substrates to and remove waste products from, cells too distant for diffusion to adequately exchange these metabolites.³⁰³ The vascular system also provides the conduit through which immune cells and hormones reach target tissues. In essence, the development of a vascular system gave life to large animals. Failure of this system leads to disorders such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, heart attacks, stroke, heart failure, thrombosis, and vasodilatory shock due to the traumas of hemorrhage and sepsis. Moreover, diseases such as diabetes and obesity lead to vascular complications. Together, these disorders represent the majority of human mortalities (see http://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/leadingcauses.html).

In mammals, the heart's two muscular ventricles pump blood into the systemic and pulmonary vasculatures, separate circuits connected in-series.⁴²⁹ In a ~70 kg human at rest, ~5 L of blood is pumped per min (~70 ml/beat × ~72 beats/min). Thus, the entire blood volume circulates through the closed vascular system each minute. At any one moment, the majority of blood volume (~75%) is contained within the systemic veins at low pressures. Venous smooth muscle contraction constricts this reservoir, decreasing venous capacitance rather than compliance, making more blood available to the heart to increase cardiac output.^{425,500} The heart pumps blood delivered from the large veins directly into the aorta and pulmonary artery at high pressure. Muscular arteries of reduced size (both luminal radius and wall thickness) branch off these conduit (elastic) arteries to perfuse each organ system. Muscular arteries that enter (feed) organs branch further and become reduced in size forming the microcirculation, consisting of vascular bed feed arteries, precapillary arterioles, capillaries and postcapillary venules ranging in size from ~5-400 µm.^{319,413} The surface area of each capillary bed is about 1,000-fold that of conduit arteries.⁵⁴ This, along with the extensive diffusive interactions among microvessels, dynamic VSM vasomotor regulation, and adaptive architectural remodeling, ensure that O₂, nutrient, and fluid exchange occurs between the vascular compartment and the extracellular space bathing the cells of each organ according to local demand.^{17,370,381} Most blood returns through many small veins into fewer larger veins in a reverse branching order until blood fills the large vena cava and pulmonary veins, the final reservoir before the heart. Some filtered plasma returns from the extracellular space through the lymphatics, a very low pressure, open, vascular system.³²⁶

In general, the tubular vasculature is a laminar structure, with an inner intima comprised of an endothelial cell layer, a middle media and outer adventitia.^{137,319,413} In the media of large and small arteries, more than a single layer of vascular smooth muscle (VSM) cells and extracellular matrix (ECM) surround the intima. The number of lamina is reduced as the vessel diameter decreases.³¹⁹ This is true when moving down the vascular tree, and also when comparing analogous arteries from different species of different sizes. For example, femoral arteries from rabbit and mouse develop, respectively, ~12155 and ~3 lamina. At a diameter of $\sim 50 \ \mu m$ in the microcirculation, medial lamina give way to a VSM monolayer and then to pericytes, which appear also to exist in the intima of larger blood vessels.^{20,352} VSM cells are elongated fusiform bio-engines. Those isolated from pressurized swine carotid artery are $\sim 10 \times 240 \,\mu\text{m}$ when fully relaxed and $\sim 120 \,\mu\text{m}$ long when fully contracted⁸⁸ (Fig. 1A). In arteries, the long axis of each VSM cell is oriented perpendicular to the long-axis of the



Fig. 1. Vascular smooth muscle (VSM) cells are long and thin (fusiform). The ratio of length, l, to width, w, for a VSM cell at rest is ~24:1. Single VSM cells can be stimulated to contract to ~half the rest-length (A). The long-axis of VSM cells (B.a., l) are oriented perpendicular to the long-axis of the vascular tube (B.a., w). Thus tissue stress, S, should be measured circumferentially, which can be accomplished using a vascular ring (B.b.) or strip (C) preparation. The degree of S is dependent on strain (normalized length, l). The strain at which S_a is a maximum is referred to as a reference length, l_{ref} , or as l_0 . The values w and h are width and thickness, respectively. An artery ring hung on tissue pegs (B.b.) is twice as thick and half as long as the same ring cut into a muscle strip, C. The S_a of a tissue strip made by cutting a ring open (B.a., dotted line), S_{a2} , would be equal to the S_a of that strip cut in half (C, dotted line, S_{a3} or S_{a4}).

vascular tube^{319,521,522} (Fig. 1B), and in many veins, a fraction of VSM cells are also longitudinally-oriented.⁴¹³ The role of VSM is to contract, and thereby increase blood vessel wall stress (Fig. 1C, force per unit wall width × unit wall thickness; i.e., cross-sectional area; tension, the force per unit wall width, is also used for normalizing force of thin-walled blood vessels and to approximate stress). VSM contraction leads to constriction when wall stress is greater than the opposing dilating stress dependent on luminal blood pressure and tube radius (see Fig. 3B). Around the outermost medial lamina of arteries is an adventitial layer comprised of ECM and some cells such as fibroblasts, mast cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, progenitor cells and some

Schwan cells. The percent of medial ECM is largest in elastic, conduit arteries (e.g., aorta, pulmonary artery, carotid artery and common iliac artery) and is reduced as the arterial tree becomes smaller in diameter (e.g., external iliac artery) and branches to perfuse separate organ systems (e.g., renal, femoral and mesenteric arteries and their branches). Arteries downstream from conduit arteries are called large and small muscular arteries. Perivascular adipose tissue encircles the adventitia of conduit and muscular arteries feeding organs. Larger arteries have a vasculature of their own, the vasa vasorum.³¹⁸

VSM is sandwiched between sources of vasoactive stimuli that can be rapidly mobilized to control contractile activity.⁵³⁸ Endothelial cells release both contractile and relaxant stimuli^{31,95,101,256,293} and permit blood-borne hormones access to surrounding VSM.441 Sympathetic nerve varicosities^{35,46} and peptidergic sensory neurons^{183,230} invade the adventitia and adventitial-medial junction of certain vascular beds, releasing neurotransmitters and co-transmitters.⁵³⁸ Recent studies have revealed that perivascular adipose tissue releases stimuli that affect VSM contractile activity, including prostanoids and angiotensin II.^{295,356} The cells of each vascular bed produce stimuli that modulate the contractile state of the microcirculation according to local metabolic demand.⁴⁵⁰ In addition, regulated gap junctions mediate direct intercellular communication between endothelial cells and between endothelial and VSM cells, permitting very rapid and efficient propagated contraction and relaxation.^{17,138,449} Moreover, contractile and relaxant autacoids can be produced directly by VSM cells.

2. Contraction (Shortening, Force Development and "Catch-slip Holding" Tension)

VSM cells are the engines of the vascular wall.³⁹⁰ The force-generating units, or motors, within smooth muscle cells are actomyosin (AM) crossbridges (XBs) arranged in poorly defined sarcomeric units^{6,172} that, nevertheless, behave mechanically in a fashion similar to the well-characterized fast skeletal muscle sarcomere.^{323,390,545} In particular, when VSM *in vitro* is clamped at different muscle lengths (isometric) and stimulated to contract at each length to generate length-tension

curves, the maximum active isometric tension generated displays a parabolic dependency on muscle length. That is, muscle motor forcegeneration is length-constrained (but see below). The maximum concentration of a contractile stimulus will engage the greatest number of motors when the tissue is at its optimum sarcomere length. Fewer motors are engaged at shorter and longer lengths, despite employing a maximum stimulus concentration. Thus, comparisons of the ability of stimuli to contract VSM must take muscle length into account. Both muscle length and tension can modulate the effective-ness of stimulus-contraction coupling.^{379,380,512,514}

Myosin is an ATPase with three domains; a head domain that "walks" on actin cables by forming a strong ionic bond with an actin monomer followed by an oar-like power stroke and then release from the cable and reversal of the stroke, a tail domain that is embedded in an assembly of myosins forming a thick filament, and a regulatory domain.⁷⁹ Each myosin molecule is a heterohexamer consisting of two heavy chains, each with head and tail domains, and two pairs of myosin light chains (MLCs; 20 kDa and 17 kDa) that wrap around the head's neck region. The 20 kDa MLC, also termed the regulatory light chain, undergoes reversible phosphorylation, thereby regulating the motor's activity (turning it "on" and "off"). Notably, actin-based thin filaments, myosin thick filaments and structures involved in force transmission of smooth muscles all appear to be acutely dynamic, 30,65,277,288,409,451,492,553 so the active length-tension curve is also acutely dynamic and the parabolic relationship can shift along the length-axis.^{7,24,452,497,526} Such acute dynamic plasticity enlarges the repertoire of smooth muscle contractile behaviors compared to striated muscles.

Arterial VSM is a composite material consisting of ECM that exerts passive mechanical properties, and VSM cells that appear to act as series-coupled force-transmitting engines.^{323,390} That is, isometric stress at any given muscle length is independent of the length of the *tissue* studied (i.e., cutting a tissue in half transversely to retain the original cross-sectional area will not affect the stress-level, Fig. 1C), and mechanical changes in tissue length will result in proportional changes in VSM cell length (and visa versa). Total stress consists of at

least two additive stresses, one from the motors (active stress, S_2) and one from the ECM (passive stress, S_p), because ECM and AM XBs act in-parallel. Other elements may contribute additional stress in-parallel. An example is the giant intracellular protein titin found in striated muscle.²⁷⁴ Although the stress borne by titin is often considered to represent an additional passive stress, the titin stress-strain (strain = normalized length) curve is acutely regulated by cell signaling systems,¹⁷⁴ indicating that titin's contribution to total stress is not passive. Titin is also expressed by smooth muscle and may serve a mechanical role that is possibly regulated, but the precise function of smooth muscle titin remains to be determined.^{68,133} Throughout the functional length-range of bladder, a considerable amount of the stress borne when detrusor smooth muscle is at rest that was originally considered to be passive appears instead to be due to very slowly cycling AM XBs that undergo strain softening.405,471,473 To a lesser degree, this appears also to be true for VSM, contributing ~5–10% of total stress at the optimum length for contraction. These AM XBs act in parallel with those responsible for shortening more rapidly and developing stress, so their stresses are additive. The ability of AM XBs to "hold" stress for some time is characteristic of non-muscle, smooth muscle and slow striated muscle myosin II isotypes in which the power stroke is completed in 2-steps.²⁰⁴ "Holding" occurs when the XB power stroke stalls for some time at a position between the first and second steps due to mechanical strain and MLC dephosphorylation.^{339,469} Notably, in contrast to most non-covalent bonds that act as slip bonds where bond lifetimes decrease with load, the AM XB can act as a biological catch bond where, up to a point, bond lifetime increases (i.e., detachment rate decreases) with load.75,145

The ECM stress-strain curve of VSM is J-shaped such that when the VSM of an artery is fully relaxed, the artery will readily dilate at low pressures (Fig. 2A). The steep stress-strain slope of the curve at long strains provides a stress that resists further tissue strain, limiting the extent of acute increases in arterial lumen diameter with increasing pressures. Failure of this system can result in aneurysm. Adding the parabolic active stress-strain curve to the J-shaped passive curve reveals an N-shaped total stress, S_r, curve (generally called an S-curve



Fig. 2. The preload tension-strain curve (artery segment not exposed to a contractile stimulus) is J-shaped (A), and the total tension-strain curve (artery ring stimulated to contract) includes a parabolic active tension relationship plus the J-shaped preload tension relationship, forming complex shapes dependent on the degree of vascular smooth muscle (VSM) activation (B–C). The intersections (stars) of isobaric curves (dashed lines) and tension curves (solid lines) reveal the level of VSM tension at given pressures in an artery tube not contracted (A), partially contracted (B) and fully contracted (C) where the relationship between wall tension, T, and luminal pressure, P, is according the Laplace relationship (D, T = Pr), assuming a very thin wall.

because of the shape when the axes are inverted; Figs. 2B and 2C). What is apparent is that VSM motor-generated (active) stress dominates at shorter muscle strains (smaller lumen diameters), and ECM stress dominates at longer strains (larger lumen diameters).

Whereas the ECM is acutely static, slowly cycling AM XBs and possibly titin that operate in-parallel with rapidly cycling AM XBs within the smooth muscle compartment are subject to acute adjustments via cell signaling-dependent control. Thus, the stress (or tension) held by smooth muscle "at rest" prior to activation by a contractile stimulus can be termed adjustable preload tension (T_{ap}). The sum of ECMdependent passive tension, T_p , and regulated T_{ap} can be termed the preload tension ($T_{preload}$). When stimulated to contract, rapidly cycling AM XBs are activated and the muscle develops T_a . Thus, total tension, T_t , equals $T_a + T_{preload}$, or, $T_t = T_a + T_{ap} + T_p$. The Laplace relationship reveals that the degree of wall tension,

T, is a function of both lumen radius, r, and pressure, P; for a thinwalled tube, T = Pr. In a cylindrically-shaped balloon partially blown up there exists simultaneously wider and narrower segments (Fig. 2D; note that T at the spherical interface between large and small cylinders is less by half than T_1). Pascal's principle is that P is equivalent throughout the lumen of the static, closed system, so $T_1 > T_2$ because $r_1 > r_2$. Compared to the amount of VSM T that must be developed in the narrower segment to just balance the Pr2-dependent T2, the VSM T developed in the wider segment needed to offset the Pr₁dependent T₁ must be greater. Thus, contraction of an artery segment that causes a reduction in r when starting from a value equal to $\boldsymbol{r}_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$ (i.e., causes constriction) would need to initially be strong, but after causing constriction and a decrease in r (say to r₂), could be weaker to maintain the new, smaller r. Notably, muscle shortening during vessel constriction moves the muscle down the ascending limb of its stress-strain curve, weakening the contractile strength. As will be discussed, mechanical strain also acts as a contractile stimulus in most small (generally <300 µm) arteries, and reduced strain reduces the intensity of this myogenic stimulus to cause contraction. Moreover, the degree of strain can affect stimulus-contraction coupling. The P gradient down the vascular tree falls from an average value of ~100 mm Hg in larger arteries to ~30 mm Hg in smaller arteries. In general, the motor proteins of large arteries are active to some degree so lumen diameters are between full dilation and full constriction. In the anesthetized mouse, the muscular femoral artery is constricted to ~1/2 its maximally dilated diameter, and most of this "basal tone" is dependent on basal sympathetic nerve activity.⁵⁶⁴ The VSM in these arterial segments bear high stresses indefinitely to prevent the luminal Pr product from causing artery expansion and

movement into the strain region of a stress-strain curve where recruitment of ECM proteins are required to prevent further dilation (Fig. 2B). Contraction of smaller muscular arteries and arterioles generally cause more extensive vessel constriction (Fig. 2C), increasing resistance to blood flow through that segment. This action regulates not only organ perfusion, but also contributes to the control of total peripheral vascular resistance, and therefore, blood pressure.

3. Classification of Contraction as Fast/Phasic and Slow/Tonic

Classification of smooth muscles into discrete categories has been a challenge that soon should be met by investigations combining molecular, developmental and functional analyses.^{106,406} In general, smooth muscles are classified as fast/phasic and slow/tonic muscles, based on the manner by which they contract.¹²⁸ Stomach antrum and fundus provide classic examples because contractions of antrum are spike-like (phasic) and those of fundus are monotonic and sustain high levels of tension for as long as the stimulus is present.^{40,574} Moreover, the maximum rate of cell shortening of isolated antrum smooth muscle cells is nearly 3-fold faster than fundus cells.⁹² Urinary bladder smooth muscle (detrusor) is relatively fast (maximum speed of shortening ~0.2-0.4 muscle lengths/s),^{211,506,507} and can display contractions that are entirely phasic.^{77,400} Thus, detrusor is generally classified as a fast/phasic muscle. However, detrusor contractions also can be entirely tonic.²⁰⁹ Notably, detrusor contractions often exhibit both behaviors because rhythmic contractions develop "on top of" a certain degree of sustained tone.⁷⁷ During a tonic contraction, the strength of the sustained phase may be high (e.g., stimulation with endothelin)²¹⁷ or moderate and weaker than that produced initially upon muscle activation (e.g., stimulation with KCl or a muscarinic receptor agonist).^{209,454} With a maximum rate of muscle shortening of ~ 0.5 muscle lengths/sec^{211,507} and spike-like spontaneous contractions, portal vein fits the category of a fast/phasic VSM, whereas large conduit and muscular arteries generally are classified as slow/tonic VSMs. Large arteries often respond to contractile stimuli in a graded,

monotonic fashion, and stimulus concentration-response curves (CRCs) can be readily constructed. However, electrical oscillations do occur in these vessel segments.^{89,167,470} Moreover, many large and most small arteries display rhythmic contractions "on top of" tonic contractions when activated by contractile stimuli and, in some, rhythmicity occurs spontaneously.^{18,93,149,334,348-351,443,475} Rhythmic arterial contractile activity is often termed vasomotion,³³⁴ although this term is reserved by some for rhythmic diameter oscillations observed in small arteries in vivo. Arteries less than ~300 µm, and some arteries larger than this, display sustained contraction when rapidly stretched (myogenic tone). In summary, whereas large conduit arteries and portal vein generally fit the classifications of, respectively, slow/tonic and fast/phasic smooth muscles, muscular arteries and arterioles fit less well. Regardless, for VSMs stimulated to contract, the initial rapid contractile phase is termed the phasic component, and the sustained phase the tonic component.44 The strength of the sustained phase relative to the phasic phase often depends on the type and strength of the stimulus used to cause contraction.³⁸³

4. Ca²⁺

Multiple highly dynamic Ca²⁺ compartments exist that, despite a high basal Ca²⁺ "leak (spontaneous releases of packets of stored calcium and Ca²⁺ entry through multiple channel types), act to maintain a ~10,000-fold Ca²⁺ gradient between extracellular space and bulk cytosol in resting VSM.^{14,43,223,330,367,373,509} In general, application of moderate-to-high concentrations of a contractile stimulus to an isolated artery *in vitro* induces a rapid increase in intracellular free Ca²⁺ ([Ca²⁺]_i) caused by release of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores and Ca²⁺ entry followed by a decline in [Ca²⁺]_i that is sustained by Ca²⁺ entry.^{41,61,198, ^{224,309,396,403,508} The threshold for VSM contraction is ~100 nM, and full contraction occurs at ~300–1000 nM.^{83,115,387} Thus, the relationship between steady-state active stress and [Ca²⁺]_i is steep.}

Whether the contractile response of a vascular segment is a direct reflection of the contractile response of individual VSM cells has been a question of interest for some time.¹⁹⁹ When ionotropic P2X receptors

are activated by ATP released initially by periarterial adrenergic nerve stimulation in vitro, VSM cells display spatially discrete, asynchronous, junctional Ca²⁺ transients at a relatively high frequency associated with a weak transient contraction.²⁵⁹ Subsequent (delayed) activation of α_1 -adrenergic receptors causes a slow monotonic contraction associated with asynchronous propagating Ca²⁺ waves within individual VSM cells. Addition of exogenous stimuli to a tissue bath induces only a modestly different response. For example, a maximally effective concentration of α_1 -adrenergic receptor stimulus in veins⁴²⁸ and arteries⁵⁶⁶ induces an initial synchronous release of Ca²⁺ from sarcoplasmic reticulum stores, followed by asynchronous propagating Ca2+ waves. In all cases, Ca2+ waves begin in discrete subcellular domains and transient Ca²⁺ waves propagate through the cell.³³² In short, contractile stimuli cause VSM tissue contraction by recruiting VSM cells, and by increasing the frequency of asynchronous Ca2+ oscillations once the cells have been recruited.⁴²⁸ One attractive general model is that, at low stimulus concentrations, weak tissue contractions are sustained by recruitment of cells that generate asynchronous Ca2+ waves, and at moderate and high stimulus concentrations, intermediate and strong tissue contractions are sustained by asynchronous Ca²⁺ waves that increase, respectively, in frequency and velocity.²⁶³ Asynchronous Ca²⁺ waves reflect regenerative Ca²⁺ release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum.^{34,96,199,440}

Rhythmic contractions appear to reflect entrainment of Ca²⁺ and contractile oscillations through the formation of interconnections.³³⁴ That is, to entrain and produce rhythmic tissue contractions, cell-tocell coupling and coordination of Ca²⁺ oscillators would be required. Supporting this hypothesis, gap junction inhibition has been shown to abolish rhythmic contractions in small irideal arteries¹⁷⁵ and myogenic contraction of cerebral arteries.²⁵⁸ Notably, rhythmic contractions originating from Ca²⁺ oscillations in VSM cells can be altered by Ca²⁺ oscillation-induced release of relaxants from endothelial cells.²²⁶ The extensive sarcoplasmic reticulum of smooth muscle that is closely associated with the plasma membrane, caveolae, and mitochondria, acts as a superficial Ca²⁺ buffer barrier that regulates membrane potential, internal Ca²⁺ stores, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ (and ATP levels) and [Ca²⁺],^{263,508,509} so subdomain Ca²⁺ signaling does not necessarily correlate with contraction.²⁹⁸ In short, Ca^{2+} causes contraction when Ca^{2+} is delivered locally to contractile filaments. Like two circles of a Venn diagram, the set representing global $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and that representing AM-XBs responsible for contraction may not entirely ovelap.

These descriptions of Ca2+-induced contractions do not account for the likelihood that the tonic phase represents a dynamic process involving Ca²⁺ sensitization,^{222,355,465} a transition from rapidly cycling to slowly cycling AM XBs (formation of latch bridges),^{150-153,397,407} changes in actin polymerization and myosin filament formation, and sarcomere rearrangements that proceed slowly, perhaps continually.^{105,108,288,485,488,496,556} The lack of tight coupling between stimulus-induced [Ca²⁺], and tension in tonic smooth muscle can be seen as a temporal counterclockwise hysteresis between these parameters.^{115,177,465} For example, upon stimulation of rabbit muscular arteries with a high [KCl], [Ca²⁺], and tension change in two phases.⁴⁰² [Ca²⁺], initially rises rapidly (~22%/sec) within 3 sec to ~65% of the maximum value, then more slowly (3%/sec), achieving the maximum value by 15 sec. During these 15 sec, tension rises at ~3-5%/sec to ~73% of its maximum level. From 15 sec to 3 min, tension continues to rise very slowly ($\sim 10\%/min$) to a maximum value that is sustained for at least 10 min, while [Ca²⁺] falls back to ~65% of the maximum value by 10 min. The tension increase corresponding with the increases in $[Ca^{2+}]$ corresponds to the phasic phase of contraction, and the delayed, very slow increase in tension that occurs independently of a further increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (in this case, as $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ falls) corresponds with the tonic phase of contraction.⁴⁴ Both the sensitivity and strength of VSM stimulus-contraction coupling is a highly regulated parameter that can adjust up or down (stimuli can become more or less potent) relatively rapidly. 125,131,191,300,377,379,380,387,391,395,399,404,445,446,512,514,566

5. Cell Signaling

Cells may be thought of as computers that process numerous inputs to produce specific outputs.⁴⁹ Rather than hardware and software, cells use wetware to interpret and act on the information derived from extracellular stimuli. Thus, biological information processing involves cell signaling pathways, and the general scheme is stimuli \rightarrow cell

signaling \rightarrow response(s). The first step in signaling involves binding of a stimulus to a receptor that generally is located in the plasma membrane but may also be found in other membrane and cytosolic compartments. For clarity, signaling pathways were initially divided into discrete entities (modules), starting from a particular stimulus and ending with the response of interest. For example, the classical epinephrine (Epi)-to-glucose output module for hepatocytes may be written as: Epi \rightarrow [β -adrenoceptor \rightarrow adenvlyl cyclase (AC) \rightarrow cyclic-AMP (cAMP) \rightarrow cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA)] \rightarrow glycogenolysis \rightarrow glucose, where cell signaling is identified in brackets. However, it is now clear that a single stimulus that produces a certain response often activates multiple cell signaling modules to varying degrees, and that a cell signaling cascade can lead to amplification such that the K_p for a stimulus and its receptor may reside at a much higher stimulus concentration than the EC_{50} for the stimulus and its response.⁶⁹ Moreover, temporal feedback mechanisms may "turn off" or "tune down" (i.e., desensitize) certain coupling mechanisms.⁵⁷³ Most cell signaling pathways do not operated independently because elements within certain signaling modules often interact with elements of other modules. Molecular scaffolds and anchoring proteins such as proteins of the AKAP, annexin, RACK, 14-3-3, paxillin and PDZ families participate not only in spatial organization of signaling, but also in trans-modular crosstalk.^{52,136,188,423,460,567} In short, signaling pathways form highly complex networks that include feedback signaling leading to ultrasensitivity, oscillations, bistability, and chaotic patterns,²³ and modest differences in certain protein isoforms can have profound differences in signaling outcome.⁹⁹ It is most likely that in vivo, multiple stimuli simultaneously activate VSM cells, so threshold modulation, additivity and synergism of signaling systems probably occur.^{212,268,477,558} The extreme complexity of signaling systems was the driving force for developing new journals (Science Signaling, for example) and new computational tools used by modelers and systems biologists.⁴⁶² The remainder of this chapter will focus on aspects of the arterial VSM signaling network involved in regulating the degree of 20 kDa regulatory myosin light chain (MLC) phosphorylation (MLCp) responsible for controlling the degree of contraction.

The cell signaling pathways that regulate arterial VSM MLCp represent a highly heterogenous system. To gain insight into differences displayed by different arterial segments in VSM cell signaling, comparative studies are required. This area is poorly funded, so progress has been slow.

6. Stimuli that Regulate the VSM Contraction Control System

Inputs that acutely regulate the degree of VSM contractile tension include contractile and relaxant stimuli, often termed vasoconstrictors and vasodilators, respectively (Fig. 3A). VSM cells actively shorten, and passively elongate. That is, the motor moves one-way only to cause VSM shortening. Thus, a relaxant stimulus does not actively cause vasodilation, but instead, reduces the degree of active tension generated by the motor proteins. VSM cells elongate when the motor's tension is less than the opposing tension exerted by luminal pressure, causing vasodilation (Fig. 3B).

There is insufficient cardiac output to fully perfuse all organs simultaneously. In general, whole organism homeostatic regulation of VSM involves systemic production of neural and hormonal contractile stimuli to limit cardiac output distribution and maintain blood pressure at levels sufficient to adequately perfuse the brain and heart, although adrenal medullary production of epinephrine participates with local control in the maintenance of skeletal muscle blood flow at lower exercise intensities.^{213,542} The systemic outflow of contractile stimuli is made especially apparent during the trauma of hypovolemic shock.²⁵⁴ Opposing the demands of essential organs are those of individual cells and tissues that autoregulate blood flow locally by releasing relaxant and contractile stimuli, activating cellcell coupling mechanisms, and acutely modulating cell signaling systems.^{131,170,377,426,448,511} Thus, VSM and adjacent cells such as the endothelium are exposed to numerous stimuli in a dynamic spatiotemporal manner to control the biomechanical activities of various blood vessel segments in all organs.58,447 A recent model of local blood flow regulation dispenses with hypoxia-induced release of

62 P. H. Ratz



Fig. 3. General model of the vascular smooth muscle (VSM) contraction control system that determines VSM tension (T_{VSM}) based on the degree of activation by contractile and relaxant stimuli (A). Whether an artery constricts or dilates depends also on the degree of counteracting wall tension, which is dependent on luminal pressure and radius (B).

metabolites as controlling agents and incorporates recent information on the opposing actions of reactive oxygen (contractile) and nitrogen (relaxant) species.¹²⁹

Major contractile stimuli released by peri-arterial sympathetic post-ganglionic nerves⁷¹ include ATP and its metabolites (e.g., adenosine, Ado),^{53,234} norepinephrine (NE)⁵⁶⁴ and neuropeptide Y (NPY).^{229,541} Other contractile stimuli include angiotensin II (Ang II) produced by peptidase cleavage of Ang I in blood and tissues, including the vascular wall and periarterial fat,^{295,490,539} arachidonic acid generated by phospholipases,^{130,304} endothelial-dependent contracting

factors (EDCFs), histamine released from mast cells and adrenergic nerves in some species and blood vessels,66 serotonin (5-HT) released from platelets and possibly adrenergic nerves, 71,535 thromboxane A₂ (TXA_2) from platelets, urotensin II,⁵¹⁶ and vasopressin (VP) from the posterior pituitary. EDCFs²⁵⁶ include endothelin-1 (ET1)^{489,490} arachidonic acid²²⁷ and its metabolites including 5-lipoxygenase products (leukotrienes), cyclooxygenase products such as TXA, as well as other prostaglandins which subsequently diffuse to and activate TXA₂ pros-tanoid receptors on VSM^{212,256,353,547} and the cytochrome p450 metabolite 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE).^{402,421} Notably in some cases, the relaxant agent prostacyclin (PGI,) generated in this way activates VSM TXA, receptors to cause contraction.¹⁰² Coronary artery spasm can be induced by acetylcholine (ACh) infusion in patients with variant angina,¹⁹⁴ exogenous ACh releases endotheliumdependent relaxant factor (EDRFs) in most vasculatures^{107,116,117} and EDCFs in the spontaneously hypertensive rat,⁵⁴⁶ and cholinergic nerves releasing ACh have been identified in certain vascular beds.486 However, this neurotransmitter does not appear to act as a physiological VSM stimulus in most species and vascular beds. Mechanical and electrical signals and cell-cell coupling also play important roles as VSM stimuli. In particular, the myogenic response and vascular conducted responses, both vasodilation and vasoconstriction, represent major stimuli in small arteries ensuring that local O_2 delivery balances O_2 demand.^{17,176,378,416,448} In arterioles but not arteries of the rat,³³⁸ NADPH oxidase and subsequent generation of reactive oxygen species is a necessary step for stretch-activated myogenic contraction.³³⁸

There is considerable heterogeneity in vascular responsiveness to contractile stimuli within a particular vascular segment, down the vascular tree (compare Fig. 4A with 4B, 4C and 4E), and across species (compare Fig. 4C and 4D). Mechanisms responsible for transduction of the external signal to internal signals include receptors and associated coupled signaling systems (http://www.cellsignal-lingbiology.org/csb/). Both receptors and receptor-coupled signaling systems are highly complex, but in general, all of the contractile signaling systems converge on discrete intracellular signaling modules that control the myosin-based motor control system, and non-canonical


Fig. 4. Examples of heterogeneity of responses to contractile stimuli within a particular arterial segment (A rabbit femoral artery, B rabbit epigastric artery, C rabbit mesenteric branch artery, D mouse mesenteric branch artery, E rabbit renal artery), comparing different arteries (A, B, C & D, E), and comparing the same artery across species (C & D). Data are active force normalized to the maximum force generated by KCl at the optimum length for contraction, and are reported as means ±SE, n values (number of animals) are in parentheses. * indicates maximum stimulus-dependent force is >1 or <1.



Fig. 5. The canonical vascular smooth muscle (VSM) contraction control system (light blue) activated by a contractile stimulus (dark blue) is comprised of 4 cell signaling control systems; a myosin light chain phosphorylation (MLCp) control system (a) consisting of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and protein phosphates 1 (PP1M; see Fig 6B), a Ca_i^{2+} control system (b) that determines the level of Ca^{2+} input to (a), and rhoA kinase (ROCK, c) and protein kinase C (PKC, d) control systems that determine the level of active ROCK and PKC inputs to (a). Additional (non-canonical) control systems that feed into (a) are bundled into (f), and a basal control systems downstream from the MLCp control system that determines contractile strength (i–v). A, actin; AM XB, actomyosin crossbridge; Ca_i^{2+} , intracellular free Ca^{2+} ; FT, force transmission; CaM, calmodulin; CaMKII, calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; LIMK, lim kinase.

AM XB activating control systems (Fig. 5). For example, the stimulus phenylephrine activates α -adrenergic receptors to elevate the activities of certain trimeric G proteins that, acting as inputs to the Ca²⁺, ROCK and PKC control systems, alter inputs to the MLCp motor control system to cause a temporal change in the MLCp/MLC ratio. In very

general terms, most VSM contractile stimuli activate G proteincoupled receptors that transduce information delivered by the extracellular signals into specific intracellular signaling via trimeric G proteins belonging to the G_q , $G_{12/13}$ and G_i families.^{9,344} Also, in very general terms, the α subunit of G_q , $G_{12/13}$, and G_i , respectively, activates phospholipase C to generate diacylglycerol and inositol-trisphosphate, activates rhoA-GEFs to generate active rhoA, and inhibits adenylyl cyclase. The GBy subunits released by activation of G protein-coupled receptors may activate several signaling modules, including those that alter membrane potential. Although not highlighted above, certain growth factors activating receptor tyrosine kinases, and mechanotransduction mechanisms, also can provide inputs to the control systems regulating the MLCp motor control system of VSM. Thus, the red arrows in Fig. 5 linking the contractile stimulus with discrete control systems represent the cell signaling processes activated by each stimulus that provide inputs to Ca²⁺, ROCK, PKC, and other (non-canonical) control systems that, in turn, send inputs to the MLCp motor control system.

Major relaxant stimuli include Ado,⁵³ adrenomedullin,⁴⁸ ATP,⁵³ bra-dykinin (BK),⁴⁹⁰ calcitonin gene-related polypeptide (CGRP),^{48,165,230,538} cannabinoids,^{275,474} epinephrine (Epi),^{213,542} EDRFs,¹⁰¹ natriuretic peptides,^{287,548} vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP),^{171,538} and urocortin.^{216,279,366} EDRFs include nitric oxide (NO) and its metabolites, 107,116,117,555 H₂S, 31,527 and arachidonic acid metabolites including cyclooxygenase products (e.g., PGI₂), cytochrome P450 products (e.g., epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs) and glycerate EETs (GEETs)) and 12- and 15-lipoxygenase products.^{2,57,64,95,364} Endotheliumdependent relaxation also involves a phenomenon termed endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization, in which the participation of gap junctions may be obligatory.⁸² Relaxant stimuli such as Ado, ATP, BK, and CGRP act largely, but not exclusively, by causing release of EDRFs.^{53,170,234,490} Many vasoactive stimuli affect numerous cell signaling systems in VSM and other tissues, and stimuli that generally are considered potent and strong contractile stimuli often also can cause relaxation. For example, the contractile stimulus Ang II and its metabolites can cause VSM relaxation.²⁶ The mechanical stimulus of shear stress acting on endothelial cells also is a strong stimulus for release of EDRFs.58 Many stimuli that act directly on VSM cells to cause contraction can stimulate endothelial cells to release EDCFs and EDRFs, and certain contractile stimuli can act indirectly to alter release of relaxant stimuli. For example, NPY can attenuate release of CGRP in mesenteric arteries,²²⁹ and both urotensin II and ET1, potentially potent contractile stimuli, often cause VSM relaxation by acting on endothelial cells.⁵¹⁶ ACh release from sympathetic cholinergic fibers in skeletal muscle vascular beds of some species,²¹⁴ and histamine taken up and released by adrenergic nerves¹⁹⁰ can cause VSM relaxation by stimulating release of vasodilators from endothelial cells.^{66,164} ET1 and Ang II stimulate VSM directly, causing contraction, and stimulate endothelial cells to release NO and PGI, and cause relaxation.489,490 NADPH oxidases and reactive oxygen species also participate in the regulation of contraction.^{19,156} For example, hydrogen peroxide can act both as a contractile and relaxant stimulus.^{121,280}

Most vasodilators reduce the degree of VSM motor activation by generating the cyclic nucleotides, cAMP and cGMP. Cyclic nucleotide signaling is represented by a network that involves significant crosstalk in which these messengers modulate each other's synthesis, degradation, and effectors.^{33,110,362} The primary effectors are PKA and PKG, and despite their names, these kinases are not wholly selective for the cyclic nucleotides for which they are named. Notably, cAMP can activate PKG, and the ability of the AC activator forskolin to cause reductions in VSM Ca²⁺ entry is due to activation by cAMP of PKG, not PKA.^{210,272,273} In addition to kinase activation, cyclic nucleotides regulate cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase activities, and can activate cvclic nucleotide-gated (CNG) Ca2+-permeable nonselective cation channels that, when expressed in endothelial cells cause relaxation and, when expressed in VSM, may enhance contraction.^{110,271} Moreover, cAMP binds the exchange protein activated by cAMP (Epac) to elevate activity of ras family members, rap GTPases.⁴¹⁸ In VSM, the cAMP-Epac-rap signaling system causes relaxation by activation of rho-GAP.⁵⁷⁶ In cutaneous vasculature, the cAMP-Epac-rap module activates rhoA-ROCK to cause increased translocation along microfilaments of internal α_{2c} adrenergic receptors to the plasma membrane, with a consequent increase in adrenergic-dependent contraction.^{208,314} Relaxant stimuli that couple to cAMP do so via activation of one or more of the 9 adenylyl cyclase (AC) isotypes,^{139,158} and relaxant stimuli that couple to cGMP do so via activation of the NO receptor (soluble) guanylate cyclase and the peptide-sensitive particulate guanylyl cyclase.^{113,548} Relaxant stimuli that bind G protein-coupled receptors may cause relaxation by activating the α subunit of G, which activates all 9 AC isotypes, or by releasing $G\beta\gamma$ subunits that stimulate AC2, AC4 and AC7. However, GBy subunits also can inhibit AC1, AC5, and AC6, and increases in [Ca²⁺], inhibit activation of AC5 and AC6. Interestingly, increases in [Ca2+], activate AC1, AC3, and AC8. Thus, isoform expression plays an important role in cyclic nucleotide signaling. In VSM cells, G_a-dependent increases in [Ca²⁺], cause reductions in AC5 and AC6 activities,⁵²⁰ and intimal but not medial VSM cells populating atherosclerotic lesions express AC8.142 Whereas cyclic nucleotides represent the primary relaxant signaling system, relaxant agents can act by other mechanisms. For example, NO not only elevates cGMP levels, but also can cause nitrosylation reactions that affect contractile activity,72 and relaxant stimuli can, by elevating microdomain Ca2+ (Ca2+ sparks), activate Ca2+-dependent K+ channels to cause VSM hyperpolarization.²⁶¹ Interestingly, Ca²⁺ can act as a VSM relaxing signal. Ca²⁺activation of a Ca2+-sensing receptor expressed by adventitial perivascular sensory nerves induces release of EETs, GEETs, and anadamide, causing mesenteric artery relaxation.²² EETs and GEETs cause relaxation by activating VSM K⁺ channels, and anadamide acts on VSM cannabinoid receptors.

Contractile and relaxant stimuli control the number of AM XB motors that are "on" and able to transmit force in a fashion that is somewhat distinct from the way that a potentiometer controls a DC motor. A potentiometer "dials in" the amount of energy to supply a motor. Whereas energy availability represents one of several control systems for VSM contraction (see below and¹²⁹), the level of energy (ATP) for each AM XB motor (and for the multiple phosphorylation events involved in motor-control) is not the primary physiological motor controller. The central control system of the canonical VSM

contraction control system is the MLCp *motor* control system (Fig. 5(a)) comprised of calmodulin (CaM), CaM-dependent myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and the protein phosphatase 1 catalytic subunit¹⁶¹ (PP1M) that together regulate the degree of MLC phosphorvlation. Thus, the output of the VSM contraction control system, via the motor control system, is a certain ratio of phosphorylated-to-total MLC (MLCp/MLC). The rate of force development is limited by the rate of MLC phosphorylation rather than by intrinsic properties of the AM XBs.⁴⁶⁸ The three primary canonical inputs to the motor control system include outputs from the Ca2+ control system (Fig. 5(b)), the rhoA-dependent coiled coil kinase (ROCK) control system (Fig. 5(c)), and the protein kinase C (PCK) control system (Fig. 5(d)).^{382,466} The outputs represent certain levels of Ca^{2+} , and ROCK and PKC activities, determined by the effect of stimulusinduced receptor activation (Fig. 5, red arrows from "Stimulus" to control systems). In VSM, mechanical stretch activates Ca²⁺ and other control systems, 176,262,306,515,537,571 or may bypass these to directly activate MLCK²⁷ within the motor control system (Fig. 5, curved arrow labeled "stretch"). This latter possibility seems plausible given that MLCK is a member of the family of mechano-sensing cytoskeletal giant proteins that include titin,^{122,247} and that MLCK could readily sense sarcomeric strains because opposite ends of this elongated molecule may simultaneously bind myosin and actin.^{184,187} The VSM MLCp motor control system is not completely quiescent in the absence of external stimuli. Thus, a basal control system is also included in this model (Fig. 5(e)). Whether this system represents constitutive activities of the Ca²⁺, ROCK and PKC control systems, other control systems (Fig. 5(f)), or the action of a basal level of stimulation, remains to be determined.

The output of the VSM contraction control system (the MLCp/ MLC ratio), in conjunction with non-canonical control systems (Fig. 5(f) and Fig. 5i–v) determines the number of active AM XBs and force transmission to the extracellular matrix, adjacent VSM cells and ultimately the whole tissue. Non-canonical systems include (i) actin activation permitting myosin engagement (tight-binding) with actin, and actin inhibition permitting rapid relaxation,^{4,16,146,150,238,366,408,525} (ii) actin polymerization,^{30,180,488,553} (iii) thick filament assembly,^{414,461} (iv) latch bridge formation^{56,150,152,155,324} and/or sarcomere structural rearrangements,¹⁰⁸ and (v) regulation of force transmission from motor proteins to the ECM and other VSM cells.^{135,238,488,525}

Dynamic control of the microfilament-based cytoskeleton is regulated by over 100 actin-binding proteins.³⁷⁶ The rho GTPase, PKC and other (e.g., p21-activated kinase, PAK) control systems participate in this process by regulating dual specificity LIM kinases (LIMKs), cofilin and heat shock protein 27.284,306,307,575 In rat cerebral arteries, rhoA knockdown leads to reduced stimulus-mediated contraction not by reduced MLCp, but by attenuated actin polymerization.⁷⁸ However, actin polymerization is also regulated in part by MLCp, such that increases in MLCp increase the degree of actin polymerization⁶⁵ (Fig. 5, dark green arrow from MCLp motor control system to actin polymerization control system). The myosin head (S1 fragment) can bind two adjacent actin monomers,45,231 so elevated MLCp may serve as an actin polymerization nucleating factor.¹⁰⁵ In addition to directly altering force transmission, changes in actin polymerization and crosslinking modifies cell viscosity, indirectly affecting contractile biomechanics.^{240,255,390} Lastly, non-canonical control systems feed indirectly into regulation of contraction by modulating other control systems and also by feeding directly into the MLCp control system (Fig. 5).¹⁷⁹ Examples of non-canonical control systems include AMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK), Ca2+-calmodulindependent kinase II (CaMKII), extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family, kinase inhibitor of NF-KB 2 (IKK2), integrin-linked kinase (ILK), myotonic dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) and the related myotonic dystrophy-related Cdc42-binding kinases (MRCK), PAK, MAPKactivated protein kinase 1/p90 kDa ribosome S6 kinase 2 (RSK2, a.k.a. p90RSK and MAPKAP-K1), MAPK-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2, a.k.a., MAPKAP-K2), and a member of the ubiquitously expressed death-associated protein kinase (DAPK) subfamily, zipperinteracting kinase (ZIPK). Thus, the degree of pseudo steady-state contractile force is determined by molecular algorithms that use, as inputs, data from the multiple control systems that may be activated

to varying degrees. Relaxant stimuli activate cell signaling control systems that interact with one or more of these contractile control systems to attenuate their ability to increase contractile strength.

7. Motor Control via Regulation of MLCp

7.1. Canonical Control

Research on control of the VSM contractile state has focused primary on regulation of MLCp. This is because early work on non-muscle cells, platelets, AM filaments, permeabilized smooth muscle and muscle tissues revealed that a Ca2+-dependent increase in MLCp is necessary for contraction.^{1,28,60,62,87,162,463} That is, contraction of smooth muscle and non-muscle cells is primarily thick filament-regulated, which is unlike Ca²⁺-dependent contraction of striated muscle that is thin-filament-regulated (although MLCp modulates striated muscle contraction long-term).^{112,220} While it is generally accepted that MLCp is necessary for in vitro assembly of smooth muscle myosin into filaments and for actin-activation of myosin ATPase activity,^{186,493,494} whether these steps are sufficient to explain the full-range of in vivo contractility is more controversial. As mentioned, other forms of regulation play critical roles (Fig. 5, i-v). In arterial VSM the relationship between active stress and MLCp/MLC is quite steep and saturating.³⁹⁷ The most rigorous analysis to-date indicates that basal MLCp/MLC is ~0.15 and maximum stress occurs at ~0.25-0.3 (Fig. 6A),⁴¹⁰ supporting the notion of AM XB cooperativity.⁴⁶⁸ The function and regulation of high basal levels of MLCp in VSM has not been resolved. However, in detrusor smooth muscle basal MLCp supports T_{ap}, the "tensional platform" upon which active contraction can rapidly develop,^{405,471,472} and a similar mechanism may exist in VSM.

Major elements of the canonical MLCp control system that determine the MLCp/MLC ratio are CaM, MLCK, and PP1M (Fig. 6B). CaM is a universal cell Ca²⁺ sensor⁷⁰ and regulatory subunit of MLCK.⁵¹³ There is insufficient cellular CaM to activate all CaMdependent systems.³⁶³ However, CaM does not appear to be limiting for smooth muscle activation because it remains tightly bound to myofilaments at low resting Ca²⁺₁ levels, and even in the absence of



Fig. 6. The relationship between the ratio of myosin light chain phosphorylation to total myosin light chain (MLCp/MLC) and steady-state active tension is steep, and the threshold level for active tension occurs at a relatively high basal MLCp/MLC value of ~0.15 in tonic artery (A). The MLCp control system is comprised of calmodulin-dependent myosin light chain kinase (CaM-MLCK) and myosin light chain phosphatase consisting of the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1M), a large myosin phosphatase targeting regulatory subunit (MYPT1) and small subunit (M20). Ca²⁺ and active rhoA kinase (ROCK) and protein kinase C (PKC) serve as inputs to the MLCp control system (B). $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ determines the level of MLCp/MLC (C) and tension (D). These relationships can be shifted leftward (green lines) by ROCK and PKC, and rightward by relaxants (red lines).

Ca²⁺.⁵⁴⁴ As with most proteins, CaM is subject to regulation by phosphorylation,³² and in VSM, the level of free CaM may be elevated by PKC,¹⁹³ increasing the CaM "input" to other control systems.

Early studies identified MLCK as the major cell signaling system responsible for causing increases in $MLCp^{111,369}$ leading to VSM contraction.⁶⁰ Ca_i^{2+} levels are highly regulated by multiple ion channels and pumps, by unique spatial arrangements and

interactions of subcellular compartments, and by feedback mechanisms.^{14,34,91,143,203,294,373,398,509,529,571,572} Thus, activation of MLCK is controlled upstream by complex Ca2+ signaling systems that determine the spatio-temporal level of $[Ca^{2+}]$ that "feeds" the MLCp control system. Of the many signaling systems involved in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ control, the L-type voltage-operated Ca²⁺ channel (VOCC) plays a prominent role.^{181,331,537} Ablation of the VOCC isotype specific to smooth muscle, Ca 1.2b, decreases mean arterial blood pressure by ~30 mm Hg, and *in vitro*, greatly diminishes contractions induced by α-adrenergic receptor activation and stretch.³⁰⁵ However, other Ca²⁺ entry pathways, such as receptor-operated Ca2+ channels, store-operated Ca²⁺ channels,^{100,143,260,270} reverse-phase Na⁺–Ca²⁺ exchange),^{571,572} and Ca²⁺ release from intracellular pools^{34,509} also play major roles. Interestingly, the other primary inputs into the MLCp control system, PKC^{337,401,411} and ROCK,¹²⁴ and elements of the MLCp control system, MLCK²⁹¹ and CaM,^{100,154,368} have been reported to participate in control of Ca²⁺ and membrane potential (Fig. 5, gray arrows). The actions of ROCK and MLCK on [Ca²⁺], signaling may be indirect, involving the regulation of cytoskeletal proteins and subcellular protein trafficking.^{290,291}

7.2. MLCK

MLCK, a member of the CaM kinase family of serine-threonine kinases,²⁸⁵ is highly selective for the regulatory MLC of non-muscle and smooth muscle cell.¹⁸⁶ In fact, MLC appears to be the sole substrate for MLCK.²¹⁹ Specific deletion experiments reveal that MLCK is essential for smooth muscle contraction.^{168,169,531} MLCK binds tightly to both actin and myosin, and the current view is that MLCK localization to AM is via high affinity actin-binding.^{186,187} Notably, although the concentration of smooth muscle myosin is greater than MLCK, one MLCK molecule rapidly phosphorylates many MLC subunits.¹⁸⁵ To accomplish this, MLCK moves along actin filaments, permitting phosphorylation of unphosphorylated MLCs.¹⁸⁴ As with many other ser-thr kinases, an intrasteric autoregulatory sequence, termed a pseudosubstrate domain because of its sequence similarity to

the substrate,^{109,233} binds the MLCK catalytic active site, retaining the kinase in an inactive state until activated by Ca²⁺–CaM.²⁴⁸

When bound to the Ca²⁺-sensor CaM, ~1 μ M Ca²⁺ maximally activates MLCK.⁴⁸¹ MLCK activation occurs when the pseudosubstrate domain is sequestered by allosteric binding of Ca²⁺–CaM to MLCK, permitting MLC access to the active site.^{219,247} The [MLC] in smooth muscle is estimated to be similar to the apparent K_m for MLCK, ~30–50 μ M, and the estimated molecular activity of MLCK for MLC is ~3/sec.^{12,103,481} In maximally stimulated carotid artery, MLCp rises with a half-time of ~1 second.⁴⁵⁹ Alternative splicing of the *mylk1* gene produces large (220 kDa) and small (130 kDa) MLCK isotypes.^{173,219} Moreover, an Ig domain C-terminal to the protein kinase domain can be transcribed from *mylk1* independently of MLCK and expressed exclusively by smooth muscle tissues as a 17 kDa protein termed telokin (a.k.a., kinase-related protein, KRP).^{119,458}

7.3. CaMKII, ERK and Regulation of MLCK-dependent Ca²⁺ Sensitivity

A non-canonical VSM contraction control system, CaMKII, can catalyze phosphorylation of MLC in vitro with K_m and V_{max} values ~10fold higher and lower, respectively, than MLCK when MLC is used at about the same substrate concentration.94 The affinity of CaM for MLCK is over 100-fold greater than for CaMKII, and MLCK is bound to AM even when VSM is "at rest". Thus, CaMKII is generally not considered a physiological activator of MLCp. However, [Ca²⁺]. may be elevated to high levels initially upon VSM stimulation which could cause CaMKII activation, and a Ca2+-independent partial CaMKII activity may be retained for some time after Ca²⁺ has declined towards pre-stimulus levels at the steady-state of a stimulus-induced contraction (i.e., CaMKII has "molecular memory").536 This autonomous CaMKII activity has been associated with VSM tension-maintenance,³²⁰ but not because of CaMKII-dependent MLCp. A more likely form of MLCp regulation by CaMKII is to cause a reduction in Ca²⁺ sensitivity (Fig. 6D, red sigmoidal curve, and Fig. 7). In short,



Fig. 7. Vascular smooth muscle contraction/relaxation control system signaling network.

the degree of activation of MLCK by $Ca^{2+}-CaM$ may be limited at high $Ca^{2+}-CaM$ concentrations because CaMKII can phosphorylate MLCK, reducing the affinity of CaM for MLCK.^{219,464,487,552} Similar phosphorylation-dependent inhibition of CaM affinity for MLCK is induced by PKC, PKA and PAK^{126,219,434} (Fig. 7). Because CaM is tightly bound to MLCK even at low $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, the extent to which this system operates to reduce the sensitivity of MLCK to Ca^{2+} in VSM remains to be fully elucidated. Like CaM, MLCK, PKC and ROCK, CaMKII serves as an input into the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ control system^{232,267} (Fig. 5, gray lines).

Another non-canonical VSM contraction control system, ERK, can enhance the ability of CaM-dependent MLCK to phosphorylate

MLCp.^{219,239,244,464,540} That is, ERK can theoretically elevate the degree of force produced for a given $[Ca^{2+}]$ (i.e., cause Ca^{2+} sensitization; Figs. 6C and 6D, green lines). ERK activity is associated with VSM contraction,²³⁸ and a CaMKII-y G2 variant antisense knockdown study revealed that the ERK-activated increase in MLCp in ferret aorta is downstream from CaMKII (286). CaMKII and ERK may also play a role in thin filament and cytoskeletal control systems.²³⁸ In other VSM tissues, ERK does not appear to play a role in regulation of thick or thin filament-regulated contraction.^{132,336,392} In rabbit femoral artery in particular, ERK appears to play a role in transmission of information to the cell about the degree of α_1 -adrenergic receptor-induced contraction, rather than in a contraction control system.³⁹² Interestingly, ERK is partially phosphorylated in resting, differentiated rabbit artery. Thus, MEK is constitutively "on" in VSM. However, an intact endothelium reduces the degree of ERK phosphorylation by a mechanism other than PKG activation, which tends to elevate ERK phosphorylation.^{251,392}

7.4. Smooth Muscle PP1c δ (PP1M) and its Regulatory Subunits

Whereas the human kinome encodes over 400 ser-thr kinases, only 5 catalytic subunit genes encode the two most abundant protein phosphatases, PP1c and PP2Ac.⁵¹⁹ These protein phosphatase catalytic subunits acquire selectivity for particular substrates by binding different regulatory subunits. PP1c alone binds to over 50 regulatory subunits.⁷⁶ Many of the regulatory subunits target PP1c to different cellular locations, enhancing dephosphorylation selectivity as well as regulating phosphatase activity. The PP1c isotype expressed in VSM, thought to primarily be PP1c\delta, is termed MLCP, SMPP-1M and PP1M. Although inhibitor-1 is the canonical inhibitor of PP1c activity, this regulatory subunit does not appear to play a major role in regulation of PP1M and VSM contraction.⁵⁹ However, several other proteins regulate PP1M, including the large regulatory subunit, myosin phosphatase targeting subunit (MYPT1),¹⁶¹ PKC-dependent protein phosphatase 1 inhibitor 17 (CPI-17) and related

members,⁹⁷ telokin, prostate-apoptosis response-4 protein (Par-4),^{282,518} smoothelin-like protein (SMTNL1),^{47,499,510} and the AMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK)-related kinase, ARK5 (a.k.a., NUAK1).565 Binding of VSM PP1M with MYPT1¹³⁴ confers selectivity towards myosin,⁵ enhances phosphatase activity,^{196,457} and provides a mechanism for regulation.^{197,206} However, in MYPT1-deleted (smooth muscle conditional knock-out) mesenteric arteries in which ~50% of PP1M was retained, PP1M still recognizes and dephosphorylates MLCp. In addition to MYPT1, a small regulatory subunit, M20, also is associated with PP1c δ in the holoenzyme (PP1M-MYPT1-M20). A highly homologous gene to that expressing MYPT1 transcribes MYPT2 in striated muscle, and a second promoter activated in smooth muscle on the MYPT2 gene generates M20. The function of M20 in smooth muscle remains obscure, but may involve regulation of microtubule assembly.483 MYPT1 acts as a scaffold for several proteins in addition to PP1M, M20 and MLCp, including 14-3-3B, Par-4, HSP27, and myosin phosphatase-rho interacting protein (MRIP, a.k.a. p116^{RIP}).¹³⁴

7.5. Regulation of Ca²⁺ Sensitivity by PP1M Inhibition

The relationship between steady-state $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and tension is not fixed, as might be expected if the sensitivity of MLCK to Ca²⁺ was fixed, and if PP1M activity was constant and unregulated (Fig. 6D, black line). However, MLCK activity for a given Ca²⁺ level can be modulated, and activation of ROCK and PKC, the canonical control systems regulating the MLCp/MLC ratio via inhibition of PP1M activity, can dramatically increase Ca²⁺ sensitivity^{222,365,465} (Figs. 6C and 6D). Notably, ROCK, novel and atypical PKC isotypes, and non-canonical MLCp regulators such as ILK and ZIPK, can function independently of global increases in Ca²⁺. Moreover, relaxant stimuli that activate PKA and PKG can alter the level of steady-state tension independently of alterations in the level of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to cause Ca²⁺ desensitization. Thus, the current model is that VSM tension is controlled by (1) changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, and (2) regulation of PP1M activity independently of changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. For example, VSM can be contracted from point (p) to point (q) in Fig. 6D by increasing $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ from (r) to (s) (Figs. 6C and 6D, black arrows) because elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ would activate MLCK. Alternatively or additionally, VSM can be contracted by increasing the sensitivity of the MLCp control system to Ca^{2+} (increase in the slope of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ -MLCp relationship) by inhibiting PP1M, which would cause a leftward shift in the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ -tension curve (Fig. 6D, green arrow and sigmoidal curve). That is, the relationship between $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and tension is not fixed, but is represented by a series of curves, the nature of which depends on the levels of concomitant regulation of MLCK and PP1M activities. This scenario divides activation mechanisms into Ca^{2+} -dependent and Ca^{2+} -independent, where the former involves Ca^{2+} -dependent activation of MLCK and in the regulation of PP1M activity, both of which can be completely or relatively Ca^{2+} -independent.

Unregulated PP1M is "on", and dephosphorylation of MLCp by PP1M turns contraction "off" (Fig. 8Ba). MYPT1 phosphorylation at T472, T696 and T853 inhibit PP1M activity, and phosphorylation at T695 by PKA and PKG prevents T696 phosphorylation, thereby enhancing net T696 dephosphorylation^{134,206,327,551} (Fig. 8A). In one model, the mechanisms by which MYPT1-pT696 and MYPT1-pT853 inhibit PP1M activity are distinct.²⁰⁶ Phosphorylation at pT696 inhibits PP1M activity (Fig. 8Bci), whereas phosphorylation at pT853 displaces PP1M from myosin so that the catalytic site has poorer access to its substrate, MLCp (Fig. 8Bcii).⁵¹⁷ A more recent model of the PP1M-MYPT1-M20 holo-enzyme supports the hypothesis that phosphorylation of MYPT1 at either T696 or T853 converts the phospho-MYPT region into an autoinhibitory domain, where the phosph-MYPT domain docks with and "covers" the PP1M active site, causing complete inhibition of phosphatase activity²³⁶ (Fig. 8Bciii). Because the pT696 site is a more potent autoinhibitor than the pT853 site, this model suggests that the two phospho-MYPTs provide different degrees of PP1M inhibition. MYPT1-pT472 is recognized by 14-3-3 β resulting in dissociation of PP1M from myosin and reduction of PP1M activity towards MLCp²⁴⁹ (Fig. 8Bd).



Fig. 8. Vascular smooth muscle protein phosphatase 1 (PP1M) activity is inhibited by multiple mechanisms, including MYPT1 (abbreviations as in other figure legends and text) when phosphorylated at T696, T853 and T472, and by CPI-17 when phosphorylated at T38 (A). MYPT1 and CPI-17 are phosphorylated by ROCK, ZIPK and PKC. PKA and PKG prevent this inhibition by phosphorylating SMTNL1 at S301, telokin at S13 and MYPT1 at S695. Par-4 can inhibit ROCK-induced phosphorylation of MYPT1, and Par-4 phosphorylation at T155 prevents this action. When PP1M is not regulated, then it is "on" and free to catalyze the hydrolysis of MLCp, which turns the actomyosin crossbridge motor "off" (B.a.). Proposed mechanisms by which PP1M is "turned off" (B.b.–B.d.)

Two alternative splice variants of MYPT1, leucine-zipper positive (MYPT1-LZ⁺) and negative (MYPT1-LZ⁻) isoforms, are differentially expressed by smooth muscles.^{86,192,235,358} Fast, phasic smooth muscles express primarily MYPT1-LZ⁻ that lacks the C-terminal LZ motif to

which PKG1 α can bind, and slow, tonic smooth muscles express MYPT1-LZ⁺. With regard to VSM, this information supports the hypothesis that the relaxant response of large conduit, not smaller muscular, arteries to stimuli that activate PKG1 α may operate via reversal of MYPT1 inhibition of PP1M activity.^{86,359} In rabbit femoral artery where KCl causes contraction correlating with a steady-state increase in MYPT1-pT853, stimuli that activate PKA and PKG cause strong Ca²⁺-independent reductions in Ca²⁺ sensitivity resulting in relaxation, but only PKA activation abolishes the increase in MYPT1-pT853.³⁷⁷ Notably, activation of PKG causes strong relaxation of mouse mesenteric artery in which MYPT1 was deleted, suggesting that MYPT1 regulation is not essential for PKG-dependent relaxation of this small, muscular, phasic artery.³⁸³

Several studies indicate that contractile stimuli, including KCl, cause increases in the level of MYPT1-pT853, not MYPT1-pT696.^{242,377,543} ROCK can phosphorylate both sites, but MYPT1-pT853 is the preferred site, and is used as an indicator of ROCK activity in smooth muscle and other cell types.^{228,321} Members of the non-canonical MLCp regulators that phosphorylate MYPT1, such as ZIPK,²⁸¹ ILK,^{157,241} and DMPK³²² can phosphorylate MYPT1 at T696 but not T853.⁴⁶⁶ Notably, MYPT1-pT853 and MYPT1-p696 levels are elevated at rest in rabbit muscular arteries^{10,377,401} and rabbit³⁷⁵ and mouse⁴⁹⁵ bladder. Pharmacological blockade of ROCK and activation of PKA reduce the level of MYPT1-pT853 but not MYPT1-pT696, whereas hypoxia,⁵³³ and the potent non-selective kinase inhibitor staurosporine^{225,568} when used at 1 μ M,¹⁰ reduce the basal level of both MYPT1-pT853 and MYPT1-pT853 and MYPT1-pT853.

CPI-17-pT38 inhibits PP1M complexed with MYPT1 (Fig. 8Bb) with an IC₅₀ value of ~1 nM.⁹⁷ CPI-17 is expressed in greater abundance in VSM compared to visceral smooth muscles⁵⁴⁹ (interestingly, CPI-17 is not expressed by chicken arterial VSM).²⁴³ For example, rabbit portal vein and femoral artery express ~4–5-fold more CPI-17 than urinary bladder. MYPT1 expression also is not identical in all smooth muscles, although the degree of difference is less. For example, rabbit portal vein expresses ~2-fold more MYPT1 than femoral artery, and urinary bladder also may express somewhat more MYPT1

than femoral artery.⁵⁴⁹ In VSM, CPI-17 is a substrate for PKC, ROCK, ILK, ZIPK and PAK,^{97,157} and thus, stimuli that activate these control systems may cause increases in CPI-17-pT38.²⁴² Of note is the finding that ROCK, not PKC, causes an increase in CPI-17-pT38 induced by U-46619 in VSM cells.³⁵⁷ As with phosphorylation of MYPT1 at, for example, T696, the net effect of increases in CPI-17-pT38 on PP1M activity is inhibition, which leads to an increase in the MLCp/MLC ratio when a myosin kinase is active.

7.6. Rac, rhoA and ROCK

PAK and ROCK are activated by the rho family of small GTPases, rac and cdc42, and rhoA, respectively⁴² and play critical roles in signaling systems controlling the cytoskeleton and AM filaments.^{11,13,283,382,417,467} Inactive rhoA (rhoA-GDP) translocates from a cytosolic location bound to a guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (GDI) to the plasma membrane where it is activated to rhoA-GTP. Two primary downstream effectors of rhoA include ROCK and the actin polymerization nucleator mDia, the function of which is to establish and maintain bundles of AM filaments.^{39,329,424} The Kd values of active rhoA (rhoA-GTP) for mDia and ROCK are, respectively, 6 and 130 nM. Thus, low levels of rhoA activation favor linear actin polymerization, whereas higher rhoA-GTP levels activate ROCK. In rabbit aorta, U-46619, NE, 5-HT, histamine and ET1 cause increases in active rhoA, whereas Ang II and phorbol dibutyrate do not,431 suggesting that most contractile agonists can potentially activate mDia and ROCK in VSM. Independently of its action to increase linear microfilament formation, mDia stabilizes microtubules.²⁹ Notably, microtubule disruption enhances the strength of VSM contraction^{269,371,455,569} by enhancing GEF-H1 activity, and thus, rhoA and ROCK activities.38,63,372,570 RhoA-GTP becomes inactivated by intrinsic hydrolysis of GTP, the rate of which is enhanced by rhoGAPs.

ROCK1 (ROK β) and ROCK2 (ROK α) are AGC-family ser-thr kinases related to DMPK and myotonic dystrophy kinase related-Cdc42 related kinases (MRCK).^{13,215,285,360,417,502} ROCK1 and ROCK2

are expressed by different genes and share high sequence homology (92%) within the kinase domains, and low homology within the coiled-coil domains (55%). These isotypes are generally co-expressed and, although some overlap is apparent, they do not appear to be functionally redundant.⁵⁶² Recent evidence suggests that ROCK2 plays the primary role in regulation of VSM contraction.⁵³² ROCK appears to cause smooth muscle contraction indirectly by increasing phosphorylation of MYPT1 and reducing PP1M activity,382 and directly by acting as a MLC kinase.²⁵⁷ There are data supporting the model that ROCK can feed back to prolong its duration of activation by phosphorylating p190A-rhoGAP, which inhibits the ability of the GTPase rnd to bind and enhance rhoGAP activity, thus sustaining rhoA activation³¹² (Fig. 7). In addition to increasing MYPT1-pT853, ROCK can phosphorylate MYPT1 at S472, a site also phosphorylated by NUAK1.565 It is interesting that MLCK and ROCK differentially regulate MLCp in different cell compartments within fibroblasts to differentially control cell movement and adhesion.⁴⁹¹ Whether such compartmentation plays a role in the regulation of VSM contraction remains to be determined.

ROCK is activated not only by rhoA-GTP (active rhoA), but also by arachidonic acid and other lipids including phosphatidylinositol.^{103,141,382,466} Inactive rhoA-GDP is retained in its inactive conformation in the cytosol because of enhanced binding of rhoA's prenyl group with guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (GDI). Activation of rhoA involves displacement from GDI, insertion of rhoA's prenyl group into the plasma membrane, and nucleotide exchange catalyzed by a guanine nucleotide exchange factor selective for rhoA (a rhoA-GEF). Activation of ROCK by rhoA is therefore also generally considered to occur at the plasma membrane, and work by Urban et al.⁵⁰³ revealed that KCl induces a transient, Ca²⁺-dependent translocation of ROCK to plasma membrane caveolae. To activate AM XBs, ROCK or downstream proteins such as ZIPK must translocate to AM XBs in the cytosolic compartment to inhibit PP1M, inducing Ca2+ sensitization and tension-maintenance.⁴⁶⁶ One proposal is that ROCK activates ZIPK which, in turn, translocates to PP1M at the AM XBs. Alternatively or additionally, rhoA and ROCK may become activated

at the AM XBs by binding to the scaffold protein, MRIP, that colocalizes rhoA, PP1M and actin^{315,317,415} (Fig. 7). However, MRIP likely facilitates relaxation rather than contraction, because MRIP overexpression inactivates rhoA.^{315–317} MRIP binds both inactive rhoA (rhoA-GDP) and active rhoA (rhoA-GTP),⁴⁷⁹ and because MRIP acts as a GTPase activating protein (GAP), will "turn off" rhoA²⁵⁰ (Fig. 7). Notably, MRIP binds the LZ domain of MYPT1,⁴⁷⁹ and thus, will not act in tissues that express MYPT1-LZ⁻. Of clinical interest is the finding that insulin stimulates MRIP-MYPT1 binding in VSM cells and enhances relaxation,²⁶⁴ and rac1 knockout causes hypertension by altering the MRIP-rhoA inactivation system.^{315–317}

RhoA and the rho-family GTPase rac often act in a counterregulatory manner.⁴¹⁷ In VSM, rhoA activates ROCK to phosphorylate MYPT1, inhibiting PP1M and causing Ca²⁺ sensitization, and rac1 activates PAK1 to inhibit MLCK activity causing Ca2+ desensitization⁵⁷⁵ (Fig. 7). Rac1-dependent activation of PAK1 also inhibits the cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase, PDE5,439 elevating cGMP levels which also would cause Ca2+ desensitization, in this case, via PKGdependent inhibition of rhoA and activation of PP1M. Upstream rac1 signaling in VSM involves NO-induced activation of the tyrosine kinase src via nitrosylation³⁸⁵ which, in turn, activates the rho-family GEF vav2.276,439 In addition, both rhoA and rac1 bind MRIP, and the NO pathway promotes dissociation of MRIP-rac1 and promotes association of MRIP-rhoA. Notably, the MRIP-rhoA complex also promotes rhoA phosphorylation and inactivation (Fig. 7). This model is consistent with the finding that inducible inactivation of mouse smooth muscle rac1 causes an ~15 mmHg increase in blood pressure.¹⁵ Thus, rac1 appears to exert a VSM relaxant action in two ways.¹⁵ One is via NO-dependent rac-mediated activation of PAK which inhibits PDE5, reducing cGMP degradation, and another is an increase in MRIP-rhoA association permitting PKG-dependent rhoA phosphorylation and inactivation.

However, racl may not act in VSM solely to cause relaxation. In rat aorta, racl is activated by receptor-dependent contractile stimuli, but not by KCl, and appears to enhance PKC translocation from the plasma membrane to facilitate PKC-dependent phosphorylation of MYPT1 and CPI-17, inhibiting PP1M and promoting contraction.⁴⁵⁶ In mouse mesenteric and saphenous arteries and aorta, pharmacological inhibition of rac1 attenuates contractions induced by several stimuli, including KCl and PDB, due to alterations in regulation of the Ca²⁺ control system.³⁸⁴ Rac1-PAK3 may participate in caldesmon phosphorylation and thin filament activation. Rac1 is one component necessary for activation of NADPH oxidase,^{301,559} and rac1 overexpression can elevate blood pressure by activation of NADPH oxidase causing generation of reactive oxygen species that mediate VSM contraction.^{166,338}

7.7. Basal MLC Phosphorylation

A general hypothesis is that the MLC kinase responsible for increasing MLCp upon VSM stimulation is "off" when VSM is "at rest" (i.e., when a stimulus is not present). Moreover, PP1M is assumed to be "on" to ensure a very low level of MLCp. To activate contraction, MLCK is "turned on" by an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$. In this case, simultaneously "turning off" PP1M would increase the degree of MLCp for a given increase in $[Ca^{2+}]$. (Ca²⁺-sensitization). Thus, there is a general notion that the MLCp/MLC ratio is ~zero at rest, and that a stimulus causes dual regulation to "turn on" MLCK by elevating [Ca²⁺], and "turn off" PP1M by elevating ROCK and PKC activities. However, in tonic VSM "at rest", basal MLCp is not zero, but ~0.15.410 This level can be reduced at least 50% by ROCK blockade, and nearly abolished by 1 µM staurosporine.^{10,401} The MLCK inhibitors wortmannin and trifluoperazine do not reduce the basal level of MLCp. Notably, strong reductions in basal MYPT1-pT853 are induced by ROCK blockade,^{377,543} adenylyl cyclase activation by forskolin,³⁷⁷ and bromoenol lactone-induced inhibition of "Ca2+-independent" phospholipase A₂ (iPLA₂),⁴⁰² an enzyme responsible for basal production of arachidonic acid in VSM.147 Moreover, reductions in basal MYPT1-pT696 and -pT853 are induced by staurosporine.¹⁰ As these sites are substrates for several kinases, including ROCK, ILK and ZIPK, and reductions in MYPT1 phosphorylation at these sites would be expected to permit elevations in PP1M activity, it is likely that

PP1M in tonic VSM "at rest" is regulated (inhibited), and a kinase other than MLCK is active. In vitro, ~50 µM arachidonic acid activates ROCK by ~5.5-fold, whereas active rhoA induces an ~2-fold increase.¹⁰³ Thus, basal iPLA, activity may be responsible for generating sufficient arachidonic acid to activate ROCK and elevate MYPT1-pT853, causing a certain degree of PP1M inhibition that, in conjunction with basal MLC kinase activity, ensures that MLCp is basally "set" at ~0.15 in tonic VSM. Although the CaM-dependent smooth muscle MLC kinase (i.e., MLCK) may be "off" at rest, the notion that all MLC kinases are "off", and that PP1M is "on" and unregulated, is an oversimplification. Rather, PP1M and one or more of the several MLC kinases are most likely at some intermediate value within their range of activities between fully "on" and "off". MLC is a good substrate for ROCK (103). Thus, basal ROCK activity may act both as a MLC kinase and inhibitor of PP1M. Recent evidence supports the contention that IKK2 also is a basal MLC kinase.^{389,560} In summary, VSM appears to be "idling" when at rest because MLCp is ~0.15 due in part to the constitutive activities of phospholipases and one or more kinases that, in turn, regulate the activities of MLC kinases and PP1M. Precisely which kinase(s) participate in this regulation remains to be fully elucidated.

These results support the hypothesis that PP1M cannot be considered fully "on" in resting VSM because basal phosphorylation of MYPT inhibits PP1M activity. Moreover, non-myogenic VSM has tone at rest that can be reduced by ROCK inhibition and by strain softening (loading the tissue by stretching from a rest-length to a longer length, then unloading by releasing back to the original restlength). Inhibition of resting tension by a ROCK inhibitor and strain softening appear synergistic rather than additive, suggesting that they work on separate systems.

7.8. KCl-induced ROCK-dependent Contraction

Membrane depolarization using high concentrations of K^+ (KCl or K_2SO_4) in the presence of receptor antagonists to block activation by release of paracrine agents is often used as a tool to bypasses receptor

activation and cause smooth muscle contraction primarily by changing the K⁺ equilibrium potential, clamping membrane potential at some value above the resting level, and increasing Ca²⁺ entry through VOCCs.⁴⁴ Thus, for many years, KCl was thought to represent a much "simpler" stimulus that could be used for comparison with the more "complex" stimulus-response coupling systems activated by receptormediated stimuli.⁵¹ However, KCl can cause release of Ca²⁺ from the sarcoplasmic reticulum^{246,504} and can activate channels in addition to VOCCs.³⁹³ Moreover, the Ca²⁺ sensitivity of KCl-induced contractions can change.^{399,557} Notably, VOCCs appear to exert not only an ionotropic effect but also a metabotropic effect.^{104,181,505} The metabotropic effect of KCl-induced VOCC activation involves downstream G protein activation independently of the ion-conducting property of the $Ca_v 1.2$ channel, and the ionotropic effect (Ca^{2+} entry) can activate more proteins than MLCK. For example, Ca²⁺ can activate the tyrosine kinase pyk2 (a.k.a, FAK2)^{296,297,561} and PI3K-C2α.^{530,563} In many, but not all, experiments assessing KCl-induced contractions, receptor antagonists are duly employed to block spurious activation of G protein-coupled receptors. However, an artery is a collection of several cell-types, and membrane depolarization may release not only paracrine agents from non-smooth muscle cells, but also may cause release of autacoids from VSM itself that potentially could contribute to smooth muscle stimulation. Moreover, receptor tyrosine kinase activation may occur, and inhibitors of this class of receptors are not routinely employed during in vitro studies when KCl is used as a stimulus.

With this caveat in mind, Ca²⁺ sensitization appears to play nearly as important a role in KCl-induced tension maintenance as it does in receptor stimulus-induced contractions in tonic VSM.^{387,394} Signaling systems that appear to participate in KCl-induced Ca²⁺ sensitization include those that activate ROCK and PKCζ. In the presence of adrenergic, histamine, Ang II and thromboxane A₂ receptor antagonists, KCl causes a strong and sustained activation of rhoA in endotheliumdenuded rabbit aorta,⁴³² and rhoA inhibition reduces KCl-stimulated phasic contractions of guinea pig intestine and rabbit portal vein.^{114,354} A different technique employed to "strip away" the complexity of receptor-dependent signaling and "clamp" Ca²⁺ at known levels is chemical permeabilization of artery segments using Triton X-100, β -escin (and the related detergent, saponin) and α -toxin.⁵¹¹ Interestingly, in β -escin-permeabilized smooth muscle, rhoA inhibition reduces the maximum efficacy but not the potency of Ca²⁺induced contraction of guinea-pig intestinal smooth muscle,³⁵⁴ and the ROCK inhibitor H-1152 when used at 1 μ M produces a similar effect in rabbit and mouse femoral arteries.⁷⁴

ROCK inhibition reduces the tonic phase of KCl-induced contraction in several artery-types.^{21,299,430,432,437,503} In rabbit artery, KClinduced increases in Ca²⁺ appear to cause ROCK translocation to punctate plasma membrane regions rich in caveolae.⁵⁰³ Potential mechanisms by which KCl can cause an increase in ROCK include activation of a rhoA-GEF,^{104,296,297,412,505,561} PI3K-C2 α ,^{530,563} 20-HETE, PKC ζ , and iPLA₂.⁴⁰² KCl can activate PKC and ERK,^{392,401} and these signaling systems can elevate the level of 20-HETE. Moreover, PKC is an upstream activator of rhoA and ROCK.¹⁸² KCl, by causing a strong transient increase in [Ca²⁺]_i can activate CaMKII,^{419,476} which along with ERK can activate cPLA₂³²⁵ to generate arachidonic acid.

In rat aortic VSM cells, knockdown of pyk2 or the rhoA GEF, PDZ-RhoGEF, reduced rhoA activation by the Ca2+ ionophore A-23187, suggesting that pyk2-PDZ-RhoGEF is activated downstream of Ca²⁺ to cause rhoA-ROCK-dependent Ca²⁺ sensitization.⁵⁶¹ In VSM cells stimulated with Ang II, the [Ca²⁺], rise activates a Jak2dependent mechanism to induce Arhgef1/RhoA signaling and Ca²⁺ sensitization.¹⁴⁴ If Ca²⁺ alone is sufficient to activate ROCK and cause Ca²⁺ sensitization, then any receptor stimulus that elevates Ca²⁺ and membrane depolarization would also be expected to activate ROCK. However, in rabbit tonic arteries, Bay K 8644, a dihydropyridine that promotes Ca²⁺ channel clusters to operate in a persistent Ca²⁺ influx mode, causes a strong increase in [Ca²⁺], MLCp and contraction, and induces a transient increase in rhoA, but fails to elevate the ROCK substrate MYPT1-pT853, suggesting that an increase in [Ca²⁺], alone is insufficient to activate ROCK to cause Ca2+-sensitization. Despite the lack of Bay k 8644-induced activation of ROCK, the ROCK inhibitor H-1152 nearly abolishes a Bay k 8644-induced contraction.

88 P. H. Ratz

This is due not to inhibition of a stimulus-induced increase in ROCK activity, but to the strong inhibition of basal ROCK activity, as evidenced by the very low basal MYPT1-pT853 in the presence of H-1152, and the inability of Bay k 8644 to elevate the depressed basal MYPT1-pT853.

7.9. PKC

PKC, a member of the AGC subfamily of ser-thr kinases,³⁶⁰ is expressed as 10 isotypes categorized as convention (α , β I, β II, γ), novel $(\delta, \varepsilon, \eta, \theta)$ and atypical $(\zeta \text{ and } \iota/\lambda)$.^{266,302,433} Although most PKC isozymes are ubiquitously expressed, 302 and α , β , γ , δ , ϵ and ζ isoforms have been shown to be expressed in various arteries,^{221,311} there is evidence that PKCB is not expressed by splanchnic VSM, and that PKCy expression in arteries is of neuronal origin.³⁴⁵ Conventional PKCs (cPKCs) are Ca²⁺-dependent; novel (nPKC) and atypical (aPKC) are not. In the presence of membrane phosphatidylserine, diacylglycerol (DAG), a product of phospholipase D-phosphatidate phosphohydrolase activities, and of hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylcholine by phospholipases C (PLC), bind and activate cPKCs and nPKCs.¹²⁰ PKC, and DAG acting independently of PKC, also play roles in Ca²⁺ signaling and in membrane potential changes by regulating the activities of several ion channel types, including TRP, VOCC and potassium.^{3,245,433,435} Importantly, constitutively active PKCa is necessary for maintaining basal VOCCdependent Ca²⁺ entry in VSM,^{330,331,374} which appears to produce a small but significant degree of basal tone in muscular arteries.⁴⁰¹ PKCα-dependent regulation of VOCCs also are responsible for Ca²⁺ entry during myogenic contraction.³³⁰ Many contractile stimuli activate receptors coupled to PLC, and DAG levels in smooth muscle increase in response to norepinephrine, Ang II and VP.266 Moreover, VSM contraction is induced by phorbol esters, a DAG-mimetic that induces a sustained and irreversible activation of PKC followed by PKC downregulation.³⁰² Thus, PKC is considered a canonical activator of VSM.^{266,345} Phorbol esters can cause contraction in permeabilized muscle at very low Ca2+ levels, and can cause contraction in

intact VSM without causing increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. These findings, along with work identifying the PP1M inhibitor CPI-17 as a PKC substrate, supports the hypothesis that PKC converges with ROCK to participate in PP1M inhibition causing Ca²⁺ sensitization.^{97,524} Notably, one action of PKC δ in coronary artery is to activate ROCK. Thus, ROCK can be a downstream effector of PKC.

The precise roles played by PKC isotypes in the regulation of VSM contraction remains an active area of investigation.⁴³³ In addition to regulating multiple ion channels and ATPase-dependent pumps, PKC activates the ras-raf-MEK-ERK1/2 pathway in several cell types³⁶ by stimulating the production of growth factor autacoids.⁵⁰¹ In smooth muscle, calponin may act as a scaffold to facilitate PKC-ERK1/2 activation.³¹⁰ Such activity has been linked to caldesmon phosphorylation and thin filament regulation.433 In pig coronary arteries, both PKC and ROCK appear to be involved in U-46619and 5-HT-induced contractions,^{221,337} whereas PKC plays no role in the contraction of the rat caudal artery induced by this stimulus.⁵⁴³ PKC activation appears to potentiate contractile strength independently of an increase in MLCp in pig coronary artery activated by ET1 and 5-HT.³⁴⁰ In rabbit renal artery, KCl does not cause an increase in inositol-trisphosphate production,³⁸⁸ suggesting that this stimulus does not activate PLC nor elevate DAG levels. Supporting this notion, KCl does not induce CPI-17 phosphorylation of rabbit femoral artery,85 and the relatively selective inhibitor of cPKC isotypes, Go 6976,140,292 does not inhibit a KCl-induced contraction. Interestingly, the green tea catechin, epigallocatechin-3-gallate, enhances the strength of a contraction induced by K⁺-depolarization (KCl) via a PKCδ-dependent increase in CPI-17 phosphorylation in pig coronary artery.³⁴³ Based on a study in which long-term application of phorbol ester was used in rat mesenteric artery to cause PKCa and PKCS degradation, these PKC isotypes were found to be necessary for phorbol ester-induced contraction, and not for contractions induced by norepinephrine and VP.345

The general consensus at this time is that, although ROCK and PKCs converge on the Ca²⁺ sensitization signaling system in VSM, ROCK appears to play a more dominant role. Arteries isolated from

the spontaneously hypertensive rat display greater myogenic tone than arteries from Wistar Kyoto rats, and the increase is attributed to ROCK-dependent rather than PKC-dependent Ca²⁺ sensitization.²⁰⁷ The PKC inhibitor GF-109203X (a.k.a, Bisindolylmaleimide 1 and Go 6850), when used at $1 \mu M$, is a relatively selective strong inhibitor of cPKCs and nPKCs.^{80,98,118,357} The rank order of potency of GF-109203X for inhibition of PKC isotype activation in an in vitro enzyme assay is $\alpha > \beta I > \varepsilon > \delta > \zeta$, with IC₅₀ values ranging from ~0.01 µM for PKCa to ~0.2 µM for PKCd, and ~6 µM for PKCL.292 In rabbit epigastric artery, a small ($\sim 400 \ \mu m$), muscular, phasic artery feeding a musculocutaneous vascular bed, 1 µM GF-109203X reduces the potency of a PE-induced CRC, and reduces the average value of the maximum contraction induced by U-46619, but has no inhibitory effect on Ang II- and VP-induced CRCs (Fig. 9A, 9C-F). In this artery, the MLCK (and PI3K)554 inhibitor wortmannin $(1 \ \mu M)^{25,80}$ and ROCK inhibitor H-1152 $(1 \ \mu M)^{436}$ each produce a relatively strong inhibition of contractions (Fig. 9A, 9C-F). A similar trend is produced in the larger and more tonic rabbit renal artery by these kinase inhibitors (Fig. 9B). These data support the conclusion that cPKC and nPKC isotypes play a minimal role in Ca²⁺ sensitization of VSM.^{118,467} However, in other arteries activated by different stimuli, PKC appears to play a more significant role. For example, PKC participates via phosphorylation of HSP-72 in the cytoskeletal reorganization of cerebral arteries required for a strong myogenic contraction.³⁰⁷ There is evidence that ROCK and PKC act at different times during a stimulus-induced contraction. PE-induced contraction of rabbit femoral artery is biphasic, with a fast/phasic phase followed by a slow/tonic phase. During the phasic phase $[Ca^{2+}]$, increases rapidly, then falls slowly to achieve a lower tonic level.⁴⁰² During both phases, Ca²⁺ sensitization is activated, but during the phasic phase, increases in CPI-17-T38 dependent on cPKC cause inhibition of PP1M, whereas during the tonic phase, cPKC, nPKC and ROCK maintain CPI-17-pT38, and ROCK increases MYPT1-pT853 to maintain PP1M inhibition.85

There are significant differences in the relative effectiveness of protein kinase inhibitors to diminish contractile strength when



Fig. 9. Relaxation quotient for rabbit epigastric (A) and renal (B) arteries, and concentration-response curves for epigastric artery (C–F) comparing the relative abilities

Fig. 9. (*Continued*) of PKC (abbreviations as in other figure legends and text), MLCK and ROCK inhibitors (1 μ M GF-109203X, 1 μ M wortmannin and 1 μ M H-1152, respectively) to affect contractions produced by Ang II (C), PE (D), U-46619 (E) and VP (F). Data in A and C–F are means ±SE, n = 4. Data in B is for 2–3 arteries. Relaxation quotient = 1-(area under curve with drug/area under control curve). Thus, a value of 0 means no relaxation, and a value of 1 means complete relaxation (inhibition of contraction).

comparing arteries and stimuli (Fig. 9). For example, wortmannin and H-1152 produce a stronger inhibition of contraction induced by VP in renal artery compared to epigastric artery (Fig. 9A-B). These data invite criticism because each drug has some off-target effect. Indeed, using the PKC C1 regulatory domain inhibitor calphostin C (100 nM) in rat small mesenteric artery, PKC was identified as contributing to Ca²⁺ sensitization of norepinephrine-induced contraction.55 However, subsequent work revealed that off-target effects of calphostin C that do not involve PKC inhibition but likely involve the phorbol ester/DAG (C1)-binding domain of other proteins include the very potent inhibition of VOCC activity,163 potent inhibition of phospholipase D (IC₅₀ ~100 nM),⁴⁴⁴ inhibition of rhoA-membrane association,⁹⁰ and inhibition of Golgi-associated transport.⁸ With this caveat in mind, the comparative assessment of kinase inhibitory activities in Fig. 9 supports the hypothesis that different vascular segments express unique levels and combinations of contractile protein regulatory systems. In short, the VSM of the vascular tree, and likely also vascular trees of different species, cannot be treated as a single homogenous organ.

Atypical PKCs (aPKCs) are not activated by DAG or phorbol esters, but are activated by lipids such as arachidonic acid, phosphatidic acid, ceramide and phosphatidylinositols such as PIP_{3} .¹⁷⁸ Moreover, certain proteins can bind to and inhibit aPKC activation. For example, Par-4 binds the aPKC C1 motif preventing activation.³¹³ In several cell-types, PKC ζ functions as a MEK kinase to activate ERK independently of raf1. In rabbit VSM, activation of PKC ζ by arachidonic acid causes Ca²⁺ sensitization.¹¹⁸ There is evidence that, like PKC α ,³³¹ ERK,³⁹² ROCK and iPLA₂,⁴⁰² PKC ζ is active in rabbit arterial VSM at rest, and that basal PKC ζ activity

inhibits Ca^{2+} entry through non-VOCC channels that appear to supply intracellular stores rather than AM XBs.⁴⁰¹ Notably, PKC ζ is found not only in a peri-nuclear location, but also diffusely throughout the cytosol and in a punctate fashion at the membrane in regions distinct from those housing focal contacts.⁴⁰¹ Moreover, a stimulus-induced increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ further activates PKC ζ to cause a feed-back "braking" effect on the degree of increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, through VOCCs, and a feed-forward increase in MYPT1-pT853. Thus, PKC ζ and ROCK appear to converge on the MLCp motor control system to inhibit PP1M activity, inducing strong Ca^{2+} sensitization. Interestingly, in certain cell-types, PKC ζ activates IKK.³¹³ As mentioned, IKK2 is thought to act as a MLC kinase in resting VSM, and PKC ζ is also active basally, but whether constitutive PKC ζ activity participates in basal IKK2 activation in VSM remains to be determined.

8. MLCp Sites and Non-Canonical MLC Kinases

The primary phosphoprotein site involved in covalent regulation of proteins is phospho-serine, accounting for ~86% of 6600 phospho-rylations on 2244 human proteins. However, phospho-threonine also participates in regulation, accounting for ~12%.³⁴⁷ The sequence of the first 19 amino acids at the amino terminal end of MLC reveals 6 potential phospho-serine and phospho-threonine sites. Five of these sites are phosphorylated in tissues and play roles in the regulation of contraction:

$$S(1)S(2)KRAKAKT(9)TKKRPQRAT(18)S(19).^{361,484,534}$$
 (1)

8.1. Mono-phosphorylation

MLCK phosphorylates \$19 and is generally considered to cause MLC mono-phosphorylation, although T18 can also become phosphorylated, but to a lesser degree, with a slower time course, and at a non-physiologically high [MLCK].^{94,179,200,201,342} *In vitro* phosphorylation of either \$19 or T18 permits myosin filament formation. Interestingly, when MLC is phosphorylated only on T18 *in vitro*,

AM-ATPase activity is lower than when MLC is phosphorylated only on S19, and yet, each moves actin at equivalent velocities in a motility assay.⁵⁰

It is unsurprising that several other kinases have been identified that phosphorylate MLC, because MLC phosphorylation plays critical roles in regulation of cell motility and contraction of non-muscle cells, and in cytokinesis following mitosis. The precise roles kinases other than MLCK play in the regulation of VSM contraction is an ongoing subject of investigation. Other kinases that can cause monophosphorylation of MLC exclusively at S19 include CaMKII,94 MK2,²⁵² PAK,^{67,386,568} and ROCK.¹² Although RSK2 was shown to monophosphorylate MLC,478 neither MLC nor MYPT1 are listed among the ~40 substrates of the RSK family in a recent review,⁴²² suggesting that RSK2 has not been identified as a significant contributor to the regulation of contraction. Whether PAK causes an increase or, through MLCK phosphorylation, decrease in MLC phosphorylation in smooth muscle remains to be fully elucidated.⁴² Although ROCK phosphorylates MLC at about half the rate of MLCK, the K_m of MLC for ROCK is about 10-fold lower (~2 µM) than for MLCK, suggesting that ROCK can phosphorylate MLC when this substrate is available at low cellular levels.^{12,103} DMPK and MRCK, kinases closely related to ROCK, can phosphorylate MLC and MYPT in vitro, but whether they do so in VSM in vivo remains to be determined. There is evidence that these kinases may participate in regulation of MYPT in certain cell-types.⁵⁰²

MK2 and IKK2 play roles in the cellular response to stress. In particular, MK2 is a primary substrate of the p38 MAPK stress response, and IKK is activated by pro-inflammatory stimuli that generate nuclear factor- κ B.³²⁸ Using an MK2 knockout mouse, Martinka *et al.*²⁸⁹ showed that adenosine, acting not through plasma membrane adenosine receptors but via an intracellular mechanism, enhanced the ability of Ang II to cause mesenteric artery contraction by a p38-MK2-dependent increase in MLCp. MK2 also acts on the actin polymerization control system by elevating phosphorylation of HSP-27, resulting in a loss of HSP-27's actin capping property and increased actin polymerization.¹⁴⁸

8.2. Di-phosphorylation

In vitro S19 phosphorylation of MLC alone is sufficient to increase AM ATPase activity.^{218,484} and the Ca²⁺-MLCK-MLC mono-phosphorylation signaling system, enhanced by ROCK-dependent Ca²⁺ sensitization, is sufficient to cause and maintain maximum arterial contractions induced by such stimuli as KCl87,394 and U-46619.543 However, di-phosphoylation of MLC at \$19 and T18 can enhance actin-activated myosin Mg2+-ATPase activity in vitro, and although physiologically a rare-event, MLC di-phosphorylation has been shown to occur during stimulation with ET1, and to increase the rate of arterial contraction induced by PGF₂₆.⁵²³ Kinases that phosphorylate smooth muscle MLC at both \$19 and T18 include ILK and ZIPK.^{37,84,333} DAPK primary causes MLC mono-phosphorylation, but can cause di-phosphorylation. DAPK is regulated by CaM in a manner analogous to MLCK, but ZIPK lacks the CaM regulatory domain, and ZIPK and ILK cause MLC di-phosphorylation by an entirely Ca²⁺-independent mechanism. Par-4, an actin-binding protein that participates in PP1c regulation, contains a death domain-motif and can bind ZIPK. Thus, the ZIPK-Par-4 complex represents a DAPK-mimic.³⁷ As its name implies, a primary function of DAPK is to regulate cell death in response to stress, resulting in the characteristic death morphology of peripheral super-contraction resulting in cell-rounding and membrane blebbing. Whether ZIPK participates in cell death is not clear. Notably, MLC di-phosphorylation is revealed under conditions of the hyper-contractile states of coronary, cerebral and peripheral artery vasospasm.⁴⁸² In motile fibroblasts, ZIPK causes MLC di-phosphorylation primarily of stress fibers in the tail region opposite the leading edge where cell retraction occurs, mono-phosphorylated MLC is located at the leading edge, and ROCK inhibits PP1M.253 Whether ZIPK and ROCK, as well as MLCK, PKC and ILK, play similar location-dependent roles in the regulation of VSM contraction remains to be determined.

8.3. Tri-phosphorylation

The strength and duration of a response can be regulated by multiple phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events. *In vitro*, PKC can

phosphorylate MLC at S1, S2, and T9, with T9 being phosphorylated the most rapidly, followed more slowly by phosphorylation of either S1 or S2, and a third phosphorylation only very slowly.^{202,335} Phosphorylation of T9 alone by PKC inhibits subsequent phosphorylation on S19 by MLCK due to a 6-fold increase in the K_m.⁴⁹⁸ Myosin phosphorylated by both PKC at T9 and MLCK at S19th has a lower actin-activated Mg²⁺-ATPase activity than myosin phosphorylated by MLCK alone, due to a lower affinity of myosin for actin. Thus, PKC activation in vivo might be expected to exert a negative regulatory influence on contraction both prior to and during activation by a stimulus that increases S19 phosphorylation. However, threonine phosphorylation of MLC was found not to occur in intact pig carotid artery stimulated with phorbol ester, and in permeabilized artery activated by direct addition of PKC, suggesting that, PKC does not cause inhibition of contraction.⁴⁸⁰ By contrast, PKC appears to participate in tension decline in dog basilar artery.³⁴² In this tissue, the increase in $[Ca^{2+}]$ and myogenic contraction induced by a slow (over 1 min) step-stretch reaches a peak within another min, and by ~10 min, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ declines to the basal level and tension fades to ~10% of the peak value. The decline in tension from ~1 to ~5 min correlates with a decline in MLCp, but from 5 to 15 min, MLCp increases. Notably, total MLCp was found to reflect temporal changes in site-specific phosphorylation of MLC not seen when tissues were stimulated instead with KCl. In particular, the early contraction was due to increases in MLCp at \$19 induced by MLCK activation, and the subsequent increase in phosphorylation reflected di- then triphosphorylation of MLC. The di-phosphorylation was at S19 and T18 sites, and the third phosphorylation site was thought to reflect PKC activity that served as a "braking" mechanism to prevent a sustained myogenic contraction.³⁴² Interestingly, the relaxant effect of okadaic acid on canine basilar artery involves activation of PKCa and phosphorylation of MLC at T9.341

9. AMPK and Summary of Relaxation Mechanisms

Smooth muscle is dependent on an immediate supply of ATP because, unlike striated muscles that maintain high levels of phosphocreatine as

an energy reserve to resupply ATP during contraction, the level of phosphocreatine in smooth muscle is about equal to the level of ATP.²⁰⁵ AMPK, a ubiquitous sensor of metabolic stress, is activated by liver kinase B1 (LKB1), a constitutively active enzyme, and by Ca²⁺calmodulin-dependent kinase kinase β (CaMKK β), both of which cause AMPK phosphorylation at T172.^{160,195} An increase in the cellular AMP/ATP ratio regulates AMPK by (a) promoting further phosphorylation at T172, (b) inhibiting AMPK-pT172 dephosphorylation, and (c) allosteric activation of AMPK. Increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and AMP can act synergistically to activate AMPK.¹⁵⁹ AMPK has been shown to potentially interact with multiple smooth muscle contractile protein regulatory systems to decrease stimulus-response coupling, effectively putting a "brake" on contraction to reduce and conserve ATP consumption for use by ion pumps to maintain ion homeostasis and cell viability. AMPK activation inhibits VSM contraction,127,427,442 and evidence has been presented suggesting that, to cause relaxation, AMPK may inhibit the activities of MLCK,^{189,265} PKC⁸¹ and ROCK⁵²⁸ (Fig. 7). In mesenteric resistance artery, activation of AMPK by A-769662 does not appear to inhibit any of these systems, but instead, reduces [Ca²⁺].⁴⁴² Thus, the precise mechanism by which AMPK inhibits VSM contraction under different conditions remains to be determined.

Inhibition of rhoA-GEFs or activation of rhoA-GAPs can reduce the level of active rhoA (rhoA-GTP), and thus, reduce ROCK activity. An alternate mechanism by which rhoA-GTP "turns off" involves rhoA-GTP phosphorylation at S188, which also protects rhoA from ubiquitin/proteasome-mediated degradation in VSM.^{123,278,420,438,439} PKA, PKG and AMPK can inactivate rhoA-GTP by this mechanism. PKA inactivates rhoA by a second mechanism involving rhoA-GDI, phosphorylation at S174 that increases rhoA-GTP affinity for binding to rhoA-GDI, resulting in rhoA-GTP sequestration in the cytosol.³⁴⁶ There is also evidence that a cAMP-activated, PKA- and PKGindependent, Epac-Rap1 GTPase signaling pathway contributes to cAMP-induced inhibition of smooth muscle Ca²⁺ sensitization.⁵⁷⁶ In addition to reducing the levels of active rhoA, PKA and PKG can activate PP1M by inducing phosphorylation of SMTNL1 on S301,^{47,499,550} MYPT1 on S695, and telokin on S13 (Fig. 8A). Telokin-pS13 elevates PP1M activity to cause smooth muscle relaxation not by initiating MYPT1-pT853 or -T696 dephosphorylation, but by permitting activation of the full-length, inactive, phospho-MYPT1-PP1M.237 Another mechanism by which telokinpS13 inhibits contraction is by shielding the activating phosphorylation sites on MLC (Fig. 7).453 Telokin does not exert a strong relaxation of VSM compared to visceral smooth muscle (e.g., 30% relaxation of femoral artery compared to 90% for ileum), and this is consistent with the differential telokin expression levels in these tissues (6 and 27 µM, respectively).73 An early study using the Ca2+ indicator aequorin revealed that stimuli that relax contracted VSM by elevating PKA do not concomitantly reduce [Ca2+], and in some cases, increase [Ca²⁺], and that although stimuli that activate PKG reduce [Ca²⁺], the degree of relaxation is greater than can be accounted for by the decrease in [Ca2+].³⁰⁸ Mechanisms by which PKG decreases [Ca²⁺], include inhibition of PLC and inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate formation, activation of Ca2+ sequestration, and activation of the large conductance Ca2+-activated K channel.86,383

References

- Adelstein RS, Conti MA, and Pato MD. (1980) Regulation of myosin light chain kinase by reversible phosphorylation and calciumcalmodulin. *Ann N Υ Acad Sci* 356: 142–150.
- 2. Aggarwal NT, Gauthier KM, and Campbell WB. (2012) Endothelial nitric oxide and 15-lipoxygenase-1 metabolites independently mediate relaxation of the rabbit aorta. *Vascul Pharmacol* **56**: 106–112.
- 3. Albert AP and Large WA. (2006) Signal transduction pathways and gating mechanisms of native TRP-like cation channels in vascular myocytes. *J Physiol* **570**: 45–51.
- 4. Albrecht K, Schneider A, Liebetrau C, Ruegg JC, *et al.* (1997) Exogenous caldesmon promotes relaxation of guinea-pig skinned taenia coli smooth muscles: Inhibition of cooperative reattachment of latch bridges? *Pflugers Arch* **434**: 534–542.
- 5. Alessi D, MacDougall LK, Sola MM, Ikebe M, *et al.* (1992) The control of protein phosphatase-1 by targetting subunits. The major myosin phosphatase in avian smooth muscle is a novel form of protein phosphatase-1. *Eur J Biochem* **210**: 1023–1035.

- 6. Ali F, Pare PD, and Seow CY. (2005) Models of contractile units and their assembly in smooth muscle. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 83: 825–831.
- 7. Almasri AM, Ratz PH, and Speich JE. (2010) Length Adaptation of the Passive-to-Active Tension Ratio in Rabbit Detrusor. *Ann Biomed Eng.*
- Alonso M, Muniz M, Hall C, Velasco A, et al. (1998) Calphostin C induces selective disassembly of the Golgi complex by a protein kinase C-independent mechanism. *Eur J Cell Biol* 76: 93–101.
- Althoff TF and Offermanns S. (2015) G-protein-mediated signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells — implications for vascular disease. J Mol Med (Berl) 93: 973–981.
- Alvarez SM, Miner AS, Browne BM, and Ratz PH. (2010) Failure of Bay K 8644 to induce RhoA kinase-dependent calcium sensitization in rabbit blood vessels. *Br J Pharmacol* 160: 1326–1337.
- 11. Amano M, Fukata Y, and Kaibuchi K. (2000) Regulation and functions of Rho-associated kinase. *Exp Cell Res* **261**: 44–51.
- 12. Amano M, Ito M, Kimura K, Fukata Y, *et al.* (1996) Phosphorylation and activation of myosin by Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). *J Biol Chem* **271**: 20246–20249.
- Amano M, Nakayama M, and Kaibuchi K. (2010) Rho-kinase/ROCK: A key regulator of the cytoskeleton and cell polarity. *Cytoskeleton* (*Hoboken*) 67: 545–554.
- 14. Amberg GC and Navedo MF. (2013) Calcium dynamics in vascular smooth muscle. *Microcirculation* **20**: 281–289.
- Andre G, Sandoval JE, Retailleau K, Loufrani L, *et al.* (2014) Smooth muscle specific Rac1 deficiency induces hypertension by preventing p116RIP3-dependent RhoA inhibition. *J Am Heart Assoc* 3: e000852.
- Ansari S, Alahyan M, Marston SB, and El-Mezgueldi M. (2008) Role of caldesmon in the Ca2+ regulation of smooth muscle thin filaments: Evidence for a cooperative switching mechanism. J Biol Chem 283: 47–56.
- Arciero JC, Carlson BE, and Secomb TW. (2008) Theoretical model of metabolic blood flow regulation: Roles of ATP release by red blood cells and conducted responses. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H1562–1571.
- 18. Arciero JC and Secomb TW. (2012) Spontaneous oscillations in a model for active control of microvessel diameters. *Mathematical medicine and biology: A journal of the IMA* **29**: 163–180.
- Ardanaz N and Pagano PJ. (2006) Hydrogen peroxide as a paracrine vascular mediator: Regulation and signaling leading to dysfunction. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 231: 237–251.
- 100 P. H. Ratz
 - 20. Armulik A, Genove G, and Betsholtz C. (2011) Pericytes: Developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. *Dev Cell* 21: 193–215.
 - Asano M and Nomura Y. (2003) Comparison of inhibitory effects of Y-27632, a Rho kinase inhibitor, in strips of small and large mesenteric arteries from spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive Wistar-Kyoto rats. *Hypertens Res* 26: 97–106.
 - 22. Awumey EM, Hill SK, Diz DI, and Bukoski RD. (2008) Cytochrome P-450 metabolites of 2-arachidonoylglycerol play a role in Ca2+-induced relaxation of rat mesenteric arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294: H2363–2370.
 - 23. Azeloglu EU and Iyengar R. (2015) Signaling networks: Information flow, computation, and decision making. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 7: a005934.
 - 24. Bai TR, Bates JH, Brusasco V, Camoretti-Mercado B, *et al.* (2004) On the terminology for describing the length-force relationship and its changes in airway smooth muscle. *J Appl Physiol* **97**: 2029–2034.
 - 25. Bain J, Plater L, Elliott M, Shpiro N, *et al.* (2007) The selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors: A further update. *Biochem J* 408: 297–315.
 - Balakumar P and Jagadeesh G. (2014) A century old renin-angiotensin system still grows with endless possibilities: AT1 receptor signaling cascades in cardiovascular physiopathology. *Cell Signal* 26: 2147–2160.
 - 27. Barany K, Rokolya A, and Barany M. (1990) Stretch activates myosin light chain kinase in arterial smooth muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 173: 164–171.
 - Barron JT, Barany M, and Barany K. (1979) Phosphorylation of the 20,000-dalton light chain of myosin of intact arterial smooth muscle in rest and in contraction. J Biol Chem 254: 4954–4956.
 - 29. Bartolini F, Moseley JB, Schmoranzer J, Cassimeris L, *et al.* (2008) The formin mDia2 stabilizes microtubules independently of its actin nucleation activity. *J Cell Biol* **181**: 523–536.
 - 30. Bednarek ML, Speich JE, Miner AS, and Ratz PH. (2011) Active tension adaptation at a shortened arterial muscle length: Inhibition by cytochalasin-D. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 300: H1166-1173.
 - 31. Beltowski J and Jamroz-Wisniewska A. (2014) Hydrogen sulfide and endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. *Molecules* **19**: 21183–21199.

- 32. Benaim G and Villalobo A. (2002) Phosphorylation of calmodulin. Functional implications. *Eur J Biochem* 269: 3619–3631.
- Bender AT and Beavo JA. (2006) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: Molecular regulation to clinical use. *Pharmacol Rev* 58: 488–520.
- Berridge MJ. (2008) Smooth muscle cell calcium activation mechanisms. J Physiol 586: 5047–5061.
- 35. Bevan JA, Bevan RD, and Duckles SP. (1980) Adrenergic Regulation of Vascular Smooth Muscle. In: *Handbook of Physiology: The Cardio*vascular System, edited by DF Bohr ASHS. Bethesda: American Physiological Society, pp. 515–566.
- 36. Bhalla US and Iyengar R. (1999) Emergent properties of networks of biological signaling pathways. *Science* **283**: 381–387.
- 37. Bialik S and Kimchi A. (2006) The death-associated protein kinases: Structure, function, and beyond. *Annu Rev Biochem* **75**: 189–210.
- Birkenfeld J, Nalbant P, Yoon SH, and Bokoch GM. (2008) Cellular functions of GEF-H1, a microtubule-regulated Rho-GEF: Is altered GEF-H1 activity a crucial determinant of disease pathogenesis? *Trends Cell Biol* 18: 210–219.
- 39. Blumenstein L and Ahmadian MR. (2004) Models of the cooperative mechanism for Rho effector recognition: Implications for RhoA-mediated effector activation. *J Biol Chem* 279: 53419–53426.
- Boev K, Golenhofen K, and Lukanow J. (1973) Selective Suppression of Phasic and Tonic Activation Mechanisms in Stomach Smooth-Muscle. *Pflug Arch Eur J Phy* 343: R56–R56.
- 41. Bohr DF. (1973) Vascular smooth muscle updated. Circ Res 32: 665–672.
- Bokoch GM. (2003) Biology of the p21-activated kinases. Annu Rev Biochem 72: 743–781.
- 43. Bolton TB. (2006) Calcium events in smooth muscles and their interstitial cells; physiological roles of sparks. *J Physiol* **570**: 5–11.
- 44. Bolton TB. (1979) Mechanisms of action of transmitters and other substances on smooth muscle. *Physiol Rev* **59**: 606–718.
- 45. Bonafe N and Chaussepied P. (1995) A single myosin head can be cross-linked to the N termini of two adjacent actin monomers. *Biophys* J 68: 358–438.
- 46. Bond RF, Bond CH, Peissner LC, and Manning ES. (1980) Distribution of adrenergic innervation to canine visceral, gracilis, and saphenous arteries. *Am J Physiol* **239**: H252–256.

- 102 P. H. Ratz
 - 47. Borman MA, Freed TA, Haystead TA, and Macdonald JA. (2009) The role of the calponin homology domain of smoothelin-like 1 (SMTNL1) in myosin phosphatase inhibition and smooth muscle contraction. *Mol Cell Biochem* 327: 93–100.
 - 48. Brain SD and Grant AD. (2004) Vascular actions of calcitonin generelated peptide and adrenomedullin. *Physiol Rev* 84: 903–934.
 - 49. Bray D. (2009) *Wetware: A computer in every living cell*. Yale University Press, New Haven; London.
 - Bresnick AR, Wolff-Long VL, Baumann O, and Pollard TD. (1995) Phosphorylation on threonine-18 of the regulatory light chain dissociates the ATPase and motor properties of smooth muscle myosin II. *Biochemistry* 34: 12576–12583.
 - 51. Brozovich FV. (2003) Rho signaling: Agonist stimulation and depolarization come together. *Circ Res* **93**: 481–483.
 - 52. Burmeister BT, Taglieri DM, Wang L, and Carnegie GK. (2012) Src homology 2 domain-containing phosphatase 2 (Shp2) is a component of the A-kinase-anchoring protein (AKAP)-Lbc complex and is inhibited by protein kinase A (PKA) under pathological hypertrophic conditions in the heart. J Biol Chem 287: 40535–40546.
 - 53. Burnstock G and Ralevic V. (2014) Purinergic signaling and blood vessels in health and disease. *Pharmacol Rev* 66: 102–192.
 - 54. Burton AC. (1972) *Physiology and Biophysics of the Circulation*. Year Book Medical Publishers Inc., Chicago.
 - 55. Buus CL, Aalkjaer C, Nilsson H, Juul B, et al. (1998) Mechanisms of Ca2+ sensitization of force production by noradrenaline in rat mesenteric small arteries. J Physiol 510(Pt 2): 577–590.
 - 56. Call C, Han S, Speich JE, Eddinger TJ, and Ratz PH. (2006) Resistance to pressure-induced dilatation in femoral but not saphenous artery: Physiological role of latch? *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 291: H1513–1520.
 - 57. Campbell WB and Gauthier KM. (2013) Inducible endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor: Role of the 15-lipoxygenase-EDHF pathway. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **61**: 176–187.
 - Carlson BE, Arciero JC, and Secomb TW. (2008) Theoretical model of blood flow autoregulation: Roles of myogenic, shear-dependent, and metabolic responses. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H1572–1579.

- 59. Carr AN, Sutliff RL, Weber CS, Allen PB, *et al.* (2001) Is myosin phosphatase regulated *in vivo* by inhibitor-1? Evidence from inhibitor-1 knockout mice. *J Physiol* **534**: 357–366.
- 60. Cassidy P, Hoar PE, and Kerrick WG. (1979) Irreversible thiophosphorylation and activation of tension in functionally skinned rabbit ileum strips by [35S]ATP gamma S. *J Biol Chem* 254: 11148–11153.
- 61. Casteels R and Droogmans G. (1981) Exchange characteristics of the noradrenaline-sensitive calcium store in vascular smooth muscle cells or rabbit ear artery. *J Physiol* **31**7: 263–279.
- 62. Chacko S, Conti MA, and Adelstein RS. (1977) Effect of phosphorylation of smooth muscle myosin on actin activation and Ca2+ regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 74: 129–133.
- 63. Chang YC, Nalbant P, Birkenfeld J, Chang ZF, *et al.* (2008) GEF-H1 couples nocodazole-induced microtubule disassembly to cell contractility via RhoA. *Mol Biol Cell* **19**: 2147–2153.
- 64. Chawengsub Y, Gauthier KM, and Campbell WB. (2009) Role of arachidonic acid lipoxygenase metabolites in the regulation of vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 297: H495–507.
- 65. Chen X, Pavlish K, and Benoit JN. (2008) Myosin phosphorylation triggers actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H2172–2177.
- 66. Chen YY, Lv J, Xue XY, He GH, *et al.* (2010) Effects of sympathetic histamine on vasomotor responses of blood vessels in rabbit ear to electrical stimulation. *Neurosci Bull* **26**: 219–224.
- 67. Chew TL, Masaracchia RA, Goeckeler ZM, and Wysolmerski RB. (1998) Phosphorylation of non-muscle myosin II regulatory light chain by p21-activated kinase (gamma-PAK). *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 19: 839–854.
- 68. Chi RJ, Simon AR, Bienkiewicz EA, Felix A, *et al.* (2008) Smooth muscle titin Zq domain interaction with the smooth muscle alpha-actinin central rod. *J Biol Chem* 283: 20959–20967.
- 69. Chidiac P. (2016) RGS proteins destroy spare receptors: Effects of GPCR-interacting proteins and signal deamplification on measurements of GPCR agonist potency. *Methods* **92**: 87–93.
- 70. Chin D and Means AR. (2000) Calmodulin: A prototypical calcium sensor. *Trends Cell Biol* 10: 322–328.

- 104 P. H. Ratz
 - Chistiakov DA, Ashwell KW, Orekhov AN, and Bobryshev YV. (2015) Innervation of the arterial wall and its modification in atherosclerosis. *Auton Neurosci* 193: 7–11.
 - 72. Choi H, Tostes RC, and Webb RC. (2011) S-nitrosylation Inhibits protein kinase C-mediated contraction in mouse aorta. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **57**: 65–71.
 - Choudhury N, Khromov AS, Somlyo AP, and Somlyo AV. (2004) Telokin mediates Ca(2⁺)-desensitization through activation of myosin phosphatase in phasic and tonic smooth muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 25: 657–665.
 - Clelland LJ, Browne BM, Alvarez SM, Miner AS, *et al.* (2011) Rhokinase inhibition attenuates calcium-induced contraction in beta-escin but not Triton X-100 permeabilized rabbit femoral artery. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 32: 77–88.
 - Clobes AM and Guilford WH. (2014) Loop 2 of myosin is a forcedependent inhibitor of the rigor bond. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 35: 143–152.
 - Cohen PT. (2002) Protein phosphatase 1 targeted in many directions. J Cell Sci 115: 241–256.
 - 77. Collins C, Klausner AP, Herrick B, Koo HP, et al. (2009) Potential for Control of Detrusor Smooth Muscle Spontaneous Rhythmic Contraction by Cyclooxygenase Products Released by Interstitial Cells of Cajal. J Cell Mol Med 13: 3236–3250.
 - Corteling RL, Brett SE, Yin H, Zheng XL, *et al.* (2007) The functional consequence of RhoA knockdown by RNA interference in rat cerebral arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293: H440–447.
 - 79. Craig R and Woodhead JL. (2006) Structure and function of myosin filaments. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 16: 204–212.
 - Davies SP, Reddy H, Caivano M, Cohen P, *et al.* (2000) Specificity and mechanism of action of some commonly used protein kinase inhibitors. *Biochem J* 351: 95–105.
 - Davis B, Rahman A, and Arner A. (2012) AMP-activated kinase relaxes agonist induced contractions in the mouse aorta via effects on PKC signaling and inhibits NO-induced relaxation. *Eur J Pharmacol* 695: 88–95.
 - 82. de Wit C and Griffith TM. (2010) Connexins and gap junctions in the EDHF phenomenon and conducted vasomotor responses. *Pflugers Arch* **459**: 897–914.
 - DeFeo TT and Morgan KG. (1985) Calcium-force relationships as detected with aequorin in two different vascular smooth muscles of the ferret. *J Physiol* 369: 269–282.

- Deng JT, Van Lierop JE, Sutherland C, and Walsh MP. (2001) Ca²⁺independent smooth muscle contraction: A novel function for integrin-linked kinase. *J Biol Chem* 276: 16365–16373.
- Dimopoulos GJ, Semba S, Kitazawa K, Eto M, *et al.* (2007) Ca²⁺-Dependent Rapid Ca²⁺ Sensitization of Contraction in Arterial Smooth Muscle. *Circ Res* 100: 121–129.
- Dippold RP and Fisher SA. (2014) Myosin phosphatase isoforms as determinants of smooth muscle contractile function and calcium sensitivity of force production. *Microcirculation* 21: 239–248.
- Driska SP, Aksoy MO, and Murphy RA. (1981) Myosin light chain phosphorylation associated with contraction in arterial smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 240: C222–C233.
- Driska SP and Porter R. (1986) Isolation of smooth muscle cells from swine carotid artery by digestion with papain. *Am J Physiol* 251: C474-481.
- 89. Droogmans G, Raeymaekers L, and Casteels R. (1977) Electro- and pharmacomechanical coupling in the smooth muscle cells of the rabbit ear artery. *J Gen Physiol* **70**: 129–148.
- 90. Dubyak GR and Kertesy SB. (1997) Inhibition of GTP gamma S-dependent phospholipase D and Rho membrane association by calphostin is independent of protein kinase C catalytic activity. Arch Biochem Biophys 341: 129–139.
- 91. Earley S and Brayden JE. (2015) Transient receptor potential channels in the vasculature. *Physiol Rev* **95**: 645–690.
- 92. Eddinger TJ and Meer DP. (2001) Single rabbit stomach smooth muscle cell myosin heavy chain SMB expression and shortening velocity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **280**: C309–316.
- 93. Eddinger TJ and Ratz PH. (1997) Alpha-adrenoceptor activation induces rhythmic contractile activity in carotid arteries from young, not adult, rats. *Acta Physiol Scand* **159**: 123–129.
- 94. Edelman AM, Lin WH, Osterhout DJ, Bennett MK, et al. (1990) Phosphorylation of smooth muscle myosin by type II Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. Mol Cell Biochem 97: 87–98.
- 95. Ellinsworth DC, Earley S, Murphy TV, et al. (2014) Endothelial control of vasodilation: Integration of myoendothelial microdomain signalling and modulation by epoxyeicosatrienoic acids. *Pflugers Arch* 466: 389–405.
- 96. Esfandiarei M, Fameli N, Choi YY, Tehrani AY, *et al.* (2013) Waves of calcium depletion in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of vascular smooth

muscle cells: An inside view of spatiotemporal Ca2+ regulation. *PLoS One* **8**: e55333.

- 97. Eto M. (2009) Regulation of cellular protein phosphatase-1 (PP1) by phosphorylation of the CPI-17 family, C-kinase-activated PP1 inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* **284**: 35273–35277.
- 98. Eto M, Kitazawa T, Yazawa M, Mukai H, *et al.* (2001) Histamineinduced vasoconstriction involves phosphorylation of a specific inhibitor protein for myosin phosphatase by protein kinase C alpha and delta isoforms. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 29072–29078.
- 99. Eungdamrong NJ and Iyengar R. (2004) Modeling cell signaling networks. *Biol Cell* 96: 355–362.
- Facemire CS and Arendshorst WJ. (2005) Calmodulin mediates norepinephrine-induced receptor-operated calcium entry in preglomerular resistance arteries. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 289: F127–136.
- 101. Feletou M and Vanhoutte PM. (2006) Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor: where are we now? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 26: 1215–1225.
- 102. Feletou M, Verbeuren TJ, and Vanhoutte PM. (2009) Endotheliumdependent contractions in SHR: A tale of prostanoid TP and IP receptors. *Br J Pharmacol* **156**: 563–574.
- 103. Feng J, Ito M, Kureishi Y, Ichikawa K, *et al.* (1999) Rho-associated kinase of chicken gizzard smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 274: 3744–3752.
- 104. Fernandez-Tenorio M, Porras-Gonzalez C, Castellano A, Del Valle-Rodriguez A, *et al.* (2011) Metabotropic regulation of rhoA/ rho-associated kinase by L-type Ca2+ channels: New mechanism for depolarization-evoked mammalian arterial contraction. *Circ Res* 108: 1348–1357.
- 105. Fievez S, Carlier MF, and Pantaloni D. (1997) Mechanism of myosin subfragment-1-induced assembly of CaG-actin and MgG-actin into F-actin-S1-decorated filaments. *Biochemistry* 36: 11843–11850.
- 106. Fisher SA. (2010) Vascular smooth muscle phenotypic diversity and function. *Physiol Genomics* **42A**: 169–187.
- 107. Fleming I and Busse R. (1999) NO: The primary EDRF. J Mol Cell Cardiol 31: 5–14.
- 108. Ford LE. (2005) Plasticity in airway smooth muscle: An update. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 83: 841–850.
- 109. Foster CJ, Johnston SA, Sunday B, and Gaeta FC. (1990) Potent peptide inhibitors of smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase: Mapping of the pseudosubstrate and calmodulin binding domains. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 280: 397–404.

- 110. Francis SH, Blount MA, Zoraghi R, and Corbin JD. (2005) Molecular properties of mammalian proteins that interact with cGMP: Protein kinases, cation channels, phosphodiesterases, and multi-drug anion transporters. *Front Biosci* **10**: 2097–2117.
- Frearson N, Focant BW, and Perry SV. (1976) Phosphorylation of a light chain component of myosin from smooth muscle. *FEBS Lett* 63: 27–32.
- 112. Frearson N and Perry SV. (1975) Phosphorylation of the light-chain components of myosin from cardiac and red skeletal muscles. *Biochem* J 151: 99–107.
- 113. Friebe A and Koesling D. (2009) The function of NO-sensitive guanylyl cyclase: What we can learn from genetic mouse models. *Nitric Oxide* **21**: 149–156.
- 114. Fujihara H, Walker LA, Gong MC, Lemichez E, *et al.* (1997) Inhibition of RhoA translocation and calcium sensitization by *in vitro* ADP-ribosylation with chimeric toxin DC3B. *Molec Biol Cell* **8**: 2437–2447.
- 115. Fukuizumi Y, Kobayashi S, Nishimura J, and Kanaide H. (1995) Cytosolic calcium concentration-force relation during contractions in the rabbit femoral artery: Time-dependency and stimulus specificity. *Br J Pharmacol* **114**: 329–338.
- 116. Furchgott RF. (1993) Introduction to EDRF research. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 22(Suppl 7): S1–2.
- 117. Furchgott RF. (1983) Role of endothelium in response of vascular smooth muscle. *Circ Res* 53: 557–573.
- 118. Gailly P, Gong MC, Somlyo AV, and Somlyo AP. (1997) Possible role of atypical protein kinase C activated by arachidonic acid in Ca2+ sensitization of rabbit smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **500**(Pt 1): 95–109.
- 119. Gallagher PJ and Herring BP. (1991) The carboxyl terminus of the smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase is expressed as an independent protein, telokin. *J Biol Chem* 266: 23945–23952.
- 120. Gallegos LL and Newton AC. (2008) Spatiotemporal dynamics of lipid signaling: Protein kinase C as a paradigm. *IUBMB Life* **60**: 782–789.
- 121. Gao YJ and Lee RM. (2005) Hydrogen peroxide is an endotheliumdependent contracting factor in rat renal artery. *Br J Pharmacol* 146: 1061–1068.
- 122. Gautel M. (2011) Cytoskeletal protein kinases: Titin and its relations in mechanosensing. *Pflugers Arch* **462**: 119–134.
- 123. Gayard M, Guilluy C, Rousselle A, Viollet B, *et al.* (2011) AMPK alpha 1-induced RhoA phosphorylation mediates vasoprotective effect of estradiol. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **31**: 2634–2642.

- 108 P. H. Ratz
- 124. Ghisdal P, Vandenberg G, and Morel N. (2003) Rho-dependent kinase is involved in agonist-activated calcium entry in rat arteries. *J Physiol* 551: 855–867.
- 125. Gilbert EK, Weaver BA, and Rembold CM. (1991) Depolarization decreases the [Ca2+]_i sensitivity of myosin light-chain kinase in arterial smooth muscle: Comparison of aequorin and fura 2 [Ca2+]_i estimates. *Faseb J* 5: 2593–2599.
- 126. Goeckeler ZM, Masaracchia RA, Zeng Q, Chew TL, *et al.* (2000) Phosphorylation of myosin light chain kinase by p21-activated kinase PAK2. *J Biol Chem* **275**: 18366–18374.
- 127. Goirand F, Solar M, Athea Y, Viollet B, *et al.* (2007) Activation of AMP kinase alphal subunit induces aortic vasorelaxation in mice. *J Physiol* **581**: 1163–1171.
- 128. Golenhofen K. (1976) Spontaneous activity and functional classification of mammalian smooth muscle. In: Shuba (ed). EBaMF, Physiology of Smooth Muscle, pp. 91–97. New York, Raven Press.
- Golub AS and Pittman RN. (2013) Bang-bang model for regulation of local blood flow. *Microcirculation* 20: 455–483.
- 130. Gong MC, Fuglsang A, Alessi D, Kobayashi S, *et al.* (1992) Arachidonic acid inhibits myosin light chain phosphatase and sensitizes smooth muscle to calcium. *J Biol Chem* **267**: 21492–21498.
- Gong MC, Fujihara H, Walker LA, Somlyo AV, et al. (1997) Downregulation of G-protein-mediated Ca2+ sensitization in smooth muscle. *Mol Biol Cell* 8: 279–286.
- 132. Gorenne I, Su X, and Moreland RS. (1998) Inhibition of p42 and p44 MAP kinase does not alter smooth muscle contraction in swine carotid artery. *Am J Physiol* 275: H131–H138.
- 133. Granzier H and Labeit S. (2007) Structure-function relations of the giant elastic protein titin in striated and smooth muscle cells. *Muscle & Nerve* 36: 740–755.
- 134. Grassie ME, Moffat LD, Walsh MP, and MacDonald JA. (2011) The myosin phosphatase targeting protein (MYPT) family: A regulated mechanism for achieving substrate specificity of the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase type 1 delta. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **510**: 147–159.
- 135. Greenberg MJ, Wang CL, Lehman W, and Moore JR. (2008) Modulation of actin mechanics by caldesmon and tropomyosin. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 65: 156–164.

- 136. Greenwald EC and Saucerman JJ. (2011) Bigger, better, faster: Principles and models of AKAP anchoring protein signaling. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 58: 462–469.
- 137. Greif DM, Kumar M, Lighthouse JK, Hum J, et al. Radial construction of an arterial wall. Dev Cell 23: 482–493.
- 138. Griffith TM. (2004) Endothelium-dependent smooth muscle hyperpolarization: Do gap junctions provide a unifying hypothesis? *British Journal of Pharmacology* 141: 881–903.
- 139. Gros R, Ding Q, Chorazyczewski J, Pickering JG, *et al.* (2006) Adenylyl cyclase isoform-selective regulation of vascular smooth muscle proliferation and cytoskeletal reorganization. *Circ Res* **99**: 845–852.
- 140. Gschwendt M, Furstenberger G, Leibersperger H, Kittstein W, *et al.* (1995) Lack of an effect of novel inhibitors with high specificity for protein kinase C on the action of the phorbol ester 12-O-tetradecanoyl-phorbol-13-acetate on mouse skin *in vivo. Carcinogenesis* 16: 107–111.
- 141. Guan R, Xu X, Chen M, Hu H, *et al.* (2013) Advances in the studies of roles of Rho/Rho-kinase in diseases and the development of its inhibitors. *Eur J Med Chem* 70: 613–622.
- 142. Gueguen M, Keuylian Z, Mateo V, Mougenot N, et al. (2010) Implication of adenylyl cyclase 8 in pathological smooth muscle cell migration occurring in rat and human vascular remodelling. J Pathol 221: 331–342.
- 143. Guibert C, Ducret T, and Savineau JP. (2008) Voltage-independent calcium influx in smooth muscle. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* **98**: 10–23.
- 144. Guilluy C, Bregeon J, Toumaniantz G, Rolli-Derkinderen M, et al. (2010) The Rho exchange factor Arhgef1 mediates the effects of angiotensin II on vascular tone and blood pressure. Nat Med 16: 183–190.
- 145. Guo B and Guilford WH. (2006) Mechanics of actomyosin bonds in different nucleotide states are tuned to muscle contraction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103: 9844–9849.
- 146. Guo H, Huang R, Semba S, Kordowska J, et al. (2013) Ablation of smooth muscle caldesmon affects the relaxation kinetics of arterial muscle. *Pflugers Arch* 465: 283–294.
- 147. Guo Z, Su W, Ma Z, Smith GM, *et al.* (2003) Ca2+-independent phospholipase A2 is required for agonist-induced Ca2+ sensitization of contraction in vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **278**: 1856–1863.

- 110 P. H. Ratz
- 148. Gurgis FM, Ziaziaris W, and Munoz L. (2014) Mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 in neuroinflammation, heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation, and cell cycle: Role and targeting. *Mol Pharmacol* 85: 345–356.
- 149. Haddock RE and Hill CE. (2005) Rhythmicity in arterial smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 566: 645–656.
- 150. Hai CM and Kim HR. (2004) An Expanded Latchbridge Model of Protein Kinase C-Mediated Smooth Muscle Contraction. J Appl Physiol 98: 1356–1365.
- 151. Hai CM and Murphy RA. (1992) Adenosine 5'-triphosphate consumption by smooth muscle as predicted by the coupled four-state crossbridge model. *Biophys J* 61: 530–541.
- 152. Hai CM and Murphy RA. (1988) Cross-bridge phosphorylation and regulation of latch state in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 254: C99–106.
- 153. Hai CM and Murphy RA. (1988) Regulation of shortening velocity by cross-bridge phosphorylation in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 255: C86–94.
- 154. Halling DB, Aracena-Parks P, and Hamilton SL. (2005) Regulation of voltage-gated Ca2+ channels by calmodulin. *Sci STKE* **2005**: re15.
- 155. Han SJ, Speich JE, Eddinger TJ, Berg KM, *et al.* Evidence for absence of latch-bridge formation in muscular saphenous arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **291**: H138–H146.
- 156. Hanna IR, Taniyama Y, Szocs K, Rocic P, *et al.* (2002) NAD(P)H oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species as mediators of angiotensin II signaling. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **4**: 899–914.
- 157. Hannigan GE, McDonald PC, Walsh MP, and Dedhar S. (2011) Integrinlinked kinase: Not so 'pseudo' after all. *Oncogene* **30**: 4375–4385.
- 158. Hanoune J and Defer N. (2001) Regulation and role of adenylyl cyclase isoforms. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **41**: 145–174.
- 159. Hardie DG. (2014) AMP-activated protein kinase: Maintaining energy homeostasis at the cellular and whole-body levels. *Annual review of nutrition* **34**: 31–55.
- 160. Hardie DG and Ashford ML. (2014) AMPK: Regulating energy balance at the cellular and whole body levels. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 29: 99–107.
- Hartshorne DJ, Ito M, and Erdodi F. (1998) Myosin light chain phosphatase: Subunit composition, interactions and regulation. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 19: 325–341.

- 162. Hartshorne DJ and Siemankowski RF. (1981) Regulation of smoothmuscle actomyosin. *Annual Review of Physiology* 43: 519–530.
- 163. Hartzell HC and Rinderknecht A. Calphostin C. (1996) A widely used protein kinase C inhibitor, directly and potently blocks L-type Ca channels. *Am J Physiol* 270: C1293–1299.
- 164. Haruki Y, Takatori S, Hattori S, Zamami Y, *et al.* (2012) Adrenergic stimulation-released histamine taken-up in adrenergic nerves induces endothelium-dependent vasodilation in rat mesenteric resistance arteries. *J Pharmacol Sci* **118**: 537–542.
- 165. Hashikawa-Hobara N, Hashikawa N, Zamami Y, Takatori S, *et al.* (2012) The mechanism of calcitonin gene-related peptide-containing nerve innervation. *J Pharmacol Sci* 119: 117–121.
- 166. Hassanain HH, Gregg D, Marcelo ML, Zweier JL, et al. (2007) Hypertension caused by transgenic overexpression of Rac1. Antioxid Redox Signal 9: 91–100.
- 167. Hayashida N, Okui K, and Fukuda Y. (1986) Mechanism of spontaneous rhythmic contraction in isolated rat large artery. *The Japanese Journal of Physiology* 36: 783–794.
- 168. He WQ, Peng YJ, Zhang WC, Lv N, et al. (2008) Myosin light chain kinase is central to smooth muscle contraction and required for gastrointestinal motility in mice. *Gastroenterology* 135: 610–620.
- 169. He WQ, Qiao YN, Zhang CH, Peng YJ, et al. (2011) Role of myosin light chain kinase in regulation of basal blood pressure and maintenance of salt-induced hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301: H584–591.
- 170. Hellsten Y, Nyberg M, Jensen LG, and Mortensen SP. (2012) Vasodilator interactions in skeletal muscle blood flow regulation. *J Physiol* **590**: 6297–6305.
- 171. Henning RJ and Sawmiller DR. (2001) Vasoactive intestinal peptide: Cardiovascular effects. *Cardiovasc Res* **49**: 27–37.
- 172. Herrera AM, McParland BE, Bienkowska A, Tait R, *et al.* (2005) 'Sarcomeres' of smooth muscle: Functional characteristics and ultrastructural evidence. *J Cell Sci* **118**: 2381–2392.
- 173. Herring BP, El-Mounayri O, Gallagher PJ, Yin F, *et al.* (2006) Regulation of myosin light chain kinase and telokin expression in smooth muscle tissues. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **291**: C817–827.
- 174. Hidalgo C and Granzier H. (2013) Tuning the molecular giant titin through phosphorylation: Role in health and disease. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **23**: 165–171.

- 112 P. H. Ratz
- 175. Hill CE, Eade J, and Sandow SL. (1999) Mechanisms underlying spontaneous rhythmical contractions in irideal arterioles of the rat. *J Physiol* **521**(Pt 2): 507–516.
- 176. Hill MA, Zou H, Potocnik SJ, Meininger GA, et al. (2001) Invited review: arteriolar smooth muscle mechanotransduction: Ca(2+) signaling pathways underlying myogenic reactivity. J Appl Physiol 91: 973–983.
- 177. Himpens B, Kitazawa T, and Somlyo AP. (1990) Agonist-dependent modulation of Ca2+ sensitivity in rabbit pulmonary artery smooth muscle. *Pflugers Archiv — European Journal of Physiology* 417: 21–28.
- 178. Hirai T and Chida K. (2003) Protein kinase Czeta (PKCzeta): Activation mechanisms and cellular functions. *J Biochem* (*Tokyo*) **133**: 1–7.
- 179. Hirano K. (2007) Current topics in the regulatory mechanism underlying the Ca2+ sensitization of the contractile apparatus in vascular smooth muscle. *J Pharmacol Sci* **104**: 109–115.
- 180. Hocking KM, Baudenbacher FJ, Putumbaka G, Venkatraman S, *et al.* (2013) Role of cyclic nucleotide-dependent actin cytoskeletal dynamics: Ca(2+)](i) and force suppression in forskolin-pretreated porcine coronary arteries. *PLoS One* 8: e60986.
- 181. Hofmann F, Flockerzi V, Kahl S, and Wegener JW. (2014) L-type CaV1.2 calcium channels: From *in vitro* findings to *in vivo* function. *Physiol Rev* **94**: 303–326.
- 182. Holinstat M, Mehta D, Kozasa T, Minshall RD, et al. (2003) Protein kinase Calpha-induced p115RhoGEF phosphorylation signals endothelial cytoskeletal rearrangement. J Biol Chem 278: 28793–28798.
- 183. Holzer P. (1992) Peptidergic sensory neurons in the control of vascular functions: Mechanisms and significance in the cutaneous and splanchnic vascular beds. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* 121: 49–146.
- 184. Hong F, Brizendine RK, Carter MS, Alcala DB, et al. (2015) Diffusion of myosin light chain kinase on actin: A mechanism to enhance myosin phosphorylation rates in smooth muscle. J Gen Physiol 146: 267–280.
- 185. Hong F, Facemyer KC, Carter MS, Jackson del R, *et al.* (2013) Kinetics of myosin light chain kinase activation of smooth muscle myosin in an *in vitro* model system. *Biochemistry* 52: 8489–8500.
- 186. Hong F, Haldeman BD, Jackson D, Carter M, et al. (2011) Biochemistry of smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase. Arch Biochem Biophys 510: 135–146.

- 187. Hong F, Haldeman BD, John OA, Brewer PD, et al. (2009) Characterization of tightly associated smooth muscle myosinmyosin light-chain kinase-calmodulin complexes. J Mol Biol 390: 879–892.
- 188. Hoque M, Rentero C, Cairns R, Tebar F, *et al.* (2014) Annexins scaffolds modulating PKC localization and signaling. *Cell Signal* 26: 1213–1225.
- 189. Horman S, Morel N, Vertommen D, Hussain N, et al. (2008) AMPactivated protein kinase phosphorylates and desensitizes smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase. J Biol Chem 283: 18505–18512.
- 190. Hu J, Chen T, Li M, He G, *et al.* (2007) Wide distribution and subcellular localization of histamine in sympathetic nervous systems of different species. *Neurosci Res* **59**: 231–236.
- 191. Hu ZW, Miller JW, and Hoffman BB. (1994) Induction of enhanced release of endothelium-derived relaxing factor after prolonged exposure to alpha-adrenergic agonists: Role in desensitization of smooth muscle contraction. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 23: 337–343.
- 192. Huang QQ, Fisher SA, and Brozovich FV. (2004) Unzipping the role of myosin light chain phosphatase in smooth muscle cell relaxation. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 597–603.
- 193. Hulvershorn J, Gallant C, Wang CA, Dessy C, et al. (2001) Calmodulin levels are dynamically regulated in living vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 280: H1422–1426.
- 194. Hung MJ, Hu P, and Hung MY. (2014) Coronary artery spasm: Review and update. Int J Med Sci 11: 1161–1171.
- 195. Hurley RL, Anderson KA, Franzone JM, Kemp BE, *et al.* (2005) The Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases are AMP-activated protein kinase kinases. *J Biol Chem* **280**: 29060–29066.
- 196. Ichikawa K, Hirano K, Ito M, Tanaka J, *et al.* (1996) Interactions and properties of smooth muscle myosin phosphatase. *Biochemistry* **35**: 6313–6320.
- 197. Ichikawa K, Ito M, and Hartshorne DJ. (1996) Phosphorylation of the large subunit of myosin phosphatase and inhibition of phosphatase activity. *J Biol Chem* 271: 4733–4740.
- 198. Iino M. (1990) Calcium release mechanisms in smooth muscle. Jpn J Pharmacol 54: 345–354.
- 199. Iino M, Kasai H, and Yamazawa T. (1994) Visualization of neural control of intracellular Ca2+ concentration in single vascular smooth muscle cells *in situ*. *EMBO J* 13: 5026–5031.

- 114 P. H. Ratz
- 200. Ikebe M and Hartshorne DJ. (1985) Phosphorylation of smooth muscle myosin at two distinct sites by myosin light chain kinase. *J Biol Chem* 260: 10027–10031.
- 201. Ikebe M, Hartshorne DJ, and Elzinga M. (1986) Identification, phosphorylation, and dephosphorylation of a second site for myosin light chain kinase on the 20,000-dalton light chain of smooth muscle myosin. *J Biol Chem* **261**: 36–39.
- 202. Ikebe M, Hartshorne DJ, and Elzinga M. (1987) Phosphorylation of the 20,000-dalton light chain of smooth muscle myosin by the calcium-activated, phospholipid-dependent protein kinase. Phosphorylation sites and effects of phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 262: 9569–9573.
- 203. Inoue R, Morita H, and Ito Y. (2004) Newly emerging Ca2+ entry channel molecules that regulate the vascular tone. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 8: 321–334.
- 204. Iorga B, Adamek N, and Geeves MA. (2007) The slow skeletal muscle isoform of myosin shows kinetic features common to smooth and nonmuscle myosins. *J Biol Chem* 282: 3559–3570.
- 205. Ishida Y, Riesinger I, Wallimann T, and Paul RJ. (1994) Compartmentation of ATP synthesis and utilization in smooth muscle: Roles of aerobic glycolysis and creatine kinase. *Mol Cell Biochem* 133–134: 39–50.
- 206. Ito M, Nakano T, Erdodi F, and Hartshorne DJ. (2004) Myosin phosphatase: structure, regulation and function. *Mol Cell Biochem* 259: 197–209.
- 207. Jarajapu YP and Knot HJ. (2005) Relative contribution of Rho kinase and protein kinase C to myogenic tone in rat cerebral arteries in hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 289: H1917–1922.
- 208. Jeyaraj SC, Unger NT, Eid AH, Mitra S, *et al.* (2012) Cyclic AMP-Rap1A signaling activates RhoA to induce alpha(2c)-adrenoceptor translocation to the cell surface of microvascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **303**: C499–511.
- 209. Jezior JR, Brady JD, Rosenstein DI, McCammon KA, *et al.* (2001) Dependency of detrusor contractions on calcium sensitization and calcium entry through LOE-908-sensitive channels. *Br J Pharmacol* 134: 78–87.
- 210. Jiang H, Colbran JL, Francis SH, and Corbin JD. (1992) Direct evidence for cross-activation of cGMP-dependent protein kinase by cAMP in pig coronary arteries. *J Biol Chem* **267**: 1015–1019.

- 211. Johansson B, Hellstrand P, and Uvelius B. (1978) Responses of smooth muscle to quick load change studied at high time resolution. *Blood Vessels* 15: 65–82.
- 212. Jones RL and Woodward DF. (2011) Interaction of prostanoid EP(3) and TP receptors in guinea-pig isolated aorta: Contractile self-synergism of 11-deoxy-16,16-dimethyl PGE(2). *Br J Pharmacol* **162**: 521–531.
- 213. Joyner MJ and Casey DP. (2014) Muscle blood flow, hypoxia, and hypoperfusion. J Appl Physiol (1985) 116: 852–857.
- 214. Joyner MJ and Wilkins BW. (2007) Exercise hyperaemia: Is anything obligatory but the hyperaemia? *J Physiol* **583**: 855–860.
- Julian L and Olson MF. (2014) Rho-associated coiled-coil containing kinases (ROCK): Structure, regulation, and functions. *Small GTPases* 5: e29846.
- 216. Kageyama K, Furukawa K, Miki I, Terui K, *et al.* (2003) Vasodilative effects of urocortin II via protein kinase A and a mitogen-activated protein kinase in rat thoracic aorta. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 42: 561–565.
- 217. Kajioka S, Nakayama S, McCoy R, McMurray G, et al. (2004) Inward current oscillation underlying tonic contraction caused via ETA receptors in pig detrusor smooth muscle. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 286: F77–85.
- 218. Kamisoyama H, Araki Y, and Ikebe M. (1994) Mutagenesis of the phosphorylation site (serine 19) of smooth muscle myosin regulatory light chain and its effects on the properties of myosin. *Biochemistry* **33**: 840–847.
- 219. Kamm KE and Stull JT. (2001) Dedicated myosin light chain kinases with diverse cellular functions. *J Biol Chem* 276: 4527–4530.
- 220. Kamm KE and Stull JT. (2011) Signaling to myosin regulatory light chain in sarcomeres. *J Biol Chem* **286**: 9941–9947.
- 221. Kandabashi T, Shimokawa H, Miyata K, Kunihiro I, *et al.* (2003) Evidence for protein kinase C-mediated activation of Rho-kinase in a porcine model of coronary artery spasm. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23: 2209–2214.
- 222. Karaki H. (1989) Ca²⁺ localization and sensitivity in vascular smooth muscle. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 10: 320–325.
- 223. Karaki H. (2004) Historical techniques: Cytosolic Ca2+ and contraction in smooth muscle. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 25: 388–393.
- 224. Karaki H, Ozaki H, Hori M, Mitsui-Saito M, *et al.* (1997) Calcium movements, distribution, and functions in smooth muscle. *Pharmacol Rev* **49**: 157–230.

- 116 P. H. Ratz
- 225. Karaman MW, Herrgard S, Treiber DK, Gallant P, et al. (2008) A quantitative analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity. Nat Biotechnol 26: 127–132.
- 226. Kasai Y, Yamazawa T, Sakurai T, Taketani Y *et al.* (1997) Endotheliumdependent frequency modulation of Ca2+ signalling in individual vascular smooth muscle cells of the rat. *J Physiol* **504**(Pt 2): 349–357.
- 227. Kawanabe Y, Nozaki K, Hashimoto N, and Masaki T. (2003) Characterization of Ca2+ channels and G proteins involved in arachidonic acid release by endothelin-1/endothelinA receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* **64**: 689–695.
- 228. Kawano Y, Fukata Y, Oshiro N, Amano M, *et al.* (1999) Phosphorylation of myosin-binding subunit (MBS) of myosin phosphatase by Rhokinase *in vivo*. J Cell Biol 147: 1023–1038.
- 229. Kawasaki H, Nuki C, Saito A, and Takasaki K. (1991) NPY modulates neurotransmission of CGRP-containing vasodilator nerves in rat mesenteric arteries. *Am J Physiol* **261**: H683–690.
- 230. Kawasaki H, Takasaki K, Saito A, and Goto K. (1988) Calcitonin generelated peptide acts as a novel vasodilator neurotransmitter in mesenteric resistance vessels of the rat. *Nature* **335**: 164–167.
- 231. Keane AM, Trayer IP, Levine BA, Zeugner C, *et al.* (1990) Peptide mimetics of an actin-binding site on myosin span two functional domains on actin. *Nature* **344**: 265–268.
- 232. Keef KD, Hume JR, and Zhong J. (2001) Regulation of cardiac and smooth muscle Ca(2+) channels (Ca(V)1.2a,b) by protein kinases. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **281**: C1743–1756.
- 233. Kemp BE, Parker MW, Hu S, Tiganis T, *et al.* (1994) Substrate and pseudosubstrate interactions with protein kinases: Determinants of specificity. *Trends Biochem Sci* 19: 440–444.
- 234. Kennedy C. (2015) ATP as a cotransmitter in the autonomic nervous system. *Auton Neurosci* 191: 2–15.
- 235. Khatri JJ, Joyce KM, Brozovich FV, and Fisher SA. (2001) Role of myosin phosphatase isoforms in cGMP-mediated smooth muscle relaxation. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 37250–37257.
- 236. Khromov A, Choudhury N, Stevenson AS, Somlyo AV, et al. (2009) Phosphorylation-dependent Autoinhibition of Myosin Light Chain Phosphatase Accounts for Ca2+ Sensitization Force of Smooth Muscle Contraction. J Biol Chem 284: 21569–21579.
- 237. Khromov AS, Momotani K, Jin L, Artamonov MV, et al. (2012) Molecular mechanism of telokin-mediated disinhibition of myosin

light chain phosphatase and cAMP/cGMP-induced relaxation of gastrointestinal smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **287**: 20975–20985.

- 238. Kim HR, Appel S, Vetterkind S, Gangopadhyay SS, *et al.* (2008) Smooth muscle signalling pathways in health and disease. *J Cell Mol Med* 12: 2165–2180.
- 239. Kim I, Je HD, Gallant C, Zhan Q, *et al.* (2000) Ca2+-calmodulindependent protein kinase II-dependent activation of contractility in ferret aorta. *J Physiol* **526**(Pt 2): 367–374.
- 240. Kim T, Gardel ML, and Munro E. (2014) Determinants of fluidlike behavior and effective viscosity in cross-linked actin networks. *Biophys* J 106: 526–534.
- 241. Kiss E, Muranyi A, Csortos C, Gergely P, *et al.* (2002) Integrin-linked kinase phosphorylates the myosin phosphatase target subunit at the inhibitory site in platelet cytoskeleton. *Biochem J* **365**: 79–87.
- 242. Kitazawa T, Eto M, Woodsome TP, and Khalequzzaman M. (2003) Phosphorylation of the myosin phosphatase targeting subunit and CPI-17 during Ca(2+) sensitization in rabbit smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **546**: 879–889.
- 243. Kitazawa T, Polzin AN, and Eto M. (2004) CPI-17-deficient smooth muscle of chicken. *J Physiol* 557: 515–528.
- 244. Klemke RL, Cai S, Giannini AL, Gallagher PJ, et al. (1997) Regulation of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. J Cell Biol 137: 481–492.
- 245. Ko EA, Han J, Jung ID, and Park WS. (2008) Physiological roles of K+ channels in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Smooth Muscle Res* 44: 65–81.
- 246. Kobayashi S, Kanaide H, and Nakamura M. (1986) Complete overlap of caffeine- and K+ depolarization-sensitive intracellular calcium storage site in cultured rat arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **261**: 15709–15713.
- 247. Kobe B, Heierhorst J, Feil SC, Parker MW, et al. (1996) Giant protein kinases: Domain interactions and structural basis of autoregulation. EMBO J 15: 6810–6821.
- 248. Kobe B and Kemp BE. (1999) Active site-directed protein regulation. *Nature* **402**: 373–376.
- 249. Koga Y and Ikebe M. (2008) A novel regulatory mechanism of myosin light chain phosphorylation via binding of 14-3-3 to myosin phosphatase. *Mol Biol Cell* 19: 1062–1071.

- 118 P. H. Ratz
- 250. Koga Y and Ikebe M. (2005) p116Rip decreases myosin II phosphorylation by activating myosin light chain phosphatase and by inactivating RhoA. *J Biol Chem* **280**: 4983–4991.
- 251. Komalavilas P, Shah PK, Jo H, and Lincoln TM. (1999) Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways by cyclic GMP and cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase in contractile vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 274: 34301–34309.
- 252. Komatsu S and Hosoya H. (1996) Phosphorylation by MAPKAP kinase 2 activates Mg(2+)-ATPase activity of myosin II. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 223: 741–745.
- 253. Komatsu S and Ikebe M. (2004) ZIP kinase is responsible for the phosphorylation of myosin II and necessary for cell motility in mammalian fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol* **165**: 243–254.
- 254. Korner PI, Oliver JR, Zhu JL, Gipps J *et al.* (1990) Autonomic, hormonal, and local circulatory effects of hemorrhage in conscious rabbits. *Am J Physiol* 258: H229–239.
- 255. Kulke M, Fujita-Becker S, Rostkova E, Neagoe C, *et al.* (2001) Interaction between PEVK-titin and actin filaments: Origin of a viscous force component in cardiac myofibrils. *Circ Res* **89**: 874–881.
- 256. Kurahashi K, Nishihashi T, Trandafir CC, Wang AM, *et al.* (2003) Diversity of endothelium-derived vasocontracting factors — arachidonic acid metabolites. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 24: 1065–1069.
- 257. Kureishi Y, Kobayashi S, Amano M, Kimura K, et al. (1997) Rhoassociated kinase directly induces smooth muscle contraction through myosin light chain phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 272: 12257–12260.
- 258. Lagaud G, Karicheti V, Knot HJ, Christ GJ et al. (2002) Inhibitors of gap junctions attenuate myogenic tone in cerebral arteries. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283: H2177–2186.
- 259. Lamont C, Vainorius E, and Wier WG. (2003) Purinergic and adrenergic Ca2+ transients during neurogenic contractions of rat mesenteric small arteries. *J Physiol* **549**: 801–808.
- 260. Large WA, Saleh SN, and Albert AP. (2009) Role of phosphoinositol 4,5-bisphosphate and diacylglycerol in regulating native TRPC channel proteins in vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium* 45: 574–582.
- 261. Ledoux J, Werner ME, Brayden JE, and Nelson MT. (2006) Calciumactivated potassium channels and the regulation of vascular tone. *Physiology (Bethesda)* **21**: 69–78.

- 262. Ledvora RF, Barany K, VanderMeulen DL, Barron JT, *et al.* (1983) Stretch-induced phosphorylation of the 20,000-dalton light chain of myosin in arterial smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 258: 14080–14083.
- 263. Lee CH, Poburko D, Kuo KH, Seow CY, *et al.* (2002) Ca(2+) oscillations, gradients, and homeostasis in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **282**: H1571–1583.
- 264. Lee JH, Palaia T, and Ragolia L. (2012) Impaired insulin-stimulated myosin phosphatase Rho-interacting protein signaling in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **302**: C1371–1381.
- 265. Lee KY and Choi HC. (2013) Acetylcholine-induced AMP-activated protein kinase activation attenuates vasoconstriction through an LKB1dependent mechanism in rat aorta. *Vascul Pharmacol* 59: 96–102.
- 266. Lee MW and Severson DL. (1994) Signal transduction in vascular smooth muscle: Diacylglycerol second messengers and PKC action. *Am J Physiol* 267: C659–678.
- 267. Lee TS, Karl R, Moosmang S, Lenhardt P, *et al.* (2006) Calmodulin kinase II is involved in voltage-dependent facilitation of the L-type Cav1.2 calcium channel: Identification of the phosphorylation sites. *J Biol Chem* **281**: 25560–25567.
- 268. Leff P. (1987) An analysis of amplifying and potentiating interactions between agonists. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 243: 1035–1042.
- 269. Leite R and Webb RC. (1998) Microtubule disruption potentiates phenylephrine-induced vasoconstriction in rat mesenteric arterial bed. *Eur J Pharmacol* **351**: R1–3.
- 270. Leung FP, Yung LM, Yao X, Laher I, *et al.* (2008) Store-operated calcium entry in vascular smooth muscle. *Br J Pharmacol* 153: 846–857.
- 271. Leung YK, Du J, Huang Y, and Yao X. (2010) Cyclic nucleotide-gated channels contribute to thromboxane A2-induced contraction of rat small mesenteric arteries. *PLoS One* **5**: e11098.
- 272. Lincoln TM, Cornwell TL, and Taylor AE. (1990) cGMP-dependent protein kinase mediates the reduction of Ca2+ by cAMP in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol* 258: C399–407.
- 273. Lincoln TM, Dey N, and Sellak H. (2001) Invited review: cGMPdependent protein kinase signaling mechanisms in smooth muscle: From the regulation of tone to gene expression. *J Appl Physiol* **91**: 1421–1430.

- 120 P. H. Ratz
- 274. Linke WA and Hamdani N. (2014) Gigantic business: Titin properties and function through thick and thin. *Circ Res* **114**: 1052–1068.
- 275. Lipez-Miranda V, Herradon E, and Martin MI. (2008) Vasorelaxation caused by cannabinoids: Mechanisms in different vascular beds. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* 6: 335–346.
- 276. Liu BP and Burridge K. (2000) Vav2 activates Rac1, Cdc42, and RhoA downstream from growth factor receptors but not beta1 integrins. *Mol Cell Biol* **20**: 7160–7169.
- 277. Liu JC, Rottler J, Wang L, Zhang J, et al. (2013) Myosin filaments in smooth muscle cells do not have a constant length. J Physiol 591: 5867–5878, 2013.
- Loirand G, Guilluy C, and Pacaud P. (2006) Regulation of Rho proteins by phosphorylation in the cardiovascular system. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 16: 199–204.
- 279. Lubomirov LT, Reimann K, Metzler D, Hasse V, et al. (2006) Urocortin-induced decrease in Ca2+ sensitivity of contraction in mouse tail arteries is attributable to cAMP-dependent dephosphorylation of MYPT1 and activation of myosin light chain phosphatase. Circ Res 98: 1159–1167.
- 280. Lucchesi PA, Belmadani S, and Matrougui K. (2005) Hydrogen peroxide acts as both vasodilator and vasoconstrictor in the control of perfused mouse mesenteric resistance arteries. J Hypertens 23: 571–579.
- 281. MacDonald JA, Borman MA, Muranyi A, Somlyo AV, *et al.* (2001) Identification of the endogenous smooth muscle myosin phosphataseassociated kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* **98**: 2419–2424.
- 282. MacDonald JA, Moffat LD, Al-Ghabkari A, Sutherland C et al. (2013) Prostate-apoptosis response-4 phosphorylation in vascular smooth muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys 535: 84–90.
- 283. Maekawa M, Ishizaki T, Boku S, Watanabe N, *et al.* (1999) Signaling from Rho to the actin cytoskeleton through protein kinases ROCK and LIM-kinase. *Science* **285**: 895–898.
- 284. Manetti F. (2012) LIM kinases are attractive targets with many macromolecular partners and only a few small molecule regulators. *Med Res Rev* 32: 968–998.
- 285. Manning G, Whyte DB, Martinez R, Hunter T, *et al.* (2002) The protein kinase complement of the human genome. *Science* 298: 1912–1934.
- 286. Marganski WA, Gangopadhyay SS, Je HD, Gallant C, et al. (2005) Targeting of a novel Ca+2/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II is

essential for extracellular signal-regulated kinase-mediated signaling in differentiated smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **97**: 541–549.

- 287. Martel G, Hamet P, and Tremblay J. (2010) Central role of guanylyl cyclase in natriuretic peptide signaling in hypertension and metabolic syndrome. *Mol Cell Biochem* **334**: 53–65.
- 288. Martinez-Lemus LA, Hill MA, and Meininger GA. (2009) The plastic nature of the vascular wall: A continuum of remodeling events contributing to control of arteriolar diameter and structure. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*) 24: 45–57.
- Martinka P, Lai EY, Fahling M, Jankowski V, *et al.* (2008) Adenosine increases calcium sensitivity via receptor-independent activation of the p38/MK2 pathway in mesenteric arteries. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* 193: 37–46.
- 290. Martinsen A, Baeyens N, Yerna X, and Morel N. (2012) Rho kinase regulation of vasopressin-induced calcium entry in vascular smooth muscle cell: Comparison between rat isolated aorta and cultured aortic cells. *Cell Calcium* **52**: 413–421.
- 291. Martinsen A, Dessy C, and Morel N. (2014) Regulation of calcium channels in smooth muscle: New insights into the role of myosin light chain kinase. *Channels (Austin)* **8**: 402–413.
- 292. Martiny-Baron G, Kazanietz MG, Mischak H, Blumberg PM, *et al.* (1993) Selective inhibition of protein kinase C isozymes by the indolocarbazole Go 6976. *J Biol Chem* **268**: 9194–9197.
- 293. Masaki T and Sawamura T. (2006) Endothelin and endothelial dysfunction. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci* 82: 17–24.
- 294. McFadzean I and Gibson A. (2002) The developing relationship between receptor-operated and store-operated calcium channels in smooth muscle. *Br J Pharmacol* 135: 1–13.
- 295. Miao CY and Li ZY. (2012) The role of perivascular adipose tissue in vascular smooth muscle cell growth. *Br J Pharmacol* 165: 643–658.
- 296. Mills RD, Mita M, Nakagawa J, Shoji M, *et al.* (2015) A role for the tyrosine kinase Pyk2 in depolarization-induced contraction of vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **290**: 8677–8692.
- 297. Mills RD, Mita M, and Walsh MP. (2015) A role for the Ca(2+)dependent tyrosine kinase Pyk2 in tonic depolarization-induced vascular smooth muscle contraction. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 36: 479–489.
- 298. Miriel VA, Mauban JR, Blaustein MP, and Wier WG. (1999) Local and cellular Ca2+ transients in smooth muscle of pressurized rat resistance

arteries during myogenic and agonist stimulation. *J Physiol* **518**(Pt 3): 815–824.

- 299. Mita M, Yanagihara H, Hishinuma S, Saito M, *et al.* (2002) Membrane depolarization-induced contraction of rat caudal arterial smooth muscle involves Rho-associated kinase. *Biochem J* **364**: 431–440.
- 300. Miyagi Y, Kobayashi S, Nishimura J, Fukui M, *et al.* (1995) Resting load regulates vascular sensitivity by a cytosolic Ca(2+)-insensitive mechanism. *Am J Physiol* **268**: C1332–1341.
- 301. Miyano K, Ueno N, Takeya R, and Sumimoto H. (2006) Direct involvement of the small GTPase Rac in activation of the superoxide-producing NADPH oxidase Nox1. J Biol Chem 281: 21857-21868.
- 302. Mochly-Rosen D, Das K, and Grimes KV. (2012) Protein kinase C, an elusive therapeutic target? *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 11: 937–957.
- 303. Monahan-Earley R, Dvorak AM, and Aird WC. (2013) Evolutionary origins of the blood vascular system and endothelium. J Thromb Haemost 11(Suppl 1): 46–66.
- 304. Moon SH, Jenkins CM, Mancuso DJ, Turk J, et al. (2008) Smooth muscle cell arachidonic acid release, migration, and proliferation are markedly attenuated in mice null for calcium-independent phospholipase A2beta. J Biol Chem 283: 33975–33987.
- 305. Moosmang S, Schulla V, Welling A, Feil R, *et al.* (2003) Dominant role of smooth muscle L-type calcium channel Cav1.2 for blood pressure regulation. *Embo J* 22: 6027–6034.
- 306. Moreno-Dominguez A, Colinas O, El-Yazbi A, Walsh EJ, *et al.* (2013) Ca2+ sensitization due to myosin light chain phosphatase inhibition and cytoskeletal reorganization in the myogenic response of skeletal muscle resistance arteries. *J Physiol* **591**: 1235–1250.
- 307. Moreno-Dominguez A, El-Yazbi AF, Zhu HL, Colinas O, *et al.* (2014) Cytoskeletal reorganization evoked by Rho-associated kinaseand protein kinase C-catalyzed phosphorylation of cofilin and heat shock protein 27, respectively, contributes to myogenic constriction of rat cerebral arteries. *J Biol Chem* 289: 20939–20952.
- 308. Morgan JP and Morgan KG. (1984) Alteration of cytoplasmic ionized calcium levels in smooth muscle by vasodilators in the ferret. *J Physiol* 357: 539–551.
- 309. Morgan JP and Morgan KG. (1982) Vascular smooth muscle: The first recorded Ca2+ transients. *Pflugers Archiv — European Journal of Physiology* 395: 75–77.

- 310. Morgan KG and Gangopadhyay SS. (2001) Invited review: Crossbridge regulation by thin filament-associated proteins. *J Appl Physiol* **91**: 953–962.
- Morgan KG and Leinweber BD. (1998) PKC-dependent signalling mechanisms in differentiated smooth muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand* 164: 495–505.
- 312. Mori K, Amano M, Takefuji M, Kato K, *et al.* (2009) Rho-kinase contributes to sustained RhoA activation through phosphorylation of p190A RhoGAP. *J Biol Chem* **284**: 5067–5076.
- 313. Moscat J and Diaz-Meco MT. (2000) The atypical protein kinase Cs. Functional specificity mediated by specific protein adapters. *EMBO Rep* 1: 399–403.
- 314. Motawea HK, Jeyaraj SC, Eid AH, Mitra S, *et al.* (2013) Cyclic AMP-Rap1A signaling mediates cell surface translocation of microvascular smooth muscle alpha2C-adrenoceptors through the actin-binding protein filamin-2. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **305**: C829–845.
- 315. Mulder J, Ariaens A, van den Boomen D, and Moolenaar WH. (2004) p116Rip targets myosin phosphatase to the actin cytoskeleton and is essential for RhoA/ROCK-regulated neuritogenesis. *Mol Biol Cell* **15**: 5516–5527.
- 316. Mulder J, Ariaens A, van Horck FP, and Moolenaar WH. (2005) Inhibition of RhoA-mediated SRF activation by p116Rip. *FEBS Lett* **579**: 6121–6127.
- 317. Mulder J, Poland M, Gebbink MF, Calafat J, et al. (2003) p116Rip is a novel filamentous actin-binding protein. J Biol Chem 278: 27216–27223.
- 318. Mulligan-Kehoe MJ and Simons M. (2014) Vasa vasorum in normal and diseased arteries. *Circulation* **129**: 2557–2566.
- 319. Mulvany MJ and Aalkjaer C. (1990) Structure and function of small arteries. *Physiol Rev* 70: 921–961.
- 320. Munevar S, Gangopadhyay SS, Gallant C, Colombo B, *et al.* (2008) CaMKIIT287 and T305 regulate history-dependent increases in alpha agonist-induced vascular tone. *J Cell Mol Med* **12**: 219–226.
- 321. Muranyi A, Derkach D, Erdodi F, Kiss A, *et al.* (2005) Phosphorylation of Thr695 and Thr850 on the myosin phosphatase target subunit: Inhibitory effects and occurrence in A7r5 cells. *FEBS Letters* **579**: 6611–6615.

- 124 P. H. Ratz
- 322. Muranyi A, Zhang R, Liu F, Hirano K, *et al.* (2001) Myotonic dystrophy protein kinase phosphorylates the myosin phosphatase targeting subunit and inhibits myosin phosphatase activity. *FEBS Lett* **493**: 80–84.
- 323. Murphy RA. (1980) Mechanics of Vascular Smooth Muscle. In: Bohr DF. (ed). *Handbook of Physiology: The Cardiovascular System*, pp. 325–351, American Physiological Society.
- 324. Murphy RA. (1988) Muscle Cells of Hollow Organs. News in physiological sciences: An international journal of physiology produced jointly by the International Union of Physiological Sciences and the American Physiological Society 3: 124–128.
- 325. Muthalif MM, Benter IF, Uddin MR, and Malik KU. (1996) Calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IIalpha mediates activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase and cytosolic phospholipase A2 in norepinephrine-induced arachidonic acid release in rabbit aortic smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* 271: 30149–30157.
- 326. Muthuchamy M, Gashev A, Boswell N, Dawson N, *et al.* (2003) Molecular and functional analyses of the contractile apparatus in lymphatic muscle. *FASEB J* 17: 920–922.
- 327. Nakamura K, Koga Y, Sakai H, Homma K, *et al.* (2007) cGMPdependent relaxation of smooth muscle is coupled with the change in the phosphorylation of myosin phosphatase. *Circ Res* **101**: 712–722.
- 328. Napetschnig J and Wu H. (2013) Molecular basis of NF-kappaB signaling. *Annu Rev Biophys* **42**: 443–468.
- 329. Narumiya S, Tanji M, and Ishizaki T. (2009) Rho signaling, ROCK and mDia1, in transformation, metastasis and invasion. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 28: 65–76.
- 330. Navedo MF and Amberg GC. (2013) Local regulation of L-type Ca(2)(+) channel sparklets in arterial smooth muscle. *Microcirculation* 20: 290–298.
- 331. Navedo MF, Amberg GC, Votaw VS, and Santana LF. (2005) Constitutively active L-type Ca2+ channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **102**: 11112–11117.
- 332. Neylon CB, Hoyland J, Mason WT, and Irvine RF. (1990) Spatial dynamics of intracellular calcium in agonist-stimulated vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol* **259**: C675–686.
- 333. Niiro N and Ikebe M. (2001) Zipper-interacting protein kinase induces Ca²⁺-free smooth muscle contraction *via* myosin light chain phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 29567–29574.

- 334. Nilsson H and Aalkjaer C. (2003) Vasomotion: Mechanisms and physiological importance. *Mol Interv* **3**: 79–89, 51.
- 335. Nishikawa M, Hidaka H, and Adelstein RS. (1983) Phosphorylation of smooth muscle heavy meromyosin by calcium-activated, phospholipiddependent protein kinase. The effect on actin-activated MgATPase activity. *J Biol Chem* 258: 14069–14072.
- 336. Nixon GF, Iizuka K, Haystead CMM, Haystead TAJ, *et al.* (1995) Phosphorylation of caldesmon by mitogen-activated protein kinase with no effect on Ca²⁺ sensitivity in rabbit smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 487: 283–289.
- 337. Nobe K and Paul RJ. (2001) Distinct pathways of Ca(2+) sensitization in porcine coronary artery: Effects of Rho-related kinase and protein kinase C inhibition on force and intracellular Ca(2+). *Circ Res* 88: 1283–1290.
- 338. Nowicki PT, Flavahan S, Hassanain H, Mitra S, *et al.* (2001) Redox signaling of the arteriolar myogenic response. *Circ Res* 89: 114–116.
- 339. Nyitrai M and Geeves MA. (2004) Adenosine diphosphate and strain sensitivity in myosin motors. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **359**: 1867–1877.
- 340. Obara K, Hata S, Sato K, Koide M, *et al.* (1999) Contractile potentiation by endothelin-1 involves protein kinase C-delta activity in the porcine coronary artery. *Jpn J Physiol* **49**: 175–183.
- 341. Obara K, Ito Y, Shimada H, and Nakayama K. (2008) The relaxant effect of okadaic acid on canine basilar artery involves activation of PKCalpha and phosphorylation of the myosin light chain at Thr-9. *Eur J Pharmacol* **598**: 87–93.
- 342. Obara K, Uchino M, Koide M, Yamanaka A, *et al.* (2006) Stretchinduced triphosphorylation of myosin light chain and myogenic tone in canine basilar artery. *Eur J Pharmacol* **534**: 141–151.
- 343. Obara K, Ukai K, and Ishikawa T. (2011) Mechanism of potentiation by tea epigallocatechin of contraction in porcine coronary artery: The role of protein kinase Cdelta-mediated CPI-17 phosphorylation. *Eur J Pharmacol* **668**: 414–418.
- 344. Offermanns S. (2003) G-proteins as transducers in transmembrane signalling. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* 83: 101–130.
- 345. Ohanian V, Ohanian J, Shaw L, Scarth S, *et al.* (1996) Identification of protein kinase C isoforms in rat mesenteric small arteries and their possible role in agonist-induced contraction. *Circ Res* **78**: 806–812.

- 126 P. H. Ratz
- 346. Oishi A, Makita N, Sato J, and Iiri T. (2012) Regulation of RhoA signaling by the cAMP-dependent phosphorylation of RhoGDIalpha. *J Biol Chem* 287: 38705–38715.
- 347. Olsen JV, Blagoev B, Gnad F, Macek B, *et al.* (2006) Global, *in vivo*, and site-specific phosphorylation dynamics in signaling networks. *Cell* **127**: 635–648.
- 348. Omote M and Mizusawa H. (1995) Endothelium-dependent rhythmic contractions induced by cyclopiazonic acid, a sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-pump inhibitor, in the rabbit femoral artery. *Acta Physiol Scand* 154: 113–119.
- 349. Omote M and Mizusawa H. (1993) Phenylephrine-induced rhythmic activity in the rabbit ear artery. *Jpn J Physiol* **43**: 511–520.
- 350. Omote M and Mizusawa H. (1996) Rhythmic relaxations of active tension in the rabbit large arteries induced by a combination of cyclopiazonic acid and Bay K 8644. *Br J Pharmacol* **118**: 233–236.
- 351. Omote M and Mizusawa H. (1993) The role of sarcoplasmic reticulum in endothelium-dependent and endothelium-independent rhythmic contractions in the rabbit mesenteric artery. *Acta Physiol Scand* **149**: 15–21.
- 352. Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV, and Chistiakov DA. (2014) The complexity of cell composition of the intima of large arteries: Focus on pericyte-like cells. *Cardiovasc Res* **103**: 438–451.
- 353. Osher E, Weisinger G, Limor R, Tordjman K, *et al.* (2006) The 5 lipoxygenase system in the vasculature: Emerging role in health and disease. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* **252**: 201–206.
- 354. Otto B, Steusloff A, Just I, Aktories K, and *et al.* (1996) Role of Rho proteins in carbachol-induced contractions in intact and permeabilized guinea-pig intestinal smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **496**: 317–329.
- 355. Ozaki H, Sato K, Sakata K, and Karaki H. (1989) Endothelin dissociates muscle tension from cytosolic Ca2+ in vascular smooth muscle of rat carotid artery. *Jpn J Pharmacol* **50**: 521–524.
- 356. Ozen G, Topal G, Gomez I, Ghorreshi A, *et al.* (2013) Control of human vascular tone by prostanoids derived from perivascular adipose tissue. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* **107**: 13–17.
- 357. Pang H, Guo Z, Su W, Xie Z, *et al.* (2005) RhoA-Rho kinase pathway mediates thrombin- and U-46619-induced phosphorylation of a myosin phosphatase inhibitor, CPI-17, in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **289**: C352–360.

- 358. Payne MC, Zhang HY, Prosdocimo T, Joyce KM, *et al.* (2006) Myosin phosphatase isoform switching in vascular smooth muscle development. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **40**: 274–282.
- 359. Payne MC, Zhang HY, Shirasawa Y, Koga Y, et al. (2004) Dynamic changes in expression of myosin phosphatase in a model of portal hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 286: H1801– H1810.
- 360. Pearce LR, Komander D, and Alessi DR. (2010) The nuts and bolts of AGC protein kinases. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 11: 9–22.
- 361. Pearson RB, Jakes R, John M, Kendrick-Jones J, *et al.* (1984) Phosphorylation site sequence of smooth muscle myosin light chain (Mr = 20,000). *FEBS Lett* **168**: 108–112.
- 362. Pelligrino DA and Wang Q. (1998) Cyclic nucleotide crosstalk and the regulation of cerebral vasodilation. *Prog Neurobiol* **56**: 1–18.
- 363. Persechini A and Stemmer PM. (2002) Calmodulin is a limiting factor in the cell. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 12: 32–37.
- 364. Pfister SL, Gauthier KM, and Campbell WB. (2010) Vascular pharmacology of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids. *Adv Pharmacol* **60**: 27–59.
- 365. Pfitzer G. (2001) Invited review: Regulation of myosin phosphorylation in smooth muscle. *J Appl Physiol* **91**: 497–503.
- 366. Pfitzer G, Lubomirov LT, Reimann K, Gagov H, et al. (2006) Regulation of the crossbridge cycle in vascular smooth muscle by cAMP signalling. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 27: 445–454.
- 367. Phair RD and Hai CM. (1986) Resolution of intracellular calcium metabolism in intact segments of rabbit aorta. *Circ Res* **59**: 74–84.
- 368. Piper AS and Large WA. (2004) Direct effect of Ca2+-calmodulin on cGMP-activated Ca2+-dependent Cl-channels in rat mesenteric artery myocytes. J Physiol 559: 449–457.
- 369. Pires E, Perry SV, and Thomas MA. (1974) Myosin light chain kinase, a new enzyme from striated muscle. *FEBS Lett* **41**: 292–296.
- Pittman RN. (2005) Oxygen transport and exchange in the microcirculation. *Microcirculation* 12: 59–70.
- 371. Platts SH, Falcone JC, Holton WT, et al. (1999) Alteration of microtubule polymerization modulates arteriolar vasomotor tone. Am J Physiol 277: H100–106.
- 372. Platts SH, Martinez-Lemus LA, and Meininger GA. (2002) Microtubule-dependent regulation of vasomotor tone requires Rhokinase. J Vasc Res 39: 173–182.

- 128 P. H. Ratz
- 373. Poburko D, Kuo KH, Dai J, Lee CH, et al. (2004) Organellar junctions promote targeted Ca2+ signaling in smooth muscle: Why two membranes are better than one. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25: 8–15.
- 374. Poburko D, Lhote P, Szado T, Behra T, *et al.* (2004) Basal calcium entry in vascular smooth muscle. *Eur J Pharmacol* **505**: 19–29.
- 375. Poley RN, Dosier CR, Speich JE, Miner AS, *et al.* (2008) Stimulated calcium entry and constitutive RhoA kinase activity cause stretch-induced detrusor contraction. *Eur J Pharmacol* **599**: 137–145.
- 376. Pollard TD, Earnshaw WC, Lippincott-Schwartz J, et al. (2008) Cell biology. Saunders/Elsevier: Philadelphia.
- 377. Porter M, Evans MC, Miner AS, Berg KM, et al. (2006) Convergence of Calcium Desensitizing Mechanisms Activated by Forskolin and Phenylephrine Pretreatment, But Not 8-bromo-cGMP. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290: C1552–1559.
- 378. Postnov DE, Neganova AY, Sosnovtseva OV, Holstein-Rathlou NH, *et al.* (2015) Conducted vasoreactivity: The dynamical point of view. *Bull Math Biol* 77: 230–249.
- 379. Price JM, Davis DL, and Knauss EB. (1983) Length-dependent sensitivity at lengths greater than Lmax in vascular smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 245: H379–384.
- 380. Price JM, Davis DL, and Knauss EB. (1981) Length-dependent sensitivity in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* **241**: H557–563.
- 381. Pries AR and Secomb TW. (2014) Making microvascular networks work: Angiogenesis, remodeling, and pruning. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 29: 446–455.
- Puetz S, Lubomirov LT, and Pfitzer G. (2009) Regulation of smooth muscle contraction by small GTPases. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 24: 342–356.
- 383. Qiao YN, He WQ, Chen CP, Zhang CH, *et al.* (2014) Myosin phosphatase target subunit 1 (MYPT1) regulates the contraction and relaxation of vascular smooth muscle and maintains blood pressure. *J Biol Chem* **289**: 22512–22523.
- 384. Rahman A, Davis B, Lovdahl C, Hanumaiah VT, et al. (2014) The small GTPase Rac1 is required for smooth muscle contraction. J Physiol 592: 915–926.
- 385. Rahman MA, Senga T, Ito S, Hyodo T, *et al.* (2010) S-nitrosylation at cysteine 498 of c-Src tyrosine kinase regulates nitric oxide-mediated cell invasion. *J Biol Chem* 285: 3806–3814.

- 386. Ramos E, Wysolmerski RB, and Masaracchia RA. (1997) Myosin phosphorylation by human cdc42-dependent S6/H4 kinase/gammaPAK from placenta and lymphoid cells. *Recept Signal Transduct* 7: 99–110.
- Ratz PH. (1999) Dependence of Ca²⁺ sensitivity of arterial contractions on history of receptor activation. *Am J Physiol* 277: H1661–H1668.
- 388. Ratz PH. (1990) Effect of the kinase inhibitor, H-7, on stress, crossbridge phosphorylation, muscle shortening and inositol phosphate production in rabbit arteries. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **252**: 253–259.
- 389. Ratz PH. (2013) Inhibitor kappaB Kinase: Another Node in the Cell Signaling Network Regulating Smooth Muscle Contraction. *Circ Res* 113: 484–486.
- 390. Ratz PH. (2016) Mechanics of Vascular Smooth Muscle. Compr Physiol 6: 111–168.
- 391. Ratz PH. (1995) Receptor activation induces short-term modulation of arterial contractions: Memory in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* **269**: C417–C423.
- 392. Ratz PH. (2001) Regulation of ERK phosphorylation in differentiated arterial muscle of the rabbit. *Am J Physiol* **281**: H114–H123.
- 393. Ratz PH and Berg KM. (2006) 2-Aminoethoxydiphenyl borate inhibits KCl-induced vascular smooth muscle contraction. *Eur J Pharmacol* 541: 177–183.
- 394. Ratz PH, Berg KM, Urban NH, and Miner AS. (2005) Regulation of smooth muscle calcium sensitivity: KCl as a calcium-sensitizing stimulus. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 288: C769–783.
- 395. Ratz PH and Blackmore PF. (1990) Differential activation of rabbit femoral arteries by aluminum fluoride and sodium fluoride. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **254**: 514–520.
- 396. Ratz PH and Flaim SF. (1984) Mechanism of 5-HT contraction in isolated bovine ventricular coronary arteries. Evidence for transient receptor-operated calcium influx channels. *Circ Res* 54: 135–143.
- 397. Ratz PH, Hai C-M, and Murphy RA. (1989) Dependence of stress on cross-bridge phosphorylation in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 256: C96–C100.
- 398. Ratz PH and Lattanzio FA, Jr. (1992) L-type Ca²⁺ channel desensitization by F¹- reduces PhE-induced increase in [Ca²⁺]_i but not stress. Am J Physiol 262: C621–C627.
- 399. Ratz PH, Lattanzio JFA, and Salomonsky P-M. (1995) Memory of arterial receptor activation involves reduced [Ca²⁺]_i and desensitization of cross bridges to [Ca²⁺]_i. *Am J Physiol* **269**: C1402–C1407.

- 130 P. H. Ratz
- 400. Ratz PH and Miner AS. (2003) Length-dependent regulation of basal myosin phosphorylation and force in detrusor smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **284**: R1063–R1070.
- 401. Ratz PH and Miner AS. (2009) Role of protein kinase Czeta and calcium entry in KCl-induced vascular smooth muscle calcium sensitization and feedback control of cellular calcium levels. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 328: 399–408.
- 402. Ratz PH, Miner AS, and Barbour SE. (2009) Calcium-independent phospholipase A2 participates in KCl-induced calcium sensitization of vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium* **46**: 65–72.
- 403. Ratz PH and Murphy RA. (1987) Contributions of intracellular and extracellular Ca²⁺ pools to activation of myosin phosphorylation and stress in swine carotid media. *Circ Res* **60**: 410–421.
- 404. Ratz PH, Salomonsky PM, and Lattanzio FA, Jr. (1996) Memory of previous receptor activation induces a delay in Ca2+ mobilization and decreases the [Ca2+]i sensitivity of arterial contractions. *J Vasc Res* 33: 489–498.
- 405. Ratz PH and Speich JE. (2010) Evidence that actomyosin cross bridges contribute to "passive" tension in detrusor smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 298: F1424–1435.
- 406. Reho JJ, Zheng X, Benjamin JE, and Fisher SA. (2014) Neural programming of mesenteric and renal arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **307**: H563–573.
- 407. Rembold CM and Murphy RA. (1990) Latch-bridge model in smooth muscle: [Ca2+]i can quantitatively predict stress. *Am J Physiol* 259: C251–257.
- 408. Rembold CM, O'Connor M, Clarkson M, Wardle RL, *et al.* (2001) Selected contribution: HSP20 phosphorylation in nitroglycerin- and forskolin-induced sustained reductions in swine carotid media tone. *J Appl Physiol* **91**: 1460–1466.
- 409. Rembold CM, Tejani AD, Ripley ML, and Han S. (2007) Paxillin phosphorylation, actin polymerization, noise temperature, and the sustained phase of swine carotid artery contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 293: C993–1002.
- 410. Rembold CM, Wardle RL, Wingard CJ, Batts TW, et al. (2004) Cooperative attachment of cross bridges predicts regulation of smooth muscle force by myosin phosphorylation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287: C594–602.

- 411. Ren C, Zhang J, Philipson KD, Kotlikoff MI, et al. (2010) Activation of L-type Ca2+ channels by protein kinase C is reduced in smooth muscle-specific Na+/Ca2+ exchanger knockout mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 298: H1484–1491.
- 412. Resta TC, Broughton BR, and Jernigan NL. (2010) Reactive oxygen species and RhoA signaling in vascular smooth muscle: Role in chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 661: 355–373.
- 413. Rhodin JAG. (1980) Architecture of the vessel wall. In: Bohr DF. (ed). Handbook of Physiology: The Cardiovascular System, pp. 1–31. American Physiological Society: ASHS. Bethesda.
- 414. Rice RV, Moses JA, McManus GM, Brady AC, et al. (1970) The organization of contractile filaments in a mammalian smooth muscle. J Cell Biol 47: 183–196.
- 415. Riddick N, Ohtani K, and Surks HK. (2008) Targeting by myosin phosphatase-RhoA interacting protein mediates RhoA/ROCK regulation of myosin phosphatase. *J Cell Biochem* **103**: 1158–1170.
- 416. Riemann M, Rai A, Ngo AT, Dziegiel MH, *et al.* (2011) Oxygendependent vasomotor responses are conducted upstream in the mouse cremaster microcirculation. *J Vasc Res* 48: 79–89.
- 417. Riento K and Ridley AJ. (2003) Rocks: Multifunctional kinases in cell behaviour. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**: 446–456.
- 418. Roberts OL and Dart C. (2014) cAMP signalling in the vasculature: The role of Epac (exchange protein directly activated by cAMP). *Biochem Soc Trans* **42**: 89–97.
- 419. Rokolya A and Singer HA. (2000) Inhibition of CaM kinase II activation and force maintenance by KN-93 in arterial smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 278: C537–545.
- 420. Rolli-Derkinderen M, Sauzeau V, Boyer L, Lemichez E, et al. (2005) Phosphorylation of serine 188 protects RhoA from ubiquitin/proteasome-mediated degradation in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 96: 1152–1160.
- 421. Roman RJ, Renic M, Dunn KM, Takeuchi K, *et al.* (2006) Evidence that 20-HETE contributes to the development of acute and delayed cerebral vasospasm. *Neurol Res* 28: 738–749.
- 422. Romeo Y, Zhang X, and Roux PP. (2012) Regulation and function of the RSK family of protein kinases. *Biochem J* **441**: 553–569.

- 132 P. H. Ratz
- 423. Romero G, von Zastrow M, and Friedman PA. (2011) Role of PDZ proteins in regulating trafficking, signaling, and function of GPCRs: means, motif, and opportunity. *Adv Pharmacol* **62**: 279–314.
- 424. Rose R, Weyand M, Lammers M, Ishizaki T, *et al.* (2005) Structural and mechanistic insights into the interaction between Rho and mammalian Dia. *Nature* **435**: 513–518.
- 425. Rothe CF. (1983) Reflex control of veins and vascular capacitance. *Physiol Rev* 63: 1281–1342.
- 426. Roy TK and Secomb TW. (2014) Functional sympatholysis and sympathetic escape in a theoretical model for blood flow regulation. *Front Physiol* **5**: 192.
- 427. Rubin LJ, Magliola L, Feng X, Jones AW, et al. (2005) Metabolic activation of AMP kinase in vascular smooth muscle. J Appl Physiol 98: 296–306.
- 428. Ruehlmann DO, Lee CH, Poburko D, and van Breemen C. (2000) Asynchronous Ca(2+) waves in intact venous smooth muscle. *Circ Res* 86: E72–79.
- 429. Rushmer RF. (1976) Cardiovascular dynamics. Saunders: Philadelphia.
- 430. Sakamoto K, Hori M, Izumi M, Oka T, *et al.* (2003) Inhibition of high K+-induced contraction by the ROCKs inhibitor Y-27632 in vascular smooth muscle: Possible involvement of ROCKs in a signal transduction pathway. *J Pharmacol Sci* **92**: 56–69.
- 431. Sakurada S, Okamoto H, Takuwa N, Sugimoto N, *et al.* (2001) Rho activation in excitatory agonist-stimulated vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 281: C571–578.
- 432. Sakurada S, Takuwa N, Sugimoto N, Wang Y, *et al.* (2003) Ca2+dependent activation of Rho and Rho kinase in membrane depolarization-induced and receptor stimulation-induced vascular smooth muscle contraction. *Circ Res* **93**: 548–556.
- 433. Salamanca DA and Khalil RA. (2005) Protein kinase C isoforms as specific targets for modulation of vascular smooth muscle function in hypertension. *Biochem Pharmacol* **70**: 1537–1547.
- 434. Sanders LC, Matsumura F, Bokoch GM, and de Lanerolle P. (1999) Inhibition of myosin light chain kinase by p21-activated kinase. *Science* 283: 2083–2085.
- 435. Santana LF and Navedo MF. (2009) Molecular and biophysical mechanisms of Ca2+ sparklets in smooth muscle. J Mol Cell Cardiol 47: 436–444.

- 436. Sasaki Y, Suzuki M, and Hidaka H. (2002) The novel and specific Rho-kinase inhibitor (S)-(+)-2-methyl-1-[(4-methyl-5-isoquinoline) sulfonyl]-homopiperazine as a probing molecule for Rho-kinase-involved pathway. *Pharmacol Ther* **93**: 225–232.
- 437. Sato M, Tani E, Fujikawa H, and Kaibuchi K. (2000) Involvement of Rho-kinase-mediated phosphorylation of myosin light chain in enhancement of cerebral vasospasm. *Circ Res* **8**7: 195–200.
- 438. Sauzeau V, Le Jeune H, Cario-Toumaniantz C, Smolenski A, *et al.* (2000) Cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase signaling pathway inhibits RhoA-induced Ca2+ sensitization of contraction in vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 275: 21722–21729.
- 439. Sauzeau V, Sevilla MA, Montero MJ, and Bustelo XR. (2010) The Rho/ Rac exchange factor Vav2 controls nitric oxide-dependent responses in mouse vascular smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest 120: 315–330.
- 440. Savineau JP and Marthan R. (2000) Cytosolic Calcium Oscillations in Smooth Muscle Cells. News in physiological sciences: An international journal of physiology produced jointly by the International Union of Physiological Sciences and the American Physiological Society 15: 50-55.
- 441. Schadt JC and Ludbrook J. (1991) Hemodynamic and neurohumoral responses to acute hypovolemia in conscious mammals. *Am J Physiol* 260: H305–318.
- 442. Schneider H, Schubert KM, Blodow S, Kreutz CP, *et al.* (2015) AMPK Dilates Resistance Arteries via Activation of SERCA and BKCa Channels in Smooth Muscle. *Hypertension* **66**: 108–116.
- 443. Schuster A, Lamboley M, Grange C, Oishi H, et al. (2004) Calcium dynamics and vasomotion in rat mesenteric arteries. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* **43**: 539–548.
- 444. Sciorra VA, Hammond SM, and Morris AJ. (2001) Potent direct inhibition of mammalian phospholipase D isoenzymes by calphostin-c. *Biochemistry* **40**: 2640–2646.
- 445. Seasholtz TM, Gurdal H, Wang HY, Cai G, *et al.* (1997) Heterologous desensitization of the rat tail artery contraction and inositol phosphate accumulation after *in vitro* exposure to phenylephrine is mediated by decreased levels of Galphaq and Galphai. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **283**: 925–931.
- 446. Seasholtz TM, Gurdal H, Wang HY, Johnson MD, *et al.* (1997) Desensitization of norepinephrine receptor function is associated with G protein uncoupling in the rat aorta. *Am J Physiol* **273**: H279–285.

- 134 P. H. Ratz
- 447. Secomb TW. (2008) Theoretical models for regulation of blood flow. *Microcirculation* **15**: 765–775.
- 448. Segal SS. (2015) Integration and Modulation of Intercellular Signaling Underlying Blood Flow Control. *J Vasc Res* 52: 136–157.
- 449. Segal SS. (2000) Integration of blood flow control to skeletal muscle: Key role of feed arteries. *Acta Physiol Scand* **168**: 511–518.
- 450. Segal SS. (2005) Regulation of blood flow in the microcirculation. *Microcirculation* 12: 33–45.
- 451. Seow CY. (2005) Myosin filament assembly in an ever-changing myofilament lattice of smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **289**: C1363–1368.
- Seow CY. (2000) Response of arterial smooth muscle to length perturbation. J Appl Physiol 89: 2065–2072.
- 453. Shcherbakova OV, Serebryanaya DV, Postnikov AB, Schroeter MM, *et al.* (2010) Kinase-related protein/telokin inhibits Ca2+-independent contraction in Triton-skinned guinea pig taenia coli. *Biochem J* **429**: 291–302.
- 454. Shenfeld OZ, Morgan CW, and Ratz PH. (1998) Bethanechol activates a post-receptor negative feedback mechanism in rabbit urinary bladder smooth muscle. *J Urol* **159**: 252–257.
- 455. Sheridan BC, McIntyre RC, Jr., Meldrum DR, Cleveland JC, Jr., *et al.* (1996) Microtubules regulate pulmonary vascular smooth muscle contraction. *J Surg Res* 62: 284–287.
- 456. Shibata K, Sakai H, Huang Q, Kamata H, *et al.* (2015) Rac1 regulates myosin II phosphorylation through regulation of myosin light chain phosphatase. *J Cell Physiol* 230: 1352–1364.
- 457. Shirazi A, Iizuka K, Fadden P, Mosse C, *et al.* (1994) Purification and characterization of the mammalian myosin light chain phosphatase holoenzyme. The differential effects of the holoenzyme and its subunits on smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **269**: 31598–31606.
- 458. Shirinsky VP, Vorotnikov AV, Birukov KG, Nanaev AK, et al. (1993) A kinase-related protein stabilizes unphosphorylated smooth muscle myosin minifilaments in the presence of ATP. J Biol Chem 268: 16578–16583.
- 459. Singer HA and Murphy RA. (1987) Maximal rates of activation in electrically stimulated swine carotid media. *Circ Res* **60**: 438–445.
- 460. Smith FD, Langeberg LK, and Scott JD. (2011) Plugging PKA into ERK scaffolds. Cell Cycle 10: 731–732.

- 461. Smolensky AV, Ragozzino J, Gilbert SH, Seow CY, *et al.* (2005) Lengthdependent filament formation assessed from birefringence increases during activation of porcine tracheal muscle. *J Physiol* 563: 517–527.
- 462. Sobie EA, Lee YS, Jenkins SL, and Iyengar R. (2011) Systems biology— biomedical modeling. *Sci Signal* 4: tr2.
- 463. Sobieszek A. (1977) Ca-linked phosphorylation of a light chain of vertebrate smooth-muscle myosin. *Eur J Biochem* 73: 477–483.
- 464. Soderling TR and Stull JT. (2001) Structure and regulation of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases. *Chem Rev* 101: 2341–2352.
- 465. Somlyo AP and Himpens B. (1989) Cell calcium and its regulation in smooth muscle. *Faseb J* 3: 2266–2276.
- 466. Somlyo AP and Somlyo AV. (2003) Ca2+ sensitivity of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II: Modulated by G proteins, kinases, and myosin phosphatase. *Physiol Rev* 83: 1325–1358.
- 467. Somlyo AP and Somlyo AV. (2000) Signal transduction by G-proteins, Rho-kinase and protein phosphatase to smooth muscle and non-muscle myosin II. *J Physiol* **522.2**: 177–185.
- 468. Somlyo AV, Goldman YE, Fujimori T, Bond M, *et al.* (1988) Crossbridge kinetics, cooperativity, and negatively strained cross-bridges in vertebrate smooth muscle. A laser-flash photolysis study. *J Gen Physiol* 91: 165–192.
- 469. Somlyo AV, Khromov AS, Webb MR, Ferenczi MA, et al. (2004) Smooth muscle myosin: Regulation and properties. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 359: 1921–1930.
- 470. Somlyo AV and Somlyo AP. (1968) Electromechanical and pharmacomechanical coupling in vascular smooth muscle. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **159**: 129–145.
- 471. Southern JB, Frazier JR, Miner AS, Speich JE, *et al.* (2012) Elevated steady-state bladder preload activates myosin phosphorylation: Detrusor smooth muscle is a preload tension sensor. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **303**: F1517–1526.
- 472. Speich JE, Borgsmiller L, Call C, Mohr R, *et al.* (2005) ROK-induced cross-link formation stiffens passive muscle: Reversible strain-induced stress softening in rabbit detrusor. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **289**: C12–21.
- 473. Speich JE, Dosier C, Borgsmiller L, Quintero K, et al. (2007) Adjustable passive length-tension curve in rabbit detrusor smooth muscle. J Appl Physiol 102: 1746–1755.
- 136 P. H. Ratz
- 474. Stanley C and O'Sullivan SE. (2014) Vascular targets for cannabinoids: Animal and human studies. *Br J Pharmacol* **171**: 1361–1378.
- 475. Stein PG and Driska SP. (1984) Histamine-induced rhythmic contraction of hog carotid artery smooth muscle. *Circ Res* **55**: 480–485.
- 476. Stull JT, Hsu LC, Tansey MG, and Kamm KE. (1990) Myosin light chain kinase phosphorylation in tracheal smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 265: 16683–16690.
- 477. Stupecky GL, Murray DL, and Purdy RE. (1986) Vasoconstrictor threshold synergism and potentiation in the rabbit isolated thoracic aorta. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **238**: 802–808.
- 478. Suizu F, Ueda K, Iwasaki T, Murata-Hori M, et al. (2000) Activation of actin-activated MgATPase activity of myosin II by phosphorylation with MAPK-activated protein kinase-1b (RSK-2). J Biochem 128: 435–440.
- 479. Surks HK, Richards CT, and Mendelsohn ME. (2003) Myosin phosphatase-Rho interacting protein. A new member of the myosin phosphatase complex that directly binds RhoA. *J Biol Chem* 278: 51484–51493.
- 480. Sutton TA and Haeberle JR. (1990) Phosphorylation by protein kinase C of the 20,000-dalton light chain of myosin in intact and chemically skinned vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **265**: 2749–2754.
- 481. Takashima S. (2009) Phosphorylation of myosin regulatory light chain by myosin light chain kinase, and muscle contraction. *Circ J* 73: 208–213.
- 482. Takeya K, Wang X, Sutherland C, Kathol I, *et al.* (2014) Involvement of myosin regulatory light chain diphosphorylation in sustained vaso-constriction under pathophysiological conditions. *J Smooth Muscle Res* **50**: 18–28.
- 483. Takizawa N, Schmidt DJ, Mabuchi K, Villa-Moruzzi E, et al. (2003) M20, the small subunit of PP1M, binds to microtubules. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 284: C250–262.
- 484. Tan JL, Ravid S, and Spudich JA. (1992) Control of nonmuscle myosins by phosphorylation. Annu Rev Biochem 61: 721–759.
- 485. Tang DD and Anfinogenova Y. (2008) Physiologic properties and regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in vascular smooth muscle. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* **13**: 130–140.
- 486. Tangsucharit P, Takatori S, Sun P, Zamami Y, *et al.* (2012) Do cholinergic nerves innervating rat mesenteric arteries regulate vascular tone? *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 303: R1147–1156.

- 487. Tansey MG, Word RA, Hidaka H, Singer HA, *et al.* (1992) Phosphorylation of myosin light chain kinase by the multifunctional calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II in smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **267**: 12511–12516.
- 488. Tejani AD, Walsh MP, and Rembold CM. (2011) Tissue length modulates "stimulated actin polymerization," force augmentation, and the rate of swine carotid arterial contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **301**: C1470–1478.
- 489. Thorin E and Clozel M. (2010) The cardiovascular physiology and pharmacology of endothelin-1. *Adv Pharmacol* **60**: 1–26.
- 490. Tirapelli CR, Bonaventura D, Tirapelli LF, and de Oliveira AM. (2009) Mechanisms underlying the vascular actions of endothelin 1, angiotensin II and bradykinin in the rat carotid. *Pharmacology* 84: 111–126.
- 491. Totsukawa G, Wu Y, Sasaki Y, Hartshorne DJ, *et al.* (2004) Distinct roles of MLCK and ROCK in the regulation of membrane protrusions and focal adhesion dynamics during cell migration of fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol* **164**: 427–439.
- 492. Trybus KM. (1991) Assembly of cytoplasmic and smooth muscle myosins. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **3**: 105–111.
- 493. Trybus KM and Lowey S. (1985) Mechanism of smooth muscle myosin phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 260: 15988–15995.
- 494. Trybus KM, Waller GS, and Chatman TA. (1994) Coupling of ATPase activity and motility in smooth muscle myosin is mediated by the regulatory light chain. *J Cell Biol* **124**: 963–969.
- 495. Tsai MH, Chang AN, Huang J, He W, *et al.* (2014) Constitutive phosphorylation of myosin phosphatase targeting subunit-1 in smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **592**: 3031–3051.
- 496. Tuna BG, Bakker EN, and VanBavel E. (2012) Smooth muscle biomechanics and plasticity: Relevance for vascular calibre and remodelling. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* 110: 35–41.
- 497. Tuna BG, Schoorl MJ, Bakker EN, de Vos J, *et al.* (2013) Smooth muscle contractile plasticity in rat mesenteric small arteries: Sensitivity to specific vasoconstrictors, distension and inflammatory cytokines. *J Vasc Res* **50**: 249–262.
- 498. Turbedsky K, Pollard TD, and Bresnick AR. (1997) A subset of protein kinase C phosphorylation sites on the myosin II regulatory light chain inhibits phosphorylation by myosin light chain kinase. *Biochemistry* 36: 2063–2067.

- 138 P. H. Ratz
- 499. Turner SR and MacDonald JA. (2014) Novel contributions of the smoothelin-like 1 protein in vascular smooth muscle contraction and its potential involvement in myogenic tone. *Microcirculation* 21: 249–258.
- 500. Tyberg JV. (2002) How changes in venous capacitance modulate cardiac output. *Pflugers Arch* **445**: 10–17.
- 501. Ueffing M, Lovric J, Philipp A, Mischak H, et al. (1997) Protein kinase C-epsilon associates with the Raf-1 kinase and induces the production of growth factors that stimulate Raf-1 activity. Oncogene 15: 2921–2927.
- 502. Unbekandt M and Olson MF. (2014) The actin-myosin regulatory MRCK kinases: Regulation, biological functions and associations with human cancer. *J Mol Med (Berl)* **92**: 217–225.
- 503. Urban NH, Berg KM, and Ratz PH. (2003) K+ depolarization induces RhoA kinase translocation to caveolae and Ca2+ sensitization of arterial muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **285**: C1377–1385.
- 504. Urena J, del Valle-Rodriguez A, and Lopez-Barneo J. (2007) Metabotropic Ca2+ channel-induced calcium release in vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium* **42**: 513–520.
- 505. Urena J and Lopez-Barneo J. (2012) Metabotropic regulation of RhoA/Rho-associated kinase by L-type Ca2+ channels. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **22**: 155–160.
- 506. Uvelius B. (1979) Shortening velocity, active force and homogeneity of contraction during electrically evoked twitches in smooth muscle from rabbit urinary bladder. *Acta Physiol Scand* **106**: 481–486.
- 507. Uvelius B and Hellstrand P. (1980) Effects of phasic and tonic activation on contraction dynamics in smooth muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand* **109**: 399–406.
- 508. van Breemen C, Chen Q, and Laher I. (1995) Superficial buffer barrier function of smooth muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 16: 98–105.
- 509. van Breemen C, Fameli N, and Evans AM. (2013) Pan-junctional sarcoplasmic reticulum in vascular smooth muscle: Nanospace Ca2+ transport for site- and function-specific Ca2+ signalling. *J Physiol* 591: 2043–2054.
- 510. van der Loop FT, Gabbiani G, Kohnen G, Ramaekers FC, *et al.* (1997) Differentiation of smooth muscle cells in human blood vessels as defined by smoothelin, a novel marker for the contractile phenotype. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17: 665–671.

- 511. Van Heijst BG, Blange T, Jongsma HJ, and De Beer EL. (2000) The length dependency of calcium activated contractions in the femoral artery smooth muscle studied with different methods of skinning. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 21: 59–66.
- 512. Van Heijst BG, De Wit E, Van der Heide UA, Blange T, *et al.* (1999) The effect of length on the sensitivity to phenylephrine and calcium in intact and skinned vascular smooth muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **20**: 11–18.
- 513. Van Lierop JE, Wilson DP, Davis JP, Tikunova S, *et al.* (2002) Activation of smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase by calmodulin. Role of LYS(30) and GLY(40). *J Biol Chem* 277: 6550–6558.
- 514. VanBavel E and Mulvany MJ. (1994) Role of wall tension in the vasoconstrictor response of cannulated rat mesenteric small arteries. *J Physiol* 477 (Pt 1): 103–115.
- 515. VanBavel E, van der Meulen ET, and Spaan JA. (2001) Role of Rhoassociated protein kinase in tone and calcium sensitivity of cannulated rat mesenteric small arteries. *Exp Physiol* **86**: 585–592.
- 516. Vaudry H, Leprince J, Chatenet D, Fournier A, *et al.* (2015) International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. XCII. Urotensin II, urotensin II-related peptide, and their receptor: From structure to function. *Pharmacol Rev* 67: 214–258.
- 517. Velasco G, Armstrong C, Morrice N, Frame S, *et al.* (2002) Phosphorylation of the regulatory subunit of smooth muscle protein phosphatase 1M at Thr850 induces its dissociation from myosin. *FEBS Letters* **527**: 101–104.
- 518. Vetterkind S, Lee E, Sundberg E, Poythress RH, *et al.* (2010) Par-4: a new activator of myosin phosphatase. *Mol Biol Cell* **21**: 1214–1224.
- 519. Virshup DM and Shenolikar S. (2009) From promiscuity to precision: protein phosphatases get a makeover. *Mol Cell* **33**: 537–545.
- 520. von Hayn K, Werthmann RC, Nikolaev VO, Hommers LG, et al. (2010) Gq-mediated Ca2+ signals inhibit adenylyl cyclases 5/6 in vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 298: C324–332.
- 521. Walmsley JG, Campling MR, and Chertkow HM. (1983) Interrelationships among wall structure, smooth muscle orientation, and contraction in human major cerebral arteries. *Stroke* 14: 781–790.
- 522. Walmsley JG, Owen MP, and Bevan JA. (1983) Medial morphometry and mechanics of sequential rabbit ear arteries and myograph ring segments. *Am J Physiol* **245**: H840–848.

- 140 P. H. Ratz
- 523. Walsh MP. (2011) Vascular smooth muscle myosin light chain diphosphorylation: Mechanism, function, and pathological implications. *IUBMB Life* 63: 987–1000.
- 524. Walsh MP, Horowitz A, Clement-Chomienne O, Andrea JE, *et al.* (1996) Protein kinase C mediation of Ca(2+)-independent contractions of vascular smooth muscle. *Biochem Cell Biol* 74: 485-502.
- 525. Wang CL. (2001) Caldesmon and smooth-muscle regulation. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 35: 275–288.
- 526. Wang L, Pare PD, and Seow CY. (2001) Plasticity in Skeletal, Cardiac, and Smooth Muscle: Selected Contribution: Effect of chronic passive length change on airway smooth muscle length-tension relationship. *J Appl Physiol* **90**: 734–740.
- 527. Wang R. (2009) Hydrogen sulfide: A new EDRF. Kidney Int 76: 700-704.
- 528. Wang S, Liang B, Viollet B, and Zou MH. (2011) Inhibition of the AMP-activated protein kinase-alpha2 accentuates agonist-induced vascular smooth muscle contraction and high blood pressure in mice. *Hypertension* 57: 1010–1017.
- 529. Wang Y, Deng X, Hewavitharana T, Soboloff J, *et al.* (2008) Stim, ORAI and TRPC channels in the control of calcium entry signals in smooth muscle. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **35**: 1127–1133.
- 530. Wang Y, Yoshioka K, Azam MA, Takuwa N, *et al.* (2006) Class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase alpha-isoform regulates Rho, myosin phosphatase and contraction in vascular smooth muscle. *Biochem J* **394**: 581–592.
- 531. Wang Y, Zhao W, Zhang L, Zhao YN, *et al.* (2014) Molecular and cellular basis of the regulation of lymphatic contractility and lymphatic absorption. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* **53**: 134–140.
- 532. Wang Y, Zheng XR, Riddick N, Bryden M, *et al.* (2009) ROCK isoform regulation of myosin phosphatase and contractility in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **104**: 531–540.
- 533. Wardle RL, Gu M, Ishida Y, and Paul RJ. (2007) Rho kinase is an effector underlying Ca2+-desensitizing hypoxic relaxation in porcine coronary artery. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293: H23-29.
- 534. Watanabe M, Hasegawa Y, Katoh T, and Morita F. (1992) Amino acid sequence of the 20-kDa regulatory light chain of porcine aorta media smooth muscle myosin. *J Biochem* **112**: 431–432.

- 535. Watts SW. (2009) The love of a lifetime: 5-HT in the cardiovascular system. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **296**: R252–256.
- 536. Wayman GA, Lee YS, Tokumitsu H, Silva AJ, *et al.* (2008) Calmodulinkinases: Modulators of neuronal development and plasticity. *Neuron* 59: 914–931.
- 537. Wesselman JPM, VanBavel E, Pfaffendorf M, and Spaan JAE. (1996) Voltage-operated calcium channels are essential for myogenic responsiveness of cannulated rat mesenteric small arteries. *J Vasc Res* 33: 32–41.
- 538. Westcott EB and Segal SS. (2013) Perivascular innervation: A multiplicity of roles in vasomotor control and myoendothelial signaling. *Microcirculation* **20**: 217–238.
- 539. Westfall TC, Macarthur H, Byku M, Yang CL, *et al.* (2013) Interactions of neuropeptide y, catecholamines, and angiotensin at the vascular neuroeffector junction. *Adv Pharmacol* 68: 115–139.
- 540. Wier WG and Morgan KG. (2003) Alpha1-adrenergic signaling mechanisms in contraction of resistance arteries. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* **150**: 91–139.
- 541. Wier WG, Zang WJ, Lamont C, and Raina H. (2009) Sympathetic neurogenic Ca2+ signalling in rat arteries: ATP, noradrenaline and neuropeptide Y. *Exp Physiol* **94**: 31–37.
- 542. Wilkins BW, Pike TL, Martin EA, Curry TB, *et al.* (2008) Exercise intensity-dependent contribution of beta-adrenergic receptor-mediated vasodilatation in hypoxic humans. *J Physiol* **586**: 1195–1205.
- 543. Wilson DP, Susnjar M, Kiss E, Sutherland C, *et al.* (2005) Thromboxane A2-induced contraction of rat caudal arterial smooth muscle involves activation of Ca2+ entry and Ca2+ sensitization: Rho-associated kinase-mediated phosphorylation of MYPT1 at Thr-855, but not Thr-697. *Biochem J* 389: 763–774.
- 544. Wilson DP, Sutherland C, and Walsh MP. (2002) Ca2+ activation of smooth muscle contraction: Evidence for the involvement of calmodulin that is bound to the triton insoluble fraction even in the absence of Ca2+. *J Biol Chem* **2**77: 2186–2192.
- 545. Wingard CJ, Browne AK, and Murphy RA. (1995) Dependence of force on length at constant cross-bridge phosphorylation in the swine carotid media. *J Physiol* **488** (Pt 3): 729–739.
- 546. Wong MS, Man RY, and Vanhoutte PM. (2010) Calcium-independent phospholipase A(2) plays a key role in the endothelium-dependent contractions to acetylcholine in the aorta of the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **298**: H1260–1266.

- 142 P. H. Ratz
- 547. Wong MS and Vanhoutte PM. (2010) COX-mediated endotheliumdependent contractions: From the past to recent discoveries. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **31**: 1095–1102.
- 548. Woodard GE and Rosado JA. (2008) Natriuretic peptides in vascular physiology and pathology. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* **268**: 59–93.
- 549. Woodsome TP, Eto M, Everett A, Brautigan DL, *et al.* (2001) Expression of CPI-17 and myosin phosphatase correlates with Ca(2+) sensitivity of protein kinase C-induced contraction in rabbit smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 535: 553–564.
- 550. Wooldridge AA, Fortner CN, Lontay B, Akimoto T, *et al.* (2008) Deletion of the protein kinase A/protein kinase G target SMTNL1 promotes an exercise-adapted phenotype in vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 283: 11850–11859.
- 551. Wooldridge AA, MacDonald JA, Erdodi F, Ma C, *et al.* (2004) Smooth muscle phosphatase is regulated *in vivo* by exclusion of phosphorylation of threonine 696 of MYPT1 by phosphorylation of Serine 695 in response to cyclic nucleotides. *J Biol Chem* 279: 34496–34504.
- 552. Word RA, Tang DC, and Kamm KE. (1994) Activation properties of myosin light chain kinase during contraction/relaxation cycles of tonic and phasic smooth muscles. *J Biol Chem* **269**: 21596–21602.
- 553. Wright G and Hurn E. (1994) Cytochalasin inhibition of slow tension increase in rat aortic rings. *Am J Physiol* **267**: H1437–1446.
- 554. Wymann MP, Bulgarelli-Leva G, Zvelebil MJ, Pirola L, *et al.* (1996) Wortmannin inactivates phosphoinositide 3-kinase by covalent modification of Lys-802, a residue involved in the phosphate transfer reaction. *Mol Cell Biol* 16: 1722–1733.
- 555. Wynne BM, Labazi H, Tostes RC, and Webb RC. (2012) Aorta from angiotensin II hypertensive mice exhibit preserved nitroxyl anion mediated relaxation responses. *Pharmacol Res* **65**: 41–47.
- 556. Yamin R and Morgan KG. (2012) Deciphering actin cytoskeletal function in the contractile vascular smooth muscle cell. *J Physiol* **590**: 4145–4154.
- 557. Yanagisawa T and Okada Y. (1994) KCl depolarization increases Ca2+ sensitivity of contractile elements in coronary arterial smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* 267: H614–H621.
- 558. Yildiz O, Smith JR, and Purdy RE. (1998) Serotonin and vasoconstrictor synergism. *Life Sci* 62: 1723–1732.
- 559. Yin W and Voit EO. (2013) Function and design of the Nox1 system in vascular smooth muscle cells. *BMC Syst Biol* 7: 20.

- 560. Ying Z, do Carmo JM, Xiang L, da Silva AA, *et al.* (2013) Inhibitor kappaB kinase 2 is a myosin light chain kinase in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* 2013.
- 561. Ying Z, Giachini FR, Tostes RC, and Webb RC. (2009) PYK2/PDZ-RhoGEF links Ca2+ signaling to RhoA. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29: 1657–1663.
- 562. Yoneda A, Multhaupt HA, and Couchman JR. (2005) The Rho kinases I and II regulate different aspects of myosin II activity. *J Cell Biol* **170**: 443–453.
- 563. Yoshioka K, Sugimoto N, Takuwa N, and Takuwa Y. (2007) Essential role for class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase alpha-isoform in Ca2+-induced, Rho- and Rho kinase-dependent regulation of myosin phosphatase and contraction in isolated vascular smooth muscle cells. *Mol Pharmacol* 71: 912–920.
- 564. Zacharia J, Mauban JR, Raina H, Fisher SA, *et al.* (2013) High vascular tone of mouse femoral arteries *in vivo* is determined by sympathetic nerve activity via alpha1A- and alpha1D-adrenoceptor subtypes. *PLoS One* **8**: e65969.
- 565. Zagorska A, Deak M, Campbell DG, Banerjee S, *et al.* (2010) New roles for the LKB1-NUAK pathway in controlling myosin phosphatase complexes and cell adhesion. *Sci Signal* **3**: ra25.
- 566. Zang WJ, Balke CW, and Wier WG. (2001) Graded alpha1-adrenoceptor activation of arteries involves recruitment of smooth muscle cells to produce 'all or none' Ca(2+) signals. *Cell Calcium* **29**: 327–334.
- 567. Zeke A, Lukacs M, Lim WA, and Remenyi A. (2009) Scaffolds: Interaction platforms for cellular signalling circuits. *Trends Cell Biol* 19: 364–374.
- 568. Zeng Q, Lagunoff D, Masaracchia R, Goeckeler Z, et al. (2000) Endothelial cell retraction is induced by PAK2 monophosphoylation of myosin II. J Cell Sci 113: 471–482.
- 569. Zhang D, Jin N, Rhoades RA, Yancey KW, et al. (2000) Influence of microtubules on vascular smooth muscle contraction. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 21: 293–300.
- 570. Zhang D, Wang Z, Jin N, Li L, *et al.* (2001) Microtubule disruption modulates the Rho-kinase pathway in vascular smooth muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* 22: 193–200.
- 571. Zhang J. (2013) New insights into the contribution of arterial NCX to the regulation of myogenic tone and blood pressure. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 961: 329–343.

- 144 P. H. Ratz
- 572. Zhang J, Ren C, Chen L, Navedo MF, et al. (2010) Knockout of Na+/Ca2+ exchanger in smooth muscle attenuates vasoconstriction and L-type Ca2+ channel current and lowers blood pressure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 298: H1472–1483.
- 573. Zhang P and Mende U. (2014) Functional role, mechanisms of regulation, and therapeutic potential of regulator of G protein signaling 2 in the heart. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **24**: 85–93.
- 574. Zhang Y, Hermanson ME, and Eddinger TJ. (2013) Tonic and phasic smooth muscle contraction is not regulated by the PKCalpha CPI-17 pathway in swine stomach antrum and fundus. *PLoS One* 8: e74608.
- 575. Zhao ZS and Manser E. (2005) PAK and other Rho-associated kinases effectors with surprisingly diverse mechanisms of regulation. *Biochem J* **386**: 201–214.
- 576. Zieba BJ, Artamonov MV, Jin L, Momotani K, *et al.* (2011) The cAMP-responsive Rap1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor, Epac, induces smooth muscle relaxation by down-regulation of RhoA activity. *J Biol Chem* 286: 16681–16692.

Chapter 4

Actin Filament Dynamics During Vascular Smooth Muscle Contraction

William C. Cole and Michael P. Walsh*

University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada *walsh@ucalgary.ca

Regulation of arterial diameter by control of vascular smooth muscle contraction plays a key role in regulation of blood flow and thereby the supply of O₂ and nutrients to tissues and organs and removal of CO₂ and waste products. A host of contractile stimuli, including agonists such as angiotensin II, serotonin, norepinephrine and endothelin-1, and increases in intravascular pressure (via the myogenic response), elicit vasoconstriction via an increase in cytosolic free Ca2+ concentration $([Ca^{2+}])$ leading to activation of calmodulin-dependent myosin light chain kinase, phosphorylation of the regulatory light chains of myosin II (LC₂₀) and cross-bridge cycling. Many contractile stimuli also elicit Ca²⁺ sensitization of contraction via activation of the RhoA/ Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) pathway leading to phosphorylation of MYPT1 (the myosin targeting subunit of myosin light chain phosphatase), a decrease in phosphatase activity and increased LC₂₀ phosphorylation without a change in [Ca²⁺]. A third signaling pathway has more recently been implicated in the regulation of vasoconstriction, which involves stimulus-induced polymerization of a pool of actin localized to the sub-plasmalemmal region of the cell and which involves formation of adhesion complexes that transmit force from the myofilaments to the extracellular matrix via transmembrane

integrins. Both ROCK and protein kinase C (PKC) have been implicated in stimulus-evoked actin polymerization, ROCK leading to phosphorylation of cofilin (most likely via activation of LIM kinase) and PKC leading directly to phosphorylation of HSP27. Defects in ROCK and PKC signaling and actin polymerization have been implicated in various cardiovascular pathologies.

1. Vascular Smooth Muscle Contraction and the Control of Blood Flow

Arterial diameter, particularly of so-called resistance vessels (<200 μ m internal diameter), controls blood flow and thereby the supply of O₂ and nutrients to downstream tissues and organs, and the removal of CO₂ and metabolic waste products.¹ Arterial blood flow is governed by Poiseuille's Law²:

Blood flow rate (Q) =
$$\frac{\pi \Delta P r^4}{8\eta L}$$

where ΔP is the pressure difference between the two ends of the artery, r the radius of the vessel, η the blood viscosity and L the length of the vessel. Since flow rate is proportional to the 4th power of the radius, a small change in arterial diameter has a profound effect on blood flow. It is of critical importance, therefore, that arterial diameter be precisely controlled to meet physiological demands. Furthermore, loss of such fine control is associated with severe pathological conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, ischemic stroke and sub-arachnoid hemorrhage.³⁻⁷

Arterial diameter is regulated by the contraction and relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells of the medial layer. Numerous physiological stimuli elicit vasoconstrictor responses in arterial smooth muscle, including a variety of circulating or locally-released vasoactive molecules such as angiotensin II, serotonin, norepinephrine and endothelin-1, as well as increased intravascular pressure, which reduce arterial diameter and thereby blood flow.⁸⁻¹² Vasoconstriction/vasodilation induced by increased/decreased intraluminal pressure is referred to as the myogenic response and is an inherent property of the vascular smooth muscle cells⁹. The actions of circulating and locally-released vasoactive molecules are superimposed on the myogenic response to achieve the desired arterial diameter and blood flow for the prevailing physiological conditions.

2. Ca²⁺-induced Vasoconstriction

Vasoconstriction typically involves an agonist- or pressure-induced increase in cytosolic free Ca²⁺ concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$), the sources of Ca²⁺ being the extracellular milieu and/or the sarcoplasmic reticulum, depending on the nature of the stimulus. The increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ leads to activation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), phosphorylation of the 20-kDa regulatory light chains of myosin II at serine-19, activation of the actomyosin MgATPase activity, cross-bridge cycling and contraction (Fig. 1, left side).¹³⁻¹⁶ Following termination of the stimulus, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is restored to resting levels, resulting in inactivation of MLCK, and myosin is dephosphorylated by myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP), leading to dissociation of actin and myosin and relaxation (Fig. 1).¹⁷

Ca²⁺ Sensitization of Vasoconstriction Induced by Inhibition of Myosin Light Chain Phosphatase

It was thought for many years that vasoconstriction could be explained exclusively by MLCK activation, but numerous observations of stimulus-dependent differences in the Ca²⁺ dependence of force generation led to detailed investigations of the regulation of MLCP activity. This resulted in the discovery of the phenomenon of Ca²⁺ sensitization, whereby contractile agonists coupled to the G_{12/13} family of heterotrimeric G proteins activate the small GTPase RhoA via a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (a Rho-GEF) (Fig. 1, right side).^{18–20} In the unstimulated vascular smooth muscle cell, RhoA contains bound GDP, is associated with Rho-GDI (a guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor protein) and located in the cytosol. Activated Rho-GEF exchanges RhoA-bound GDP for GTP, resulting



Fig. 1. Ca²⁺-induced activation and Ca²⁺ sensitization of vascular smooth muscle contraction. Vascular smooth muscle contraction is activated principally by an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]$ due to stimulus-induced entry of extracellular Ca^{2+} via sarcolemmal Ca²⁺-permeant ion channels or G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR)-mediated Ca²⁺ release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) via inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP,) receptors. Ca2+ binds to calmodulin (CaM), which activates myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) to phosphorylate serine-19 (pS19) of the two 20-kDa light chain subunits of smooth muscle myosin II. This enables actin interaction, which markedly increases the MgATPase activity of myosin, leading to cross-bridge cycling and contraction driven by the energy derived from the hydrolysis of ATP within the heads of myosin II. Ca²⁺ sensitization of contraction involves GPCR-mediated activation of the RhoA/Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) pathway leading to inhibition of myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP), either directly by phosphorylation of the myosin targeting subunit of MLCP (MYPT1) or indirectly via phosphorylation of CPI-17 (the 17-kDa phosphoprotein inhibitor of MLCP). Protein kinase C (PKC) can also induce Ca2+ sensitization via phosphorylation of CPI-17 in some instances. $G_{\alpha/11}$: heterotrimeric G proteins coupled to phospholipase C β (PLC β), which hydrolyses phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) to diacylglycerol (DAG) and IP₃. $G_{12/22}$: heterotrimeric G proteins coupled to guanine nucleotide exchange factors for the small GTPase RhoA (Rho-GEFs), which activate RhoA by GDP-GTP exchange. Activated RhoA-GTP activates ROCK.

in dissociation of the RhoA-GDI complex and translocation of RhoA-GTP to the plasma membrane where it inserts into the membrane via an exposed geranylgeranyl (lipid) moiety, which is buried within the RhoA-GDP/GDI structure under resting conditions. Activated RhoA then activates the serine/threonine kinase Rhoassociated coiled-coil kinase (ROCK), which phosphorylates MYPT1 (the myosin targeting subunit of MLCP) at threonine-697 and threonine-855 (rat numbering)17 and/or CPI-17 (a 17-kDa cytosolic protein) at threonine-38.²¹ Phosphorylation of MYPT1 at either site in vitro reduces the activity of MLCP, although numerous studies indicate that threonine-855 is the predominant regulatory site in situ.^{22,23} Phosphorylation of CPI-17 at threonine-38 results in a conformational change, which enables high-affinity binding of the phosphoprotein to the catalytic subunit of MLCP and potent inhibition of its activity.²⁴⁻²⁶ CPI-17 can also be phosphorylated at threonine-38 by protein kinase C.27 The net result of reduced MLCP activity via activation of the RhoA/ROCK pathway is an increase in LC₂₀ phosphorylation (due to an increase in the MLCK: MLCP activity ratio) and contraction. Therefore, enhanced force is achieved without a change in $[Ca^{2+}]$ since the RhoA/ROCK pathway is not Ca2+ dependent. This increased vasoconstrictor response at constant $[Ca^{2+}]$ is thus referred to as "Ca²⁺ sensitization".18 Pressure-induced vasoconstriction also involves Ca2+ sensitization via the RhoA/ROCK pathway,28 but this occurs via phosphorylation of MYPT1 (at threonine-855) and not CPI-17 phosphorylation.²⁹⁻³¹

4. Ca²⁺ Sensitization of Vasoconstriction Induced by Actin Polymerization

The possibility that vasoconstrictor responses could be explained completely by a combination of Ca²⁺-induced activation of MLCK and Ca²⁺ sensitization evoked by MLCP inhibition was short-lived. For example, the involvement of an additional mechanism during agonist- and pressure-evoked constriction of cerebral arteries was suggested by several lines of evidence: (i) siRNA-mediated depletion of RhoA in organ-cultured rat cerebral arteries abolished the vasoconstrictor response to UTP or increased intraluminal pressure without affecting the stimulus-induced increase in LC₂₀ phosphorylation³²; (ii) inhibition of PKC activity abolished the myogenic response of intact cerebral arteries but had no effect on LC20, MYPT1 or CPI-17 phosphorylation²⁹; (iii) serotonin-induced vasoconstriction at low (10 mm Hg) and physiological (60 mm Hg) intraluminal pressures was markedly reduced by inhibition of ROCK or PKC activities, but the level of LC₂₀ phosphorylation declined only to the level observed in control tissues at 60 mm Hg where a significant myogenic response was observed^{29,30}; (iv) serotonin induced an increase in LC₂₀ phosphorylation of ~25% at 10 mm Hg and ~10% at 60 mm Hg, but a significantly greater vasoconstrictor response was observed at 60 mm Hg³⁰; (v) pressure- or agonist-induced vasoconstriction was observed without an increase in LC₂₀ phosphorylation above the pre-existing level of ~0.5 mol P₁/mol LC₂₀ under three different experimental conditions: an increase in intraluminal pressure from 80 to 120 mm Hg (the normal physiological pressure range), application of serotonin at 80 mm Hg, or an increase in pressure from 10 to 80 mm Hg in the presence of serotonin³¹; and (vi) spontaneous development of myogenic tone during equilibration of freshly-isolated cerebral arteries at 60 mm Hg was associated with actin polymerization without a change in LC₂₀ phosphorylation.³³

A likely mechanism to explain these results involves dynamic regulation of the actin cytoskeleton, i.e., *de novo* formation of actin filaments is required for force development, actin polymerization and LC_{20} phosphorylation are independent events, and both actin filament formation and LC_{20} phosphorylation are required for smooth muscle contraction.^{12,34} Several examples have been described of actin polymerization occurring in vascular smooth muscle tissues exposed to contractile agonists, increased extracellular K⁺ concentration (membrane depolarization), tissue stretch, osmotic volume change or increased intravascular pressure.^{35–37} An important role for actin polymerization in smooth muscle contraction was originally suggested by the effects of inhibitors of polymerization (latrunculins, which sequester G-actin monomers, and cytochalasins, which bind to the barbed end of actin filaments): these agents attenuated the contractile responses of various smooth muscles, including vascular smooth muscle.^{35,38-46} In contrast, jasplakinolide, which stabilizes actin filaments and opposes depolymerization, induced vasoconstriction.³⁵ Furthermore, direct measurements of G- and F-actin revealed that smooth muscle contraction is accompanied by a small increase (~10-12%) in F-actin content.^{37,47-50} For example, G-actin content progressively decreased as intraluminal pressure was increased in cerebral arteries from 10 to 80 to 120 mm Hg, and G-actin levels were significantly lower in the presence than in the absence of serotonin at 80 mm Hg, and at 80 mm Hg after pre-treatment with serotonin, compared with 10 mm Hg in the presence of serotonin.³³ Latrunculin B dilated vessels pressurized to 80 mm Hg to the passive diameter observed in the absence of extracellular Ca²⁺ without altering the level of LC₂₀ phosphorylation. Similar effects of latrunculin B were observed in vessels pre-constricted with serotonin at 80 mm Hg and in vessels constricted by increasing intraluminal pressure from 10 to 80 mm Hg after pre-treatment with serotonin. G-actin content was reduced in every instance in which vasoconstriction occurred in the absence of a change in LC₂₀ phosphorylation.³³ In rat cerebral arteries, UTP-induced vasoconstriction was accompanied by actin polymerization and both were prevented by siRNA-mediated RhoA depletion, which did not reduce UTP-evoked LC₂₀ phosphorylation.³²

What has emerged from such studies is the concept of two distinct pools of actin in smooth muscle⁵¹⁻⁵³: (i) a contractile actin pool, which is involved in the contractile machinery (mini-sarcomeres), and (ii) a cytoskeletal actin pool, which is localized to the cell cortex (sub-plasmalemmal domain) and subject to dynamic regulation of its polymerization state. The contractile and cytoskeletal actin pools consist of smooth muscle α -actin and non-muscle β - and γ -actin isoforms, respectively.^{54,55} Contractile and cytoskeletal actins are associated with different tropomyosin isoforms.⁵⁶ Polymerization of cortical actin in response to contractile stimuli is postulated to increase the formation of adhesion complexes, multi-protein complexes that connect the contractile apparatus to integrins (transmembrane proteins that connect to the extracellular matrix).³⁴ These adhesion complexes distribute and transmit force generated by cross-bridge cycling at the myofilament level across the plasma membrane and to the extracellular matrix. The fact that latrunculin B induced complete vasodilatation of cerebral arteries at 120 mm Hg, or at 80 mm Hg in the presence of serotonin, to the passive diameter rather than to the pre-existing diameter at 80 mm Hg, or at 10 mm Hg in the presence of serotonin, suggests that pressurization evokes a remodeling process whereby existing connections between the contractile apparatus, plasma membrane and extracellular matrix, required for force distribution and transmission, are broken.³³ The assembly of adhesion complexes is also necessary for the activation of signaling processes that regulate actin polymerization.³⁴

There is some debate about whether Ca^{2+} sensitization is the appropriate term to describe the role of actin polymerization in the vasoconstrictor response. Our sense is that, if Ca^{2+} sensitization is defined as an increase in force without a change in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, then increased actin polymerization via a signaling pathway that does not require Ca^{2+} is indeed a form of Ca^{2+} sensitization. It is important to note that inhibition of MLCP activity or activation of actin polymerization will not evoke contraction in physiologically-relevant conditions unless $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is sufficiently high to activate MLCK and achieve a threshold level of LC_{20} phosphorylation for cross-bridge cycling to occur.

5. Signal Transduction Pathways Mediating Stimulus-evoked Actin Polymerization

Insights into the signaling pathways that mediate stimulus-induced actin polymerization in smooth muscle have come largely from studies of acetylcholine-induced contraction of canine tracheal smooth muscle.^{34,57} There is an increasing body of evidence that early events following agonist-receptor interaction or an increase in intraluminal pressure involve the recruitment of numerous proteins to integrin-containing adhesion complexes at the level of the sarco-lemma. These include a variety of protein kinases, including tyrosine kinases such as Src family kinases (SFK), focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and the other FAK family member Pyk2, scaffolding/adaptor proteins such as Crk-associated substrate (p130CAS),^{47,58} cytoskeletal proteins such as α -actinin, vinculin, talin and paxillin, 45,59-63 which link actin filaments to the sarcolemma, proteins that facilitate actin polymerization such as N-WASp (neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome protein), cofilin, profilin, HSP20 and HSP27 (heat shock proteins), and VASP (vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein),^{12,37,46,49,64-68} and the small GTPase RhoA, which regulates adhesome assembly.^{50,69} Recent studies of the myogenic response of rat cerebral arteries revealed pressure-dependent increases in phosphorylation of FAK at tyrosine-397 and tyrosine-576/577, SFK at tyrosine-416 (tyrosine-527 phosphorylation decreased), vinculin at tyrosine-1065, paxillin at tyrosine-118 and phospholipase C- γ l at tyrosine-783^{70,71}. Function-blocking antibodies to α_{z} -integrin, the FAK inhibitor FI-14 or the SFK inhibitor SU6656 attenuated these changes in adhesion complex protein phosphorylation and prevented the pressure-dependent increase in MYPT1 phosphorylation at threonine-855 and of LC₂₀ at serine-19, as well as actin polymerization. These observations support a mechanotransduction mechanism involving integrin-containing adhesion complex formation and signaling to enhance Ca²⁺ sensitization via MLCP inhibition and actin polymerization.70

PKC has long been implicated in the regulation of smooth muscle contraction,^{72,73} but its mechanism, including the identification of key substrates, has been elusive. Recent evidence has implicated PKC in the regulation of actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle via the phosphorylation of HSP27 at serine-82.³³ HSP27 may suppress actin polymerization by directly binding to G-actin^{74,75} or by capping the barbed end of F-actin to prevent filament elongation.⁷⁶ Phosphorylation of HSP27 at serine-82^{77,78} facilitates actin polymerization by alleviating the inhibition exerted by the unphosphorylated protein or by binding to and stabilizing actin filaments.⁷⁹ Indeed, phosphorylation of HSP27 at serine-82 occurs in the same time-frame as agonist-induced vasoconstriction.³⁷ Inhibition of rat cerebral arterial PKC with GF109203X (which affects both Ca²⁺-dependent and independent isoforms) or Gö6976 (a selective inhibitor of Ca²⁺-dependent PKC isoforms) attenuated pressure-induced vasoconstriction without

affecting LC₂₀ phosphorylation,²⁹ whereas GF109203X inhibited serotonin-induced vasoconstriction and LC₂₀ phosphorylation.³⁰ Furthermore, treatment with the PKC-activating phorbol ester, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBu), induced significantly greater vasoconstriction than serotonin, but a comparable increase in LC₂₀ phosphorylation.⁸⁰ PDBu-induced vasoconstriction was largely reversed by sequestration of G-actin monomers by latrunculin B, implicating actin polymerization in the phorbol ester response. In support of this conclusion, direct quantification of G-actin levels revealed that PDBu treatment induced actin polymerization, which was reversed by GF109203X.⁸⁰

ROCK has also been implicated in stimulus-evoked actin polymerization in rat cerebral arteries,³³ most likely via phosphorylation and activation of LIM kinase, which in turn phosphorylates cofilin at serine-3.81 Similar results were reported for canine pulmonary arterial smooth muscle⁸² although a decrease in cofilin phosphorylation was observed upon depolarization of swine carotid arterial rings,⁸³ which also correlated with actin polymerization,⁸⁴ suggesting there may be stimulus-, tissue- or species-dependent variations in the effects of cofilin phosphorylation. Cofilin binds to and severs actin filaments, and this activity is alleviated by phosphorylation at serine-3.85,86 Phosphorylated cofilin binds to the scaffolding protein 14-3-3, which sequesters cofilin and prevents it from being dephosphorylated.⁸⁷ An increase in cerebral arterial pressure from 10 to 120 mm Hg increased the phosphorylation of both HSP27 and cofilin. ROCK inhibition by H1152 prevented the pressure-induced phosphorylation of cofilin and PKC inhibition by GF109203X prevented the pressure-induced phosphorylation of HSP27.33 Furthermore, enhancement of cofilin phosphorylation by cyclosporin A (an inhibitor of the type 2B protein serine/threonine phosphatase that dephosphorylates cofilin) induced further vasoconstriction and actin polymerization. On the other hand, blockade of PKC-mediated HSP27 phosphorylation by direct binding of the biphenyl isoxazole derivative, KRIBB3, reversed the myogenic response and actin polymerization.³³ The signaling pathways suggested to mediate actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle are summarized in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Signaling pathways leading to actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle in response to contractile stimuli. Agonists and increased intraluminal pressure trigger the formation of adhesion complexes leading to the activation of ROCK and PKC. One of the substrates of activated ROCK is LIM kinase (LIMK), which phosphorylates cofilin, whereas HSP27 is phosphorylated by PKC. Phosphorylated cofilin and HSP27 enhance actin polymerization in the sub-sarcolemmal domain. This involves branching of cortical actin filaments and the formation of new sites of interaction with the sarcolemma via integrins, thereby enhancing force transmission from the contractile machinery to the extracellular matrix and vasoconstriction.

6. Pathophysiological Considerations

Vascular smooth muscle contractile dysfunction underlies numerous pathologies such as hypertension and cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Defects in signaling mechanisms likely contribute to such pathologies and ROCK and PKC have received particular attention in this regard.^{73,88} Given their involvement in regulation of actin filament dynamics, it is conceivable that deficien-

cies in ROCK and/or PKC signaling may be involved in the etiology of cardiovascular defects. For example, inward eutrophic remodeling of resistance arteries, triggered by prolonged vasoconstriction, is detected early in the development of essential hypertension, and is dependent upon actin polymerization.⁸⁹ Changes in the actin cytoskeleton of vascular smooth muscle cells also contribute to increases in aortic stiffness during ageing.90,91 Defective ROCK signaling has been implicated in dysfunctional myogenic regulation of cerebral blood flow in type 2 diabetes.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ In a streptozotocininduced rat diabetic model, enhanced myofilament Ca2+ sensitivity observed in mesenteric and tail arteries was attributed to increased ROCK and, to a lesser extent, PKC activities.95 Recent studies of the Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rat model of non-obese type 2 diabetes suggested that abnormal ROCK-mediated Ca²⁺ sensitization of rat cerebral arterial constriction contributes to the dysfunctional myogenic control of cerebral blood flow observed in this disease condition.96 Specifically, basal myogenic tone, LC₂₀ phosphorylation and phosphorylation of MYPT1 at threonine-855 were elevated and G-actin content was reduced in cerebral arteries of pre-diabetic GK rats exhibiting normal serum insulin and glucose levels. Furthermore, pressure-dependent myogenic vasoconstriction, LC20 and MYPT1 phosphorylation and actin polymerization were suppressed in both pre-diabetic and diabetic GK rats. As more is learned about the signaling pathways responsible for Ca²⁺ sensitization of vascular smooth muscle contraction, and the defects that lead to pathological situations, the potential for development of novel therapeutics will be enhanced.

Acknowledgments

Work in the authors' laboratories is funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-111262, MOP-97988 and MOP-13505). WCC is the Andrew Family Professor in Cardiovascular Research and MPW was an Alberta Innovates — Health Solutions Scientist and Canada Research Chair in Vascular Smooth Muscle Research. The authors are very grateful to the following individuals who have made significant contributions to the work in the authors' laboratories that is described herein: Khaled Abd-Elrahman, Christine M. Campbell, Olaia Colinas, Ahmed El-Yazbi, Rosalyn P. Johnson, Alejandro Moreno-Domínguez, Kosuke Takeya, Emma J. Walsh, Xi Zoë Zhong and Hai-Lei Zhu.

References

- 1. Mulvany MJ and Aalkjaer C. (1990) Structure and function of small arteries. *Physiol Rev* 70: 921–961.
- 2. Sutera SP and Skalak R. (1993) The history of Poiseuille's law. Annu Rev Fluid Mech 25: 1–19.
- 3. Olsen TS, Larsen B, Herning M, Skriver EB, *et al.* (1983) Blood flow and vascular reactivity in collaterally perfused brain tissue. Evidence of an ischemic penumbra in patients with acute stroke. *Stroke* **14**: 332–341.
- 4. Osol G and Halpern W. (1985) Myogenic properties of cerebral blood vessels from normotensive and hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **249**: H914–H921.
- Immink RV, van den Born BJ, van Montfrans GA, Koopmans RP, et al. (2004) Impaired cerebral autoregulation in patients with malignant hypertension. *Circulation* 110: 2241–2245.
- 6. Jarajapu YP and Knot HJ. (2005) Relative contribution of Rho kinase and protein kinase C to myogenic tone in rat cerebral arteries in hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **289**: H1917–H1922.
- Kim YS, Immink RV, Stok WJ, Karemaker JM, *et al.* (2008) Dynamic cerebral autoregulatory capacity is affected early in Type 2 diabetes. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) 115: 255–262.
- 8. Faraci FM and Heistad DD. (1990) Regulation of large cerebral arteries and cerebral microvascular pressure. *Circ Res* 66: 8–17.
- 9. Davis MJ and Hill MA. (1999) Signaling mechanisms underlying the vascular myogenic response. *Physiol Rev* **79**: 387–423.
- 10. Schubert R and Mulvany MJ. (1999) The myogenic response: established facts and attractive hypotheses. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) 96: 313–326.
- Osol G, Brekke JF, McElroy-Yaggy K and Gokina NI. (2002) Myogenic tone, reactivity, and forced dilatation: a three-phase model of *in vitro* arterial myogenic behaviour. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 283: H2260–H2267.

- Walsh MP and Cole WC. (2013) The role of actin filament dynamics in the myogenic response of cerebral resistance arteries. *J Cerebr Blood Flow Metab* 33: 1–12.
- 13. Allen BG and Walsh MP. (1994) The biochemical basis of the regulation of smooth-muscle contraction. *Trends Biochem Sci* 19: 362–368.
- 14. Somlyo AP and Somlyo AV. 1994. Signal transduction and regulation in smooth muscle. *Nature* **372**: 231–236.
- 15. Kamm KE and Stull JT. (2001) Dedicated myosin light chain kinases with diverse cellular functions. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 4527–4530.
- 16. Cole WC and Welsh DG. (2011) Role of myosin light chain kinase and myosin light chain phosphatase in the resistance arterial myogenic response to intravascular pressure. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **510**: 160–173.
- Hartshorne DJ, Ito M and Erdődi F. (2004) Role of protein phosphatase type 1 in contractile functions: Myosin phosphatase. J Biol Chem 279: 37211–37214.
- Somlyo AP and Somlyo AV. (2003) Ca²⁺ sensitivity of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II: Modulated by G proteins, kinases, and myosin phosphatase. *Physiol Rev* 83: 1325–1358.
- 19. Somlyo AP and Somlyo AV. (2004) Signal transduction through the RhoA/Rho-kinase pathway in smooth muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **25**: 613–615.
- 20. Hirano K. (2007) Current topics in the regulatory mechanism underlying the Ca²⁺ sensitization of the contractile apparatus in vascular smooth muscle. *J Pharmacol Sci* **104**: 109–115.
- Kitazawa T, Eto M, Woodsome TP and Brautigan DL. (2000) Agonists trigger G protein-mediated activation of the CPI-17 inhibitor phosphoprotein of myosin light chain phosphatase to enhance vascular smooth muscle contractility. *J Biol Chem* 275: 9897–9900.
- 22. Borysova L, Shabir S, Walsh MP and Burdyga T. (2011) The importance of Rho-associated kinase-induced Ca²⁺ sensitization as a component of electromechanical and pharmacomechanical coupling in rat ureteric smooth muscle. *Cell Calcium* **50**: 393–405.
- Butler T, Paul J, Europe-Finner N, Smith R, *et al.* (2013) Role of serinethreonine phosphoprotein phosphatases in smooth muscle contractility. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 304: C485–C504.
- 24. Hayashi Y, Senba S, Yazawa M, Brautigan DL, *et al.* (2001) Defining the structural determinants and a potential mechanism for inhibition of myosin phosphatase by the protein kinase C-potentiated inhibitor protein of 17 kDa. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 39858–39863.

- 25. Ohki S, Eto M, Kariya E, Hayano T, *et al.* (2001) Solution NMR structure of the myosin phosphatase inhibitor protein CPI-17 shows phosphorylation-induced conformational changes responsible for activation. *J Mol Biol* **314**: 839–849.
- 26. Dimopoulos GJ, Senba S, Kitazawa K, Eto M, *et al.* (2007) Ca²⁺ dependent rapid Ca²⁺ sensitization of contraction in arterial smooth muscle. *Circ Res* **100**: 121–129.
- 27. Eto M. (2009) Regulation of cellular protein phosphatase-1 (PP1) by phosphorylation of the CPI-17 family, C-kinase-activated PP1 inhibitors. *J Biol Chem* **284**: 35273–35277.
- Gokina NI, Park KM, McElry-Yaggy K and Osol G. (2005) Effects of Rho kinase inhibition on cerebral artery myogenic tone and reactivity. *J Appl Physiol* 98: 1940–1948.
- 29. Johnson RP, El-Yazbi AF, Takeya K, Walsh EJ, *et al.* (2009) Ca²⁺ sensitization via phosphorylation of myosin phosphatase targeting subunit at threonine-855 by Rho kinase contributes to the arterial myogenic response. *J Physiol* **58**7: 2537–2553.
- El-Yazbi AF, Johnson RP, Walsh EJ, Takeya K, *et al.* (2010) Pressuredependent contribution of Rho kinase-mediated calcium sensitization in serotonin-evoked vasoconstriction of rat cerebral arteries. *J Physiol* 588: 1747–1762.
- 31. Moreno-Domínguez A, Colinas O, El-Yazbi AF, Walsh EJ, *et al.* (2013) Ca²⁺ sensitization due to myosin light chain phosphatase inhibition and cytoskeletal reorganization in the myogenic response of skeletal muscle resistance arteries. *J Physiol* **591**: 1235–1250.
- 32. Corteling RL, Brett SE, Yin H, Zheng X-L, *et al.* (2007) The functional consequence of RhoA knockdown by RNA interference in rat cerebral arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**: H440–H447.
- 33. Moreno-Domínguez A, El-Yazbi AF, Zhu H-L, Colinas O, *et al.* (2014) Cytoskeletal reorganization evoked by Rho-associated kinase- and protein kinase C-catalyzed phosphorylation of cofilin and heat shock protein 27, respectively, contributes to myogenic constriction of rat cerebral arteries. *J Biol Chem* 289: 20939–20952.
- Gunst SJ and Zhang W. (2008) Actin cytoskeletal dynamics: a new paradigm for the regulation of smooth muscle contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 295: C576–C587.
- 35. Cipolla MJ, Gokina NI and Osol G. (2002) Pressure-induced actin polymerization in vascular smooth muscle as a mechanism underlying myogenic behaviour. *FASEB J* 16: 72–76.

- Flavahan NA, Bailey SR, Flavahan WA, Mitra S, *et al.* (2005) Imaging remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton in vascular smooth muscle cells after mechanosensitive arteriolar constriction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288: H660–H669.
- 37. Srinivasan R, Forman S, Quinlan RA, Ohanian J, *et al.* (2008) Regulation of contractility by Hsp27 and Hic-5 in rat mesenteric small arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **294**: H961–H969.
- 38. Adler KB, Krill J, Alberghini TV and Evans JN. (1983) Effect of cytochalasin D on smooth muscle contraction. *Cell Motil* **3**: 545–551.
- 39. Tseng S, Kim R, Kim T, Morgan KG, *et al.* (1997) F-actin disruption attenuates agonist-induced [Ca²⁺], myosin phosphorylation, and force in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 272: C1960–C1967.
- 40. Youn T, Kim SA and Hai CM. (1998) Length-dependent modulation of smooth muscle activation: effects of agonist, cytochalasin, and temperature. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **274**: C1601–C1607.
- 41. Mehta D and Gunst SJ. (1999) Actin polymerization stimulated by contractile activation regulates force development in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **519**: 829–840.
- 42. Shaw L, Ahmed S, Austin C.and Taggart MJ. (2003) Inhibitors of actin filament polymerization attenuate force but not global intracellular calcium in isolated pressurized resistance arteries. *J Vasc Res* **40**:1–10.
- 43. Ohanian V, Gatfield K and Ohanian J. (2005) Role of the actin cytoskeleton in G-protein-coupled receptor activation of PYK2 and paxillin in vascular smooth muscle. *Hypertension* **4**: 93–99.
- 44. Chen X, Pavlish K, Zhang HY and Benoit JN. (2006) Effects of chronic portal hypertension on agonist-induced actin polymerization in small mesenteric arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 290: H1915–H1921.
- 45. Rembold CM, Tejani AD, Ripley ML and Han S. (2007) Paxillin phosphorylation, actin polymerization, noise temperature, and the sustained phase of swine carotid artery contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **293**: C993–C1002.
- 46. Kim HR, Graceffa P, Ferron F, Gallant C, et al. (2010) Actin polymerization in differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells requires vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 298: C559–C571.
- Tang DD and Tan J. (2003) Role of Crk-associated substrate in the regulation of vascular smooth muscle contraction. *Hypertension* 42: 858–863.

- 48. Tang DD and Gunst SJ. (2004) The small GTPase Cdc42 regulates actin polymerization and tension development during contractile stimulation of smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* 279: 51722–51728.
- 49. Zhang W, Wu Y, Du L, Tang DD, *et al.* (2005) Activation of the Arp2/3 complex by N-WASp is required for actin polymerization and contraction in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **288**: C1145–C1160.
- Zhang W, Du L and Gunst SJ. (2010) The effects of the small GTPase RhoA on the muscarinic contraction of airway smooth muscle result from its role in regulating actin polymerization. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 299: C298–C306.
- 51. Small JV. (1995) Structure-function relationships in smooth muscle: The missing links. *Bioessays* 17: 785–792.
- 52. Lehman W and Morgan KG. (2012) Structure and dynamics of the actin-based smooth muscle contractile and cytoskeletal apparatus. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **33**: 461–469.
- 53. Yamin R and Morgan KG. (2012) Deciphering actin cytoskeletal function in the contractile vascular smooth muscle cell. *J Physiol* **590**: 4145–4154.
- 54. Kim HR, Leavis PC, Graceffa P, Gallant C, *et al.* (2010) A new method for direct detection of the sites of actin polymerization in intact cells and its application to differentiated vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 299: C988–C993.
- 55. Kim HR, Gallant C, Leavis PC, Gunst SJ, *et al.* (2008) Cytoskeletal remodeling in differentiated vascular smooth muscle is actin isoform dependent and stimulus dependent. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **295**: C768–C778.
- 56. Gallant C, Appel S, Graceffa P, Leavis P, et al. (2011) Tropomyosin variants describe distinct functional subcellular domains in differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 300: C1356–C1365.
- 57. Zhang W, Huang Y, Wu Y and Gunst SJ. (2015) A novel role for RhoA GTPase in the regulation of airway smooth muscle contraction. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **93**: 129–136.
- 58. Ogden K, Thompson JM, Hickner Z, Huang T, *et al.* (2006) A new signaling paradigm for serotonin: use of a Crk-associated substrate in arterial contraction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **291**: H2857–H2863.
- 59. Wang Z, Pavalko FM and Gunst SJ. (1996) Tyrosine phosphorylation of the dense plaque protein paxillin is regulated during smooth muscle contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 271: C1594–C1602.

- Tang DD, Wu M, Opazo Saez AM and Gunst SJ. (2002) The focal adhesion protein paxillin regulates contraction in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 542: 501–513.
- 61. Opazo Saez A, Zhang W, Wu Y, Turner CE, *et al.* (2004) Tension development during contractile stimulation of smooth muscle requires recruitment of paxillin and vinculin to the membrane. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **286**: C433–C447.
- Zhang W and Gunst SJ. (2006) Dynamic association between α-actinin and β-integrin regulates contraction of canine tracheal smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 572: 659–676.
- 63. Huang Y, Zhang W and Gunst SJ. (2011) Activation of vinculin induced by cholinergic stimulation regulates contraction of tracheal smooth muscle tissue. *J Biol Chem* **286**: 3630–3644.
- 64. Pavalko FM, Adam LP, Wu MF, Walker TL, *et al.* (1995) Phosphorylation of dense-plaque proteins talin and paxillin during tracheal smooth muscle contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **268**: C563–C571.
- 65. Gutsche-Perelroizen I, Lepault J, Ott A and Carlier MF. (1999) Filament assembly from profilin-actin. *J Biol Chem* **274**: 6234–6243.
- 66. Zhao R, Du L, Huang Y, Wu Y, *et al.* (2008) Actin depolymerization factor/cofilin activation regulates actin polymerization and tension development in canine tracheal smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **283**: 36522–36531.
- 67. Komalavilas P, Penn RB, Flynn CR, Thresher J, *et al.* (2008) The small heat shock-related protein, HSP20, is a cAMP-dependent protein kinase substrate that is involved in airway smooth muscle relaxation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **294**: L69–L78.
- 68. Wu Y and Gunst SJ. (2015) Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) regulates actin polymerization and contraction in airway smooth muscle by a vinculin-dependent mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **290**: 11403–11416.
- 69. Zhang W, Huang Y and Gunst SJ. (2012) The small GTPase RhoA regulates the contraction of smooth muscle tissues by catalyzing the assembly of cytoskeletal signaling complexes at membrane adhesion sites. *J Biol Chem* **287**: 33996–34008.
- 70. Colinas O, Moreno-Domínguez A, Zhu H-L, Walsh EJ, *et al.* (2015) α_5 -Integrin-mediated cellular signaling contributes to the myogenic response of cerebral resistance arteries. *Biochem Pharmacol* 97: 281–291.
- 71. Mufti RE, Zecharia A, Sancho M, Mazumdar N, *et al.* (2015) Implications of $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ integrin signaling in the regulation of Ca²⁺ waves and myogenic tone in cerebral arteries. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **35**: DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.305619.

- 72. Andrea JE and Walsh MP. (1992) Protein kinase C of smooth muscle. *Hypertension* **20**: 585–595.
- 73. Salamanca DA and Khalil RA. (2005) Protein kinase C isoforms as specific targets for modulation of vascular smooth muscle function in hypertension. *Biochem Pharmacol* **70**: 1537–1547.
- 74. Wieske M, Benndorf R, Behlke J, Dölling R, *et al.* (2001) Defined sequence segments of the small heat shock proteins HSP25 and αB-crystallin inhibit actin polymerization. *Eur J Biochem* **268**: 2083–2090.
- 75. Wang H, Robinson RC and Burtnick LD. (2010) The structure of native G-actin. *Cytoskeleton* 67: 456–465.
- 76. Miron T, Vancompernolle K, Vandekerckhove J, Wilchek M, et al. (1991) A 25-kD inhibitor of actin polymerization is a low molecular mass heat shock protein. J Cell Biol 114: 255–261.
- 77. Maizels ET, Peters CA, Kline M, Cutler Jr RE, *et al.* (1998) Heat-shock protein-25/27 phosphorylation by the delta isoform of protein kinase C. *Biochem J* 332: 703–712.
- 78. Kato K, Ito H, Iwamoto L, Lida K, *et al.* (2001) Protein kinase inhibitors can suppress stress-induced dissociation of Hsp27. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 6: 16–20.
- 79. Mounier N and Arrigo AP. (2002) Actin cytoskeleton and small heat shock proteins: how do they interact? *Cell Stress Chaperones* 7: 167–176.
- 80. El-Yazbi AF, Abdelrahman KS and Moreno-Domínguez A. (2015) PKC-mediated cerebral vasoconstriction: Role of myosin light chain phosphorylation *versus* actin cytoskeleton reorganization. *Biochem Pharmacol* **95**: 263–278.
- Bernard O. (2007) Lim kinases, regulators of actin dynamics. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39: 1071–1076.
- Dai Y-P, Bongalon S, Mutafova-Yambolieva VN and Yamboliev IA. (2008) Distinct effects of contraction agonists on the phosphorylation state of cofilin in pulmonary artery smooth muscle. *Adv Pharmacol Sci* 2008: doi: 10.1155/2008/362741.
- Tejani AD, Wash MP and Rembold CM. (2011) Tissue length modulates "stimulated actin polymerization", force augmentation, and the rate of swine carotid arterial contraction. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 301: C1470–C1478.
- 84. Tejani AD and Rembold CM. (2010) Force augmentation and stimulated actin polymerization in swine carotid artery. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 298: C182–C190.

- 85. Agnew BJ, Minamide LS and Bamburg JR. (1995) Reactivation of phosphorylated actin depolymerizing factor and identification of the regulatory site. *J Biol Chem* **270**: 17582–17587.
- 86. Moriyama K, Iida K and Yahara I. (1996) Phosphorylation of Ser-3 of cofilin regulates its essential function on actin. *Genes Cells* 1: 73–86.
- 87. Gohla A and Bokoch GM. (2002) 14-3-3 regulates actin dynamics by stabilizing phosphorylated cofilin. *Curr Biol* **12**: 1704–1710.
- 88. Shimokawa H and Satoh K. (2015) Translational research on Rho-kinase in cardiovascular medicine. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **35**: 1756–1769.
- Castorena-Gonzalez JA, Staiculescu MC, Foote C and Martinez-Lemus LA. (2014) Mechanisms of the inward remodeling process in resistance vessels: Is the actin cytoskeleton involved? *Microcirculation* 21: 219–229.
- 90. Qiu H, Zhu Y, Sun Z, Trzeciakowski JP, *et al.* (2010) Vascular smooth muscle cell stiffness as a mechanism for increased aortic stiffness with aging. *Circ Res* **107**: 615–619.
- Saphirstein RJ and Morgan KG. (2014) The contribution of vascular smooth muscle to aortic stiffness across length scales. *Microcirculation* 21: 201–207.
- 92. Didion SP, Lynch CM, Baumbach GL and Faraci FM. (2005) Impaired endothelium-dependent responses and enhanced influence of Rhokinase in cerebral arterioles in type II diabetes. *Stroke* **36**: 342–347.
- 93. Kold-Petersen H, Brøndum E, Nilsson H, Flybvjerg A, *et al.* (2012) Impaired myogenic tone in isolated cerebral and coronary arteries from the goto-kakizaki rat model of type 2 diabetes. *J Vasc Res* **49**: 267–278.
- 94. Rao MY, Soliman H, Bankar G, Lin G, *et al.* (2013) Contribution of Rho-kinase to blood pressure elevation and vasoconstrictor responsiveness in type 2 diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. *J Hypertens* **31**: 1160–1169.
- 95. Kizub IV, Pavlova OO, Johnson CD, Soloviev AL, et al. (2010) Rho kinase and protein kinase C involvement in vascular smooth muscle myofilament calcium sensitization in arteries from diabetic rats. Br J Pharmacol 159: 1724–1731.
- 96. Abd-Elrahman K, Colinas O, Walsh EJ, Zhu H-L, et al. (2015) Abnormal myosin phosphatase targeting subunit (MYPT1) phosphorylation and actin polymerization contribute to impaired myogenic regulation of cerebral arterial diameter in the type 2 diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rat. J Cerebr Blood Flow Metab, in press. DOI: 10.177/0271678x15622463.

Chapter 5

Developmental Basis of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypes

Christine Cheung^{*,†,‡} and Balakrishnan Chakrapani Narmada*

*Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Agency for Science, Technology and Research, Singapore [†]Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore [‡]christine.cheung1@yahoo.com

Vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs) comprise the predominant cell type in the walls of blood vessels.¹ In adult organisms, SMCs play a role in vascular homeostasis, and their contractile capability helps to sustain vessel tone, as well as mediate hemodynamics. It is intriguing that certain vascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis and aneurysms, tend to afflict specific regions of the larger blood vessels despite most of the identified risk factors being systemic.² Interestingly, there is now compelling evidence that SMCs from different blood vessels and even different regions within the same vessel originate from diverse embryonic lineages.³ This raises the question of whether the intrinsic differences between SMCs underlying different regions of the vasculature may contribute to disease development.

Due to the difficulty of obtaining SMC progenitors from embryos and SMC subtypes from tissues in sufficient quantities, the relation between heterogeneity of SMC embryonic origins and anatomic localization of vascular diseases has not been studied extensively. Human embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) offer an unparalleled resource to obtain early SMC progenitors and SMCs of defined lineages. The growing importance of SMC lineage diversity in the site-specific manifestation of vascular diseases is beginning to be recognized. Despite a paucity of studies investigating the molecular-genetic differences between SMC subtypes, several notable lineage-specific differences in SMC development, as well as their relevance to disease will be presented.

1. Phenotypic Modulation of Smooth Muscle Cells

Plasticity is a hallmark of SMC phenotypes. In the physiological state, SMCs are highly contractile with low proliferative and migrative capacities. On the other hand, in cases of vascular pathologies such as atherosclerosis, SMCs migrate from media layer into the intima, and transform from contractile state to synthetic phenotype. These two contrasting phenotypes have several demarcating characteristics. Morphologically, contractile SMCs are spindle-shaped whereas synthetic SMCs are epitheloid or form a monolayer with their cobblestone appearance. Functionally, contractile SMCs are important for maintaining the structural integrity of blood vessel walls. Their ability to contract and relax helps to control vessel tone, hence sustaining normal blood pressure. Distinct profiles of secreted proteins also underpin the differences between the two SMC phenotypes. Healthy SMCs express contractile filament proteins such as alpha-smooth muscle actin, smooth muscle myosin heavy chain, smoothelins and cellular retinol binding protein, which are largely involved in their contractile ability and maintenance of vessel wall architecture. However, synthetic SMCs produce a plethora of proteins associated with extracellular matrix, vessel remodeling and repair. Specific proteins such as S1004A and calmodulin have been associated with the synthetic phenotype, whereas smooth muscle myosin heavy chain is only expressed by contractile SMCs.

1.1. Triggers of Phenotypic Modulation

Injury to the endothelial lining gradually develops into excessive lipid accumulation, apoptosis, necrosis, and accumulation of plaque within

the vessel wall.⁴ Endothelial cells modify circulating low-density lipoproteins (LDLs) into their oxidized form.⁵ Exposure to oxidized LDLs induces phenotypic switching of the medial SMCs by downregulating contractile markers.⁶ Oxidized LDLs also cause an increase in nuclear translocation of kruppel-like transcription factor 4 (Klf4).7 Extensive studies showed that the G/C repressor regulated by Klf4 binding is required for transcriptional supression of SMC marker genes.^{8,9} Interestingly, Klf4 and Klf5 are major targets for microRNAs miR-145, miR-146a and miR-25. These microRNAs are known to promote the expression of contractile and cytoskeletal proteins in SMCs. It has also been shown that inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and IL-1 β can increase the expression of lipoprotein scavenger receptors including the lectin-type oxidized LDL receptor 1 in both SMCs and endothelial cells, causing atherogenesis.¹⁰ A recent study demonstrated platelet-derived growth factor-BB-induced dedicator of cytokinesis-2 (DOCK-2) as a novel regulator of the SMC phenotype. High expression of DOCK-2 leads to a suppression of the SMC contractile phenotype. DOCK-2 was shown to work hand in hand with Klf4 in the inhibition of myocardin binding to serum response factor, thereby attenuating myocardin-dependent SMC promoter activity.11

Another important contributor of SMC phenotypic switching is mechanical stimuli, both directly on SMCs or indirectly through differences in endothelial-based regulation of vascular tone. Endothelial cells mediate blood flow and pressure through nitric oxide release, as well as direct cell-cell interactions. Mechanical triggers such as shear and tensile stresses, in turn, could induce endothelial cell-based changes in the vasculature and thereby alter SMC phenotypes. Co-culture of SMCs with endothelial cells was able to cause phenotypic switching to a synthetic SMC phenotype.¹² On the other hand, mechanical strain causes a shift towards the contractile phenotype.¹³ Changes in the mechanical strain of the matrix substrates can also alter the SMCs phenotype directly as shown by increased expression of caldesmon in SMCs grown on laminin compared to those on collagens.¹⁴ Mechanosensing pathways are postulated to result in an increased expression of smooth muscle myosin heavy chain.¹⁵ Shear stress can vary largely

between a pro-atherogenic and an anti-atherogenic flow. Phenotypic modulation of resident wall SMCs partly contribute plaque development and formation of fibrous cap. Response of SMCs to varying shear stress patterns may determine plaque stability to rupture.¹⁶ Studies in animals have investigated the role of shear stress in plaque formation by exposing the hypercholesterolaemic apolipoprotein E-deficient mice with two different shear stress fields. These studies have found that low non-oscillatory shear stress induces thin-cap fibrous atheromas which are the major cause of coronary heart diseases. Increased expression of adhesion factors, chemokines and macrophage activating factors occur in the presence of low non-oscillatory shear stress. This culminates in elevated uptake and activation of inflammatory cells in the plaques, leading to thin-cap fibrous atheromas found in murine and porcine models, as well as human carotid and coronary arteries.¹⁷⁻²¹ On the contrary, low oscillatory shear stress patterns lead to the formation of stable plaques. Thus, phenotypic modulation of SMCs could impact on the regulation of vascular tone, composition and stability of plaque, and pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.

1.2. Influence of Embryonic Origins on Regional Differences of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

The heterogeneity of vascular SMCs could be attributed to their diverse embrylogical origins. These subtypes localize in particular domains within the vascular tree with almost no intermixing. This leads to an interesting hypothesis that specific SMC subtypes and their location within the systemic vasculature play a critical role in the distinct physiological functions. This heterogeneity might even determine the pathological outcomes that manifest only in certain vessel regions depsite a systemic trigger.²² One such example would be the proximal aorta with SMCs originating from two diverse embryonic origins: neural crest and somitic mesoderm.^{23,24} The SMC subtypes from different embryonic origins in the aorta at such proximity ascertained the existence of distinct phenotypic differences

within the aortic sub-regions, which merges into a single phenotype in the adult aorta.²⁵ This shows that the specific SMC phenotypic features are determined to a large extent by their embryonic lineages. Congenital cardiovascular disorders also occur at the boundaries of vessel subdomains with SMC subtypes from different lineages. Coarctation of the aorta and aortic arch interruption are two such congenital disorders with regional susceptibility.^{26,27} Surgical repair of affected regions does not entirely prevent the patients from recoarctation later in their lives,²⁸ suggesting that the root of the problem remains unsolved. Further studies focusing on the relationship between SMC embryonic origins and spatial-specific vulnerability would shed light on mechanistic insights and intervention to control these disease conditions. A classic example would be the variant Hox gene expressions that underpin distinct vascular phenotypes.^{29,30} Hox6-10 genetic signatures was postulated to preserve the positional identity of vascular tree based upon their embryonic origins. Embryonic origins influence SMC phenotypes and hence may give rise to differential predispositions to atherosclerosis in the thoracic aorta and the atherosclerosis-prone ascending aorta.³¹ Such positionspecific hox expression profile was also observed during in vitro differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells towards neural crest-derived SMCs and somite-derived aortic SMCs. Correspondingly, both basal and TNF- α -stimulated NF κ B activation and DNA binding were greater in SMCs of the atherosclerosis-prone ascending aorta compared to that in the atherosclerosis-resistant thoracic aorta.^{31,32} Thus embryonic origin of the vascular SMCs indeed is one of the key determinants of their physiological and pathological processes. On the other hand, a corollary hypothesis to investigate would be the study of SMC subtypes of the same lineage but within different vessels to understand importance of regional relevance and the environmental influences. For example, SMCs of the neural crest lineage reside within two different vessels namely the ductus arteriosus and the atherosclerosis-prone ascending aorta. Regional differences in genetic signatures and ion channel expressions are observed despite similar SMC lineage.³³ Further insights into the phenotypic differences from embryonic origins and their positional relevance

could lead to novel therapeutic interventions that address the causal problem of vascular diseases.

2. Molecular Basis of Lineage-specific Differences in Vascular Smooth Muscle Subtypes

2.1. Embryonic Smooth Muscle Cells

The molecular mechanisms of how SMC progenitors arising from diverse lineages commit to a common SMC fate during development remain elusive. Nonetheless, a few transcriptional co-activators of serum response factor have been found to be implicated in regulating SMC differentiation in a lineage-specific manner. Myocardin-like 2 protein (MKL2) is one such transcriptional co-activator of serum response factor. Its loss-of-function in mice is embryonic lethal but the main cardiovascular defects are manifested in cardiac outflow tract³⁴ and branchial arch arteries,³⁵ both of which are neural crest derivatives. Therefore, there is a unique involvement of MKL2 in neural crest-derived SMCs. On the other hand, TGFB signaling seems to influence SMC development differently depending on the location of SMCs in the vasculature. Mouse embryos with conditional deletion of the TGFβ type II receptor (TGFBR2) gene in cells expressing the SMC-specific TAGLN gene displayed defective SMC differentiation only in the mesoderm derivatives such as coronary vessels and descending thoracic aorta but not pulmonary trunk, a neuroectoderm derivative.³⁶ Another SMC-specific TGFBR2 knockout study demonstrated abnormalities of extracellular matrix protein synthesis and SMC differentiation in descending aortas but not cardiac outflow vessels.³⁷ Impairment of TGFB signaling exacerbates SMC development primarily in mesoderm-derived vessels. Hence, various embryonic lineages appear to differentiate into SMCs through distinct pathways.

Embryonic SMCs respond in a lineage-dependent way to environmental cues during vascular development and morphogenesis. When cardiac neural crest and nodose placode are ablated in the avian embryo, lateral plate mesoderm-derived SMCs are in turn recruited to make up the walls of aortic arch arteries.³⁸ Under normal circumstances, lateral plate mesoderm does not contribute SMCs to proximal arterial structures. Nonetheless, in the absence of neuroectodermal features, replacement by lateral plate mesoderm-derived SMCs has resulted in disorganized and hypoplastic vessel walls of aortic arch, subclavian and pulmonary arteries. This is apparently due to the incapacity of lateral plate mesoderm-derived SMCs to respond correctly to local signals for remodeling of the proximal arteries. Moreover, SMCs isolated from different aortic regions in avian embryos exhibit differential growth and contractile responses to TGF\$1. TGF\$1 promotes cell proliferation of cultured neuroectodermal SMCs but inhibits growth of mesodermal SMCs derived from the same aortic vessels.^{39,40} In addition, collagen I and elastin are found to be more abundant in neuroectodermal SMCs upon TGFβ1 stimulation. It is postulated that Myb and Myc function specifically in neuroectodermal SMCs to potentiate TGFB1induced mitogenesis and matrix synthesis. Conversely, TGFB1 elicits a stronger contractile response by mesodermal SMCs than neuroectodermal SMCs in collagen gel contraction assay, possibly mediated through greater expression of α5β1-integrin in mesodermal SMCs.⁴⁰ Therefore, SMCs from different embryonic origins respond in lineagespecific ways to common stimuli during growth and remodeling of blood vessels.

2.2. Postnatal Smooth Muscle Cells

The phenotypic diversity of SMCs in the mature vascular tree could be attributed to their heterogeneous embryonic origins as well. Interestingly, the wall of aorta is a mosaic of SMC subtypes arising from distinct origins but with well-defined boundaries separating regions of origin-specific SMCs. The frequently observed site-specific pathologic patterns in the aorta have spurred transcriptome profiling of different aortic regions from animal models. A genome-wide microarray compares gene expression of SMCs from aortic arch and thoracic descending aorta in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice which are the standard mouse model for atherogenesis.⁴¹ Genes which are differentially upregulated in aortic arch SMCs of neuroectodermal origin are related to pro-atherogenic processes such as cell proliferation, motility, immune response and apoptosis, consistent with aortic
arch being the more atherosclerosis-prone region. Another microarray analysis of baboon aortas reveals intrinsic expression differences of a panel of HOX genes in the thoracic and abdominal aortas.⁴² In particular, HOXA4, a DNA-binding transcription factor, is spatiotemporally regulated during development to regulate morphogenesis and differentiation. HOXA4 is significantly higher in SMCs of human thoracic aortas compared to that of abdominal aortas. Human abdominal aortic aneurysmal tissues demonstrate decreased HOXA4 expression versus non-aneurysmal controls. Furthermore, cultured human SMCs show decreased levels of HOXA4 when treated with interferon- γ , an inflammatory cytokine implicated in the development of abdominal aortic aneurysm. These evidences seem to imply a protective role of HOXA4 and could explain why the thoracic aorta is relatively less susceptible to aneurysms due to higher endogenous level of HOXA4.

SMC subtypes from different origins, and hence different vascular regions may respond variably to systemic disease mediators. Angiotensin II (Ang II) infusion into mice induces medial expansion throughout the aorta but its pathogenesis in ascending aorta proceeds via a different mechanism from the rest of the aorta.⁴³ Ascending aortic SMCs of neuroectodermal origin undergo hyperplasia when induced by Ang II while SMCs of mesodermal origins from other aortic regions exhibit hypertrophy. Inhibitor of differentiation 3 (Id3), a critical downstream regulator of BMP signaling, is then found to exist in higher abundance in SMCs of ascending aorta and that Id3 deficiency is able to abrogate the effect of Ang II-induced hyperplasia in ascending aortic SMCs. Thus, Id3 may function uniquely in neuroectodermal SMCs to mediate cell proliferation. Aortic arch which is composed of neuroectodermal SMCs is also found to develop medial calcification faster than the other arterial regions in a mouse model deficient in matrix Gla protein, a potent calcification inhibitor. The expression of tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase, an indicator of SMC osteogenic conversion, is significantly upregulated in aortic arch during mineralization but hardly activated in the descending aorta which is made up of mesodermal SMCs. Therefore, the spatiotemporal development of vascular

diseases may be a consequence of lineage dependent differences in SMC subtypes. Other determinants of differential SMC responses, such as non-uniform hemodynamics and morphogenetic cues should not be neglected nonetheless.

2.3. Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-derived Smooth Muscle Cells

A model system which allows us to study the sole contribution of SMC origins to disease susceptibility would be valuable. A myriad of methods to derive smooth muscle progenitors and cells from human ESCs and iPSCs, collectively referred to as human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs), has been reviewed.⁴⁴ Insights from developmental biology are imperative in guiding rationales for hPSC differentiation. Directed differentiation of SMCs from hPSCs induction has leveraged mostly on the developmental paradigm of embryoid body formation, mesoderm induction and further induction to SMCs using specific growth factors.⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸ It has been found that after an initial mesoderm induction by GSK3 inhibition and BMP4, followed by activin A and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-BB, lead to highly efficient generation of CD140b+ SMCs. CD140b, a receptor for PDGF, marks a highly proliferative subset of SMCs, enabling them to respond to mitogens.⁴⁹ Cheung et al. developed a methodology to generate lineage-specific vascular SMCs from hPSCs in large numbers using chemically defined conditions.^{50,51} This method elegantly allows the derivation of specific SMC subtype progenitors in vitro through neuroectoderm- and mesoderm- lineages which would otherwise be difficult to obtain from developing embryos.⁵² Such lineage-specific SMCs had comparable characteristics as primary SMCs. Although the morphologies of SMC subtypes are indistinguishable, each SMC subtype maintained its own unique proliferative and secretome profile upon cytokine stimulation. Other recent work demonstrates that faithful recapitulation of early developmental cues in vitro enables efficient differentiation of hPSCs into epicardium and its derivatives. Stage-wise activation of BMP and Wnt signaling pathways by Witty et al. showed effective derivation of epicardial lineages

from hPSCs.⁵³ Likewise, Iyer *et al.* reported an *in vitro* model of epicardium, and epicardium-derived smooth muscle cells from hPSCs using a combination of agonists for BMP, Wnt and retinoic acid signaling pathways.⁵⁴

Given a multitude of microenvironment signals that guide differentiation of SMC subtypes in embryos, some aspects of SMC development may be difficult to realize through in vitro differentiation. Further morphological maturation could entail incorporation of biomimetic factors. Mechanical stimuli,⁵⁵ co-culture with other cell types⁵⁶ and three-dimensional cultures⁵⁷ have been known to promote vascular differentiation and maturation. It is likely that such dynamic culture situations could enhance refinement of SMC functional phenotypes. Our knowledge of how different embryonic lineages commit to a common SMC fate is still limited. As aforementioned, there are a few studies of lineage-dependent requirement of various serum response factor co-activators in vascular SMC development but epigenetic regulation in origin-specific SMC differentiation remains largely unknown.⁵⁸ The hPSC-derived SMC subtype system represents a great opportunity to dissect molecular pathways and to determine which pathways are common SMC pathways and which are lineage-specific.

3. Disease Modeling with Lineage-specific Smooth Muscle Cells

Embryonic origins of SMCs could be crucial in governing blood vessel health and disease. Generation of the lineage-specific SMCs *in vitro* can be an efficient tool to study congenital and vascular disorders with major lineage relevance.^{50,51} One of the key findings reveals that SMC subtypes of different embryonic origins displayed differential proteolytic abilities to degrade extracellular matrices in response to interleukin-1 β , an inflammatory cytokine commonly involved in vascular diseases. This could suggest that origin-specific SMC subtypes may have different vascular remodeling capabilities during disease settings. Subsequent work showed that specific SMC subtypes have varying levels of Notch 3 gene expression. The differential Notch 3 levels in turn regulate SMC markers in mature neuroectoderm-derived and paraxial mesoderm-lineages but not the lateral mesoderm-derived lineage.⁵⁹ For modeling of brain vasculature in neurodegenerative diseases, neural crest-derived SMCs have been used to recapitulate amyloid beta uptake and clearance mechanism *in vitro*, whereas mesoderm-derived SMCs were not as effective.⁶⁰ Such lineage-specific SMC subtypes can create useful platforms to investigate origin-dependent disease susceptibility and downstream therapeutic targets.⁶¹

There has been increasing recognition of the role of embryonic lineage on the regional distribution of certain congenital and acquired vascular diseases. The regional susceptibility to atherosclerosis in thoracic aneurysm was postulated to be caused by SMC subtypes arising from diverse mesenchymal populations in the embryo.⁶² Another example would be Marfan syndrome, caused by the misfolding of fibrillin-1, that results in weakening of vessel walls of the ascending aorta and arch which are populated with SMCs of neuroectodermal origin. Studies have shown that neuroectoderm-derived vascular SMCs respond appropriately to the physiological stimuli of Marfan syndrome.⁶³

With the advent of CRISPR/Cas9 technology, genome editing provides an avenue to study genetic disorders affecting specific regions of the vasculatures. Mutations and genetic risk variants could be introduced or genetically corrected to create isogenic sources of SMC subtypes. This allows unbiased comparison between wild type and mutant cell lines for mechanistic interrogation of disease-causing mutations. Genome-wide association studies in patient cohorts have identified polymorphisms that confer susceptibility to coronary artery disease, such as the 9p21 variants.⁶⁴ Lineage-specific SMC subtypes could be amenable to genome editing to unravel the causality of genetic risk variants in predisposing individuals to vascular pathologies.

4. Conclusion

Heterogeneity of vascular SMC phenotypes may have been determined early by the diversity of developmental origins (Fig. 1), alongside other factors such as hemodynamics. It is evident from both embryonic and postnatal SMCs that distinct pathways contribute to functional differences among SMC subtypes underlying different sites of the vasculatures. *In vitro* differentiation of SMCs from hPSCs



Fig. 1. Diverse embryonic lineages of vascular SMCs influence their responses to disease stimuli, leading to differential phenotypic changes.

has enabled the generation of large numbers of SMCs, which would otherwise be difficult to obtain due to donor unavailability. These stem cell-derived SMCs hold great potential for tissue engineering applications and regenerative medicine.⁶⁵ Large populations of pure SMCs can be used to perform high throughput drug screening and pharmacokinetic testing.⁶³ The robustness of iPSC technology has allowed the derivation of iPSCs from a wide range of tissues.66 Patient-specific iPSCs could capture genetic risk variants to facilitate investigation of causal disease mechanisms. Such patient iPSC platforms hold promise to predict individual responses to new therapies, moving one step closer to personalized medicine. Taken together, the use of lineage-specific SMCs will underpin the success of modeling genetic disorders affecting certain SMC subtypes. Our knowledge of the developmental basis of SMC could pave the way to devise more targeted therapeutic interventions for restoration of vascular health.

References

- 1. Carmeliet P. (2000) Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. *Nat Med* 6(4): 389–395.
- DeBakey ME and Glaeser DH. (2000) Patterns of atherosclerosis: Effect of risk factors on recurrence and survival-analysis of 11,890 cases with more than 25-year follow-up. *Am J Cardiol* 85(9): 1045–1053.

- Majesky MW (2007) Developmental basis of vascular smooth muscle diversity. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27(6): 1248–1258.
- Chaabane C, Coen M, and Bochaton-Piallat ML. (2014) Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switch: Implications for foam cell formation. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 25(5): 374–379.
- 5. Parthasarathy S, et al. (2010) Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, N.J.) 610: 403–417.
- 6. Yu J, *et al.* (2010) Oxidized low density lipoprotein-induced transdifferentiation of bone marrow-derived smooth muscle-like cells into foam-like cells *in vitro*. *Int J Exp Pathol* **91**(1): 24–33.
- Pidkovka NA, et al. (2007) Oxidized phospholipids induce phenotypic switching of vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. Circ Res 101(8): 792–801.
- Liu Y, *et al.* (2005) Kruppel-like factor 4 abrogates myocardin-induced activation of smooth muscle gene expression. *J Biol Chem* 280(10): 9719–9727.
- Salmon M, *et al.* (2012) Cooperative binding of KLF4, pELK-1, and HDAC2 to a G/C repressor element in the SM22alpha promoter mediates transcriptional silencing during SMC phenotypic switching in vivo. *Circ Res* 111(6): 685–696.
- 10. Lubrano V and Balzan S. (2013) LOX-1, a new marker of risk and prognosis in coronary artery disease? *Mol Cell Biochem* **383**(1–2): 223–230.
- Guo X, *et al.* (2015) Dedicator of cytokinesis 2, a novel regulator for smooth muscle phenotypic modulation and vascular remodeling. *Circ Res* 116(10): e71–e80.
- Hao H, *et al.* (2002) Heterogeneity of smooth muscle cell populations cultured from pig coronary artery. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22(7): 1093–1099.
- Rensen SS, Doevendans PA, and van Eys GJ. (2007) Regulation and characteristics of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotypic diversity. Netherlands heart journal: *Monthly journal of the Netherlands Society of Cardiology and the Netherlands Heart Foundation* 15(3): 100–108.
- 14. Birukov KG, *et al.* (1998) Intraluminal pressure is essential for the maintenance of smooth muscle caldesmon and filamin content in aortic organ culture. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **18**(6): 922–927.
- 15. Lehoux S and Tedgui A. (1998) Signal transduction of mechanical stresses in the vascular wall. *Hypertension* **32**(2): 338–945.
- 16. Frueh J, *et al.* (2013) Systems biology of the functional and dysfunctional endothelium. *Cardiovasc Res* **99**(2): 334–341.

- 17. Chatzizisis YS, *et al.* (2008) Prediction of the localization of high-risk coronary atherosclerotic plaques on the basis of low endothelial shear stress: an intravascular ultrasound and histopathology natural history study. *Circulation* 117(8): 993–1002.
- Cheng C, *et al.* (2007) Shear stress-induced changes in atherosclerotic plaque composition are modulated by chemokines. *J Clin Invest* 117(3): 616–626.
- Cheng C, *et al.* (2006) Atherosclerotic lesion size and vulnerability are determined by patterns of fluid shear stress. *Circulation* 113(23): 2744–2753.
- 20. Cheruvu PK, *et al.* (2007) Frequency and distribution of thin-cap fibroatheroma and ruptured plaques in human coronary arteries: A pathologic study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **50**(10): 940–949.
- 21. Nakazawa G, *et al.* (2010) Pathological findings at bifurcation lesions: the impact of flow distribution on atherosclerosis and arterial healing after stent implantation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **55**(16): 1679–1687.
- 22. Pfaltzgraff ER and Bader DM. (2015) Heterogeneity in vascular smooth muscle cell embryonic origin in relation to adult structure, physiology, and disease. *Developmental dynamics: An official publication of the American Association of Anatomists* **244**(3): 410–416.
- 23. Jiang X, *et al.* (2000) Fate of the mammalian cardiac neural crest. *Development* **127**(8): 1607–1616.
- Wasteson P, et al. (2008) Developmental origin of smooth muscle cells in the descending aorta in mice. Development 135(10): 1823–1832.
- 25. Pfaltzgraff ER, *et al.* (2014) Embryonic domains of the aorta derived from diverse origins exhibit distinct properties that converge into a common phenotype in the adult. *J Mol Coll Cardiol* **69**: 88–96.
- Jacobs ML, *et al.* (1995) Interrupted aortic arch. Impact of subaortic stenosis on management and outcome. *Circulation* 92(9 Suppl): II128–II131.
- 27. Tanous D, Benson LN, and Horlick EM. (2009) Coarctation of the aorta: evaluation and management. *Curr Opin Cardiol* **24**(6): 509–515.
- O'Sullivan JJ, Derrick G, and Darnell R. (2002) Prevalence of hypertension in children after early repair of coarctation of the aorta: A cohort study using casual and 24 hour blood pressure measurement. *Heart* 88(2): 163–166.
- 29. Pruett ND, *et al.* (2008) Evidence for Hox-specified positional identities in adult vasculature. *BMC Dev Biol* **8**: 93.

- Pruett ND, *et al.* (2012) Changing topographic Hox expression in blood vessels results in regionally distinct vessel wall remodeling. *Biol Open* 1(5): 430–435.
- Trigueros-Motos L, *et al.* (2013) Embryological-origin-dependent differences in homeobox expression in adult aorta: Role in regional phenotypic variability and regulation of NF-kappaB activity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 33(6): 1248–1256.
- 32. Awgulewitsch A and Majesky MW. (2013) Interpreting inflammation: smooth muscle positional identity and nuclear factor-kappaB signaling. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **33**(6): 1113–1115.
- Shelton EL, *et al.* (2014) Transcriptional profiling reveals ductus arteriosus-specific genes that regulate vascular tone. *Physiol Genomics* 46(13): 457–466.
- Li J, *et al.* (2005) Myocardin-related transcription factor B is required in cardiac neural crest for smooth muscle differentiation and cardiovascular development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102(25): 8916–8921.
- 35. Oh J, Richardson JA, and Olson EN. (2005) Requirement of myocardin-related transcription factor-B for remodeling of branchial arch arteries and smooth muscle differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 102(42): 15122–15127.
- 36. Langlois D, *et al.* (2010) Conditional inactivation of TGF-beta type II receptor in smooth muscle cells and epicardium causes lethal aortic and cardiac defects. *Transgenic Res* 19(6): 1069–1082.
- 37. Jaffe M, *et al.* (2012) Transforming growth factor-beta signaling in myogenic cells regulates vascular morphogenesis, differentiation, and matrix synthesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **32**(1): e1–e11.
- 38. Rosenquist TH, Kirby ML, and van Mierop LH. (1989) Solitary aortic arch artery. A result of surgical ablation of cardiac neural crest and nodose placode in the avian embryo. *Circulation* **80**(5): p. 1469–1475.
- 39. Topouzis S and Majesky MW. (1996) Smooth muscle lineage diversity in the chick embryo. Two types of aortic smooth muscle cell differ in growth and receptor-mediated transcriptional responses to transforming growth factor-beta. *Dev Biol* **178**(2): 430–445.
- 40. Gadson PF, Jr., *et al.* (1997) Differential response of mesoderm- and neural crest-derived smooth muscle to TGF-beta1: Regulation of c-myb and alpha1 (I) procollagen genes. *Exp Cell Res* **230**(2): 169–180.
- Van Assche T, *et al.* (2011) Transcription profiles of aortic smooth muscle cells from atherosclerosis-prone and -resistant regions in young apolipoprotein E-deficient mice before plaque development. *J Vasc Res* 48(1): 31–42.

- Lillvis JH, et al. (2011) Regional expression of HOXA4 along the aorta and its potential role in human abdominal aortic aneurysms. BMC Physiol 11: 9.
- 43. Owens AP, 3rd, *et al.* (2010) Angiotensin II induces a region-specific hyperplasia of the ascending aorta through regulation of inhibitor of differentiation 3. *Circ Res* **106**(3): 611–619.
- 44. Cheung C and Sinha S. (2011) Human embryonic stem cell-derived vascular smooth muscle cells in therapeutic neovascularisation. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **51**(5): 651–664.
- 45. Ferreira LS, *et al.* (2007) Vascular progenitor cells isolated from human embryonic stem cells give rise to endothelial and smooth muscle like cells and form vascular networks *in vivo*. *Circ Res* **101**(3): 286–294.
- Huang H, *et al.* (2006) Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into smooth muscle cells in adherent monolayer culture. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 351(2): 321–327.
- 47. Owens GK, Kumar MS, and Wamhoff BR. (2004) Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol Rev* **84**(3): 767–801.
- 48. Sone M, *et al.* (2007) Pathway for differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to vascular cell components and their potential for vascular regeneration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**(10): 2127–2134.
- Patsch C, *et al.* (2015) Generation of vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Cell Biol* 17(8): 994–1003.
- Cheung C. *et al.* (2012) Generation of human vascular smooth muscle subtypes provides insight into embryological origin-dependent disease susceptibility. *Nat Biotechnol* 30(2): 165–173.
- 51. Cheung C, *et al.* (2014) Directed differentiation of embryonic originspecific vascular smooth muscle subtypes from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Protoc* 9(4): 929–938.
- 52. Majesky MW and Mummery CL. (2012) Smooth muscle diversity from human pluripotent cells. *Nat Biotechnol* **30**(2): 152–154.
- 53. Witty AD, et al. (2014) Generation of the epicardial lineage from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnology 32(10): 1026-1035.
- Iyer D, *et al.* (2015) Robust derivation of epicardium and its differentiated smooth muscle cell progeny from human pluripotent *stem cells Dev* 142(8): 1528–1541.

- 55. Maul TM, et al. (2011) Mechanical stimuli differentially control stem cell behavior: morphology, proliferation, and differentiation. Biomech Model Mechanobiol 10(6): 939–953.
- 56. Xia Y, *et al.* (2012) The role of endothelial cell-bound Jagged1 in Notch3-induced human coronary artery smooth muscle cell differentiation. *Biomaterials* **33**(8): 2462–2472.
- 57. Valarmathi MT, *et al.* (2009) A three-dimensional model of vasculogenesis. *Biomaterials* **30**(6): 1098–1112.
- 58. Owens GK, Kumar MS, and Wamhoff BR. (2004) Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol Rev* 84(3): 767–801.
- 59. Granata A, *et al.* (2015) Temporal and embryonic lineage-dependent regulation of human vascular SMC development by NOTCH3. *Stem Cells Dev* 24(7): 846–856.
- 60. Cheung C, *et al.* (2014) Modeling cerebrovascular pathophysiology in amyloid-beta metabolism using neural-crest-derived smooth muscle cells. *Cell Rep* 9(1): 391–401.
- 61. Yi F, *et al.* (2013) The dawn of angiogenesis modeling: Regenerating vasculature from human pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Res* 23(1):3–5.
- 62. Milewicz DM, *et al.* (2008) Genetic basis of thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissections: focus on smooth muscle cell contractile dysfunction. *Annu Rev Genomics Human Genet* 9: 283–302.
- 63. Mercola M, Colas A, and Willems E. (2013) *iPSCs in Cardiovascular* Drug Discovery. Circ Res 112(3): 534–548.
- 64. Samani NJ, *et al.* (2008) Coronary artery disease-associated locus on chromosome 9p21 and early markers of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28(9): 1679–1683.
- 65. Christ GJ, Siriwardane ML, and de Coppi P. (2015) Engineering muscle tissue for the fetus: Getting ready for a strong life. *Front Pharmacol* **6**: 53.
- 66. Wu Z, *et al.* (2014) Substantial influence on solar energy harnessing ability by geometries of ordered Si nanowire array. *Nanoscale Res Lett* 9(1): 495.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 6

Regulation of Podosomes in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Invasion of the Extracellular Matrix

Alan Mak

Department of Biomedical and Molecular Sciences Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario K7L 3N6, Canada maka@queensu.ca

Unlike skeletal and cardiac muscle cells, mature contractile vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) are remarkably plastic, capable of switching to the de-differentiated, synthetic/proliferative phenotype, which is motile and invasive. This is achieved in part by remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton triggered by growth factors in response to vascular injury and inflammation. Switching of VSMC from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype is readily demonstrated by passaging VSMC excised from vascular tissues in culture dishes. Expression of contraction-associated markers such as myosin II heavy chain, SM α -actin, calponin, heavy h-caldesmon and SM22 α are significantly down-regulated after 3-4 passages of primary VSMC in culture with concomitantly upregulation of migratory markers such as light isoform of caldesmon, l-caldesmon. (Reviewed in).^{65,66}

Acquiring the migratory and invasive phenotype is a prerequisite for VSMC to degrade the extracellular matrix (ECM) and cross the internal elastic ileum and basement membrane to reach the intimal layer and injury sites at the endothelium. This innate physiological wound-healing response, however, can also cause intimal thickening and formation of atherosclerotic plaques. Identification of VSMC and smooth muscle-like cells in the cap and interior of atherosclerotic plaques is indicative of cross-tissue migration of VSMC during atherosclerotic plaque formation. However, investigation of how VSMC contribute to plaque formation and stability have been stymied due to lack of specific VSMC markers and reliable lineage-tracing studies to identify origins of VSMC during atherosclerotic lesion development.^{21,35}

The mechanisms of phenotypic switching and possible roles of VSMC in atherosclerosis is reviewed elsewhere in this monograph. In this chapter, I will focus on the structure of actin-based invasive organelles called podosomes, and regulation of their formation in VSMC. It is necessary, however, to provide a brief introduction to podosomes in non-smooth muscle cells such as monocytes, which have been more extensively studied.

1. Podosomes in Non-smooth Muscle Cells

Actin-based structures known as podosomes and invadopodia, collectively named invadosomes, are specialized adhesive and invasive membrane protrusions that degrade ECM proteins allowing cell migration across tissues.^{51,83} Though they share many structural and functional characteristics, podosomes and invadopodia differ in life span, size and invasiveness. Invadopodia are large and highly invasive ventral protrusions of several μ m in length, found in cancer and transformed cells, with a life time of over an hour. Podosomes are the smaller (< 1 μ m), short life (~ 10 min) and less invasive cousins found in normal, untransformed cells of monocytic cell lineage such as macrophages, dendritic cells and osteoclasts, as well as endothelial cells and SMC in the vasculature. Src-transformed cells produce a unique invadosome superstructure called rosette that comprises features characteristic of both invadopodia and podosomes.

Pododomes were first reported in Rous sarcoma virus-transformed BHK cells⁷⁸ and have since been identified in other myeloid cell lineage.^{9,50,57,82} Podosomes are structurally and functionally tailored to the needs of cell types in which they are produced. They are required for monocytes in extravasation in inflammation, osteoclasts in bone resorption, endothelial cells in sprouting during angiogenesis, and VSMC in medial-intimal tissue crossing in atherosclerosis. Podosomes are remarkably dynamic organelles. Individual podosomes are assembled and disassembled in a matter of minutes, and capable of turning over core actin a few times within a life span.^{20,80} The dynamic nature of podosome structure is necessary for temporal requirement of its multi-faceted functions in adhesion, matrix sensing, recruitment, secretion and degradation of ECM. Dynamics of assembly and disassembly of podosome superstructures such as rosettes, however, is less understood.

A typical podosome comprises a vertical column of actin filaments that ranges from 0.5-1 µm in length, surrounded by a ring of focal adhesion proteins⁵¹ (See Fig. 1). The actin core contains bundles of branched actin filaments and actin-binding proteins such as the Arp2/3 complex, N-WASP, gelsolin, cofilin, cortactin and caldesmon that regulate actin nucleation, polymerization and branching.¹³ The ring of focal adhesion proteins include α -actinin, vinculin, talin and paxillin. A cap-like structure has been identified on top of the actin column⁵² containing the formin FMNL1⁵⁹ and supervillin, a member of the villin family.⁵ The function of the cap is not known, but has been suggested to act as a point of attachment for unbranched actomyosin filaments that form a network or 'actin cloud' connecting individual podosomes to form complex superstructures such as sealing zones in osteoclasts, clusters in SMC and rosettes in endothelial cells and Srctransformed cells.53 Unbranched contractile actomyosin filaments also connect the top of the podosomes to the ventral surface of the plasma membrane thought to be involved in the regulation of vertical growth of actin cores and recruitment of adhesion proteins to the ring.⁸⁰

Recent advances in single molecule activation super-resolution microscopy, such as dSTORM, has provided finer structural details to our standard 'core and ring' model of the podosome structure.^{58,81} There is new evidence that vinculin strands form polygonal rings surrounding the actin core and project out of the corners of the polygons, suggesting nucleation sites for new podosomes. Interestingly, talin appears in both the ring and the core.⁸⁴ Thus, it now appears that



Fig. 1. Podosomes and rosettes in Src(Y527F)-transfected rat aortic smooth muscle cells.

A, F-actin filaments were stained with FITC-labelled phalloidin (red) and cortactin with TRITC-labelled anti-cortactin antibodies (green). Three types of podosomes co-stained with actin and cortactin (yellow) are shown in the same cell: individual podosome clusters, incompletely formed open rosettes and closed rings of rosettes.

B, Inset shows a cluster of individual podosomes.

C, Inset shows an open and a closed rosette of podosomes.

D, Illustration of aggregates of individual podosomes in a rosette.

E, Illustration of a vertical section of two podosomes connected by linear actomyosin filaments.

F. Immunofluorescence microscopic images of podosomes (red) invading a FRITC-fibronectin (green) substrate. F-actin was stained with FITC-phalloidin.

key adhesion molecules such as integrins, vinculin and talin are not arranged in a circular ring around the core but rather consists of islets of talin-integrin complexes. There is little doubt that future superresolution images will further refine our understanding of the podosome structure and function.

There is no known protein that exclusively localizes to podosomes. However, cortactin and its Tyr-phosphorylated counterpart always exist in podosomes, and have been widely used as podosome markers.⁸⁷ Cortactin is a major Src-substrate that stabilizes branch points of actin filament network in lamellipodia and podosomes by binding to the Arp2/3 complex, N-WASP and F-actin. Another Src substrate and adaptor protein, Tks5, has been consistently identified in invadosomes and has also been used as a reliable podosome marker.¹⁶ Considering the functional diversity, structural complexity and dynamic nature of podosomes, it is not surprising that the list of reported podosomal proteins has grown significantly since their discovery. Using Stable Isotope Labelling by Amino acids in Cell culture) (SILAC) / mass spectrometry, a podosome proteomics study performed on human macrophages has identified 203 potential podosomal proteins in podosome-enriched ventral membranes, of which 33 have been previously reported and 170 potentially novel ones.¹⁰ As expected, proteins involved in the regulation of actin cytoskeleton and adhesion are enriched in podosomes. Unexpectedly, ribosomal and RNA-binding proteins such as hnRNP-K and WDR1/AIP-1 have also been identified in the core of macrophage podosomes that echoes previous discovery of RNA-binding proteins in focal adhesions and spreading initiation centers.¹⁹ These studies have certainly provided new targets for future studies on podosome function and structures.

2. Podosomes in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

Depending on the pore size of the fibrillary networks of collagen and fibronectin in the ECM, cells can move through the ECM either by non-proteolytic amoeboid movement similar to leukocytes squeezing through inter-fibrillar spaces.⁵⁴ or by proteolytic degradation of densely meshed ECM with MMPs secreted by podosomes and invadopodia. To the best of my knowledge, there is no evidence that VSMC are able to move by amoeboid movement through the vascular basement membrane that is densely populated by type IV collagen filaments.⁷² On the other hand, podosome formation and degradation of ECM by VSMC have been clearly demonstrated *in vitro* and hinted in *in vivo*.^{48,55}

Peripheral SM α actin-containing columns were first reported in the VSMC cell line, A7r5, in response to phorbol-ester treatment.²⁸ These were recognized as actin- and α -actinin-containing podosomes by Hai *et al* in 2002,⁴⁰ who also showed that conventional PKC- α mediates PDBu-induced podosome formation. Podosomes induced by PDBu exist as individual actin-containing dots under the epifluorescence light microscope. When observed by a confocal microscope, SMC podosomes appear as vertical columns protruding from the ventral plasma membrane of the cell when grow on fibronectin or collagen substrates. Gimona and colleagues have shown that A7r5 cells degrade fibronectin substrate at the podosome sites in a 2-D culture.^{7,8} They have also demonstrated that podosomes grow from sites joining the ends of actin stress fibers and focal adhesions, called microdomains. Recruitment of cortactin and the RhoA inhibitor, p190RhoGAP, to the microdomains may cause disassembly of actin stress fibers and local inhibition of contractility signaling the initiation phase of podosome formation in VSMC. This is consistent with the earlier report that *h1* calponin inhibits PDBu-induced podosome formation by stabilizing actin stress fibers.³² Interestingly, *l*-caldesmon, which is another stress fiber stabilizing protein and actin-branching inhibitor⁹⁷ also inhibits podosome formation.^{25,63} These early studies suggest that stress fiber-stabilizing proteins such as *h1* calponin and l-caldesmon may act as podosome inhibitors in VSMC.32

Solid evidence of podosome formation in VSMC *in vivo* is still lacking; however, podosome-like structures are produced by PDBu- stimulated VSMC when embedded in reconstituted basement membrane to simulate the 3-D environment in vascular tissues.⁸ Invadopodia-like structures have also been seen in VSMC embedded in a 3-D matrix of type I collagen.^{28,29}

3. Regulation of Podosome Formation in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

Unlike monocytic cells, primary VSMC and A7r5 SM cell lines do not form podosomes constitutively *in vitro*, but require external stimulants such as phorbol-esters and PDGF. A number of pathways have been identified in the regulation of podosome formation in VSMC that operate under the control of two pro-podosome signaling hubs, PKC and cSrc, and one anti-podosome network involving the tumor suppressor, p53. (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Pathways known to regulate podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells.

The pathways are grouped under the regulation of three major hubs: cSrc, PKC, and p53. The cSrc/PKC- and p53-associated pathways are pro-podosome and antipodosome, respectively, and are mutually antagonistic.

4. The Pro-Podosome Signaling Hubs: PKC and cSrc

4.1. PKC-associated pathways

Historically, phorbol-esters were first found to induce podosome formation in A7r5 VSMC cell lines.²⁸ Phorbol-esters such as phorbol 12, 13 dibutyrate (PDBu) and phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) are pharmacological analogues of diacylglycerol (DAG), the physiological activator of conventional PKCs (α , β I, β II, γ), and novel PKCs (δ , ε , η , θ) but not the atypical PKC ζ and λ .² Not surprisingly, PKC α was subsequently shown to mediate the effects of phorbol-esters in podosome formation in VSMC.⁴⁰ It has also been shown that nicotine and PKC activation synergistically augment podosome formation and ECM degradation in human aortic SMC.³⁷

When treated with 1 μ M of PDBu for 30 min, over 90% of A7r5 cells develop podosomes, which are capable of degrading fibronectin

substrate.8,40,46,89 Interestingly, similar dosage of PDBu has no effect on primary rat aorta SMC (RASMC) on either podosome formation or ECM degradation.²⁹ However, 10-folds increase in PDBu concentration causes 5-10% of RASMC to form podosome-like structures that degrade fibronectin substrate. These findings indicate significant differences in A7r5 cells and primary VSMC in podosome formation in response to PDBu stimulation. This could be attributed to genetic differences in the two cell types that may have altered down- stream effectors of PDBu. A7r5 cells, which are generated from embryonic rat aorta, are tetraploids that display the adult SMC phenotype expressing some differentiated protein markers such as SM- α actin, myosin heavy chain and SM22.27 RASMC used in invasion and migration studies are usually limited to within 5-6 passages to minimize progressive genetic changes that may alter the primary SMC phenotypes. Nevertheless, A7r5 cells in culture bear resemblance to differentiated VSMC by expressing prominent arrays of stress fibers, thus providing a useful cell model to study dynamics of actin remodeling during the transition from stress fibers to podosome formation.

4.1.1. AFAP-1 and AFAP1L1

One of the key signals linking PKC α and podosome formation in A7r5 cells is the family of Actin Filament-binding and Adaptor Proteins (AFAP).^{22,31} AFAP-1 (or AFAP-110) is an adaptor protein that links actin filaments and cSrc by virtue of its ability to bind actin filaments and cSrc.⁴ Activation of PKC α by PMA leads to phosphorylation of AFAP1 and targets it to form a complex via its SH3-binding domain with cSrc, resulting in cSrc activation and induction of actin cytoskeleton remodeling and podosome formation in A7r5 cells.^{31,85}

AFAP1 and its homologue AFAP1L1 have been shown to localize to podosomes in A7r5 cells and overexpression of AFAP1 and AFAP1L1 is able to induce podosome formation without stimulation by phorbolester.⁷⁵ AFAP1 alters actin filament integrity and organization by acting as an actin filament cross linker.^{4,69} There is evidence that AFAP members can affect podosome formation and dynamics directly by their interaction with the actin core of podosomes. It was shown that PDBu induces phosphorylation of AFAP1 at Ser277, and a Ser277Ala mutant localizes to podosomes and increase the number of long-lived podosomes, suggesting that phosphorylated AFAP1 promotes disassembly of podosomes.²² AFAP1 and AFAP1L1 may also play a role in the actin core stability by interacting with cortactin. While AFAP1L1 co-immunoprecipitated with cortactin, AFAP1 does not, suggesting that AFAP1L1 is localized to podosomes via interaction with cortactin, and the two isoforms complement each other in the regulation of podosome formation by interacting with cortactin in A7r5 cells.⁷⁵

AFAP1 and cSrc complex formation and subsequent Src activation has been shown to require activation of phosphatidyl-inositol 3-kinase (PI3K).⁸⁵ In addition, PMA directly activates PI3K to produce phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate (PI(3,4.5)P₃), which recruits AFAP1 by binding to its PH1 domain. This finding provides evidence that the PKC α -PI3K signaling acts upstream of AFAP1-cSrc activation in PMA-stimulated podosome formation. Furthermore, it also suggests a physical link between the PH1 domain of AFAP1 and PI(3,4.5)P₃ at the perinuclear membrane, where inactive cSrc is mainly located and thus activated by AFAP1. Since cSrc is also a known agonist of the PI3K/Akt pathway, which plays a pivotal role in podosome signaling⁴² (see below), it suggests the presence of a feed-back loop between PKC α -PI3K and cSrc.

4.1.2. PAK1-PIX-Rac/Cdc42

The p21-activated kinases (PAK) have also been shown to play a key role in mediating podosome formation in A7r5 cells induced by phorbol-esters, and by extension, PKC.⁸⁸ There are two major families of PAK kinases in mammalian cells, Group 1 (PAK1, 2, 3) and Group 2 (PAK 4, 5, 6).²⁶ Although all three Group 1 kinases are expressed in VSMC, PAK1 is the most abundant. PAK1 is a key effectors of activated GTP-bound Rac/Cdc42, and its binding partner PIX, which is a guanine exchange factor (GEF) for Cdc42/Rac.

Using kinase active and inactive mutants of PAK1, we have shown that the kinase activity of PAK1 is not required for PDBu-induced formation of podosomes in A7r5 cells, but plays a role in podosome turnover.88 Furthermore, interaction between PAK and PIX is required for PAK1 to promote core actin formation in podosomes, and to translocate PIX and the G-protein-coupled receptor kinase interacting protein (GIT) to focal adhesions next to site of podosome growth. These data suggest that podosome formation is initiated by recruitment PAK1, PIX and GIT to focal adhesions at the microdomains, while phosphorylation of podosomal proteins by PAK1 may signal disassembly of the podosomes. This is supported by findings that PAK3, another member of the conventional PAK family, phosphorylates cortactin at Ser113 in the first actin-binding repeat in vitro, resulting in a significant reduction of binding of cortactin to actin columns in PDBu-induced podosomes in A7r5 cells.91 Other podosomal protein substrates of PAK include caldesmon, MLCK and vitmentin. Phosphorylation of caldesmon by PAK has also been shown to downregulate its interaction with actin filament.²³ Expression of wild-type PAK1 in primary RASM cells does not affect podosome formation,²⁹ but the kinase inactive mutant (PAK1-LL/R), which has lost its PIX-binding site, has also lost most of its ability to induce podosome formation and ECM digestion in primary RASM cells. These data further underscore the importance of the protein-binding domain of PAK1 rather than the kinase activity in podosome formation in VSMC.

The roles of PAK in podosome formation seem to be different in other cell types. Hence, in contrast to VSMC, PAK1 and 2 suppress podosome formation in Rous sarcoma virus-transformed fibroblasts by phosphorylation of caldesmon.⁶¹ PAK4, a member of Group 2 PAK kinases, has also been shown to play a central role in podosome formation in primary human macrophages.³⁶ siRNA-knockdown of PAK4 and truncation PAK4 mutants cause a reduction of number of podosomes per cell; kinase active mutants increase while inactive mutants decrease podosome sizes.

Evidence for a correlation between PKC and PAK-PIX is strong, however, a causative link between them in podosome formation, especially in VSMC, has not been defined. Nevertheless, recent data from non-VSMC studies have provided some clues. Using PKC γ knock-out mice and a phosphoproteome analysis, it has been shown that β PIX is a direct substrate of PKC γ . β PIX phosphorylation leads to its translocation to the membrane where it may be involved in Cdc42/Rac activation during dopamine release in the striatum of mice.⁷³ Another possible link may be provided by direct interaction between PKC γ and fascin, the actin-bundling protein that contributes to cell protrusions.⁶⁷ It has been shown that PKC γ /fascin complex formation is regulated by Rac1 in a PAK1-dependent manner in colon carcinoma cells *in vitro*. These data underscore the differences in podosome regulatory mechanisms between VSMC and other cell types.

4.1.3. Calponin

h1 calponin inhibits PDBu-induced podosome formation in A7r5 cells by stabilizing actin stress fibers.³² These studies suggest that local disassembly of actin stress fibers and loss of contractility at the podosome formation sites at the junction of stress fibers and focal adhesions characterize early stages of podosome formation. Stress fiber-stabilizing proteins such as *h1* calponin and *l*-caldesmon may act as podosome inhibitors VSMC.

4.1.4. Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK)

Using electron microscopic images⁷⁷ and FRET analyses,⁷⁹ it has been shown that siRNA-knockdown of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) inhibits PDBu-induced podosome formation in A7r5 cells. It was further demonstrated that the interaction between the actin-binding domain of kinase dead MLCK and the actin core plays a critical role in podosome formation. However, the mechanism by which PKC regulate MLCK and actin interaction and podosome formation is not known.

4.1.5. Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCPI)

Although the roles of phorbol-esters and PKC in podosome formation have been solidly established, data on upstream signaling specific for these events in VSMC involving surface receptors and agonists are surprisingly lacking in the literature. Monocyte Chemotactic Protein 1 (MCP1), a G protein-coupled receptor agonist, has been shown to stimulate human VSMC migration by upregulating the phosphorylation of cortactin on Ser405 and Ser418, and its interaction with WAVE2.⁴⁴ In addition, the MCP1-induced cortactin phosphorylation was dependent on phospholipase C β 3 (PLC β 3)-mediated PKC δ activation, both are activated by DAG.

4.2. The cSrc Signaling Hub

The PKC-AFAP-cSrc axis is only one of many signaling pathways that converge on the non-receptor tyrosine kinase cSrc, which is a major hub linking membrane receptors such as growth factor receptors and integrins to signaling molecules that regulate cell migration, podosome and invadopodia formation in many cell types including VSMC.

When transformed with the constitutively active cSrc mutant, (SrcY527F), RASMC and fibroblasts undergo major reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton marked by a significant loss of stress-fibers giving way to dot-like podosomes and large ring-like superstructures called rosettes in over 95% of the cells without exogenous stimulation.^{29,62} Extensive digestion of ECM containing fibronectin or collagen usually occur within 48 hours. Some of the digested areas co-localize with rosettes, and large imprints of digested areas in cell-free regions are often visible, indicating that these cells are able to exhibit random migration over the ECM substrate.

Many downstream effectors of cSrc contributes to invadosome formation and regulation of their adhesive and invasive functions. These include lipid kinases (PI3K), protein kinases (PAK, Akt) and phosphatases (PTEN), regulators of actin polymerization and branching (RhoGTPases, Arp2/3, NWasp, cofilin), structural podosomal proteins (Tks5, cortactin), and proteases in ECM digestion (MMP1, 2 and 9).

4.2.1. PI3K-Akt

One of the key downstream effectors of cSrc, is the PI3K/Akt pathway that plays a pivotal role in podosome signaling.⁴² We have shown that Akt phosphorylation is upregulated in RASMC that stably express Src(Y527F) in a retroviral vector. This is accompanied by podosome formation and subsequent ECM degradation.⁶⁸ The mechanisms by which Akt may upregulate podosome formation, however, is not clear. This is complicated by antagonistic roles of Akt isoenzymes in cell migration and invasion. We have recently shown that siRNA-knockdown of Akt1 reduces, while Akt3 knockdown enhances Src(Y527F)-induced podosome and rosette formation and ECM degradation in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Knockdown of Akt2 has not effect.²⁴ Interestingly, both Akt1 and Akt3 suppress, while Akt2 enhances, phorbol ester-induced podosome formation. These data show that Akt1, Akt2 and Akt3 play different roles in podosome formation and ECM invasion induced by Src or phorbol ester, thus underscoring the importance of cell context in the roles of Akt isoforms in cell invasion.

Although numerous potential Akt substrates have been identified, few are known to be involved in cell invasion. Akt interaction with Pak1has been reported and may provide a link between Akt and PAK signaling in podosome formation. Phosphorylation of Pak1 by Akt enables Pak1 to bind to the adaptor protein, Nck, and modulates cell migration.⁹⁸ Additionally, Pak1 may act as a scaffold for Akt1 and PDK1 allowing for their recruitment to PI(3,4,5)P₃ at the plasma membrane resulting in Akt1 activation.^{24,41} Whether similar mechanism exist in VSMC requires further study.

4.2.2. Stat3

One of the substrates of cSrc and Jak kinases is the Signal Transduction and Activator of Transcription family member Stat3.^{30,74} Stat3 plays a role in cancer cell invasion and metastasis via both transcriptional activities, e.g. in the transactivation of MMPs, and non-transcriptional means through protein interactions. We have found that similar mechanisms may be present in VSMC podosome formation. Stat3 and its inactivated mutant, pY705Stat3, are localized to Src(Y527F)-induced podosome formation in primary RASMC.⁶³ Furthermore, shRNAknockdown of Stat3 significantly reduces Src-induced podosome for-

196 A. Mak

mation, indicating that Stat3 is a mediator of Src-induced podosome formation in VSMC. This finding suggests that translocation of Stat3 to podosomes may facilitate its activation by Src. However, the downstream effectors of Stat3 specific for podosome formation remains to be determined.

4.2.3. RhoGTPases

The RhoGTPases are key regulators of actin cytoskeleton architecture in cell migration and invasion.^{43,64,82} In primary RASM cells, expression of the active Cdc42V12 mutant was almost as effective as Src(Y527F) in inducing podosome formation and ECM invasion, while active Rac1L61 was half as effective. In contrast, expression of the dominant negative Cdc42N17 and Rac1N17 inhibits Src(Y527F) to induce podosome formation indicating that Cdc42 and Rac1 act downstream of cSrc.²⁹ These findings seem to support the general idea that Cdc42 is the major regulator of invadosome dynamics in a variety of cell types such as endothelial cells⁶⁰ and cancer cells, where Cdc42 acts downstream of EGFR and Src to target NWasp to Arp2/3 at sites of actin polymerization.⁹⁶ Interestingly, microinjection of the active Cdc42V12 mutant in human macrophages induces podosome disassembly⁵⁰ emphasizing cell- and expression level-dependent roles of RhoGTPases.

The role of RhoA and cytoskeletal contractility in podosome formation has been clearly demonstrated in VSMC⁷ where activation of cSrc by PKC-AFAP1 induces upregulation of p190RhoGAP resulting in inactivating RhoA and actin stress fiber contractility, which is prerequisite to podosome formation. However, dependent on the cell types, RhoA is required for podosome formation e.g. fibroblasts, osteoclasts and endothelial cells⁵⁶ but excess activity appears to inhibit podosome formation in macrophages.

4.2.4. Tks5

The adaptor protein, Tks5, is a cSrc substrate that localizes to invadosomes in all cell types studied heretofore, thus providing a

reliable podosome marker. It contains one PX-domain and five protein-interacting SH3 domains that functions as an adaptor protein for recruitment of a number of proteins to the podosomes. Using siRNA knockdown and an approach based on mislocalizing Tks5 to mitochondria, it has been shown that in PDBu-treated A7r5 cells, Tks5 recruits AFAP1, p190RhoGAP and cortactin to sties of podosome formation. Thus, RhoGTPase would downregulate local contractile activity and stress fiber disassembly by inactivating RhoA, AFAP1 would activate cSrc and cortactin may contribute to remodeling actin stress fibers to allow the initiation of podosome formation.¹⁷

4.2.5. Cortactin

Cortactin is an F-actin-binding protein that was originally identified as the major Tyr-phosphorylated protein in Src-transformed cells.⁹⁴ Its roles in actin polymerization is emphasized by its localization to cortical actin networks such as invadosomes, lamellipodia and membrane ruffles.⁸⁷ Tyr-phosphorylated cortactin is found in all invadosomes and has been used as a podosome marker. Cortactin comprises multiple protein-interacting domains that allow it to bind to actin-branching points, Arp2/3, and NWasp.

We have shown that siRNA-knockdown of cortactin abolishes podosome formation in A7r5 cells and Src-transformed cells indicating that it is required for both PKC- and cSrc-induced podosome formation.^{89,90,99} In VSMC, cortactin clusters in the microdomain between focal adhesions and stress fibers in the early phase of podosome formation and localizes in the actin core of mature podosomes.^{7,46,89} Using various functional and truncation mutants of cortactin, we have shown that the initial clustering of cortactin requires the C-terminal SH3 domain but not the actin-binding repeat region which, however, is required for subsequent binding to the core actin column.⁸⁹ In addition, phosphorylation of cortactin by cSrc at Tyr sites (Y421 and Y466) does not affect its translocation to podosomes in.A7r5 cells. Since Tyr-phosphorylated cortactin and cSrc are present in mature podosomes, phosphorylation by cSrc likely

198 A. Mak

occurs after cortactin is translocated to podosomes, and plays a critical role in assembly and turnover of the actin core structure in mature podosomes.⁹⁹

These data provide evidence for a model of how cortactin may be involved in early and late phases of podosome formation in VSMC. Many details are still missing, however. For example, the mechanisms for cortactin translocation, the effects of cortactin phosphorylation on podosome dynamics in VSMC and non-smooth muscle cells.

4.2.6. Palladin

Palladin is a widely expressed phosphoprotein known to act as a scaffold protein that is involved in polymerization and cross-linking of actin filaments.³⁴ SiRNA-knockdown of palladin reduce the number of A7r5 cells that produce podosomes by 50% in response to PDBu treatment. Interestingly, knockdown of palladin expression downregulates Rac activity suggesting that Rac mediates palladin promotion of podosome formation. Using a yeast-two-hybrid screening, palladin has been shown to interact with the Tyr-kinase receptor substrate, Eps8, and both palladin and Eps8 were shown to colocalize in PDBu-stimulated podosomes in A7r5 cells. Since Eps8 contributes to Rac-associated actin remodeling by forming a complex with Abi-1 and Sos-1, it was suggested that palladin interaction with Eps8 may stabilize the Eps8/Abi-1/Sos-1 complex and promote formation of podosome and other cortical actin structures.

5. The p53 Anti-Podosome Signaling

The most widely studied tumor suppressor, p53, better known for its regulatory roles in cell cycle and apoptosis, has emerged in recent literature as a suppressor of cell invasion as well, especially in cancer cell metastasis.³ Many mutants of p53 in human not only lose the normal capacity to suppress tumor growth and progression, but often acquire new functions that promote cell invasion.³³ Most of these 'gain-of-function' mutations occur within the DNA-binding domain of p53 and account for causing about 50% of all cancers in human. While many of the downstream effectors of p53 and its mutants are

direct p53 transcriptional targets that regulate cell invasion, cell migration and ECM degradation, others are key regulatory proteins in cell invasion and cell division affected indirectly by p53.

In VSMC, we have shown that p53 also functions as an invasionand podosome-suppressor by a two-pronged mechanism involving the upregulation of PTEN and l-caldesmon on the one hand, and downregulation of cSrc and its effectors, Stat3 and PI3K-AKT on the other.^{55,56} It has also been shown that miR-143 and miR-145, are positive p53 targets that may partly mediate p53-suppression of Srcinduced podosome formation in VSMC.⁷⁰

5.1. PTEN

The tumor suppressor, PTEN (Phosphatase and Tensin homolog deleted on chromosome Ten), antagonizes the cSrc-PI3K pathway by hydrolyzing $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ to $PI(3,4)P_2$, leading to inhibition of Akt and RhoGTPases.⁷¹ We have shown that PTEN expression in VSMC can be upregulated by p53 and overexpression of PTEN inhibits cSrc and Stat3 activation.⁶³ This is in agreement with reports that PTEN inhibits the pro-invasion Src-PI3K-Akt pathway in non-SMC.^{11,45} Although PTEN is a predominant lipid phosphatase, it also possesses protein phosphatase activities that have been shown to be involved in cell migration and invasion.^{18,49} Interestingly, both lipid and protein phosphatase activities of PTEN contribute to the suppression of Src-induced podosome formation in primary RASMC.⁶⁸

These data taken together suggest that PTEN plays a significant role in mediating p53-suppression of podosome formation in VSMC stimulated by the Src-Stat3 and Src-PI3K pathways. The mechanisms appear to require dual lipid and protein phosphatase activities of PTEN; however, *in vivo* protein substrates for PTEN remain to be identified.

5.2. 1-Caldesmon

The 'light' isoform of caldesmon (l-caldesmon) is expressed in synthetic VSMC instead of its 'heavy' h-caldesmon counterpart found in differentiated, contractile VSMC.⁸⁶ l-caldesmon is a multi-domain protein containing sites for binding to F-actin, tropomyosin and Ca²⁺calmodulin. It stabilizes actin stress fibers by inhibiting actin-severing proteins, enhances contractility by modulating actin-activated myosin ATPase activity,¹² and inhibits Arp2/3-mediated actin nucleation at branching sites by competing with Arp2/3 binding to F-actin.^{61,97} Furthermore, PAK phosphorylation of l-caldesmon was shown to augment its inhibition of Arp2/3 and podosome formation.

l-caldesmon was first shown to localize to podosomes and inhibit their formation in Rous sarcoma virus-transformed fibroblasts⁶¹ and later in Src-transformed primary RASMC and PDBu-treated A7r5 cells.^{25,62} We have shown that l-caldesmon is translocated from stress fibers to the actin core of podosomes in VSMC that is dependent on its actin-binding domain and, unexpectedly, the Ca²⁺-calmodulinbinding site at the C-terminal half of the molecule. These data suggest that binding to Ca²⁺-calmodulin may trigger the release of l-caldesmon from actin stress fibers thus allowing remodeling of actin architecture at the onset of podosome formation. Subsequent binding of l-caldesmon to the actin core may provide stability of the podosome structure.

Using primary RASMC that stably expressing Src(Y527F), we have shown that l-caldesmon plays a role in mediating p53- suppression of podosome/rosette formation and ECM degradation. shRNA-knockdown of p53 expression or chemically inhibition of its activity by pifithrin- α (PFA) reduces caldesmon expression in RASMC and NIH3T3 cells,⁶² suggesting that caldesmon may be a transcriptional target of p53. This is consistent with chromatin-immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analyses that caldesmon is a possible transcriptional target of p53.⁹²

5.3. miR-143 and miR-145

The microRNAs, miR-143 and miR-145, are known contributors to regulate the switch from contractile to synthetic phenotypes of VSMC. It has been shown that prolong treatment of A7r5 cells with PDGF (>24 hours) downregulates miR-143 and miR-145, and induces podosome formation.⁷⁰ Based on a bioinformatics search,

the downstream targets of miR-143 are likely PKC- ε and PDGF receptor α , while fascin was identified as a miR-145 target. Since both PKC- ε and fascin localize to podosomes and are positive regulators of podosome formation, it appears likely that miR-143 and miR-145 suppress podosome formation by downregulating PKC- ε and fascin.

The link between miR-143 and miR145 to p53 was provided by the identification of two possible p53-binding sites at the promoter regions, suggesting that they are potential positive transcriptional targets of p53. In contrast, Src activity can inhibits expression of miR-143 and miR-145 and acts as a p53 antagonist. Taken together, these data suggest that PDGF/PDGF receptor activates cSrc, which in turn upregulates PKC- ε and fascin, by inhibiting p53 and thus downregulating miR143/145, resulting in podosome formation.

6. Regulators of Podosome Functions in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells: ECM Adhesion and Degradation

ECM degradation and adhesion are hallmarks of podosome functions in the majority of invasive cells.⁵¹ Although podosome formation, ECM degradation and adhesion are intimately linked, they appear to be regulated quite independently depending on the cell type.⁸³ For example, podosomes of sealing zones of osteoclasts are highly adhesive but have no protease activities; podosomes can be formed in endothelial cells without MT1-MMP recruitment;⁵¹ while conventional PKC- α and PKC- δ are required for podosome formation in A7r5 cells stimulated by phorbol-esters, atypical PKC ζ regulates MMP-9 recruitment to podosomes in primary bronchial epithelial cells.⁹⁵

6.1. MMP Recruitment and ECM Degradation

Invadopodia in cancer cells are larger but fewer in number than podosomes, and protrude deeper into the substrate allowing more concentrated ECM degradation. Although podosomes only make shallow penetrations into the substrate, they are able to degrade ECM extensively due to their large numbers per cell.

It has been well-documented that MMP-2, MMP-9 and MT1-MMP are secreted by podosomes in endothelial cells and Srctransformed fibroblast, and podosomes in A7r5 cells and primary VSMC are capable of causing extensive ECM degradation in vitro. Surprisingly little has been reported about MMPs in podosomes of VSMC. Using cultured human saphenous veins it was shown that VSMC migration positively correlated with MMPs-mediated loss of type IV collagen in vascular basement membrane.¹ MT1-MMP colocalizes with Tyr-phosphorylated cortactin in Src-induced podosomes in primary RASMC.²⁹ Gu et al³⁸ showed that MMP-2 localize to podosomes in PDBu-treated A7r5 cells, and we have shown that siRNA-knockdown of MMP1 reduces cSrc-induced ECM digestion and in vitro invasion of Matrigel. In addition, overexpression of p53 suppresses mRNA levels of MMP1 by 35%, suggesting that downregulation of MMP1 may in part mediate p53-suppression of podosome formation in primary VSMC.62

How MMPs are transported to podosomes is not clear. Microtubules may provide an efficient transport system to deliver vesicle-loaded MMPs and perhaps other podosomal proteins to the sites of podosomes,^{14,93} whether such mechanisms exist in VSMC remain to be investigated.

6.2. Adhesion and Mechanosensing of ECM

It appears that disassembly of focal adhesions and recruitment of adhesion proteins such as paxillin and integrin is part of the podosome initiation process, perhaps to allow adhesion of budding podosomes at the appropriate spots on the substrate.⁴⁶ Mature podosomes must be able to recognize and adhere to the substrate proteins via integrin ECM receptors, and to recruit and secret MMPs. ECM composition and rigidity in turn provides outside-in signals to integrin surface receptors to control podosome numbers and maturation.⁴²

Since blood vessel walls are constantly subject to shear stress and static pressure, mechanical stimulation of VSMC migration and

invasion is highly relevant under physiological conditions. Using engineered polyacrylamide gels to mimic microenvironments of blood vessels, and custom-built pressure chambers, Kim *et al*⁴⁷ have recently shown that podosome formation can be induced in A7r5 cells by physiological relevant physical cues in a Src- and Cdc42dependent manner. These include topographical cues presented by microenvironments of arteries, and imposed static pressure that mimics stage II hypertension. Furthermore, they have demonstrated podosome formation occurs in cells at the wound front in a 2-D scratch injury assay. These data demonstrate that physical stimulation by extracellular milieu that simulate arterial walls can induce podosome formation in VSMC *in vitro*. In addition, it suggests that injury to the blood vessels caused by surgical intervention may stimulate podosome formation in VSMC.

7. Conclusion

The involvement of VSMC migration and invasion in atherosclerosis has been recognized and supported by numerous reports. However, our knowledge of mechanisms that regulate actin cytoskeleton remodeling and the formation of podosomes in VSMC trails behind of what is known in endothelial, cancer and monocytic cells. Although podosome formation and regulation in VSMC and other invasive cell types have many similarities in regulatory mechanisms in podosome structure and function, discovery of features specific to VSMC is crucial to our understanding of their roles in initiation and progression of atherosclerosis. In the same vein, in order to understand specific roles of VSMC in the pathogenesis and progression of atherosclerotic plaques, conditional and SMC-specific knockout of individual proteins, rather than global knockout approaches, in animal models are required.

Most of our knowledge about VSMC invasion is based on *in vitro* cell culture studies. Data on VSMC invasion of ECM in a 3-D environment similar to that exists *in vivo* is lacking. With recent developments in super-resolution light microscopy, cryo-electron microscopy and intravital microscopy, we can anticipate exciting and interesting imaging data in the coming years.

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by the Canadian Institute of Health Research and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada.

References

- 1. Aguilera CM, George SJ, Johnson JL, and Newby AC. (2003) Relationship between type IV collagen degradation, metalloproteinase activity and smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation in cultured human saphenous vein. *Cardiovasc Res* 58: 679–688.
- 2. Amadio M, Battaini F, and Pascale A. (2006) The different facets of protein kinases C: Old and new players in neuronal signal transduction pathways. *Pharmacol Res* **54**: 317–325.
- Aylon Y, and Oren M. (2011) New plays in the p53 theater. *Curr Opin* Genet Dev 21: 86–92.
- 4. Baisden JM, Qian Y, Zot HM, and Flynn DC. (2001) The actin filament-associated protein AFAP-110 is an adaptor protein that modulates changes in actin filament integrity. *Oncogene* **20**: 6435–6447.
- 5. Bhuwania R, Cornfine S, Fang Z, Kruger M, *et al.* (2012) Supervillin couples myosin-dependent contractility to podosomes and enables their turnover. *J Cell Sci* **125**: 2300–2314.
- Bromann PA, Korkaya H, and Courtneidge SA. (2004) The interplay between Src family kinases and receptor tyrosine kinases. *Oncogene* 23: 7957–7968.
- Burgstaller G, and Gimona M. (2004) Actin cytoskeleton remodelling via local inhibition of contractility at discrete microdomains. *J Cell Sci* 117: 223–231.
- 8. Burgstaller G, and Gimona M. (2005) Podosome-mediated matrix resorption and cell motility in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288: H3001–H3005.
- 9. Burns S, Thrasher AJ, Blundell MP, Machesky L, *et al.* (2001) Configuration of human dendritic cell cytoskeleton by Rho GTPases, the WAS protein, and differentiation. *Blood* **98**: 1142–1149.
- Cervero P, Himmel M, Kruger M, and Linder S. (2012) Proteomic analysis of podosome fractions from macrophages reveals similarities to spreading initiation centres. *Eur J Cell Biol* 91: 908–922.
- 11. Chalhoub N, and Baker SJ. (2009) PTEN and the PI3-kinase pathway in cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol* **4**: 127–150.

- 12. Chalovich JM, Sen A, Resetar A, Leinweber B, *et al.* (1998) Caldesmon: binding to actin and myosin and effects on elementary steps in the ATPase cycle. *Acta Physiol Scand* **164**: 427–435.
- Chellaiah M, Kizer N, Silva M, Alvarez U, *et al.* (2000) Gelsolin deficiency blocks podosome assembly and produces increased bone mass and strength. *J Cell Biol* 148: 665–678.
- 14. Cornfine S, Himmel M, Kopp P, El AK, *et al.* (2011) The kinesin KIF9 and reggie/flotillin proteins regulate matrix degradation by macro-phage podosomes. *Mol Biol Cell* **22**: 202–215.
- 15. Courtneidge SA. (2002) Role of Src in signal transduction pathways. The Jubilee Lecture. *Biochem Soc Trans* **30**: 11–17.
- 16. Courtneidge SA. (2012) Cell migration and invasion in human disease: The Tks adaptor proteins. *Biochem Soc Trans* **40**:129–132.
- 17. Crimaldi L, Courtneidge SA, and Gimona M. (2009) Tks5 recruits AFAP-110, p190RhoGAP, and cortactin for podosome formation. *Exp Cell Res* **315**: 2581–2592.
- Davidson L, Maccario H, Perera NM, Yang X, *et al.* (2010) Suppression of cellular proliferation and invasion by the concerted lipid and protein phosphatase activities of PTEN. *Oncogene* 29: 687–697.
- 19. de Hoog CL, Foster LJ, and Mann M. (2004) RNA and RNA binding proteins participate in early stages of cell spreading through spreading initiation centers. *Cell* **11**7: 649–662.
- Destaing O, Saltel F, Geminard JC, Jurdic P, *et al.* (2003) Podosomes display actin turnover and dynamic self-organization in osteoclasts expressing actin-green fluorescent protein. *Mol Biol Cell* 14: 407–416.
- Doran AC, Meller N, and McNamara CA. (2008) Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and early progression of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28: 812–819.
- Dorfleutner A, Cho Y, Vincent D, Cunnick J, *et al.* (2008) Phosphorylation of AFAP-110 affects podosome lifespan in A7r5 cells. *J Cell Sci* 121: 2394–2405.
- Eppinga RD, Li Y, Lin JL, Mak AS, *et al.* (2006) Requirement of reversible caldesmon phosphorylation at P21-activated kinase-responsive sites for lamellipodia extensions during cell migration. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 63: 543–562.
- 24. Eves R, Oldham R, Jia L, and Mak AS. (2015) The roles of akt isoforms in the regulation of podosome formation in fibroblasts and extracellular matrix invasion. Cancers. (Basel) 7: 96–111.

- 206 A. Mak
 - Eves R, Webb BA, Zhou S, and Mak AS. (2006) Caldesmon is an integral component of podosomes in smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 119: 1691–1702.
 - 26. Field J, and Manser E. (2012) The PAKs come of age: Celebrating 18 years of discovery. *Cell Logist* 2: 54–58.
 - Firulli AB, Han D, Kelly-Roloff L, Koteliansky VE, *et al.* (1998) A comparative molecular analysis of four rat smooth muscle cell lines. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* 34: 217–226.
 - 28. Fultz ME, Li C, Geng W, and Wright GL. (2000) Remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton in the contracting A7r5 smooth muscle cell. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 21: 775–787.
 - 29. Furmaniak-Kazmierczak E, Crawley SW, Carter RL, Maurice DH, *et al.* (2007) Formation of extracellular matrix-digesting invadopodia by primary aortic smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **100**: 1328–1336.
 - 30. Gao SP, and Bromberg JF. (2006) Touched and moved by STAT3. *Sci STKE* 2006:e30.
 - Gatesman A, Walker VG, Baisden JM, Weed SA, *et al.* (2004) Protein kinase Calpha activates c-Src and induces podosome formation via AFAP-110. *Mol Cell Biol* 24: 7578–7597.
 - 32. Gimona M, Kaverina I, Resch GP, Vignal E, *et al.* (2003) Calponin repeats regulate actin filament stability and formation of podosomes in smooth muscle cells. *Mol Biol Cell* **14**: 2482–2491.
 - 33. Goh AM, Coffill CR, and Lane DP. (2011) The role of mutant p53 in human cancer. *J Pathol* 223: 116–126.
 - Goicoechea SM, Bednarski B, Garcia-Mata R, Prentice-Dunn H, *et al.* (2008) Palladin contributes to invasive motility in human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* 28: 587–598.
 - 35. Gomez D, and Owens GK. (2012) Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* **95**: 156–164.
 - 36. Gringel A, Walz D, Rosenberger G, Minden A, *et al.* (2006) PAK4 and alphaPIX determine podosome size and number in macrophages through localized actin regulation. *J Cell Physiol* **209**: 568–579.
 - 37. Gu Z, Fonseca V, and Hai CM. (2013) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mediates nicotine-induced actin cytoskeletal remodeling and extracellular matrix degradation by vascular smooth muscle cells. *Vascul Pharmacol* 58: 87–97.
 - 38. Gu Z, Kordowska J, Williams GL, Wang CL, et al. (2006) Erk1/2 MAPK and caldesmon differentially regulate podosome dynamics in A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells. Exp Cell Res 313:849–866.

- Guarino M. (2010) Src signaling in cancer invasion. J Cell Physiol 223: 14–26.
- 40. Hai CM, Hahne P, Harrington EO, and Gimona M. (2002) Conventional protein kinase C mediates phorbol-dibutyrate-induced cytoskeletal remodeling in a7r5 smooth muscle cells. *Exp Cell Res* 280: 64–74.
- Higuchi M, Onishi K, Kikuchi C, and Gotoh Y. (2008) Scaffolding function of PAK in the PDK1-Akt pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* 10: 1356–1364.
- 42. Hoshino D, Branch KM, and Weaver AM. (2013) Signaling inputs to invadopodia and podosomes. *J Cell Sci* **126**: 2979–2989.
- 43. Jaffe AB, and Hall A. (2005) Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **21**: 247–269.
- 44. Janjanam J, Chandaka GK, Kotla S, and Rao GN. (2015) PLCbeta3 mediates cortactin interaction with WAVE2 in MCP1-induced actin polymerization and cell migration. *Mol Biol Cell* **26**:4589–4606.
- 45. Jiang BH, and Liu LZ. (2009) PI3K/PTEN signaling in angiogenesis and tumorigenesis. *Adv Cancer Res* **102**: 19–65.
- Kaverina I, Stradal TE, and Gimona M. (2003) Podosome formation in cultured A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells requires Arp2/3-dependent de-novo actin polymerization at discrete microdomains. *J Cell Sci* 116: 4915–4924.
- 47. Kim NY, Kohn JC, Huynh J, Carey SP, *et al.* (2015) Biophysical induction of vascular smooth muscle cell podosomes. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0119008.
- Lener T, Burgstaller G, Crimaldi L, Lach S, et al. (2006) Matrixdegrading podosomes in smooth muscle cells. Eur J Cell Biol 85: 183–189.
- Leslie NR, Maccario H, Spinelli L, and Davidson L. (2009) The significance of PTEN's protein phosphatase activity. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 49: 190–196.
- 50. Linder S, Nelson D, Weiss M, and Aepfelbacher M. (1999) Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein regulates podosomes in primary human macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96**: 9648–9653.
- 51. Linder S, and Wiesner C. (2015) Tools of the trade: podosomes as multipurpose organelles of monocytic cells. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **72**: 121–135.
- Linder S, Wiesner C, and Himmel M. (2011) Degrading devices: invadosomes in proteolytic cell invasion. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 27: 185–211.
- 53. Luxenburg C, Geblinger D, Klein E, Anderson K, *et al.* (2007) The architecture of the adhesive apparatus of cultured osteoclasts: from podosome formation to sealing zone assembly. *PLoS ONE* 2:e179.
- 54. Madsen CD, and Sahai E. (2010) Cancer dissemination lessons from leukocytes. *Dev Cell* 19: 13–26.
- 55. Mak AS. (2011) p53 regulation of podosome formation and cellular invasion in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cell Adh Migr* **5**:144–149.
- 56. Mak AS. (2014) p53 in cell invasion, podosomes, and invadopodia. *Cell Adh Migr* 8:205–214.
- 57. Marchisio PC. (2012) Fortuitous birth, convivial baptism and early youth of podosomes. *Eur J Cell Biol* **91**: 820–823.
- Meddens MB, van den Dries K, and Cambi A. (2014) Podosomes revealed by advanced bioimaging: what did we learn? *Eur J Cell Biol* 93: 380–387.
- 59. Mersich AT, Miller MR, Chkourko H, and Blystone SD. (2010) The formin FRL1 (FMNL1) is an essential component of macrophage podosomes. *Cytoskeleton* (*Hoboken*.) 67: 573–585.
- 60. Moreau V, Tatin F, Varon C, and Genot E. (2003) Actin can reorganize into podosomes in aortic endothelial cells, a process controlled by Cdc42 and *RhoA Mol Cell Biol* **23**: 6809–6822.
- 61. Morita T, Mayanagi T, Yoshio T, and Sobue K. (2007) Changes in the balance between caldesmon regulated by PAKs and the Arp2/3 complex govern podosome formation. *J Biol Chem*.
- 62. Mukhopadhyay UK, Eves R, Jia L, Mooney P, *et al.* (2009) p53 suppresses Src-induced podosome and rosette formation and cellular invasiveness through the upregulation of caldesmon. *Mol Cell Biol* **29**: 3088–3098.
- 63. Mukhopadhyay UK, Mooney P, Jia L, Eves R, *et al.* (2010) Doubles game: Src-Stat3 versus p53-PTEN in cellular migration and invasion. *Mol Cell Biol* **30**: 4980–4995.
- Ory S, Brazier H, Pawlak G, and Blangy A. (2008) Rho GTPases in osteoclasts: orchestrators of podosome arrangement. *Eur J Cell Biol* 87: 469–477.
- 65. Owens GK. (1995) Regulation of differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Physiol Rev* 75: 487–517.
- 66. Owens GK, Kumar MS, and Wamhoff BR. (2004) Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol Rev* 84: 767–801.

- Parsons M, and Adams JC. (2008) Rac regulates the interaction of fascin with protein kinase C in cell migration. J Cell Sci 121: 2805–2813.
- 68. Poon JS, Eves R, and Mak AS. (2010) Both lipid- and protein-phosphatase activities of PTEN contribute to the p53-PTEN anti-invasion pathway. *Cell Cycle* 9: 4450–4454.
- 69. Qian Y, Baisden JM, Zot HG, Van Winkle WB, *et al.* (2000) The carboxy terminus of AFAP-110 modulates direct interactions with actin filaments and regulates its ability to alter actin filament integrity and induce lamellipodia formation. *Exp Cell Res* **255**: 102–113.
- 70. Quintavalle M, Elia L, Condorelli G, and Courtneidge SA. (2010) MicroRNA control of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *J Cell Biol* **189**: 13–22.
- 71. Salmena L, Carracedo A, and Pandolfi PP. (2008) Tenets of PTEN tumor suppression. *Cell* **133**: 403–414.
- 72. Seano G, and Primo L. (2015) Podosomes and invadopodia: tools to breach vascular basement membrane. *Cell Cycle* 14: 1370–1374.
- Shirafuji T, Ueyama T, Yoshino K, Takahashi H, *et al.* (2014) The role of Pak-interacting exchange factor-beta phosphorylation at serines 340 and 583 by PKCgamma in dopamine release. *J Neurosci* 34: 9268–9280.
- 74. Silva CM. (2004) Role of STATs as downstream signal transducers in Src family kinase-mediated tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* 23: 8017–8023.
- 75. Snyder BN, Cho Y, Qian Y, Coad JE, *et al.* (2011) AFAP1L1 is a novel adaptor protein of the AFAP family that interacts with cortactin and localizes to invadosomes. *Eur J Cell Biol* **90**: 376–389.
- 76. Stylli SS, Kaye AH, and Lock P. (2008) Invadopodia: at the cutting edge of tumour invasion. *J Clin Neurosci* 15: 725–737.
- 77. Tanaka H, Wang HH, Thatcher SE, Hagiwara H, *et al.* (2015) Electron microscopic examination of podosomes induced by phorbol 12, 13 dibutyrate on the surface of A7r5 cells. *J Pharmacol Sci* 128: 78–82.
- Tarone G, Cirillo D, Giancotti FG, Comoglio PM, *et al.* (1985) Rous sarcoma virus-transformed fibroblasts adhere primarily at discrete protrusions of the ventral membrane called podosomes. *Exp Cell Res* 159: 141–157.
- Tatin F, Varon C, Genot E, and Moreau V. (2006) A signalling cascade involving PKC, Src and Cdc42 regulates podosome assembly in cultured endothelial cells in response to phorbol ester. *J Cell Sci* 119: 769–781.

- 210 A. Mak
 - Thatcher SE, Fultz ME, Tanaka H, Hagiwara H, *et al.* (2011) Myosin light chain kinase/actin interaction in phorbol dibutyrate-stimulated smooth muscle cells. *J Pharmacol Sci* 116: 116–127.
 - 81. van den Dries K, Meddens MB, de KS, Shekhar S, *et al.* (2013) Interplay between myosin IIA-mediated contractility and actin network integrity orchestrates podosome composition and oscillations. *Nat Commun* 4: 1412.
 - 82. van den Dries K, Schwartz SL, Byars J, Meddens MB, *et al.* (2013) Dual-color superresolution microscopy reveals nanoscale organization of mechanosensory podosomes. *Mol Biol Cell* **24**: 2112–2123.
 - 83. van Helden SF, and Hordijk PL. (2011) Podosome regulation by Rho GTPases in myeloid cells. *Eur J Cell Biol* **90**: 189–197.
 - 84. Veillat V, Spuul P, Daubon T, Egana I, et al. (2015) Podosomes: Multipurpose organelles? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 65: 52–60.
 - 85. Walde M, Monypenny J, Heintzmann R, Jones GE, *et al.* (2014) Vinculin binding angle in podosomes revealed by high resolution microscopy. *PLoS ONE* 9:e88251.
 - Walker VG, Ammer A, Cao Z, Clump AC, *et al.* (2007) PI3K activation is required for PMA-directed activation of cSrc by AFAP-110. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 293: C119–C132.
 - 87. Wang CL. (2008) Caldesmon and the regulation of cytoskeletal functions. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 644: 250–272.
 - Weaver AM. (2008) Cortactin in tumor invasiveness. Cancer Lett 265: 157–166.
 - Webb BA, Eves R, Crawley SW, Zhou S, *et al.* (2005) PAK1 induces podosome formation in A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells in a PAKinteracting exchange factor-dependent manner. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 289: C898–C907.
 - Webb BA, Eves R, and Mak AS. (2006) Cortactin regulates podosome formation: roles of the protein interaction domains. *Exp Cell Res* 312: 760–769.
 - Webb BA, Jia L, Eves R, and Mak AS. (2007) Dissecting the functional domain requirements of cortactin in invadopodia formation. *Eur J Cell Biol.* 86: 189–206.
 - 92. Webb BA, Zhou S, Eves R, Shen L, *et al.* (2006) Phosphorylation of cortactin by p21-activated kinase. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **456**: 183–193.
 - 93. Wei CL, Wu Q, Vega VB, Chiu KP, *et al.* (2006) A global map of p53 transcription-factor binding sites in the human genome. *Cell* **124**: 207–219.

- 94. Wiesner C, Faix J, Himmel M, Bentzien F, et al. (2010) KIF5B and KIF3A/KIF3B kinesins drive MT1-MMP surface exposure, CD44 shedding, and extracellular matrix degradation in primary macrophages. Blood 116: 1559–1569.
- 95. Wu H, Reynolds AB, Kanner SB, Vines RR, *et al.* (1991) Identification and characterization of a novel cytoskeleton-associated pp60src substrate. *Mol Cell Biol* 11:5113–5124.
- 96. Xiao H, Bai XH, Kapus A, Lu WY, *et al.* (2010) The protein kinase C cascade regulates recruitment of matrix metalloprotease 9 to podosomes and its release and activation. *Mol Cell Biol* **30**: 5545–5561.
- 97. Yamaguchi H, Lorenz M, Kempiak S, Sarmiento C, *et al.* (2005) Molecular mechanisms of invadopodium formation: The role of the N-WASP-Arp2/3 complex pathway and cofilin. *J Cell Biol* 168: 441–452.
- Yamakita Y, Oosawa F, Yamashiro S, and F. Matsumura. (2003) Caldesmon inhibits Arp2/3-mediated actin nucleation. J Biol Chem 278: 17937–17944.
- Zhou GL, Zhuo Y, King CC, Fryer BH, et al. (2003) Akt phosphorylation of serine 21 on Pak1 modulates Nck binding and cell migration. *Mol Cell Biol* 23: 8058–8069.
- 100. Zhou S, Webb BA, Eves R, and Mak AS. (2006) Effects of tyrosine phosphorylation of cortactin on podosome formation in A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **290**: C463–C471.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 7

Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Invasion in Atherosclerosis

Chi-Ming Hai

Department of Molecular Pharmacology, Physiology and Biotechnology, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island 02912, USA chi-ming_hai@brown.edu

Atherosclerosis, an inflammatory disease of arteries, is a leading cause of death worldwide.⁷ Atherosclerosis is characterized by the formation of lipid-laden plaque in the vessel wall, causing narrowing of the vessel lumen and reduction in blood flow. In advanced stages of atherosclerosis, the rupture of atherosclerotic plaque can cause the catastrophic event of luminal thrombosis, complete vascular occlusion, cessation of blood flow, and organ damage. The three layers of arterial wall intima, media, and adventitia - play different roles in the development of atherosclerosis.97 Intima is the inner layer between endothelium and internal elastic lamina; media is the middle layer between internal elastic lamina and external elastic lamina; adventitia is the outer layer. Vascular smooth muscle cells are present in both intima and media. The importance of vascular smooth muscle cells in the development of atherosclerosis is indicated by the observation that vascular smooth muscle-rich regions of coronary arteries are more prone to the development of atherosclerosis, whereas vascular smooth muscle-sparse

regions are more resistant to the development of atherosclerosis.²⁵ Recent findings suggest that vascular smooth muscle cells play a central role in both the development of atherosclerosis and plaque rupture. During the early stage of atherosclerosis development, vascular smooth muscle cells play a detrimental role in promoting plaque formation. Invasion of medial vascular smooth muscle cells from media to intima and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells in the intima together contribute to plaque formation. During the advanced stage of atherosclerosis, vascular smooth muscle cells play a beneficial role in plaque stabilization. Specifically, vascular smooth muscle cells at the fibrous cap of fibroatheroma provide mechanical stability to the structure. Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells at the fibrous and fatal acute coronary syndrome.¹⁰

Stary *et al.*^{89–91} defined the multiple stages of atherosclerosis progression as adaptive intimal thickening (type I), fatty streak formation (type II), preatheroma formation/pathologic intimal thickening (type III), atheroma formation (type IV), fibroatheroma formation (type V), and complicated lesion with surface defect and thrombus formation (type VI). This review discusses the specific roles of vascular smooth muscle cells in each one of these stages of atherosclerosis.

1. Adaptive Intimal Thickening (Type I)

Vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation is a major mechanism of adaptive intimal thickening. Intimal thickening is a life-long process, beginning early in the peri/post-partum period and continuing throughout life.^{36,61} Adaptive intimal thickening appears to be a physiological response to hemodynamic stress/strain and normally does not significantly narrow the vascular lumen.⁸⁹ Arteries exhibiting significant intimal thickening — for example, coronary arteries, renal arteries, and carotid arteries — are typically the first to develop atherosclerosis.⁶⁵ The observation of differential spatial distribution of intimal thickening has led to the hypothesis that vascular cells in the atherosclerosis-prone and atherosclerosis-resistant regions of the arterial system are fundamentally different before the development

of atherosclerotic lesions. Van Assche *et al.*¹⁰⁰ tested this hypothesis by comparing transcriptomes of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis-prone and atherosclerosis-resistant regions in ApoE^{-/-} mice (animal model of atherosclerosis) before plaque development and in C57BI/6 mice using whole-genome mouse microarrays. Consistent with the hypothesis, they observed differential expression of 70 and 244 genes between atherosclerosis-prone and atherosclerosis-resistant regions in C57BI/6 and ApoE^{-/-} mice, respectively. Furthermore, 201 genes related to atherosclerotic processes were expressed exclusively in ApoE^{-/-} mice.

Intimal thickening is caused by the proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells residing in the intima. Orekhov et al.,72 using light and electron microscopy, showed that majority of the cells in normal intima of human aorta are differentiated smooth muscle cells. characterized by an elongated cell shape and presence of microfilaments and dense bodies. Aikawa et al.,2 using immunolabeling against smooth muscle-specific myosin heavy chain and actin, also identified vascular smooth muscle cells as the major cell type in the intima of human coronary arteries. To determine the origin of intimal vascular smooth muscle cells, Murry et al.63 investigated clonality of intimal vascular smooth muscle cells by examining X chromosome inactivation patterns in the intima of human arteries. They showed that the intima is populated by a monoclonal population of vascular smooth muscle cells. Schwartz and Murry⁸⁴ proposed several hypotheses to explain the origin of clonality of vascular smooth muscle cell population in the intima, among which the migration/trapping hypothesis appears to be most consistent with the observed vascular smooth muscle proliferation in early development. The migration/ trapping hypothesis suggests that clonality of intimal smooth muscle cells in human coronary arteries arises from a sequence of events during development: a) trapping of rare cells during early embryogenesis, b) migration of rare cells across the internal elastic lamina at later times to become intimal smooth muscle cells, and c) rapid rate of cell proliferation during early development. Chung et al.²⁰ investigated whether clonal expansion occurs only with plaque formation or also with normal development by mapping X chromosome inactivation patterns in micro-dissected samples of normal and atherosclerotic

aortic smooth muscle. They observed monoclonal X-activation patterns in tissue samples of both media and intima from normal and atherosclerotic aorta. Their observation suggests that clonal expansion of vascular smooth muscle cells is part of normal growth and development in both media and intima. The observed relatively large patch size of monoclonal vascular smooth muscle cell population in normal arteries led Chung *et al.*²⁰ to propose that human arteries grow by expanding coherent vascular smooth muscle clones, with little mixing of adjacent clones. This observation has also led Chung *et al.*²⁰ to conclude that X-inactivation analysis cannot discriminate between monoclonal and polyclonal origin of plaque vascular smooth muscle cells.

An important mechanism by which intimal thickening leads to the development of atherosclerosis is the retention of lipoproteins in the extracellular matrix secreted by intimal vascular smooth muscle cells.^{17,66,67} The response-to-retention hypothesis proposes that retention of lipoprotein by extracellular matrix in the arterial wall is necessary and sufficient for initiating atherogenesis.²⁸ Consistent with this hypothesis, biglycan, a proteoglycan, has been shown to colocalize with lipoproteins at the site of atherosclerosis.⁴⁸ Furthermore, biglycan overexpression in transgenic mice, under control of the smooth muscle α -actin promoter, has been shown to result in a greater degree of atherosclerosis.⁹⁹ Intimal thickening appears to be a unique characteristic of human and primate arteries, as it is not observed in arteries in mice and rats.⁸⁸ For this reason, research in adaptive intimal thickening has been challenging and underdeveloped.

2. Fatty Streak Formation (Type II)

Fatty streaks are macroscopically visible yellow-colored streaks, patches, or spots on the luminal surface of arteries.⁹¹ Fatty streaks consist primarily of vascular smooth muscle and macrophage foam cells, with the ratio of vascular smooth muscle/macrophage foam cell population changing with the advancement of fatty streaks to fibrous plaques. Katsuda *et al.*,⁴¹ using antibodies against vascular smooth

muscle and macrophage-specific proteins, showed that vascular smooth muscle cells represent the majority of lipid-loaded foam cells in late stage of fatty streak development in human aorta. Similarly, Allahverdian *et al.*,⁴ by costaining for oil red O and smooth muscle α -actin, reported that vascular smooth muscle cells accounted for 50% of total foam cells in fatty streaks of human coronary arteries. The process of vascular smooth muscle foam cell formation consists of several steps: a) secretion of extracellular matrix by intimal vascular smooth muscle cells, b) retention of lipoproteins by extracellular matrix in the intima, c) modification of lipoproteins, and d) endocytosis of modified lipoproteins by vascular smooth muscle cells via cell surface scavenger receptors.⁴⁰

Lipid content in a vascular smooth muscle cell is determined by the relative magnitude of cellular endocytosis via scavenger receptors and cellular export via membrane transporters.³ Scavenger receptors are cell membrane receptors that bind and internalize modified lowdensity lipoproteins (LDLs) and pathogens.¹⁰⁹ The most important scavenger receptors for binding and uptake of oxidized LDL by vascular smooth muscle cells are the SR class A and SR-B2 (CD36) receptors.¹⁰⁷ Ishikawa et al.,³⁸ by immunostaining for SR-B1/2 and smooth muscle α-actin, demonstrated the presence of SR-B1/2positive vascular smooth muscle foam cells in the intima around fatty streak in atherosclerotic human aorta. In comparison, SR-B1/ 2 receptors-positive vascular smooth muscle cells were not detected in normal intima. This observation suggests the presence of a vicious cycle, in which uptake of oxidized LDL and cholesterol by vascular smooth muscle cells induces up-regulation of scavenger receptors for further uptake of lipid, resulting in high level of cellular lipid accumulation and vascular smooth muscle foam cell formation.^{51,60,79,105} Other classes of scavenger receptors — for example, SR-D1 (CD68), SR-E1 (LOX-1), SR-G, and SRJ receptors - are also expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells.¹⁰⁶ It is noteworthy that the scavenger receptor, SR-D1 (CD68), is often considered a marker of macrophages. By costaining cells in atherosclerotic human coronary arteries for CD68 and smooth muscle α -actin, Allahverdian et al.⁴ recently showed that 18% and 40% of CD68-positive cells express

smooth muscle α -actin in early (type I and II) and advanced (type III and IV) atherosclerotic lesions, respectively. Their finding suggests that many CD68-positive intimal cells, previously considered macrophages, are actually vascular smooth muscle cells exhibiting the macrophage-like phenotype. There is emerging consensus that vascular smooth muscle cells may play a more important role in foam cell formation than previously recognized.¹⁶

Export of cellular lipids by vascular smooth muscle cells is mediated mostly by ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1). It is noteworthy that ABCA1 expression is down-regulated in intimal vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerotic lesions in human coronary arteries.¹⁹ In vitro experiments indicate that oxidized LDL and cholesterol induce down-regulation of ABCA1 in vascular smooth muscle cells.^{79,105} Thus, oxidized LDL-induced up-regulation of scavenger receptors and down-regulation of ABCA1 expression together enhance cellular lipid accumulation and vascular smooth muscle foam cell formation.

Lipid-loading of vascular smooth muscle cells can lead to stimulation of inflammatory gene expression and cell proliferation by the release of autocrines — for example, platelet-derived growth factor and fibroblast growth factor- β .⁴³ The effects of these growth factors on phenotypic modulation and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells have been reviewed recently.¹⁸

3. Preatheroma Formation/Pathologic Intimal Thickening (Type III)

Type III and more advanced atherosclerotic lesions are often described as "plaque". Preatheroma/pathologic intimal thickening (type III) is characterized by the presence of extracellular lipid pools among the layers of smooth muscle cells. Lipid pools typically contain microvesicular lipid without vascular smooth muscle cells. However, the presence of "caged basal lamina" — thick basement membrane that previously surrounded vascular smooth muscle cells — suggests death of vascular smooth muscles within lipid pools.^{44,82} Pathologic intimal thickening can be detrimental. One study showed

that pathologic intimal thickening constitutes higher than 10% sudden coronary deaths.⁹⁵ Pathologic intimal thickening, followed by subsequent infiltration of macrophages, is an important step in the progression of atherosclerosis toward atheroma and fibroatheroma formation.⁷³

4. Atheroma (Type IV) and Fibroatheroma Formation (Type V)

Atheroma and fibroatheroma are characterized by the presence of a core of extracellular lipid. The lipid core is also known as necrotic core, because it consists of lipids and cell debris. The necrotic core is surrounded by a fibrous cap consisting of vascular smooth muscle cells and extracellular matrix. Stary et al.⁹⁰ classified atheroma (type IV) lesion histologically as the first advanced atherosclerotic lesion having extensive accumulation of extracellular lipid in the form of a lipid core, and classified fibrotheroma (type V) lesion as having a fibrous cap layer in addition to the lipid core. Virmani et al.¹⁰³ have proposed an alternative classification of atherosclerotic lesions, which categorizes types IV and V lesion together as fibroatheroma having a lipid core and a fibrous cap. Virmani et al.^{102,103} defined the fibrous cap as a distinct layer of connective tissue completely covering the lipid core. Comparison and illustration of these two classifications of human atherosclerosis have been presented by Plasschaert et al.75 The fibrous cap consists of vascular smooth muscle cells in a collagen-proteoglycan matrix, with varying degrees of infiltration by macrophages and lymphocytes. Vascular smooth muscle cells are the major producers of collagen, elastin, and proteoglycans in the fibrous cap. The fibrous cap is critical for stabilizing the lesion.

Growth of atheroma/fibroatheroma is driven by invasion of vascular smooth muscles from the media to intima and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells in the intima.^{10,18} Invasion of vascular smooth muscle cells from media to intima is a well-recognized mechanism of atheroma formation,^{32,81} but data in support of this mechanism is relatively scanty. Thomas *et al.*⁹⁸ using radioactive labeling of arterial cells with tritiated thymidine prior to feeding swines with hypercholesterolemic diets, following by radioautography of intima and media in atherosclerotic arteries, showed that cells in atherosclerotic lesions are polyclonal in origin. Their finding is significant in suggesting that non-intimal cells, presumably medial cells, contribute to the development of atherosclerotic lesions. Feil et al.,²⁶ using a genetic approach to investigate the contribution of medial vascular smooth muscle cells to atherosclerotic plaque formation, pulselabeled vascular smooth muscle cells using the tamoxifen-dependent Cre recombinase, CreERT2, expressed from the endogenous SM22 α locus combined with Cre-activatable reporter genes that were integrated into the ROSA26 locus. The fate of medial vascular smooth muscle cells during atherogenesis was then tracked by tamoxifen treatment of ApoE-/- mice before the development of atherosclerosis. They found that, during atherogenesis, medial vascular smooth muscle cells underwent clonal expansion, lost expression of the smooth muscle marker (smooth muscle α -actin), and converted to macrophage-like cells. Their data analysis indicated that vascular smooth muscle-derived macrophage-like cells constituted majority of the cellular component of advanced atherosclerotic lesions.

Transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophagelike cells has been confirmed by cell culture studies. Rong et al.79 loaded mouse aortic smooth muscle cells with cholesterol using cholesterol: methyl-B-cyclodextrin complexes and demonstrated vascular smooth muscle foam-cell formation by staining lipid droplets. Using immunostaining against smooth muscle and macrophage marker proteins, they demonstrated down-regulation of protein expression of smooth muscle cell-related genes — for example, smooth muscle α -actin and myosin heavy chain - and up-regulation of protein expression of macrophage-related genes - for example, CD68 - in cholesterolloaded vascular smooth muscle cells. Furthermore, these changes in protein expression were accompanied by macrophage-like phagocytotic activity. Recently, Vengrenyuk et al.¹⁰¹ reported that down-regulation of the miR-143/145-myocardin axis induced by cholesterol loading is an important mechanism underlying the conversion of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells. Findings from these and other studies have led to the recognition that transdifferentiation of medial

vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells contributes substantially to plaque formation.⁴⁹

Several alternative hypotheses have been proposed to address the origin of intimal vascular smooth muscle cells during the development of atherosclerotic lesions. Schwartz and Murry et al.⁸⁴ asserted that the conventional paradigam — that invasion of vascular smooth muscle cells from media to intima is a major mechanism of plaque formation — has been developed mostly based on animal models of balloon injury to normal blood vessels. They proposed the alternative hypothesis that intimal vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis-prone arteries spontaneously form atherosclerotic lesions in response to hyperlipidemia. Other investigators have proposed the alternative hypothesis that circulating hematopoietic and multipotent vascular stem cells are the major contributors to plaque formation,^{83,94} but findings from several laboratories appeared to contradict this hypothesis.^{9,11,12} In a recent review, Tabas et al.⁹³ emphasized the current controversy regarding the origin of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerotic lesions, and stated that the concept that medial vascular smooth muscle cells contribute to atheroma formation in atherosclerosis remained unproven in humans. Despite the controversy regarding the origin of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis plaques, there is emerging consensus that interconversion of vascular smooth muscle cells among three phenotypes — contractile phenotype, synthetic phenotype, and macrophage-like phenotype — is an important mechanism underlying plaque formation and stabilization. In particular, differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells play a critical role in plaque stabilization by forming the fibrous cap of atheroma, but relatively little has been published on the origin of differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells in the fibrous cap of atheroma. One possibility is that a population of differentiated vascular smooth muscle cells is pushed from intima and/or media toward the luminal surface to form the fibrous cap. Another possibility is that synthetic or macrophage-like vascular smooth muscle cells near the luminal surface convert to the contractile phenotype during fibrous cap formation.

Degradation of basement membrane and extracellular matrix by matrix metalloproteinases is necessary for invasion of medial vascular smooth muscle cells from media to intima during atheroma formation.⁶⁸ Matrix matalloproteinases are released by multiple cell types, including vascular smooth muscle cells. Galis et al.,²⁹ using in situ zvmography, demonstrated matrix metalloproteinase activity in frozen sections of atherosclerotic but not normal human arterial tissues. Segers et al.⁸⁵ demonstrated the colocalization of matrix metalloproteinase activity with vascular smooth muscle cells in histological studies of aortic segments dissected from hypercholesterolemic rabbits. Furthermore, results from cell culture studies indicate that vascular smooth muscle cells of the synthetic phenotype are capable of releasing matrix metalloproteinases in response to inflammatory cvtokines and growth factors.^{23,68} The release of matrix metalloproteinases by invasive cells, for example, macrophages, is regulated by podosomes - cellular organelles consisting of columns of filamentous actin and actin-binding proteins, surrounded by a ring of adhesion and signaling proteins.^{52,53,57,62} Vascular smooth muscle cells form podosomes in response to PKC activation.35,50,55 Using immunoelectron microscopy of podosome markers, Quintavalle et al.77 demonstrated the formation of podosomes in vascular smooth muscle cells in the aorta of microRNA-143 knockout mice, but not in the aortas of wildtype mice. Their finding suggests that down-regulation of microRNA-143 and -145 promotes the formation of podosomes in vascular smooth muscle cells. It is noteworthy that down-regulation of the miR-143/145-myocardin axis promotes the conversion of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells.¹⁰¹ Findings from these two studies together suggest the intriguing concept that podosome formation may represents a step in the process of transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells. Nicotine, an addictive substance in cigarette smoke, induces the formation of podosome rosettes in vascular smooth muscle cells.33 Podosome rosettes are highly invasive cellular organelles found in highly invasive cells. This observation suggests that enhancement of vascular smooth muscle cell invasion via formation of podosomes and podosome rosettes is an important mechanism by which cigarette smoking and nicotine consumption increase the risk of developing atherosclerosis.

5. Complicated Lesion (Type VI)

Complicated lesion is characterized by plaque rupture and thrombus formation. Rupture of atherosclerotic plaque can potentially cause the catastrophic event of luminal thrombosis, complete vascular occlusion, cessation of blood flow, and organ damage. Plaques vulnerable to rupture are characterized by the presence of thin fibrous caps, large number of macrophages, small number of vascular smooth muscle cells, small amount of extracellular matrix proteins, and large lipid cores. A major cause of plaque rupture is the progressive thinning of fibrous cap as a result of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis and extracellular matrix degradation by macrophage-derived matrix metalloproteinases.^{69,70,87} Apoptosis and necrosis of vascular smooth muscle cells are also important contributors to necrotic core formation. The vast majority (95%) of the fibrous caps of ruptured plaques is less than 64 µm in thickness. Based on this observation, Kolodgie et al.47 introduced the term "thin-cap fibroatheroma" to describe fibroatheroma having a fibrous cap less than 65 µm in thickness. A major difference between the thick fibrous cap in early fibroatheroma and the thin fibrous cap in late fibroatheroma is the different extent of vascular smooth muscle cell death. Because fibrous cap thinning can potentially lead to plaque rupture and thrombosis, thin-cap fibroatheroma is also known as vulnerable plaque or high-risk atherosclerotic plaque.

Apoptosis of vascular smooth cells is recognized as a major cause of fibrous cap thinning and plaque rupture. Bennett *et al.*,⁸ using timelapse videomicroscopy, electron microscopy, and DNA fragmentation, studied apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells isolated from normal human coronary arteries and human coronary plaques. They found that apoptosis was a major cause of cell death in both normal and plaque-derived vascular smooth muscle cells. However, normal vascular smooth muscle cells died only upon removal of serum growth factors, whereas plaque-derived vascular smooth muscle cells died even in high serum conditions. Their finding suggests that vascular smooth muscle cells at atherosclerotic plaques are highly susceptible to apoptosis. To study the effect of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis on atherosclerotic plaque stability in vivo, Clarke *et al.*²¹ generated transgenic ApoE^{-/-} mice expressing the human diphtheria toxin receptor for inducing apoptosis. They showed that high level of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis induced significant thinning of the fibrous cap in atherosclerotic plaques, whereas high level of vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis in normal arteries did not induce vascular remodeling or aneurysm formation. Using the same mouse model of inducible vascular smooth muscle-specific apoptosis in ApoE^{-/-} mice, Clarke *et al.*²² showed that chronic low level of vascular smooth muscle apoptosis accelerated growth of fibroatheroma. Based on the recognition that vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis is a major cause of plaque destabilization, pharmaceuticals are being developed to target apoptotic processes in the treatment of atherosclerosis.⁵⁸

Pro-inflammatory cytokines, for example, IFN- γ , FasL, and TNF- α , promote vascular smooth muscle proliferation and/or apoptosis during atherosclerosis.³¹ IFN-y, a member of T-cell-derived proinflammatory cytokines, is present at high levels in atherosclerotic plaques and has been shown to promote apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells and atherosclerosis. Gupta *et al.*,³⁴ using IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ / ApoE^{-/-} double-knockout mice fed with Western-style diet, showed that IFN- γ deficiency substantially reduced atherosclerotic lesion size. Taking a different approach, Koga et al.45 investigated the effect of blocking IFN- γ function by overexpressing a soluble functionblocking mutant of IFN-γ receptor in ApoE^{-/-}mice fed with Westernstyle diet. They found that blockade of IFN-y function increased vascular smooth muscle cell number, increased fibrotic area, and improved plaque stability. Koga et al.46 then investigated the effect of blocking postnatal IFN-γ function by repeated gene transfers of the soluble mutant of IFN-y receptor into the thigh muscle of ApoE^{-/-} mice fed with high-fat diet. They found that blockade of postnatal IFN-γ function decreased plaque progression and stabilized advanced plaques by increasing the size of fibrotic area and number of vascular smooth muscle cells. Altogether, these findings suggest that IFN-y promotes atherosclerosis and plaque vulnerability in part by modulating proliferation and apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells.

Fas-mediated vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis has been hypothesized as a mechanism of atheroma cap thinning.³¹ The death

receptor Fas and its ligand FasL have been identified in atherosclerotic human carotid and coronary arteries. Majority of the Faspositive vascular smooth muscle cells are found in atherosclerotic plaques in the intima.^{14,30} Double staining of atherosclerotic plaques indicated colocalization of Fas and DNA fragmentation in vascular smooth muscle cells in areas containing T cells and macrophages, suggesting that activated T cells induce vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis by activating Fas.³⁰ In cell culture experiments, treatment with IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-1 β together has been shown to induce Fas expression on the cell surface of vascular smooth muscle cells. Furthermore, incubation of cytokine-primed vascular smooth muscle cells with an activating anti-Fas antibody triggered apoptosis.³⁰ This finding supports the hypothesis that induction of Fas expression is an important mechanism by which inflammatory cytokines promote vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis. In support of this hypothesis, Geng et al.³⁰ showed that activated monocytes and supernatant collected from activated monocytes induced apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells. They further identified FasL as the causative agent in the supernatant, and showed that anti-Fas IgG1 blocked the ability of supernatant to induce apoptotis. These findings together suggest the involvement of Fas/FasL pathway in monocyte-induced apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells. Fas can translocate dynamically between cell surface and intracellular compartments.⁹⁶ Rosner et al.⁸⁰ showed that IFN- γ primes vascular smooth muscle cells to FasLinduced apoptosis by stimulating the translocation of Fas from intracellular compartment to the cell surface. Taking a genetic approach to investigate FasL-mediated vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis, Zadelaar et al.¹⁰⁸ induced FasL overexpression in the fibrous cap of plaque in ApoE-/- mice using adenovirus-mediated FasL gene transfection. They showed that FasL overexpression significantly increased vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis in the fibrous cap, accompanied by enhanced plaque vulnerability. Altogether, these findings implicate the involvement of Fas and FasL in apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells and atheroma cap thinning.

TNF- α is a member of the TNF superfamily molecules. TNF- α is present at high concentration in the extracellular matrix within

atherosclerotic human arteries. Persistently elevated plasma concentrations of TNF- α is a characteristic of post-myocardial infarction patients at increased risk for recurrent coronary events.⁷⁸ To investigate the role of TNF- α in atherogenesis, Ohta *et al.*⁷¹ generated TNF- $\alpha^{-/-}$ /ApoE^{-/-} double knockout mice and showed that TNF- α gene disruption diminished development of atherosclerosis in ApoE^{-/-} mice. Consistently, cell culture studies indicated the ability of TNF- α to induce vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis. Jia *et al.*³⁹ studied the effect of TNF- α on vascular smooth muscle cells isolated from human carotid plaques, and showed that TNF- α induced apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells by stimulating caspase-3 activity and activating FoxO1 transcription factor. Altogether, these and other human and animal studies indicate that TNF-related molecules, including TNF- α , regulate cell survival and promote atherosclerosis progression and plaque rupture.⁶

Autophagy, or "self-eating", is an important mechanism for regulating death and survival of vascular smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis. Autophagy is a cellular process that degrades cellular components for recycling. Basal autophagy promotes plaque stabilization by enhancing survival of vascular smooth muscle cells in the fibrous cap of atheroma. However, excessive autophagy can cause plaque destabilization by inducing autophagic death of vascular smooth muscle cells.⁸⁶ Xu et al.,¹⁰⁴ using fluorescence microscopy and transmission electron microscopy for detecting autophagic vacuoles, showed that loading of vascular smooth muscle cells with excess free cholesterol induced autophagy. Furthermore, they showed that inhibition of autophagy by 3-methyladenine enhanced apoptosis of free-cholesterolloaded vascular smooth muscle cells, whereas stimulation of autophagy by rapamycin attenuated cell death. Their finding suggests that autophagy promotes vascular smooth muscle cell survival. Swaminathan et al. 92 compared the gene expression of 59 selected proteins, including proteins involved in autophagy, between carotid plaques excised from symptomatic patients (unstable plaques) and asymptomatic patients (stable plaques). They observed differential gene expression of several proteins associated with autophagy pathways between the two patient groups. In particular, mRNA and protein expression of MAP1LC3B, a marker of autophagy, exhibited a five-fold decrease in

symptomatic samples, suggesting that autophagy enhances vascular smooth muscle cell survival and promotes plaque stability. Based on these findings, Swaminathan *et al.*⁹² concluded that carotid atherosclerotic plaques exhibiting under-expression of MAP1LC3B would have low levels of autophagy, high levels of dead cell accumulation, and plaque destabilization.

Autophagy has also been shown to promote plaque vulnerability. ATG16L1 is an essential protein for early stages of autophagy. Magne et al.,54 using histological analysis, demonstrated expression of ATG16L1 in areas surrounding the necrotic core and shoulder regions of plaques excised from human atherosclerotic carotid arteries. Using double immunofluorescence labeling and immunogold labeling, Magne et al.⁵⁴ demonstrated abundant expression of ATG16L1 in phagocytic cells, endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle foam cells, and mast cells in advanced plaques. Furthermore, they correlated protein expression of ATG16L1 with plaque content of proinflammatory cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases. By analyzing ATG16L1 expression during atherogenesis induced by incomplete ligation and cuff placement in carotid arteries of ApoE-/- mice, Magne et al.⁵⁴ showed that colocalization of ATG16L1 and vascular smooth muscle cells occurred only in early atherosclerotic lesions. Altogether, the findings of Magne et al.54 indicated that early stage of autophagy as measured by ATG16L1 protein expression is associated with events at earlier stages of atherosclerosis — foam cell formation, development of inflamed plaque phenotype, and plaque vulnerability.

Thrombotic occlusion of a coronary plaque can result in myocardial infarction, cardiac death, or stroke. Based on this recognition, detection of highly vulnerable plaque by invasive and noninvasive imaging modalities has been proposed as an approach to identifying high-risk patients and improving prognosis.²⁷ However, recent findings suggest that plaque rupture does not always result in catastrophic thrombotic occlusion. Instead, plaque rupture and its healing are often asymptomatic, but could lead to progressive lumen obstruction.^{1,5,13} The healing process consists of thrombolysis by the fibrinolytic system, followed by proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells, secretion of extracellular matrix by vascular smooth muscle cells at the rupture site, and resurfacing of the rupture site by endothelial cells.^{13,56} As a result, healing of plaque rupture increases the number of vascular smooth muscle cells and amount of extracellular matrix in the plaque, thereby contributing to plaque enlargement and further narrowing of the vessel lumen.

In addition to promoting atheroma formation and plaque stabilization, vascular smooth muscle cells also mediate vascular calcification, an unfavorable event in the progression of atherosclerosis that strongly predicts cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.^{24,59} Vascular smooth muscle cells contribute to plaque calcification by two mechanisms — apoptosis and osteogenic transdifferentiation.^{40,74,76} Vascular smooth muscle cells promote two types of vascular calcification micro-calcification (0.5 to 15 µm in diameter) and sheet-like macrocalcification (>5 mm segment of continuous calcium), with different impacts on plaque vulnerability. In micro-calcification, also known as spotty calcification, apoptotic bodies and matrix vesicles released by vascular smooth muscle cells and macrophages serve as spotty nuclei of calcification. Micro-calcification induces viscous cycles of further inflammation and calcification, progressive thinning of the fibrous cap and plaque rupture. Clarke et al.,²² using a mouse model of inducible vascular smooth muscle cell-specific apoptosis, showed that chronic apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells caused development of calcified plaques in young animals and promoted calcification within established plaques. Biomechanical modeling predicts that the presence of small micro-calcifications within the fibrous cap of the plaque can increase the local stress on the cap to the level sufficient for plaque rupture.^{15,37} Kelly-Arnold et al.⁴² tested this model prediction by examining the spatial distribution, clustering, and shape of almost 35,000 micro-calcifications in the fibrous caps of 22 non-ruptured human atherosclerotic plaques using high-resolution microcomputed tomography. Their analysis indicated that only a small subset of micro-calcifications had the potential for rupture, suggesting that micro-calcification does not necessarily increase the risk of plaque rupture.

Macro-calcification, also known as dense calcification, is characterized by large plates of organized calcium deposits resembling bone formation. Macro-calcification is considered beneficial for plaque stabilization. Vascular smooth muscle cells promote macro-calcification by transdifferentiating to osteoblast-like cells. Naik *et al.*,⁶⁴ using genetic fate mapping to trace cells of smooth muscle origin via SM22 α -Cre recombinase and Rosa26-LacZ Cre reporter alleles, showed that vascular smooth muscle cells accounted for 80% of osteochondrogenic cells and all of chondrocytic cells in atherosclerotic arteries of ApoE^{-/-} mice. By tracing cells derived from vascular smooth muscle cells during vascular calcification in matrix Gla protein deficient mice using the SM22-Cre recombinase and Rosa26-LacZ alleles, they found that vascular smooth muscle cells transdifferentiate to osteochondrogenic precursor- and chondrocyte-like cells by down-regulating the expression of smooth muscle lineage markers (α -smooth muscle actin, SM22 α) and up-regulating the expression of the osteo-chondrogenic transcription factor Runx2/Cbfa.

6. Conclusion

There is emerging consensus that vascular smooth muscle cells are a central player in all stages of atherosclerosis. Paradoxically, vascular smooth muscle cells play two opposing roles in atherosclerosis — a detrimental role in promoting plaque development during early stage of atherosclerosis but a beneficial role in promoting plaque stabilization during later stage of atherosclerosis. Proliferation, invasion, and transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells promote the development of atherosclerotic lesions. Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells promotes thinning of fibrous cap of atheroma and plaque rupture. Given the two opposing roles of vascular smooth muscle cells in promoting the development of atherosclerosis and plaque rupture, it is challenging but necessary to find new approaches to controlling these two processes in the treatment and prevention of atherosclerosis.

References

- 1. Ahmadi A, Leipsic J, Blankstein R, Taylor C, *et al.* (2015) Do plaques rapidly progress prior to myocardial infarction? The interplay between plaque vulnerability and progression. *Circ Res* **11**7: 99–104.
- 2. Aikawa M, Sivam PN, Kuro-o M, Kimura K, *et al.* (1993) Human smooth muscle myosin heavy chain isoforms as molecular markers for vascular development and atherosclerosis. *Circ Res* 73: 1000–1012.

- 230 C.-M. Hai
 - 3. Allahverdian S and Francis GA. (2010) Cholesterol homeostasis and high-density lipoprotein formation in arterial smooth muscle cells. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **20**: 96–102.
 - 4. Allahverdian S, Chehroudi AC, McManus BM, Abraham T, *et al.* (2014) Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **129**: 1551–1559.
 - 5. Arbab-Zadeh A and Fuster V. (2015) The myth of the "vulnerable Plaque". *J Am Coll Cardiol* 65: 846–855.
 - Aukrust P, Sandberg WJ, Otterdal K, Vinge LE, *et al.* (2011) Tumor necrosis factor superfamily molecules in acute coronary syndromes. *Annals Med* 43: 90–103.
 - Barquera S, Pedroza-Tobias A, Medina C, Hernandez-Barrera L, *et al.* (2015) Global overview of the epidemiology of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Arch Med Res* 46: 328–338.
 - 8. Bennett MR, Evan GI, and Schwartz SM. (1995) Apoptosis of human vascular smooth muscle cells derived from normal vessels and coronary atherosclerotic plaques. *J Clin Invest* **95**: 2266–2274.
 - Bentzon JF and Falk E. (2010) Circulating smooth muscle progenitor cells in atherosclerosis and plaque rupture: current perspective and methods of analysis. *Vasc Pharmacol* 52: 11–20.
 - 10. Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, and Falk E. (2014) Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. *Circ Res* **114**: 1852–1866.
 - 11. Bentzon JF, Weile C, Sondergaard CS, Hindkjaer J, *et al.* (2006) Smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis originate from the local vessel wall and not circulating progenitor cells in ApoE knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 26: 2696–2702.
 - Bobryshev YV, Orekhov AN, and Chistiakov DA. (2015) Vascular stem/progenitor cells: current status of the problem. *Cell Tissue Res* 362: 1–7.
 - 13. Burke AP, Kolodgie FD, Farb A, Weber DK, *et al.* (2001) Healed plaque ruptures and sudden coronary death. Evidence that subclinical rupture has a role in plaque progression. *Circulation* **103**: 934–940.
 - Cai W, Devaux B, Schaper W, Schaper J. (1997) The role of Fas/APO 1 and apoptosis in the development of human atherosclerotic lesions. *Atherosclerosis* 131: 177–186.
 - Cardoso L and Weinbaum S. (2014) Changing views of the biomechanics of vulnerable plaque rupture: a review. *Annals Biomedical Eng* 42: 415–431.

- Chaabane C, Coen M, and Bochaton-Piallat ML. (2014) Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switch: implications for foam cell formation. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 25: 374–379.
- Chang MY, Potter-Perigo S, Tsoi C, Chait A, *et al.* (2000) Oxidized low density lipoproteins regulate synthesis of monkey aortic smooth muscle cell proteoglycans that have enhanced native low density lipoprotein binding properties. *J Biol Chem* 275: 4766–4773.
- 18. Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. (2015) Vascular smooth muscle cell in atherosclerosis. *Acta Physiol* **214**: 33–50.
- Choi HY, Rahmani M, Wong BW, Allahverdian S, *et al.* (2009) ATPbinding cassette transporter A1 expression and apolipoprotein A-I binding are impaired in intima-type arterial smooth muscle. *Circulation* 119: 3223–3231.
- Chung IM, Schwartz, and Murry CE. (1998) Clonal architecture of normal and atherosclerotic aorta. Implications for atherogenesis and vascular development. Am J Pathol 152: 913–923.
- 21. Clarke MC, Figg N, Maguire JJ, Davenport Ap, *et al.* (2006) Apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells induces features of plaque vulnerability in atherosclerosis. *Nat Med* **12**: 1075–1080.
- Clarke MCH, Littlewood TD, Figg N, Maguire JJ, *et al.* (2008) Chronic apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells accelerates atherosclerosis and promotes calcification and medial degeneration. *Circ Res* 102: 1529–1538.
- Cui Y, Sun YW, Lin HS, Su WM, *et al.* (2014) Platelet-derived growth factor-BB induces matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression and rat vascular smooth muscle cell migration via ROCK and ERK/p38 MAPK pathways. *Mol Cell Biochem* 393: 255–263.
- 24. Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, Bild DE, *et al.* (2008) Coronary calcium as a predictor of coronary events in four racial or ethnic groups. *N Eng J Med* **358**: 1336–1345.
- Doran AC, Meller N, McNamara CA. (2008) Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and early progression of atherosclerosis. *Arteri*oscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28: 812–819.
- Feil S, Febrenbacher B, Lukowski R, Essmann F, *et al.* (2014) Transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells during atherogenesis. *Circ Res* 115: 662–667
- Fleg JL, Stone GW, Fayad ZA, Granada JF, et al. (2012) Detection of high-risk atherosclerotic plaque. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging 5: 941–955.

- 232 C.-M. Hai
 - Fogelstrand P and Boren J. (2012) Retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in the artery wall and its role in atherogenesis. *Nutrition Metabolism Cardiovasc Dis* 22: 1–7.
 - 29. Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, and Libby P. (1994) Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Clin Invest* **94**: 2493–2503.
 - 30. Geng JY, Henderson LE, Levesque EB, Muszynski M, et al. (1997) Fas is expressed in human atherosclerotic intima and promotes apoptosis of cytokine-primed human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17: 2200–2208.
 - Geng YJ and Libby P. (2002) Progression of atheroma. A struggle between death and procreation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22: 1370–1380.
 - 32. Gomez D and Owns GK. (2012) Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* **95**: 156–164.
 - Gu Z, Fonseca V, and Hai CM. (2013) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor mediates nicotine-induced cytoskeletal remodeling and extracellular degradation by vascular smooth muscle cells. *Vascular Pharmacol* 58: 87–97.
 - 34. Gupta S, Pablo AM, Jiang XC, Wang N, *et al.* (1997) IFN-γ potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice. *J Clin Invest* **99**: 2752–2761.
 - 35. Hai, CM, Hahne P, Harrington EO, and Gimona M. (2002) Conventional PKC mediates phorbol dibutyrate-induced cytoskeletal remodeling in A7r5 smooth muscle cells. *Exp Cell Res* 280: 64–74.
 - 36. Ikari Y, McManus BM, Kenyon J, Schwartz SM. (1999) Neonatal intima formation in the human coronary artery. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **19**: 2036–2040.
 - Hutcheson JD, Maldonado N, and Aikawa E. (2014) Small entities with large impact: microcalcifications and atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 25: 327–332.
 - Ishikawa Y, Kimura-Matsumoto M, Murakami M, Yamamoto K, et al. (2009) Distribution of smooth muscle cells and macrophages expressing scavenger receptor BI/II in atherosclerosis. J Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis 16: 829–839.
 - 39. Jia G, Aggarwal A, Tyndall SH, and Agrawal DK. (2011) Tumor necrosis factor- α regulates p27^{kip} expression and apoptosis in smooth muscle cells of human carotid plaques via forkhead transcription factor O1. *Exp Mol Pathol* **90**: 1–8.

- Johnson JL. (2014) Emerging regulators of vascular smooth muscle cell function in the development and progression of atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* 103: 452–460.
- 41. Katsuda S, Boyd HC, Fligner C, Ross R, *et al.* (1992) Human atherosclerosis. III. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cell composition of lesions of young adults. *Am J Pathol* **140**: 907–914.
- 42. Kelly-Arnold A, Maldonado N, Laudier D, Aikawa E, *et al.* (2013) Revised microcalcification hypothesis for fibrous cap rupture in human coronary arteries. *Proc Nat Acad Sc USA* **110**: 10741–10746.
- 43. Klouche M, Rose-John S, Schmiedt W, and Bhakdi S. (2000) Enzymatically degraded, nonoxidized LDL induces human vascular smooth muscle cell activation, foam cell transformation, and proliferation. *Circulation* **101**: 1799–1805.
- 44. Kockx MM, De Meyer GRY, Muhring J, Jacob W, *et al.* (1998) Apoptosis and related proteins in different stages of human atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation* 97: 2307–2315.
- 45. Koga M, Kai H, Yasukawa H, Kato S, *et al.* (2007) *Hypertens Res* **30**: 259–267.
- Koga M, Kai H, Yasukawa H, Yamamoto T, *et al.* (2007) Postnatal interferon-γ function blocking in ApoE-knockout mice. *Circ Res* 101: 348–356.
- 47. Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Farb A, Gold HK, *et al.* (2001) The thin-cap fibroatheroma: A type of vulnerable plaque. The major precursor lesion to acute coronary syndromes. *Curr Opin Cardiol* **16**: 285–292.
- Kunjathoor VV, Chiu DS, O'Brien KD, and LeBoeuf RC. (2002) Accumulation of biglycan and perlecan, but not versican, in lesions of murine models of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22: 462–468.
- 49. Lao KH, Zeng L, and Xu Q. (2015) Endothelial and smooth muscle cell transformation in atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 26: 449–456.
- Lener T, Burgstaller G, Crimaldi L, Lach S, *et al.* (2006) Matrixdegrading podosomes in smooth muscle cells. *Eur J Cell Biol* 85: 183–189.
- 51. Li H, Freeman MW, and Libby P. (1995) Regulation of smooth muscle cell scavenger receptor expression in vivo by atherogenic diets and in vitro by cytokines. *J Clin Invest* **95**: 122–133.
- 52. Linder S. (2007) The matrix corroded:podosomes and invadopodia in extracellular matrix degradation. *Trends Cell Biol* 17: 107–117.
- 53. Linder S and Wiesner C. (2015) Tools of the trade: Podosomes as multipurpose organelles of monocytic cells. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 72: 121–135.

- 234 C.-M. Hai
 - 54. Magne J, Gustafsson P, Jin H, Maegdefessel L, *et al.* (2015) ATG16L1 expression in carotid atherosclerotic plaques is associated with plaque vulnerability. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **35**: 1226–1235.
 - 55. Mak AS. (2011) p53 regulation of podoosme formation and cellular invasion in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cell Adhesion Migration* **5**: 144–149.
 - Mann J and Davies MJ. (1999) Mechanisms of progression in native coronary artery disease: role of healed plaque disruption. *Heart* 82: 265–268.
 - 57. Maridonneau-Parini I. (2014) Control of Macrophage 3D migration: A challenge to limit tissue infiltration. *Immunol Rev* 262: 216–231.
 - 58. Martinet W, Schrijvers DM, and De Meyer GRY. (2011) Pharmacological modulation of cell death in atherosclerosis: A promising approach towards plaque stabilization? *Br J Pharmacol* **164**: 1–13.
 - McClelland RL, Jorgensen NW, Budoff M, Blaha MJ, et al. (2015) 10-year coronary heart disease risk prediction using coronary artery calcium and traditional risk factors. J Am Coll Cardiol 66: 1643–1653.
 - 60. Mietus-Snyder M, Gowri MS, and Pitas RE. (2000) Class A Scavenger receptor up-regulation in smooth muscle cells by oxidized low density lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem* **275**: 17661–17670.
 - 61. Milei J, Grana DR, Navari C, Azzato F, *et al.* (2010) Coronary intimal thickening in newborn babies and ≤ 1-year-old infants. *Angiology* **61**: 350–356.
 - 62. Murphy DA and Courtneidge SA. (2011) The 'ins' and 'outs' of podosomes and invadopodia: characteristics, formation and function. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **12**: 413–426.
 - 63. Murry CE, Gipaya CT, Bartosek T, *et al.* (1997) Monoclonality of smooth muscle cells in human atherosclerosis. *Am J Pathol* **151**: 697–706.
 - 64. Naik V, Leaf EM, Hu JH, Yang HY, *et al.* (2012) Sources of cells that contribute to atherosclerotic intimal calcification: An *in vivo* genetic fate mapping study. *Cardiovasc Res* **94**: 545–554.
 - 65. Nakashima Y, Chen YX, Kinukawa N, and Sueishi K. (2002) Distributions of diffuse intimal thickening in human arteries: Preferential expression in atherosclerosis-prone arteries from an early age. *Virchows Arch* **441**: 279–288.
 - 66. Nakashima Y, Fujii H, Sumiyoshi S, Wight TN, *et al.* (2007) Early human atherosclerosis. Accumulation of lipid and proteoglycans in intimal thickenings followed by macrophage infiltration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**: 1159–1165.

- 67. Nakashima Y, Wight TN, and Sueishi K. (2008) Early atherosclerosis in humans: role of diffuse intimal thickening and extracellular matrix proteoglycans. *Cardiovascular Res* **79**: 14–23.
- Newby AC. (2005) Dual role of matrix metalloproteinases (matrixins) in intimal thickening and atherosclerotic plaque rupture. *Physiol Rev* 85: 1–31.
- 69. Newby AC. (2015) Metalloproteinases promote plaque rupture and myocardial infarction: a persuasive concept waiting for clinical translation. *Matrix Biol* **44–46**: 157–166.
- Newby AC, George SJ, Ismail Y, *et al.* (2009) Vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque metalloproteinases and foam cell phenotypes. *Thromb Haemost* 101: 1006–1011.
- Ohta H, Wada H, Niwa T, Kirii H, *et al.* (2005) Disruption of tumor necrosis factor-α gene diminishes the development of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Atherosclerosis* 180: 11–17.
- 72. Orekhov AN, Andreeva ER, Krushinsky AV, Novikov ID, *et al.* (1986) Intimal cells and atherosclerosis. Relationship between the number of intimal cells and major manifestations of atherosclerosis in the human aorta. *Am J Pathol* 125: 402–415.
- Otsuka F, Kramer MCA, Woudstra P, *et al.* (2015) Natural progression of atherosclerosis from pathologic intimal thickening to late fibroatheroma in human coronary arteries: a pathology study. *Atherosclerosis* 241: 772–782.
- 74. Otsuka F, Sakakura K, Yahagi K, Joner M, *et al.* (2014) Has our understanding of calcification in human coronary atherosclerosis progressed? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **34**: 724–736.
- 75. Plasschaert H, Heeneman S, and Daemen MJ. (2009) Progression in atherosclerosis. Histological features and pathophysiology of atherosclerotic lesions. *Top Magn Reson Imaging* **20**: 227–237
- Pugliese G, Iacobini C, Fantauzzi CB, and Menini S. (2015) The dark and bright side of atherosclerotic calcification. *Atherosclerosis* 238: 220–230.
- 77. Quintavalle M, Elia L, Condorelli G, and Courtneidge SA. (2010) MicroRNA control of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. *J Cell Biol* **189**: 13–22.
- 78. Ridker Pm, Rifai N, Pfeffer M, Sacks F, *et al.* (2000) Elevation of tumor necrosis factor-α and increased risk of recurrent coronary events after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* **101**: 2149–2153.

- 236 C.-M. Hai
 - 79. Rong JX, Shapiro M, Trogan E, and Fisher EA. (2003) Transdifferentiation of mouse aortic smooth muscle cells to a macrophage-like state after cholesterol loading. *Proc Nat Acad Sc* **100**: 13531–13536.
 - 80. Rosner D, Stoneman V, Littlewood T, McCarthy N, *et al.* (2006) Interferon- γ induces Fas trafficking and sensitization to apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells via a PI3K- and Akt-dependent mechanism. *Am J Pathol* **168**: 2054–2063.
 - Ross R. (1999) Atherosclerosis An inflammatory disease. N Eng J Med 340: 115–126.
 - 82. Sakakura K, Nakano M, Otsuka F, Ladich E, *et al.* (2013) Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis plaque progression. *Heart Lung Circ* 22: 399–411.
 - Sata M, Saiura A, Kunisato A, Tojo A, *et al.* (2002) Hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into vascular cells that participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Nat Med* 8: 403–409.
 - 84. Schwartz SM and Murry CE. (1998) Proliferation and the monoclonal origins of atherosclerotic lesions. *Annu Rev Med* **49**: 437–460.
 - 85. Segers D, Helderman F, Cheng C, van Damme LCA, *et al.* (2007) Gelatinolytic activity in atherosclerotic plaques is highly localized and is associated with both macrophages and smooth muscle cells *in vivo*. *Circulation* **115**: 609–616.
 - Shrijvers DM, De Meyer GRY, and Martinet W. (2011) Autophagy in atherosclerosis. A potential drug target for plaque stabilization. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 31: 2787–2791.
 - 87. Silvestre-Roig C, de Winther MP, Weber C, Daemen MJ, *et al.* (2014) Atherosclerotic plaque destabilization. Mechanisms, models, and therapeutic strategies. *Circ Res* **114**: 214–226.
 - 88. Sims FH. (1989) Comparison of structural features of the walls of coronary arteries from 10 different species. *Pathology* **21**: 115–124.
 - 89. Stary HC, Blankenhorn DH, Chandler AB, *et al.* (1992) A definition of the intima of human arteries and of its atherosclerosis-prone regions. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis* **12**: 120–134.
 - 90. Stary HC, Chandler B, Dinsmore RE, et al. (1995) A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15: 1512–1531.
 - Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, *et al.* (1994) A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 89: 2462–2478.

- 92. Swaminathan B, Goikuria H, Vega R, *et al.* (2014) Autophagic marker MAP1LC3B expression levels are associated with carotid atherosclerosis symptomatology. *PLOS ONE* 9: e115176.
- 93. Tabas I, Garcia-Cardena G, Owens GK. (2015) Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *J Cell Biol* 209: 13–22.
- 94. Tang Z, Wang A, Yuan F, Yan Z, *et al.* (2012) Differentiation of multipotent vascular stem cells contributes to vascular diseases. *Nature Comm* **3**:875.
- 95. Tavora F, Cresswell N, Li L, Ripple M, *et al.* (2011) *Cardiovasc Pathol* 20: 51–57.
- Tchikov V, Bertsch U, Fritsch J, Edelmann B, *et al.* (2011) Subcellular compartmentalization of TNF receptor-1 and CD95 signaling. *Eur J Cell Biol* 90: 467–475.
- 97. Tegos TJ, Kalodiki E, Sabetai MM, and Nicolaides AN. (2001) The genesis of atherosclerosis and risk factors: A review. *Angiology* **52**: 89–98.
- 98. Thomas WA, Florentin RA, Reiner JM, Lee Wm, et al. (1976) Alterations in population dynamics of arterial smooth muscle cells during atherogenesis. Exp Mol Pathol 24: 244–260.
- 99. Thompson JC, Tang T, Wilson PG, Yoder MH, *et al.* (2014) Increased atherosclerosis in mice with increased vascular biglycan content. *Atherosclerosis* 235: 71–75.
- 100. Van Assche T, Hendrickx J, Crauwels HM, Guns PJ, *et al.* (2011) Transcription profiles of aortic smooth muscle cells from atherosclerosis-prone and –resistant regions in young apolipoprotein E-deficient mice before plaque development. *J Vasc Res* 48: 31–42.
- 101. Vengrenyuk Y, Nishi H, Long X, Ouimet M, et al. (2015) Cholesterol loading reprograms the microRNA-143/145-myocardin axis to convert aortic smooth muscle cells to a dysfunctional macrophage-like phenotype. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35: 535–546.
- 102. Virmani R, Burke AP, Farb A, and Kolodgie FD. (2006) Pathology of the vulnerable plaque. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **47**: C13–C18.
- 103. Virmani R, Kolodgie FS, Burke AP, Farb A, et al. (2000) Lessons from sudden coronary death. A comprehensive morphological classification scheme for atherosclerotic lesions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20: 1262–1275.
- 104. Xu K, Yang Y, Yan M, Zhan J, *et al.* (2010) Autophagy plays a protective role in free cholesterol overload-induced death of smooth muscle cells. *J Lipid Res* 51: 2581–2590.

- 238 C.-M. Hai
- 105. Yan P, Xia C, Duan C, Li S, *et al.* (2011) Biological characteristics of foam cell formation in smooth muscle cells derived from bone marrow stems cells. *Int J Biol Sc* 7: 937–946.
- 106. Yeh YC, Hwang GY, Liu IP, and Yang VC. (2002) Identification and expression of scavenger receptor SR-BI in endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells of rat aorta *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Atherosclerosis* 161: 95–103.
- 107. Yu XH, Fu YC, Zhang DW, Yin K, et al. (2013) Foam cells in atherosclerosis. Clinica Chimica Acta 424: 245–252.
- 108. Zadelaar SM, von de Thusen JH, Boesten LSM, Hoeben RC, et al. (2005) Increased vulnerability of pre-existing atherosclerosis in ApoEdeficient mice following adenovirus-mediated Fas ligand gene transfer. Atherosclerosis 183: 144–255.
- 109. Zani IA, Stephen SL, Mughal NA, Russell D, *et al.* (2015) Scavenger receptor structure and function in health and disease. *Cells* **4**: 178–201.

Chapter 8

The Role of Non-coding RNA in the Control of Vascular Contractility and Disease

C. J. Nicholson and K. G. Morgan

Boston University, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

Over the last decade, the cellular impact of non-coding RNAs, defined as RNA molecules not translated into protein, have emerged as an area of great interest. Once thought to only regulate generic functions of cells, namely transcription, translation and splicing, several diverse functions of non-coding RNAs, such as described below for micro-RNAs and long non-coding RNAs, are now well established.¹

1. MicroRNAs

By far the most studied of these molecules are microRNAs (miRNAs), a family of short (21–25 nucleotide) RNAs, which normally posttranscriptionally downregulate gene expression through interacting with the 3' untranslated (3' UTR) region of mRNA targets. The first miRNA, lin-4, was discovered more than 20 years ago to be important in C. Elegans larval development.² The current release of the miRNA database (miRBase) has documented 2661 human miRNAs, which could collectively regulate the expression of thousands of protein-encoding genes with many cellular and developmental processes. However, it should be noted that the true functional importance of these miRNAs has yet to be fully determined.^{3,4} Each miRNA has only a moderate effect on gene expression of their targets, and hence provides a 'fine-tuning' role on gene expression.⁵ It is common, however, for one miRNA to influence multiple targets in the same biological pathway, and consequently miRNAs can have profound influences on gene expression.⁶ Moreover, miRNAs can become aberrantly expressed in pathophysiological conditions, such as cardiovascular disease and cancer, leading to an important role in disease development.

1.1. MicroRNA Biogenesis

In humans, miRNAs are primarily encoded by introns of non-coding or coding transcripts, however, some are encoded by exonic regions.⁴ It is also common for several miRNA loci to be clustered together in a polycistronic unit, and therefore co-transcribed.7 Some miRNA loci are located in the introns of protein coding genes, and could therefore be under the influence of the protein-encoding promoter and, thus, transcription factors.^{4,7} In the nucleus, RNA polymerase II transcribes miR-NAs into long primary transcripts (Pri-miRNA)⁷ (Fig. 1A). Following transcription, pri-miRNAs are modified by the RNAse III enzyme Drosha⁸ into a 70 nucleotide hairpin structure termed preliminary miR-NAs (pre-miRNA) and exported from the nucleus by a nuclear pore complex, formed by the protein exportin 5.9-11 In the cytoplasm premiRNAs undergo further processing into a 21-25 nucleotide duplex, by the distinct RNAse III endonuclease enzyme Dicer (Fig. 1B).¹² Dicer binds to pre-miRNAs at the PAZ (PIWI-AGO-ZWILLE) domain and cleavage is initiated by the c-terminal RNAse III domain.¹³ The proximity of these domains has been proposed to act as a 'molecular ruler' to determine the 21-25 nucleotide size of the miRNA duplex.14

1.2. RNA-induced Silencing Complex

The mature miRNA strand is incorporated onto Argonaute (AGO) protein to form the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Fig. 1C).^{12,15} The miRNA sequence acts as a guide to target mRNA, whereas the AGO proteins recruit cofactors that ultimately lead to the translational repression and/or decay of target mRNA. In humans,



Fig. 1. Summary of the main mechanisms of miRNA biogenesis and function. (A) MiRNAs are primarily encoded by introns of non-coding or coding transcripts, into long primary transcripts termed pri-miRNAs. Following transcription, primiRNAs are modified by Drosha into a 70 nucleotide hairpin structure termed preliminary miRNAs (pre-miRNA). (B) Following export into the cytoplasm through the Exportin 5 containing pore complex, pre-miRNAs undergo further processing, by Dicer, into a 21-25 nucleotide duplex. (C) The mature 'guide' miRNA strand is incorporated onto AGO protein to form the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), whilst the 'passenger' strand is unwound and degraded in the cytoplasm. The miRNA sequence acts as a guide to target mRNA, whereas the AGO proteins recruit cofactors, such as GW182, that ultimately lead to the translational repression and/or decay of target mRNA. (D) When miRNAs form near perfect complimentary base pairs with their targets, mRNAs are endonucleolytically cleaved by RISC (often observed in plants). Mammalian miRNAs associate with target mRNA through binding of a 6-8 nucleotide 'seed' sequence at the 5' end of the miRNA. This has been proposed to; (E) result in translational repression through the recruitment of translational repressors or dissociation of the poly (A)-binding protein, and/or (F) recruit deadenylases onto target mRNAs, leading to mRNA decay.¹²²

there are four AGO proteins (AGO 1-4) that associate with distinct sets of miRNAs.^{4,16–18} The guide strand is preferentially loaded into the RISC by virtue of a relatively unstable 5' end terminus and, additionally, a U at nucleotide position 1.^{19–23} The passenger strand is often degraded immediately upon release. The selection is not entirely rigid, however, and the passenger strand in some cases has cellular function, albeit far less pronounced than the predominant guide strand.⁴

242 C. J. Nicholson and K. G. Morgan

In plants, miRNAs form near perfect complimentary base pairs with their targets, and this results in miRNA endonucleolytic cleavage by RISC (Fig. 1D).²⁴ This degree of complementarity is rarely observed in mammals. Alternatively, mammal miRNAs associate with target mRNA through binding of a 6-8 nucleotide sequence at the 5' end of the miRNA.^{6,25} This 'seed' sequence functions as a guide for RISC, which subsequently recruits the effector protein GW182, which influences mRNA translation by recruiting (i) deadenylases onto target mRNAs, leading to mRNA decay (Fig. 1F), and/or (ii) translational repressors (Fig. 1E).²⁶ The association of AGO1 with GW182 is essential for this process since gene silencing is abolished in the absence of GW182.²⁷

1.3. MicroRNA Target Recognition

The influence of miRNAs on target mRNA translation is in large part determined by the degree of complementarity of the seed sequence to the 3' UTR of target mRNA. Indeed, even a change of one nucleotide in this region of a miRNA results in a vastly different set of mRNA targets.²⁸ Furthermore, this region is the most evolutionarily conserved site across species, suggesting great importance to miRNA function.²⁵ Although less important, complementarity at the 3' end of miRNAs may enhance target recognition or compensate for mis-matches in the seed sequence.25 The position of interaction on the target mRNA is also important in determining the potency of miRNA effects. For example, the miRNA is most likely to influence mRNA translation if the seed sequence interacts with the 3' UTR of mRNA, at least 15 nucleotides away from a stop codon, away from the center of long UTRs and close to target sites of co-expressed miRNAs.²⁵ Binding to the 5' UTR is ineffective due to the RISC complex becoming displaced by the transcriptional machinery.²⁹

1.4. Control of miRNA Expression

The importance of miRNA biogenesis has been elucidated in Knockout (KO) studies, in which KOs of Drosha, Dicer, and AGO are embryonically lethal.^{17,30,31} It is also important to note that each stage

of miRNA biogenesis can be regulated, which may have profound effects on miRNA abundance. For example, the activity of transcription factors or changes in the methylation status of CpG regions associated with miRNA genomic loci may influence miRNA transcription.^{32–34} In addition, the expression levels of the downstream effector molecules Drosha, Dicer, Exportin and AGO can all affect miRNA biogenesis and eventual loading into RISC.⁴ Furthermore, cell signaling pathways, such as the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, can phosphorylate and stabilize Drosha, Dicer and AGO, therefore regulating miRNA abundance.^{4,35–37} It is possible that defects in these pathways lead to aberrant miRNA expression that have been implicated in human disease.

2. Long Non-coding RNAs

In addition to miRNAs, LncRNAs (long non-coding RNAs of more than 200 nucleotides), which were once thought to be merely 'transcriptional noise' or 'genetic junk', have emerged as critical regulators of gene expression (reviewed in³⁸⁻⁴⁴). LncRNAs have a much more widespread mode of action than miRNAs through DNA, RNA and protein interactions, making the establishment of LncRNA functions and mechanisms a challenging task.⁴⁰ Perhaps the most well characterized function of LncRNAs is in the recruitment of histone-modifying complexes, through which they play an important role in X chromosome inactivation.45,46 However, they have also been implicated in other epigenetic processes, such as DNA methylation⁴⁷ and chromosome looping.48,49 LncRNAs are sometimes transcribed as natural antisense transcripts (NATs) to protein-coding transcripts (i.e. on the opposite strand of DNA), and can influence how their sense counterparts are processed by interacting with transcription factors or altering splicing patterns.⁵⁰⁻⁵³ Interestingly, LncRNAs also modulate protein activity, location and structure, thereby influencing the post-transcriptional processes that they regulate.41,51,54,55

Adding to the complexity of LncRNAs, their function is intertwined with that of miRNAs. For instance, they can post-transcriptionally silence the expression of genes by way of binding complimentary
sequences in target mRNA 3' UTR.⁵⁶ Furthermore, they can bind to and sequester the activity of miRNAs, thus attenuating miRNA regulation of gene expression.^{57,58} Recently, it has been suggested that certain LncRNAs are also precursors to small non-coding RNAs like miRNAs. Although the exact function of LncRNAs has yet to be fully elucidated, they are emerging as important regulators of cardiovascular development and disease.⁴¹

3. MicroRNAs in Vascular Smooth Muscle

The expression of microRNAs in vascular smooth muscle is now known to play a vital role in (i) the differentiation of VSMCs into the mature, contractile phenotype in development, and (ii) the maintenance of VSMC contractile protein expression. Mismanagement of miRNA expression in VSMCs plays a role in the development of cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension, atherosclerosis and aortic aneurysms. As noted above, Dicer KO mice are embryonically lethal, but a great deal of knowledge has been revealed from the phenotype of the smooth muscle-specific Dicer KO mouse. Interestingly, smooth muscle miRNAs are vital to the entire body since SM22a-targeted deletion of Dicer also induced embryonic lethality due to widespread hemorrhaging.⁵⁹ The authors further demonstrated that the SM22 α targeted deletion of Dicer was restricted to the aorta, umbilical artery and cardiomyocytes, with no effect on smooth muscle from the esophagus, trachea or bladder. Taken together, this study suggests that miRNA expression in cardiovascular smooth muscle is essential for development. Furthermore, KO of dicer was associated with a dramatic reduction in contractility of ex vivo umbilical arteries from embryonic mice, partially explained by a reduction in the expression of myocardin, smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (SM-MHC), calponin and SM22a.⁶⁰ Further studies using a tamoxifen-inducible SMC-specific knockout of Dicer, which allows knockout of Dicer after development, suggested miRNAs are required for blood pressure regulation and VSMC contractile function.⁶⁰ It was suggested that the VSMC Dicer KO results in a decrease in contractile protein expression, leading to impairment of both receptor- and calcium-mediated

contractions of small mesenteric arteries, which consequently resulted in reduced blood pressure.⁶⁰ Furthermore, the stretch-dependent contractile differentiation of mouse portal veins is dependent on Dicer expression.⁶¹ Myogenic tone, an important response in resistance arteries to increased blood pressure, was abolished from Dicer KO mice, which was associated with a loss of calcium influx through the L-type calcium channel.⁶² Since myogenic tone is crucial in the maintenance of peripheral arterial resistance, aberrant miRNA expression may be involved in the development of hypertension. These studies, when taken together, suggest that miRNAs play a role in VSMC differentiation into the contractile phenotype.

3.1. MicroRNA-dependent Contractile Differentiation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

The miR-143/145 cluster has emerged as a master regulator of vascular smooth muscle differentiation. Indeed, knockout of this cluster induces a phenotype that resembles the one observed for Dicer KO, whilst overexpressing miR-145 rescues the effect of Dicer KO on vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation.^{59,60,63–68} The miR-143/145 family can influence ion channel (see below), actin cytoskeletal and contractile gene expression,65 to support the promotion of the vascular smooth muscle contractile phenotype. In smooth muscle cells (SMCs), the serum response factor (SRF) and myocardin transcriptional complex drive contractile gene expression via CArG boxes in promoter regions of SMC differentiation markers, such as SM-MHC, calponin and SM22 α . This mechanism is counteracted by KLF4mediated inhibition of SRF binding to the CArG-containing genes. The primary pro-contractile property of the miR-143/145 cluster is through the targeted downregulation of KLF4 and 5, which results in the upregulation of contractile proteins (Fig. 2).⁶⁹⁻⁷² The contractility to AngII and phenylephrine was almost abolished in the femoral artery and aorta from miR-143/145 KO mice, confirming an important pro-contractile function for this cluster.^{59,63,67–69,72,73} Interestingly, the same impairment was observed in airway, but not bladder smooth muscle, suggesting tissue-specific effects of miR-143/145 in smooth



Fig. 2. The pro-contractile functions of miR-145 in vascular smooth muscle cells. miR-145 primarily promotes the contractile phenotype through the targeted downregulation of KLF4/5, which relieves its suppression on SRF/myocardin-induced expression of contractile genes, including calponin, SM-MHC and SM22 α . It also negatively regulates the expression of ACE, which upregulates AngII signaling and reversion to the synthetic, proliferative smooth muscle phenotype. Finally, miR-145 targets CamKII δ , relieving its suppression of L-Type calcium channel expression, therefore promoting VSMC contraction. The expression of miR-145 can itself be regulated by signaling pathways, such as ERK1/2 and JAG1/Notch.

muscle.⁶⁷ The impaired contractile response in these mice is partially due to an accumulation of synthetic SMCs, but also specific defects in receptor-mediated signaling pathways (see below).⁶³ An alternative mechanism involving aberrant angiotensin signaling is also involved in the regulation of VSMC function by miR-143/145.⁶³ Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) is a verified target of miR-145, and its cleavage of angiotensin I to, angiotensin II (AngII), plays an important role in VSMC contraction and phenotype regulation.⁶³ Loss of miR-145 leads to enhanced angiotensin stimulation through the upregulation of ACE. The subsequent chronic promotion of the synthetic phenotype leads to impaired contractility and stimulation of atherosclerotic pathways. In addition, this aberrant chronic signaling

may desensitize VSMCs to angiotensin, explaining the reduced AngII-induced contractility of vascular strips from miR-143/145 KO mice.⁶³

The expression of miR-24 is similarly induced by bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling, which leads to contractile differentiation by targeting Tribbles-like protein-3.⁷⁴ The expression of certain miRNAs can also act in negative feedback loops, perhaps as mechanisms to fine-tune the expression of contractile proteins. For example, myocardin ordinarily promotes contractile differentiation, but it also enhances miR-1 expression, which blocks the expression of contractile proteins α -SMA and SM22.⁷⁵ Additionally, miR-21 promotes the contractile phenotype by targeting Programmed Cell Death 4 in response to BMP signaling.⁷⁶ However, it also negatively regulates the expression of myosin phosphatase, Rho-interacting protein and cofilin-2, which are involved in smooth muscle relaxation.⁷⁷

3.2. Smooth Muscle Pathways of Contraction: A Role for MicroRNAs?

Further to having a role in phenotypic regulation of VSMCs, miRNAs may directly regulate both classical and novel pathways of VSMC contraction, such as those affecting actomyosin activity or focal adhesion remodeling, respectively. For example, miR-1, -133 and -155 downregulate myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) expression, thereby influencing myosin activation or smooth muscle contraction.⁷⁸⁻⁸² In addition to targeting MLCK, miR-1 also downregulates calmodulin expression, and could therefore play an anti-contractile function in smooth muscle. The microRNAs of the miR-200 family target numerous members of cytoskeletal effectors that control actin polymerization and actomyosin contractility.⁸³

The focal adhesion, which had previously been assumed to be largely static in differentiated smooth muscle, remodels in response to vasoconstrictor stimulation, facilitating the transmission of force developed by actomoyosin bridges. This has been suggested to occur through activation of the non-receptor tyrosine kinase Src, which promotes focal adhesion kinase-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of the focal adhesion proteins Crk Associated Substrate (CAS) and Paxillin.^{84–86} This regulatory pathway is impaired in aged mouse aorta, which was associated with defects in aortic stiffness and contractility maintenance.^{84,87} Interestingly, the expression levels of miRNAs that target Src tyrosine kinase were elevated with aging in mouse aorta. Therefore, abnormal miRNA expression could play a role in the reprogramming of focal adhesion in VSMCs, leading to impairment of vascular contractile and stiffness regulation in aged aorta.⁸⁷

3.3. MicroRNA Expression Gone Awry: Implications for Vascular Disease

3.3.1. Hypertension

The aberrant expression of miRNAs involved in controlling the phenotypic switch of VSMCs from the synthetic to the contractile state could contribute to the development of vascular disease. A diminished or enhanced capacity of an artery to respond to agonist-mediated contraction will display aberrant regulation of blood pressure. Clinical studies have highlighted miRNA expression changes that favor the contractile phenotype, and hence could increase the risk of hypertension. For example, the expression of miR-145, -143, and -133 were lower in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from hypertensive patients, and miR-1 and -21 were higher.88 The finding that miR-145 was lower in hypertensive patients is contradictory to the known procontractile function of miR-145. It also remains to be determined if the same pattern is seen in VSMCs, which are less accessible than blood cells. Moreover, the expression of miR-145 is induced by Jag1/ Notch signaling,⁶⁹ and repressed by ERK1/2 signaling (Fig. 2).⁸⁹ Therefore, the expression levels of miR-145 are altered in different physiological situations, such as stress and mechanical stretch, in-turn altering the phenotype of VSMCs and risk of hypertension.

A clinical study of a Chinese population demonstrated a single nucleotide polymorphism in the prostaglandin $F_2\alpha$ receptor gene to be more likely in hypertensive individuals.⁹⁰ This was associated with a defect in miR-590-3p binding, thereby upregulating prostaglandin

 $F_{2}\alpha$ receptor expression and augmenting prostaglandin-mediated contractility. 90

3.3.2. Hyperlipidemia and diabetes

In mouse models for diabetes and hyperlipidemia, in which contractility of the renal artery is increased, the expression of miR-10a, -139b, -206 and -222 are drastically reduced.⁹¹ This was associated with increases in the expression of Rho kinase and Cx43. The increase in contractility was attenuated by overexpression of miR-10a, -139b, -206 and -222 in VSMCs.⁹¹ In a separate study, miR-145 was upregulated in VSMCs from type 2 diabetic rats⁹² and humans,⁹³ which consequently heightened the expression of contractile proteins. In addition, glucose-induced contractile differentiation of mouse SMCs was recently found to be dependent on miR-143/145, further supporting this view.94 In the diabetic rat model, the increase in miR-145 expression was associated with increased aortic contractility and calponin levels.92 Furthermore, high glucose treatment to human coronary SMCs, which increases AngII signaling, suppressed miR-145, promoting a switch to the synthetic phenotype.95 Taken together. these studies suggest that miRNAs could play a role in the increased cardiovascular disease risk associated with type 2 diabetes.

3.3.3. Atherosclerosis

In contrast to the above, an uncharacteristic miRNA expression that promotes a switch to the synthetic VSMC phenotype could enhance the development of atherosclerosis. Vascular injury, such as endothelial dysfunction, mechanical stress or inflammation, induces VSMCs to switch from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype. This involves a suppression of genes that promote contraction, and an enrichment of those that regulate proliferation, inflammation, and migration, which precedes the development of atherosclerosis.^{96,97} The downregulation of miR-145 would lead to an increase in KLF4/5 expression, subsequently decreasing the expression of contractile markers, such as calponin and MHC. Indeed, the expression of miR-145 is suppressed in both animal models of vascular injury and human atherosclerosis.^{70,98}

3.3.4. Pulmonary vascular disease

There is accumulating evidence that miRNAs play an important role in the development and progression of pulmonary hypertension, which is marked by increased pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell (PASMC) proliferation and vasoconstriction. Several studies have suggested a role for the miR-130/301 family in the promotion of pulmonary artery remodeling, through the control of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR-Y).99-101 Furthermore, miR-21,¹⁰² -124,¹⁰³ -145,¹⁰⁴ and -204,^{105,106} have all been suggested to modulate proliferation pathways in PASMCs. In addition to its proproliferative role, the miR-130/301 family also indirectly increases the expression of endothelin-1, which enhances the contractility of PASMCs.¹⁰⁷ Abnormal vasoconstriction is also caused by the aberrant expression of ion channels in the VSMC membrane, which are influenced by miRNAs. For example, the expression of α_{1c} subunit of the L-type calcium channel is downregulated by miR-328.¹⁰⁸ Conversely, miR-145 promotes the targeted down-regulation of CamKII\delta, resulting in increased expression of the α_{1C} subunit of the L-type calcium channel, which causes increased VSMC contractility (Fig. 2).⁶⁴ In a rat model of pulmonary arterial hypertension, miR-190 expression was increased in PASMCs. This miRNA increases the contractility of pulmonary arteries, through the targeted downregulation of the potassium channel Kv7.5, which, when activated, promotes VSMC relaxation.¹⁰⁹ Indeed, overexpression of miR-190 in ex vivo PA rings increased both KCl- and PE-induced contractility.¹⁰⁹ Similarly, miR-9a-3p downregulates the expression of the SUR2B domain of the K_{ATP} channel, which causes dysregulation of vascular contractility.¹¹⁰

3.4. Extracellular Communication in Vascular Cells

Importantly, miRNAs expressed in one cell type are able to transport to other cell types. This cell-to-cell communication has been proposed to be crucial in vascular biology, especially with regard to the expression of miR-143/145. For example, endothelial cells subjected to physiological shear stress or statin treatment were induced to transport miR-143/145 in extracellular vesicles to SMCs, promoting an atheroprotective phenotype.¹¹¹ On the other hand, miR-143/145 transfer from aortic SMCs to endothelial cells (ECs) inhibits EC proliferation, through targeted downregulation of hexokinase II and integrin beta 8. This transfer occurs through tunneling nanotubules, which are small plasma membrane protrusions, and is promoted by TGFβ signaling. Therefore, this transfer arises under vascular stress, and hence may be critical for the response.¹¹² Similarly, TGFB can promote the transfer of miR-143-3p from PASMCs to pulmonary artery endothelial cells (PAECs) via exosomes, which are small (50-90 nm) membrane vesicles. Interestingly, and in contrast to the former study in aortic SMCs, not only was this specific to miR-143 (i.e. miR-145 was not enriched in these exosomes), but it promoted the migration and angiogenesis of PAECs. Moreover, miR-143 enriched exosomes were discovered in both calf models of pulmonary hypertension (PAH) and PAH patients. The use of in vivo anti-miR-143 therapy reversed experimental PAH in mice. This highlights both the potential of detecting miRNA-enriched exosomes as biomarkers of disease and the ability to subsequently treat such disorders.¹¹³

4. Long Non-coding RNAs in Vascular Smooth Muscle

LncRNAs are both expressed in VSMCs and play a role in phenotype regulation. Deep sequencing studies identified smooth muscle and endothelial cell-enriched migration/differentiation-associated long non-coding RNA (SENCR), which acts in the phenotype regulatory pathway of SMCs. Depletion of SENCR acts in similar manner to miR-145 KO, decreasing the expression of myocardin, which drives the switch from the contractile to the synthetic phenotype.¹¹⁴ Similarly, knock down of the p53-induced LincRNA-p21, led to increased VSMC proliferation through interfering with p53 transcriptional activity. Significantly, this LncRNA was reduced in carotid

arteries and peripheral blood mononuclear cells from atherosclerotic patients.¹¹⁵ In contrast, Lnc-Ang362 is induced by AngII, which may promote the risk of hypertension by encouraging the proliferation of VSMCs.¹¹⁶ It is not currently known how LncRNAs influence the expression or activity of VSMC contractile proteins, but this is a rapidly developing field and we expect many further advances in the coming years.

5. Modulating MicroRNAs in the Treatment of Vascular Disease

Two main techniques have been utilized to study the functions of miRNAs *in vitro* and *in vivo*; (i) increasing the expression of a down-regulated miRNA by use of a miR mimic, which is chemically designed to mimic the endogenous sequence, and (ii) blocking the effects of an abnormally upregulated miRNA by using an antimiRNA, which is designed to be complimentary to the endogenous miRNA and hence block its function. The cellular entry of a miR mimic is enhanced by the addition of a passenger strand, which is chemically modified to aid membrane uptake (e.g. by the addition of a phosphate group). The passenger strand is also designed to contain many mismatches so that it quickly dissociates from the guide strand after entry into the cell. The *in vivo* stability of anti-miRNAs has been improved by several modifications, such as locked nucleic acid and phosphodiester additions.

The aberrant expression of miRNAs in disease states, and the relative ease at which to manipulate them, has given great promise to pharmacologically target them to counteract disease. There are many benefits to regulating miRNAs such as; (i) their fine-tuning effect on target protein expression, meaning responses would not be severe, (ii) their evolutionary conservation amongst species, enabling preclinical studies, and (iii) their ability to target many members of the same signaling pathway, therefore having a greater combined effect than siRNA treatments (which typically only regulate one target). The latter of these benefits is also a potential weakness since they could have multiple off-target effects. To work around this problem, miRNA adenovirus constructs have been combined with delivery systems to target the therapy to specific tissues. This also has the considerable advantage of moderately modulating miRNA levels back to physiological levels, rather than using miR mimics, which typically increase miRNA expression to supraphysiological levels. This approach has been demonstrated to treat hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertensive rats with an anti-miR-145 therapy without significant off-target effects.¹¹⁷ In addition, several in vivo mouse studies have demonstrated the usefulness of miRNA therapy in treating experimental pulmonary hypertension^{107,109} and abdominal aortic aneurysm,¹¹⁸⁻¹²¹ signifying the potential for miRNA therapeutics to treat cardiovascular disease. Furthermore, miRNA therapies, such as anti-miR-33 (atherosclerosis, Regulus Therapeutics), anti-miR-92 (peripheral artery disease, miRagen Therapeutics) and anti-miR-145 (vascular occlusion, miRagen Therapeutics), have already emerged in preclinical trials. However, there is still a great deal to be determined in the field of vascular smooth muscle contractility. Further advancements in the knowledge of miRNAs and LncRNAs in both small and large arteries may aid the development of treatments to prevent systemic hypertension and aortic stiffness, which are major risk factors for age-related morbidity and mortality.

References

- Ling H, Fabbri M, and Calin GA. (2013) MicroRNAs and other noncoding RNAs as targets for anticancer drug development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 12(11): 847–865.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, and Ambros V. (1993) The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75(5): 843–854.
- 3. Chiang HR, *et al.* (2010) Mammalian microRNAs: Experimental evaluation of novel and previously annotated genes. *Genes Dev* 24(10): 992–1009.
- Ha M, and Kim VN. (2014) Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15(8): 509–524.
- 5. Small EM, and Olson EN. (2011) Pervasive roles of microRNAs in cardiovascular biology. *Nature* **469**(7330): 336–342.

- 6. Ameres SL, and Zamore PD. (2013) Diversifying microRNA sequence and function. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 14(8): 475–488.
- 7. Lee Y, *et al.* (2002) MicroRNA maturation: Stepwise processing and subcellular localization. *Embo J* 21(17): 4663–4670.
- Lee Y, *et al.* (2003) The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature* 425(6956): 415–419.
- Bohnsack MT, Czaplinski K, and Gorlich D. (2004) Exportin 5 is a RanGTP-dependent dsRNA-binding protein that mediates nuclear export of pre-miRNAs. *RNA* 10(2): 185–191.
- Lund E, *et al.* (2004) Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science* 303(5654): 95–98.
- 11. Yi R, et al. (2003) Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of premicroRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 17(24): 3011–3016.
- 12. Hutvagner G, *et al.* (2001) A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. *Science* **293**(5531): 834–838.
- 13. Park JE, *et al.* (2011) Dicer recognizes the 5' end of RNA for efficient and accurate processing. *Nature* **475**(7355): 201–205.
- 14. Macrae IJ, et al. (2006) Structural basis for double-stranded RNA processing by Dicer. Science **311**(5758): 195–198.
- 15. Hammond SM, *et al.* (2001) Argonaute2, a link between genetic and biochemical analyses of RNAi. *Science* **293**(5532): 1146–1150.
- Azuma-Mukai A, *et al.* (2008) Characterization of endogenous human Argonautes and their miRNA partners in RNA silencing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105(23): 7964–7969.
- 17. Liu J, et al. (2004) Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science **305**(5689): 1437–1441.
- 18. Su H, *et al.* (2009) Essential and overlapping functions for mammalian Argonautes in microRNA silencing. *Genes Dev* **23**(3): 304–317.
- 19. Czech B, *et al.* (2009) Hierarchical rules for Argonaute loading in Drosophila. *Mol Cell* **36**(3): 445–456.
- Ghildiyal M, *et al.* (2010) Sorting of Drosophila small silencing RNAs partitions microRNA* strands into the RNA interference pathway. *RNA* 16(1): 43–56.
- 21. Hu HY, *et al.* (2009) Sequence features associated with microRNA strand selection in humans and flies. *BMC Genomics* **10**: 413.
- Lau NC, et al. (2001) An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. Science 294(5543): 858–862.

- Okamura K, Liu N, and Lai EC. (2009) Distinct mechanisms for microRNA strand selection by Drosophila Argonautes. *Mol Cell* 36(3): 431–444.
- 24. Tang G, *et al.* (2003) A biochemical framework for RNA silencing in plants. *Genes Dev* 17(1): 49–63.
- 25. Bartel DP. (2009) MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell* **136**(2): 215–233.
- 26. Iwakawa HO, and Tomari Y. (2015) The Functions of MicroRNAs: mRNA Decay and Translational Repression. *Trends Cell Biol* 25(11): 651–665.
- 27. Eulalio A, *et al.* (2009) A C-terminal silencing domain in GW182 is essential for miRNA function. *RNA* **15**(6): 1067–1077.
- 28. Kim YK, et al. (2013) TALEN-based knockout library for human microRNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol 20(12): 1458–1464.
- 29. Bartel DP. (2004) MicroRNAs: Genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**(2): 281–297.
- 30. Bernstein E, et al. (2003) Dicer is essential for mouse development. Nat Genet 35(3): 215-217.
- 31. Chong MM, *et al.* (2010) Canonical and alternate functions of the microRNA biogenesis machinery. *Genes Dev* 24(17): 1951–1960.
- 32. Davis-Dusenbery BN, and Hata A. (2010) Mechanisms of control of microRNA biogenesis. *J Biochem* 148(4): 381–392.
- 33. Kim VN, Han J, and Siomi MC. (2009) Biogenesis of small RNAs in animals. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**(2): 126–139.
- Krol J, Loedige I, and Filipowicz W. (2010) The widespread regulation of microRNA biogenesis, function and decay. *Nat Rev Genet* 11(9): 597–610.
- 35. Herbert KM, *et al.* (2013) Phosphorylation of DGCR8 increases its intracellular stability and induces a progrowth miRNA profile. *Cell Rep* 5(4): 1070-1081.
- 36. Paroo Z, *et al.* (2009) Phosphorylation of the human microRNAgenerating complex mediates MAPK/Erk signaling. *Cell* **139**(1): 112–122.
- Zeng Y, *et al.* (2008) Phosphorylation of Argonaute 2 at serine-387 facilitates its localization to processing bodies. *Biochem J* 413(3): 429–436.
- Kaikkonen MU, Lam MT, and Glass CK. (2011) Non-coding RNAs as regulators of gene expression and epigenetics. *Cardiovasc Res* 90(3): 430–440.

- 39. Geisler S, and Coller J. (2013) RNA in unexpected places: Long non-coding RNA functions in diverse cellular contexts. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 14(11): 699–712.
- 40. Cech TR, and Steitz JA. (2014) The noncoding RNA revolution-trashing old rules to forge new ones. *Cell* **15**7(1): 77–94.
- 41. Ma Y, *et al.* (2015) Long non-coding RNAs, a new important regulator of cardiovascular physiology and pathology. *Int J Cardiol* 188: 105–110.
- 42. Mercer TR, Dinger ME, and Mattick JS. (2009) Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. *Nat Rev Genet* **10**(3): 155–159.
- 43. Rinn JL, and Chang HY. (2012) Genome regulation by long noncoding RNAs. *Annu Rev Biochem* **81**: 145–166.
- 44. Young RS, and Ponting CP. (2013) Identification and function of long non-coding RNAs. *Essays Biochem* **54**: 113–126.
- 45. Brockdorff N, *et al.* (1992) The product of the mouse Xist gene is a 15 kb inactive X-specific transcript containing no conserved ORF and located in the nucleus. *Cell* 71(3): 515–526.
- 46. Brown CJ, *et al.* (1992) The human XIST gene: Analysis of a 17 kb inactive X-specific RNA that contains conserved repeats and is highly localized within the nucleus. *Cell* **71**(3): 527–542.
- 47. Tufarelli C, *et al.* (2003) Transcription of antisense RNA leading to gene silencing and methylation as a novel cause of human genetic disease. *Nat Genet* **34**(2): 157–165.
- 48. Wang KC, *et al.* (2011) A long noncoding RNA maintains active chromatin to coordinate homeotic gene expression. *Nature* **472**(7341): 120–124.
- 49. Yang L, *et al.* (2013) LncRNA-dependent mechanisms of androgenreceptor-regulated gene activation programs. *Nature* **500**(7464): 598–602.
- 50. Faghihi MA, *et al.* (2008) Expression of a noncoding RNA is elevated in Alzheimer's disease and drives rapid feed-forward regulation of beta-secretase. *Nat Med* **14**(7): 723–730.
- 51. Faghihi MA, and Wahlestedt C. (2009) Regulatory roles of natural antisense transcripts. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**(9): 637–643.
- 52. Guttman M, *et al.* (2010) Ab initio reconstruction of cell type-specific transcriptomes in mouse reveals the conserved multi-exonic structure of lincRNAs. *Nat Biotechnol* **28**(5): 503–510.
- Munroe SH, and Lazar MA. (1991) Inhibition of c-erbA mRNA splicing by a naturally occurring antisense RNA. J Biol Chem 266(33): 22083–22086.

- 54. Lanz RB, *et al.* (1999) A steroid receptor coactivator, SRA, functions as an RNA and is present in an SRC-1 complex. *Cell* **97**(1): 17–27.
- Watanabe T, *et al.* (2008) Endogenous siRNAs from naturally formed dsRNAs regulate transcripts in mouse oocytes. *Nature* 453(7194): 539– 543.
- Gong C, and Maquat LE. (2011) lncRNAs transactivate STAU1mediated mRNA decay by duplexing with 3' UTRs via Alu elements. *Nature* 470(7333): 284–288.
- 57. Hansen TB, et al. (2013) Natural RNA circles function as efficient microRNA sponges. *Nature* **495**(7441): 384–388.
- 58. Memczak S, *et al.* (2013) Circular RNAs are a large class of animal RNAs with regulatory potency. *Nature* **495**(7441): 333–338.
- 59. Albinsson S, *et al.* (2010) MicroRNAs are necessary for vascular smooth muscle growth, differentiation, and function. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **30**(6): 1118–1126.
- 60. Albinsson S, *et al.* (2011) Smooth muscle miRNAs are critical for postnatal regulation of blood pressure and vascular function. *PLoS One* 6(4): e18869.
- 61. Turczynska KM, *et al.* (2013) Stretch-sensitive down-regulation of the miR-144/451 cluster in vascular smooth muscle and its role in AMP-activated protein kinase signaling. *PLoS One* **8**(5): e65135.
- 62. Bhattachariya A, *et al.* (2014) Expression of microRNAs is essential for arterial myogenic tone and pressure-induced activation of the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway. *Cardiovasc Res* **101**(2): 288–296.
- 63. Boettger T, *et al.* (2009) Acquisition of the contractile phenotype by murine arterial smooth muscle cells depends on the Mir143/145 gene cluster. *J Clin Invest* **119**(9): 2634–2647.
- 64. Turczynska KM, *et al.* (2012) MicroRNAs are essential for stretchinduced vascular smooth muscle contractile differentiation via microRNA (miR)-145-dependent expression of L-type calcium channels. *J Biol Chem* **28**7(23): 19199–19206.
- 65. Xin M, *et al.* (2009) MicroRNAs miR-143 and miR-145 modulate cytoskeletal dynamics and responsiveness of smooth muscle cells to injury. *Genes Dev* 23(18): 2166–2178.
- 66. Elia L, *et al.* (2009) The knockout of miR-143 and -145 alters smooth muscle cell maintenance and vascular homeostasis in mice: Correlates with human disease. *Cell death and differentiation* **16**(12): 1590–1598.
- 67. Dahan D, et al. (2014) Induction of angiotensin-converting enzyme after miR-143/145 deletion is critical for impaired smooth muscle contractility. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 307(12): C1093–C1101.

- 68. Norata GD, et al. (2012) MicroRNA 143-145 deficiency impairs vascular function. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol 25(2): 467–474.
- 69. Boucher JM, *et al.* (2011) The miR-143/145 cluster is a novel transcriptional target of Jagged-1/Notch signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **286**(32): 28312–28321.
- Cheng Y, *et al.* (2009) MicroRNA-145, a novel smooth muscle cell phenotypic marker and modulator, controls vascular neointimal lesion formation. *Circ Res* 105(2): 158–166.
- 71. Cordes KR, et al. (2009) miR-145 and miR-143 regulate smooth muscle cell fate and plasticity. Nature 460(7256): 705–710.
- 72. Davis-Dusenbery BN, et al. (2011) down-regulation of Kruppel-like factor-4 (KLF4) by microRNA-143/145 is critical for modulation of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype by transforming growth factor-beta and bone morphogenetic protein 4. J Biol Chem 286(32): 28097–28110.
- 73. Turczynska KM, et al. (2013) Regulation of vascular smooth muscle mechanotransduction by microRNAs and L-type calcium channels. *Commun Integr Biol* 6(1): e22278.
- 74. Chan MC, *et al.* (2010) Molecular basis for antagonism between PDGF and the TGFbeta family of signalling pathways by control of miR-24 expression. *Embo J* 29(3): 559–573.
- Jiang Y, Yin H, and Zheng XL, MicroRNA-1 inhibits myocardininduced contractility of human vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Physiol* 225(2): 506–511.
- 76. Kang H, et al. (2012) Bone morphogenetic protein 4 promotes vascular smooth muscle contractility by activating microRNA-21 (miR-21), which down-regulates expression of family of dedicator of cytokinesis (DOCK) proteins. J Biol Chem 287(6): 3976–3986.
- Kotlo KU, Hesabi, and Danziger RS. (2011) Implication of micro-RNAs in atrial natriuretic peptide and nitric oxide signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 301(4): C929–C937.
- Ai J, et al. (2012) Overexpression of microRNA-1 impairs cardiac contractile function by damaging sarcomere assembly. *Cardiovasc Res* 95(3): 385–393.
- 79. Heidersbach A, *et al.* (2013) MicroRNA-1 regulates sarcomere formation and suppresses smooth muscle gene expression in the mammalian heart. *Elife* 2: e01323.
- 80. Villar AV, et al. (2011) Myocardial gene expression of microRNA-133a and myosin heavy and light chains, in conjunction with clinical

parameters, predict regression of left ventricular hypertrophy after valve replacement in patients with aortic stenosis. *Heart* 97(14): 1132–1137.

- Weber M, *et al.* (2014) MiRNA-155 targets myosin light chain kinase and modulates actin cytoskeleton organization in endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 306(8): H1192–H1203.
- Zhu HQ, *et al.* (2014) MicroRNA1 modulates oxLDL-induced hyperlipidemia by down-regulating MLCK and ERK/p38 MAPK pathway. *Life Sci* 107(1–2): 21–26.
- Bracken CP, *et al.* (2014) Genome-wide identification of miR-200 targets reveals a regulatory network controlling cell invasion. *Embo J* 33(18): 2040–2056.
- Gao YZ, et al. (2014) Aging impairs smooth muscle-mediated regulation of aortic stiffness: A defect in shock absorption function? American J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 307(8): H1252–H1261.
- Ohanian J, Pieri M, and Ohanian V. (2014) Non-receptor tyrosine kinases and the actin cytoskeleton in contractile vascular smooth muscle. *J Physiol* 593(17): 3807–3814.
- 86. Saphirstein RJ, *et al.* (2013) The focal adhesion: A regulated component of aortic stiffness. *PloS one* **8**(4): e62461.
- Nicholson CJ, Lee S, and Morgan KG. (2015) MiRs: The basis for age-related impairment of focal adhesion remodeling in vascular smooth muscle? *Mol Bio Cell* 26: 1597(P2263).
- Kontaraki JE, *et al.* (2014) Differential expression of vascular smooth muscle-modulating microRNAs in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: Novel targets in essential hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens* 28(8): 510–516.
- 89. Hu B, *et al.* (2014) Mechanical stretch suppresses microRNA-145 expression by activating extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and upregulating angiotensin-converting enzyme to alter vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype. *PLoS One* 9(5): e96338.
- 90. Xiao B, et al. (2015) Rare SNP rs12731181 in the miR-590-3p Target Site of the Prostaglandin F2alpha Receptor Gene Confers Risk for Essential Hypertension in the Han Chinese Population. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 35(7): 1687–1695.
- Li T, *et al.* (2015) Diabetes and hyperlipidemia induce dysfunction of VSMCs: Contribution of the metabolic inflammation/miRNA pathway. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 308(4): E257–E269.

- 92. Chettimada S, *et al.* (2014) Contractile protein expression is upregulated by reactive oxygen species in aorta of Goto-Kakizaki rat. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **306**(2): H214–H224.
- Riches K, *et al.* (2014) Elevated expression levels of miR-143/5 in saphenous vein smooth muscle cells from patients with Type 2 diabetes drive persistent changes in phenotype and function. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 74: 240–250.
- 94. Hien TT, et al. (2016) Elevated Glucose Levels Promote Contractile and Cytoskeletal Gene Expression in Vascular Smooth Muscle via Rho/Protein Kinase C and Actin Polymerization. J Biol Chem 291(7): 3552–3568.
- 95. Shyu KG, Cheng WP, and Wang BW. (2015) Angiotensin II Downregulates MicroRNA-145 to Regulate Kruppel-like Factor 4 and Myocardin Expression in Human Coronary Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells under High Glucose Conditions. *Mol Med* 21(1): 616–625.
- 96. Doran AC, Meller N, and McNamara CA. (2008) Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and early progression of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28(5): 812–819.
- Orr AW, *et al.* (2010) Complex regulation and function of the inflammatory smooth muscle cell phenotype in atherosclerosis. *J Vasc Res* 47(2): 168–180.
- 98. Ji R, *et al.* (2007) MicroRNA expression signature and antisensemediated depletion reveal an essential role of MicroRNA in vascular neointimal lesion formation. *Circ Res* **100**(11): 1579–1588.
- 99. Bertero T, *et al.* (2015) Matrix Remodeling Promotes Pulmonary Hypertension through Feedback Mechanoactivation of the YAP/TAZmiR-130/301 Circuit. *Cell Rep* **13**(5): 1016–1032.
- 100. Bertero T, et al. (2014) Systems-level regulation of microRNA networks by miR-130/301 promotes pulmonary hypertension. J Clin Invest 124(8): 3514–3528.
- 101. Brock M, et al. (2015) The hypoxia-induced microRNA-130a controls pulmonary smooth muscle cell proliferation by directly targeting CDKN1A. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 61: 129–137.
- 102. Yang S, et al. (2012) miR-21 regulates chronic hypoxia-induced pulmonary vascular remodeling. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 302(6): L521-L529.
- 103. Kang K, *et al.* (2013) MicroRNA-124 suppresses the transactivation of nuclear factor of activated T cells by targeting multiple genes and inhibits the proliferation of pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* 288(35): 25414–25427.

- 104. Caruso P, *et al.* (2012) A role for miR-145 in pulmonary arterial hypertension: Evidence from mouse models and patient samples. *Circ Res* 111(3): 290–300.
- 105. Courboulin A, *et al.* (2011) Role for miR-204 in human pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Exp Med* **208**(3): 535–548.
- 106. Meloche J, et al. (2015) Bromodomain-Containing Protein 4: The Epigenetic Origin of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Circ Res 117(6): 525–535.
- 107. Bertero T, *et al.* (2015) The microRNA-130/301 family controls vasoconstriction in pulmonary hypertension. *J Biol Chem* **290**(4): 2069–2085.
- 108. Guo L, *et al.* (2012) The microRNA-328 regulates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension by targeting at insulin growth factor 1 receptor and L-type calcium channel-alpha1C. *Hypertension* **59**(5): 1006–1013.
- 109. Li SS, *et al.* (2014) MicroRNA-190 regulates hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction by targeting a voltage-gated K(+) channel in arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Biochem* 115(6): 1196–1205.
- 110. Li SS, *et al.* (2015) The SUR2B subunit of rat vascular KATP channel is targeted by miR-9a-3p induced by prolonged exposure to methylg-lyoxal. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **308**(2): C139–C145.
- 111. Hergenreider E, et al. (2012) Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. Nat Cell Biol 14(3): 249–256.
- 112. Climent M, et al. (2015) TGFbeta Triggers miR-143/145 Transfer From Smooth Muscle Cells to Endothelial Cells, Thereby Modulating Vessel Stabilization. Circ Res 116(11): 1753–1764.
- 113. Deng L, et al. (2015) MicroRNA-143 Activation Regulates Smooth Muscle and Endothelial Cell Crosstalk in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Circ Res 117(10): 870–883.
- 114. Bell RD, *et al.* (2014) Identification and initial functional characterization of a human vascular cell-enriched long noncoding RNA. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **34**(6): 1249–1259.
- 115. Wu G, *et al.* (2014) LincRNA-p21 regulates neointima formation, vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, apoptosis, and atherosclerosis by enhancing p53 activity. *Circulation* **130**(17): 1452–1465.
- 116. Leung A, *et al.* (2013) Novel long noncoding RNAs are regulated by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **113**(3): 266–278.
- 117. McLendon JM, et al. (2015) Lipid nanoparticle delivery of a micro-RNA-145 inhibitor improves experimental pulmonary hypertension. J Control Release 210: 67–75.

- 118. Boon RA, et al. (2011) MicroRNA-29 in aortic dilation: Implications for aneurysm formation. Circ Res 109(10): 1115–1119.
- 119. Jones JA, *et al.* (2011) Selective microRNA suppression in human thoracic aneurysms: relationship of miR-29a to aortic size and proteolytic induction. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* **4**(6): 605–613.
- Maegdefessel L, *et al.* (2012) Inhibition of microRNA-29b reduces murine abdominal aortic aneurysm development. *J Clin Invest* 122(2): 497–506.
- 121. Merk DR, *et al.* (2012) miR-29b participates in early aneurysm development in Marfan syndrome. *Circ Res* **110**(2): 312–324.
- 122. Brozovich FV, *et al.* (2016) Mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle contraction and the basis for pharmacological treatment of smooth muscle disorders. *Pharmacol. Rev.* **68**: 453–476.

Chapter 9

Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells as Therapeutic Target for the Treatment of Circulatory Shock

Liangming Liu*, Tao Li and Chengyang Duan

State Key Laboratory of Trauma, Burns and Combined Injury, Second Department of Research Institute of Surgery, Daping Hospital, Third Military Medical University, Chongqing 400042, P.R. China *liangmingliu@yahoo.com

Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), the important functional cell in blood vessels, play important roles in vaso dilation and vaso consctriction functions. Circulatory shock-induced ischemia and hypoxia, and internal environment disorder can damage the structure and function of VSMCs, and result in the disorder of vascular contraction and relaxation, which presents as low reactivity to vasoconstrictors and vasodilators is called vascular hypo-reactivity. This reduced vascular reactivity severely interferes with the treatment of circulatory shock, especially interferes with the efficacy of vasoactive agents. Consequently, it is very important to elucidate the mechanisms and search for the effective treatments for VSMC damage and vascular hypo-reactivity. In recent years, many studies focused on the factors inducing VSMC damage, the different features and mechanisms for vascular hyporeactivity, and the treatment approaches following shock. VSMCs are an important target for the treatment of circulatory shock.

264 L. Liu, T. Li and C. Duan

Circulatory shock, a common clinical critical illness, includes hemorrhagic, traumatic, endotoxic/septic, cardiogenic and anaphylactic shock. Traumatic hemorrhagic shock is often seen both in civilian and military situations. It is the major cause of early death at the battle field and during disasters, accounting for about 50% of deaths of battle personnel.¹ Sepsis and septic shock are the common and severe complications in intensive care unit. Despite substantial advances in medical science and technology, the mortality of severe sepsis remains between 52%–60%.^{2–6} There are about 1,400 deaths because of sepsis everyday globally.⁷

Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), the important functional cell in blood vessels, play key roles in vaso dilation and vaso consetriction. Shock-induced ischemia and hypoxia, and internal environment disorder can damage the structure and function of VSMCs, and result in abnormal vascular contraction and relaxation, called vascular hyporeactivity. This reduced vascular reactivity severely interferes with the development and treatment of circulatory shock, especially interferes with the application of vasoactive agents. Also, this reduced vascular reactivity severely interferes with the tissue perfusion and organ functions, which is the important reason for the incidence of irreversible shock. In recent years, many studies focused on the mechanisms and treatment of vascular hyporeactivity following shock.⁸ VSMCs are thought to be an important target for the treatment of circulatory shock.

1. The Inducing Factors of VSMCs Damage and the Features of Vascular Dysfunction during Circulatory Shock

1.1. The Inducing Factors for VSMCs Damage

A large number of factors may induce damage the VSMCs and interfere with the vascular function/reactivity following circulatory shock including cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin (IL)-1 β , and IL-6, inflammatory mediators such as nitric oxide (NO), endothelin (ET) and bradykinin, endogenous opioid peptides (EOP) such as β -endorphin, and so on.⁸ These factors can impact the function of VSMCs by interfering with the ion channels and receptors of VSMC membranes.^{9–11} Also, these factors can induce cellular oxidative stress and endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS), which affect the mitochondrial function and induce necrosis and apoptosis, in VSMCs. finally they damage the vascular function.¹² In addition, circulatory shock induced ischemia and hypoxia, endotoxin released by bacteria and internal environment disorder such as acid-base disorder can directly cause damage to VSMCs.

1.2. The Features of Vascular Dysfunction following Circulatory Shock

Studies show that there were obvious changes in vascular function/ reactivity after shock. The main focus in recent years is hemorrhagic shock and endotoxic/septic shock. The main features of vascular dysfunction after shock are vascular hyporeactivity. Vascular reactivity has biphasic change, vascular difference and gender/age-differences.

1.3. Hemorrhagic Shock

1.3.1. Biphasic change of vascular reactivity

Research showed that vascular reactivity appeared as biphasic change after hemorrhagic shock.¹³⁻¹⁷ Most studies demonstrated that vascular reactivity is increased at early-stage shock and decreased at late-stage or prolonged shock (2 hours after shock). Available studies showed that save for the neural and humoral factors, the balance of RhoA/Rac and angiopoietin 1/2 (Ang1/Ang2) are present in the occurrence of the hemorrhagic shock-induced biphasic change of vascular reactivity. Our research team found that the activity of RhoA was increased and the activity of Rac1 was decreased in early-stage of shock, while in late-stage of shock, the activity of RhoA was decreased, and the activity of Rac1 was increased,¹⁸ and that the changes of the ratio of RhoA/Rac1 positively correlated with the vascular reactivity. RhoA/Rac1 regulates the vascular reactivity mainly through their downstream molecules, Rho kinase and P21-activated kinase (PAK).

Rho A may activate Rho kinase and inhibit PAK to increase the vascular reactivity, while Rac1 may activate PAK and inhibit Rho kinase to decrease the vascular reactivity.¹⁷⁻²⁰ Further study found Rho kinase regulates vascular reactivity mainly through inhibition of myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP) and induction of 20-kDa myosin light chain (MLC20) dephosphorylation. PAK regulates vascular reactivity mainly through inhibition of myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and MLC20 phosphorylation.¹⁹

Angiopoietin (Ang) is the important factor promoting angiogenesis and vascular repair. Xu J et al. found that Ang participated in the occurrence of biphasic change of vascular reactivity following hemorrhagic shock.²¹ They found that Ang-1 was increased at early shock, which positively correlated with the changes of vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock, whereas Ang-2 was increased at the late stage of shock, and negatively correlated with the changes of vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock.²¹ The exogenous application of Ang-1 maintained the vascular hyper-reactivity at early-stage shock and improved hypo-reactivity at late-stage shock while exogenous application of Ang-2 suppressed the vascular hyper-reactivity at early-stage shock and aggravated hypo-reactivity at late-stage shock. Studies showed that Ang-1 and Ang-2 regulate vascular reactivity mainly through the regulation of the endothelial cell-selective receptor tyrosine kinase Tie2.^{21,22} Ang-1 increases the vascular reactivity at earlystage shock mainly through the activation of Tie2-Akt- eNOS pathway, resulting in the appropriate amount of nitric oxide release, which brings the protection of vascular endothelial cells, while Ang-2 decreases the vascular reactivity mainly through Tie2-ERK-iNOS pathway at late-stage shock leading to a considerable amount of NO release, which brings the damage to vascular endothelial cells.

1.3.2. Vasculature difference

Hemorrhagic shock induced-vascular hypo-reactivity appears as vascular bed diversity, which means blood vessels at different sites appear with different change features. For example, our studies^{23–25} found that following hemorrhagic shock, superior mesenteric artery (SMA), renal artery (RA), femoral artery (FA), celiac artery (CA), and middle cerebral artery (MCA) had different speeds and severity in vascular reactivity loss. SMA, RA and FA decreased more severely and rapidly than that in CA and MCA. This may be the main reason that causes the different blood distribution and different tissue perfusion to different organ following shock.

Further studies showed that vasculature differences in vascular reactivity correlated with the different expressions of cytokines and inflammatory mediators in various vasculatures. Our studies found that the expressions of cytokines and inflammatory mediators (IL-1 β , TNF- α and ET-1, *et al.*) in intestinal and kidney tissues were significantly higher than that in brain and liver tissues after shock.²⁵ These inflammatory mediators have been confirmed as the inducing factors for vascular hypo-reactivity.^{10,11,22,25-27}

1.3.3. Gender- and age-difference of vascular reactivity

Studies demonstrated that the host responses to trauma and hemorrhagic shock presented age and gender diversity. The research team of Chaudry found that females tolerated trauma stimuli much better than males, and estrogen played a protective role in this process.²⁸ Angele *et al.* found that male patients under the age of 50 had a higher mortality late than females after severe blunt trauma, while the difference was not evident in patients older than 50, which suggests that postmenopausal women without the protection of estrogen had no advantages against trauma insult.^{29–30} In addition, Maranon R *et al.* found that pre-menopausal women had less cardiovascular events as compared with men of the same age. However, after menopause, this advantage was diminished.³¹ These results suggest that estrogen has an important contribution to the protection of organ function in females following trauma and hemorrhagic shock.

Studies showed that the gender- and age-differences not only exist in the tolerance and outcome of trauma, but also in vascular function/reactivity. Proctor *et al.* found that 7-week-old rats had higher vascular reactivity than rats of other ages, and as age increased the vascular reactivity was gradually decreased.³² Our studies found that female rats in reproductive age had higher vascular reactivity and better tolerance to traumatic shock than male rats of the same age or

female rats not at the reproductive age.³³ A clinical study found that in healthy subjects, the vascular reactivity was gradually decreased as the subjects aged. Middle-aged and young healthy women had higher vascular reactivity than men of the same age. Sex-based differences in vascular reactivity were not obvious in an aged population. Similar to the healthy participants, vascular responsiveness in middle-aged and young trauma patients was greater than in the elderly trauma patients. Female patients had stronger responsiveness than males, whereas aged population had no obvious sex-based differences in vascular reactivity.³³ Further studies showed that estrogen and its receptor (GPR 30)-mediated activation of Rho kinase and PKC lead to the protective effects on vascular reactivity.

1.3.4. Metabolic diseases suffering from hemorrhagic shock

Hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia are the common cardiovascular diseases which seriously threaten human health; the morbidity is increasing year-by-year. There are 190 million diabetic patients and two billion hypertensive patients globally as at 2012.³⁴ In addition, the number of patients with hyperlipidemia is also rapidly increased. Some studies indicate that these cardiovascular diseases can affect the presentation and outcome of trauma and shock. Ahmad *et al.* reported that patients with diabetes exposed to trauma had higher hospital morbidity and mortality, and longer intensive care unit stays, and increased complications.³⁵ Lusternberger analyzed 1272 patients with traumatic brain injury and showed that patients with traumatic brain injury and diabetes had nearly a 1.5fold increase in mortality as compared to similar patients without diabetes.³⁶ Our studies showed that hemorrhagic shock (40% fixed hemorrhage or mean arterial blood pressure at 40 mmHg for 2h) induced more severe damage on vascular reactivity, hemodynamics, tissue perfusion and mitochondrial function of vital organs, and led to a more rapid death in hypertensive, diabetic, and hyperlipidemic rats than in health rats. Our results show that some basic diseases can aggravate the cardiovascular injury when suffering from severe trauma or shock. More attention should be paid to the diagnosis

and treatment for these diseases subjected to severe trauma or shock.³⁷

1.4. Endotoxic/septic Shock

Studies showed that vascular reactivity after endotoxic shock also appears biphasic change and vasculature-difference as compared with hemorrhagic shock.^{38,39} As compared with hemorrhagic shock, vascular hypo-reactivity is more serious than hemorrhagic shock but appears late.^{40,41} Our studies found that vascular reactivity was increased within 1 hour after endotoxic shock, while 2 hours after endotoxic shock, the vascular reactivity was rapidly and seriously decreased. The vascular reactivity had only 20% of normal level at 4 hours after endotoxic shock.^{11,42}

We found that the vascular reactivity after endotoxic shock also appeared differently in different vasculatures. At the early stage of endotoxic shock, vascular reactivity in superior mesenteric artery was not obviously increased while in the celiac artery and renal artery it was obviously increased, at the late stage of endotoxic shock, the vascular reactivity in superior mesenteric artery was greatly decreased (reduced by 34.8%), next for renal artery (33.7%) and celiac artery (16.7%). As for the vasodilation to Ach, the superior mesenteric artery showed significant hypo-reactivity while celiac artery showed hyperreactivity and renal artery had no obvious change.⁴² Studies showed that males and aged individuals had a higher risk of the development of sepsis and multiple organ failure after severe trauma.^{43,44} Bone et al. reported that male patients with sepsis had more morbidity and mortality as compared with females.⁴⁵ Schroder et al. found that women had a significantly higher survival rate (74%) as compared with men (31%) following the onset of sepsis.⁴⁶

2. The Mechanisms for VSMCs Damage and Vascular Hyporeactivity After Shock

As mentioned above there are many factors affecting VSMCs and vascular function. Shock-induced ischemia, hypoxia, cellular ERS and

oxidative stress can directly damage VSMCs. Cytokines and inflammatory mediators can affect the signal transduction of VSMC and which in turn, affect vascular function (vascular reactivity). Available documents show there are three mechanisms responsible for vascular hypo-reactivity after circulatory shock: receptor desensitization mechanism; membrane hyper-polarization mechanism; and calcium desensitization mechanism.

2.1. Receptor Desensitization Mechanism of Vascular Hypo-reactivity

It has been reported that the adrenergic receptors (ARs) are desensitized following circulatory shock including hemorrhagic or endotoxic/septic shock.⁴⁷ Studies showed that following shock, a high concentration of catecholamines could cause receptor desensitization. In addition, shock-induced ischemia and hypoxia, the release of cytokines as well as endogenous opioid peptide (EOP) may also inhibit the functions of adrenergic receptors and result in receptor desensitization. Receptor desensitization includes receptor amount down-regulation, receptor affinity drop and uncoupling.⁴⁷

2.1.1. Down-regulation of receptor amount

Down-regulation of the receptor number is one of the important mechanisms for receptor desensitization. Sandrini *et al.*⁴⁸ investigated the changes of ARs with hypovolemic shock rats and found that the amount of α 1- and, β -ARs in the heart and α 2-ARs in the spleen were significantly reduced. Tait and Onuma *et al.* investigated the changes of ARs with traumatic shock rats, and found the β -ARs were down-regulated in the liver and heart.⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰

Studies recognized that down-regulation of the receptor number includes two steps. The first step is the decrease of receptor number on the cell membrane, but the total quantity of receptors in each cell did not change. The second step is the decrease in total quantity of receptors, which means that the real down-regulation of receptors. In the early stage of shock, receptor desensitization may be mainly due to the decrease of the receptor amount on the cell membrane and this possibly correlated to the internalization of surface receptors.⁵¹ The real down-regulation of receptors is related to the degradation of internalized receptors and the decrease of receptor expression, which appears at 3-5 hours even 1-2 days after the first step. Many factors including high concentration of catecholamine and cytokines during shock may down-regulate the adrenergic receptors. High concentration of catecholamine can result in the internalization of adrenergic receptors.⁴⁷ Cytokines such as TNF-a and IL-1β may down-regulate the amount of adrenergic receptors via inhibition of the transcription of the adrenergic receptor. Our studies.^{10,11} found that in-vitro incubation with IL-1 β (12.5–50ng/ml) could significantly decrease the vascular reactivity of superior mesenteric artery to phenylephrine and down-regulate the mRNA expression of α 1-adrenergic receptors (α 1-AR). AG490 (10umol/L), an inhibitor of JAK2 (Janus kinase 2), could partly reverse IL-1 β -induced down-regulation of α 1-AR mRNA and suppressed the DNA binding ability of STAT3 (Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3). The results indicate that IL-1 β down-regulates the expression of α 1-AR mainly by activating JAK2-STAT3 pathway.¹¹

2.1.2. The decease of receptor affinity

A drop in receptor affinity is another important mechanism for AR desensitization and often happens before the decrease of receptor number on the cell membrane. Previous studies showed that the affinity of β -AR was generally declined but the affinity of α -AR remained constant during endotoxic and hemorrhagic shock.^{52,53} A decrease in receptor affinity may also lead to receptor uncoupling and thereby decrease the binding ability of adrenergic receptor to agonists. Therefore, the coupling obstacles between adrenergic receptor addenylyl cyclase (AC) may be the most important factor for receptor desensitization. Save for causing the internalization of adrenergic receptor, a high concentration of catecholamine, EOP and cytokines can also cause the decrease of adrenergic receptor desensitive. For e.g., Romano *et al.* found that agonist-induced receptor desensition.

tization was mainly correlated with the phosphorylation of adrenergic receptor in the early stage of shock.⁵⁴ Besides, Shepherd *et al.* found that the decrease of adrenergic response was closely related to the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase activity. These findings suggest that the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase activity may be the key point to affect the coupling between adrenergic receptor and adenylyl cyclase. The mechanism for the down-regulation of adenylyl cyclase activity may be correlated with G proteins. For e.g., Wong *et al.* found EOP and TNF- α inhibited adrenergic receptor affinity and the decrease of adenylyl cyclase activity.^{55,56} However, the precise mechanisms for the interaction of adrenergic receptor, G protein and adenylyl cyclase are not clear and need further investigation.

2.2. Membrane Hyperpolarization Mechanism of Vascular Hypo-reactivity

Membrane hyperpolarization is another crucial mechanism for vascular hypo-reactivity after shock. Membrane hyperpolarization of vascular hypo-reactivity mainly involves in two kinds of potassium channels: ATP-dependent K+ channel (K_{ATP}) and Large conductance Ca2+-activated K+ (BK_{Ca}) channel.

2.2.1. K_{ATP} channels

In physiological conditions, cytoplasm ATPs are in mMol level, which is of course enough to completely close the K_{ATP} channels on cell membranes.⁵⁷ While in some pathophysiological conditions such as shock, cell oxidative stress or severe decrease of ATP would cause K_{ATP} channels open on cell membranes.^{58,59} The over-open of K_{ATP} channels in VSMCs would result in membrane hyperpolarization of VSMC.⁶⁰ This event would inhibit potential dependent calcium channels and decrease the Ca2+ inflow, and finally result in vascular hypo-reactivity. The important inducing factors that cause the opening of K_{ATP} channels include intracellular acidosis, nitric oxide (NO), and so on.

Intracellular acidosis induced by ischemia and hypoxia after shock may markedly reduce the inhibitory effect of ATP on K_{ATP} channels.

Liu J et al.⁶¹ found that, in the absence of ATP, a decrease of intracellular pH (pHi) significantly reduced the conductance of single K_{ATP} channel. The open time and time constant of the channels were slightly increased. While in the presence of ATP, a decrease of pHi significantly increased the conductance of single channel and the open probability of KATP channel. These results suggest that intracellular acidosis activates K_{ATP} channels in the presence of ATP. NO has strong activity to dilate the vascular vessels. In physiological conditions, the endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) in vascular endothelial cells (VECs) may catalyze the continuous synthesis of NO, which makes great contribution to vaso-dilation. In the early stage of hemorrhagic shock, NO is slightly increased, which makes the vascular reactivity a little bit increase. In the late stage of or severe hemorrhagic shock, NO is significantly increased and large amount of OONO- is generated with superoxide anion, which induces over-opening of K_{ATP} channels in VSMCs, and finally results in vascular hypo-reactivity.⁶²

2.2.2. BK_{Ca} channels

Although KATTP channel makes a great contribution to membrane hyperpolarization of VSMC and vascular hypo-reactivity following shock, it has only one channel per 10µm² membranes. However, BK_{Ca} channels broadly distributes on VSMCs (1~4 channels/µm² membrane), which can be activated by voltage and intracellular Ca2+ and plays important role in the regulation of vascular reactivity.⁶³ The BK channel consists of α -subunit and accessory β -subunit, which co-influence the characteristics of its physiology and pathophysiology.⁶⁴ Nelson et al. reported that Ca²⁺ sparks are the physiological activators of BK_{ca} channels. A single Ca2+ spark may induce the opening of its surrounding BK_{Ca} and K^{+} outflow, which forms spontaneous transient outward current (STOC).65 This process may induce membrane hyperpolarization. In turn, over-opened BK_{Ca} channels decrease the external calcium influx and finally make the VSMCs in the state of hypo-reactivity. Similar to the K_{ATP} channel, many factors such as nitric oxide (NO), endothelin (ET) and endogenous opioid peptide (EOP) can regulate the opening of BK_{C2} channels and result in vascular hyporeactivity.⁶⁵

Studies showed that NO regulates the opening of BK_{Ca} channels following hemorrhagic shock mainly through the tyrosine phosphorylation of $BK_{Ca} \alpha$ subunit. Zhou R *et al.* found that this tyrosine phosphorylation of $BK_{Ca} \alpha$ subunit was further regulated by protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) and/or protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP).^{9,65,66} Further, Wu L *et al.*⁶⁷ reported that after the treatment with dehydrosoyasaponin (DHS, a $BK_{Ca} \beta$ subunit probe), the open probability of BK_{Ca} channel did not change, while the excitatory effect of sodium nitroprusside (SNP) on BK_{Ca} channel was reduced. This suggests that SNP regulates BK_{Ca} channel mainly through β subunit of BK_{Ca} channel, but the precise mechanisms need further investigation. In addition, although ET is a peptide with vasoconstrictor properties, our research showed that long-time ET stimulation could also induce vascular hypo-reactivity through cAMP-PKA pathway and BK_{Ca} channel activation.⁶⁶

It was reported that opioid receptors play an important role in the pathogenesis of shock.^{68,69} Our studies found that naloxone (10 μ M), a non-selective opioid receptor antagonist, significantly down-regulates the activity of BK_{Ca} by reducing its open probability and open frequency. Naltrindole (δ -opioid receptor antagonist) and nor-binaltorphimine (κ -opioid receptor antagonist) have the similar effects to naloxone, while no significant effect was found on the activity of channels after β -funaltrexamine (μ -opioid receptor) treatment. These results suggested that δ - and κ -opioid receptors, but not μ -receptors, participate in the regulation of BK_{Ca} channel after hemorrhagic shock.⁶⁴

2.3. Calcium Desensitization Mechanism of Vascular Hypo-reactivity

An interesting phenomenon is that restoration of adrenergic receptors, K+ and Ca2+ channels' function cannot return the vascular reactivity to normal level, which suggests that there are other mechanisms to regulate the vascular reactivity following shock. The key event of receptor desensitization and membrane hyperpolarization mechanism responsible for vascular hyporeactivity as mentioned above is the decrease of intracellular [Ca2+]. While at late stage of shock or in severe shock, the intracellular [Ca2+] in VSMCs is often over loaded. Nevertheless, vascular hyporeactivity still exists.¹⁵ This phenomenon indicates that VSMCs may exist with calcium desensitization after shock and that calcium desensitization may play a critical role in vascular hypo-reactivity.⁷⁰ Our studies proved the hypothesis that VSMCs have calcium desensitization after shock and this calcium desensitization contributes a critical role to vascular hypo-reactivity. Further studies showed that Rho kinase and PKC pathways are the two main pathways to regulate the calcium sensibility of VSMCs following shock.

2.3.1. Rho kinase pathway

Rho kinase, a Ser/Thr protein kinase and important member of the small G protein family, is identified as a GTP- Rho binding protein. A number of previous studies showed that Rho kinase is present in the regulation of many biological cellular functions, such as proliferation, differentiation and migration of tumor cells, and the migration and invasion of trophoblast cells, etc.⁷¹ Li T and Schmitz et al. reported that Rho kinase played an important role in the regulation of vascular reactivity and calcium desensitization following hemorrhagic shock.^{13,71} The regulation of calcium sensitivity of VSMC depends on the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of myosin light chain (MLC), which is respectively regulated by myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) and myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP).72 Studies showed that there are three ways for Rho kinase to regulate the calcium sensitivity of VSMC: (1) Rho kinase phosphorylate MLC20 directly, but the extent of Rho kinase to phosphorylate MLC20 is far less than MLCK does. The strength of Rho kinase phosphorylating MLC20 is about one third of MLCK. So this way is not the main way. (2) Rho kinase phosphorylates myosin-binding subunits (MBS) of MLCP at Thr2695, Thr2850 and Ser2854, and via which inhibits the activity of MLCP and increases the phosphorylation level of MLC20.73 This way is the main way of Rho kinase regulating calcium sensitivity. (3) Rho kinase activates CPI-17 via phosphorylation of the Thr238 site of CPI-17. The activated CPI-17 enhances the phosphorylation of MLC20 through inhibiting the MLCP.

2.3.2. PKC pathway

Protein kinase C (PKC), a Ser/Thr protein kinase, plays a critical role in cell adaptability to extracellular environment. PKC is also involved in varieties of physiologic functions including cell proliferation, differentiation and migration, cytoskeletal structure, and apoptosis.^{74,75} PKC is a big family consisting of at least 12 isoforms, and the main isoforms distributed in the vascular system are PKC α , ε , δ and ξ . Basic research shows that PKC isoforms, especially PKC α and PKC ε , may be activated by transferring from cytoplasm to membrane, and then trigger a series of cascade reactions that ultimately interacts with the contractile myofilaments and leads to VSMC contraction.⁷⁶

Many studies showed that PKC participated in the regulation of vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity following shock. Our previous study found that PKC agonist, phorbol-12- myristate-13-acetate (PMA), could improve and stabilize the hemodynamic parameters and play beneficial effect for hemorrhagic shock in rats through improving the vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity.^{18,77} There are several mechanisms by which PKC regulates the vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ Woodsome T et al. found that PKC may phosphorylate CPI-17, and then inhibits the MLCP activity, via which increases the MLC20 phosphorylation and calcium sensitivity of VSMC.⁷⁶ Our research team found that the inhibitory effect of PKC on MLCP is not only related to CPI-17 but also related to zipper-interacting protein kinase (ZIPK)78 and integrin-linked kinase (ILK).77,78 Our results showed that ZIPK and ILK may be the direct downstream molecules of PKC α and ε , in which CPI-17 may play an indirect modulating role on MLCP. Our very recent study found that Rho kinase is the downstream molecule of ILK and ZIPK, and the upstream molecule of CPI-17³³.

2.3.3. MAPKs pathway

Except for Rho kinase and PKC pathways, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs), adenosine receptors and myoendothelial gap junction (MEGJ) and its connexin proteins were also found participating in the regulation of vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity of VSMCs. MAPKs belong to a family of serine/threonine

protein kinases, which include extracellular-signal regulated kinase (ERK), jun NH2 -terminal kinase (JNK), and p38 MAPK in mammals. It was reported that they mediated the fundamental biological process to external signals, such as cytokines and inflammatory mediators.¹⁵

Previous studies showed that MAPK played a critical role in regulating cell differentiation, proliferation and cell death.^{79,80} A recent study of Yang¹⁵ investigated the potential role of MAPK in vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock and found that the changes of ERK and p38MAPK activity were positively correlated with the changes of vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock. In SMAs, ERK and p38MAPK activity was significantly increased at early shock (0.5 hour) and decreased at late shock (2 hour), ERK and p38MAPK inhibitors decreased the vascular reactivity. This suggests that MAPKs pathway participates in the regulation of vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity following shock.

2.3.4. Adenosine receptor

Adenosine is one of the most important endogenous modulators released excessively in tissue after severe trauma, ischemia or hypoxia. It has been demonstrated that adenosine mainly produces the marked effect through adenosine receptor in VSMC. There are four types of adenosine receptors (AR) in VSMCs, including A1AR, A2aAR, A2bAR and A3AR. Adenosines which combine with specific AR may cause vasoconstriction (A1AR) or vasodilatation (A2aAR, A2bAR). Srinivas SP et al. reported that exogenous adenosine may reduce the phosphorylation of MLC in bovine cornea epithelial cells.⁸¹ However, the report of Lai EY et al. demonstrated that exogenous adenosine may induce MLC phosphorylation on VSMCs and increase its calcium sensitivity.⁸² The results suggest that adenosine is closely related to vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity. Huang J et al.73 demonstrated that A1AR agonist (N6- cyclopentyladenosine, CPA, 10-5mol/L) can induce renal artery constriction, which can be antagonized by Rho kinase inhibitor (Y-27632). This indicates that Rho kinase is correlated with A1AR in the regulation of vascular tone. Tawfik HE et al.⁸³ found that the PKC inhibitor U-73122 could

abolish the vasoconstriction induced by A1AR, and A1AR agonist may enhance the activity of PKC ϵ . This indicates that A1AR regulating vascular calcium sensitivity is also related to PKC pathway.

However, A2aAR and A2bAR can activate adenylate cyclase which causes the increase in cAMP concentration and PKA activation. The activated PKA may inhibit the activity of Rho kinase. This will induce MLC dephosphorylation and vascular smooth muscle dilation. Besides, Gardner AM *et al.* showed that A2aAR may down-regulate the activity of PKC and A2aAR agonist CGS21680 may inactivate PKCε.⁸⁴ The study of Zhou R and Abbracchio M *et al.* found that A3AR was also involved in the modulation of vascular reactivity following shock and this regulation is closely related to Rho kinase pathway.^{85,86} These studies suggest that A3AR regulating vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity is related to PKCδ pathway.

2.3.5 MEGJ

MEGJ, the important connecting structure between vascular endothelial cell and VSMCs, plays important roles in vascular tone and vascular synchronism motion. Our studies found that MEGJ and its connexin proteins participated in the regulation of vascular reactivity following shock.⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹ There are over 20 connexins (Cx) distributed in varieties of tissue cells. Studies showed that the cardiovascular system mainly contains Cx37, Cx40, Cx43, Cx45 and Cx46. Our studies showed that Cx43 participated in the regulation of the vascular reactivity following hemorrhagic shock. Further studies found that Cx43 mediated the vasoconstriction effect of platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and high dosage of bradykinin which mainly related to Rho kianse and PKC pathways.^{88,89}

3. Treatment Measures Based on VSMCs Damage and Vascular Hypo-reactivity after Shock

3.1. Based on VSMC Damage

As mentioned above, many factors including ischemia-, hypoxiainduced oxidative stress, ERS and mitochondrial dysfunction may damage VSMCs. Based on these factors, some measures were found protective. Polydatin, an effective monomer extracted from a Chinese medicine polydate, was found to be protective for the mitochondrial function of VSMCs and vascular reactivity in hemorrhagic shock rats by Dr. Zhao KS et al.90 Our lab found that after traumatic hemorrhagic shock in rats, the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) in VSMCs was over opened. Over opened MPTP inhibited the vascular constriction function. Cyclosporine A (CsA, 5mg/kg, iv), the inhibitor of MPTP, could inhibit the opening of MPTP of VSMCs and improve the vascular constriction function and overall outcome of shock rats.¹² Some studies showed that activated protein C (APC) and recombinant human erythropoietin (rhEPO) could prevent septic shock-induced VSMC damage and vascular hypo-reactivity.91-93 Nacira S and Favory R et al. found APC increased the pressor response of adrenergic receptors agonists in septic shock rats and patients. The mechanism was related to APC decreasing tissular inflammation and oxidative stress.^{91,92} Bianca R et al. found rhEPO had important non-erythropoietic effects including inhibition of inflammatory response and apoptosis.93

Our recent study found 4-phenylbutyrate (PBA) has beneficial effects on traumatic hemorrhagic shock in rats by attenuating oxidative stress. It could protect vital organ functions and markedly improve the survival outcomes of shock rats. Studies showed PBA could significantly inhibit the production of reactive oxygen species, increase the antioxidant enzyme levels such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione, and improve the mitochondrial function in rat artery and VSMCs. Further studies found PBA increased the nuclear levels of Nuclear factor NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), and decreased the nuclear levels of Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) in hypoxic VSMCs.⁹⁴

3.2. Based on Receptor Desensitization Mechanism of Vascular Hyporeactivity

Studies showed that glucocorticoid (GC) may promote the catecholamine biosynthesis and potentiate the vasoconstriction effect of
vasopressin (AVP), Angiotensin II and endothelin (ET) by increasing the sensitivity of their receptors.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁷ Further, cortisol has significant inhibitory effect on pro-inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β , which are confirmed to be correlated with adrenergic receptor desensitization.98 A recent study showed that dexamethasone improved LPS-induced hypo-reactivity of VSMC. Except for increasing the sensitivity of adrenergic receptors, dexamethasone was found to be able to increase the phosphorylation of MLC20 via activation of RhoA-Rho kinase pathways.99 This finding demonstrated that glucocorticoid increasing the vascular reactivity is not only related to increasing the sensitivity of related receptors, but also related to increasing the calcium sensitivity of VSMC.99 The survival benefit of glucocorticoid in septic shock patients is controversial. Annane D et al. reported that a 7-day treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone significantly reduced the risk of death in patients with septic shock and relative adrenal insufficiency without increasing adverse events.¹⁰⁰ However, Sprung CL et al. reported that hydrocortisone did not improve survival or reversal of shock in patients with septic shock, either overall or in patients who did not have a response to corticotropin, although hydrocortisone hastened reversal of shock in patients in whom shock was reversed.¹⁰¹ Thus, the application of glucocorticoid in sepsis or septic shock including the application dosage, opportunity need more clinical trials and investigations.

Recently, two research teams from France and Australia found $\alpha 2$ adrenergic receptor agonists clonidine and dexmedetomidine could decrease the vasopressor requirements and increase the pressor response of sepsis or septic shock animal (rats and sheep) to norepinephrine (NE), phenylephrine and angiotensin II. They found that the possible mechanisms included central and peripheral actions¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴ Clonidine and dexmedetomidine can activate the central α -2 adrenergic receptors to reduce the peripheral sympathetic nerve activity. Thus, the decreased α -1 receptors in peripheral blood vessels in septic shock become progressively up-regulated upon α -2 agonist administration.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴

3.3. Based on K_{ATP} Channels and Membrane Hyperpolarization

Glybenclamide is a kind of K_{ATP} channel antagonist. Zhao KS *et al.*¹⁰⁵ found that vascular reactivity was significantly increased after use of glybenclamide combined with NaHCO3 in hemorrhagic rats. The blood pressure, arteriolar blood flow as well as the 24-hour survival rate were also markedly increased in shock rats after treatment, which indicates that glybenclamide combined with NaHCO3 is an effective regimen in the treatment of severe hemorrhagic shock with vascular hypo-reactivity.

Nitric oxide (NO) is an important inducing factor for the opening of KATP channels, OONO- with superoxide anion is the important executive of NO. Kim HW et al. found NO scavenger hemoglobin alone or in combination with NO synthase inhibitor N-nitro L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) could significantly improve septic shock induced vascular hypo-reactivity.¹⁰⁶ Zhao KS et al. found that superoxide anion scavenger Tiron could block the effect of OONO- in hemorrhagic shock rats, inhibited the membrane hyperpolarization of VSMC and improve shock-induced vascular hypo-reactivity.¹⁰⁷ Bianca E et al. found dexamethasone, except for increasing receptor sensitivity and inhibiting tissular inflammation, could also modulate the opening of K_{ATP} channels and improve the vascular hypo-reactivity induced by LPS.¹⁰⁸ The recent studies of Liu C and Vellinga NA et al. found that Ketanserin, a serotonin receptor antagonist, have protective effect on endotoxic shock by inhibiting the expression of inducible NO synthase (iNOS) and improving micro-circulation.109,110

Methylene blue (MB) has been used as an antidote for toxininduced and hereditary methemoglobinemia, ifosfamide-induced encephalopathy, and ackee fruit and cyanide poisoning. Recent years, MB was found protective in the treatment of shock states including septic shock, anaphylactic shock, and toxin-induced shock.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ The putative mechanism of the action of MB in the treatment of shock is inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide within the microvasculature and improving the responsiveness to endogenous catecholamines such as norepinephrine (NE).^{114,115} Up to date, since no many clinical trials have been done, so the effects of MB on morbidity and mortality of sepsis/septic shock remain unknown. Well-designed, prospective evaluations are needed to define the role of MB in the treatment of septic shock.¹¹⁶

3.4. Based on Rho A-Rho Kinase Pathway

Based on "calcium desensitization mechanism of vascular hyporeactivity", Rho kinase and PKC pathway are two important potential targets for the treatment of hemorrhagic shock and endotoxic shock. Studies showed arginine vasopressin (AVP) and its analog terlipressin (TP) have important roles in vasodilatory shock animal and patients.¹¹⁷ Some previous reports showed that the anti-shock effect of AVP was mainly related to its V1a receptor activation and then the increase in intracellular Ca²⁺.^{118–122}

Our recent study found that AVP (0.03 U/kg/h) and TP(2.6µg/kg/h) significantly improved the decreased vascular reactivity in hemorrhagic shock and endotoxic shock rats and rabbits, This effect of AVP and TP is closely related to activation of Rho A-Rho kinase pathway.^{39,123,124} In septic shock patients, we further found that a small dose of TP (1.3 µg/kg/h) in combination with NE continuous infusion, except for decreasing the mortality and NE requirement, could better improve and stabilize the hemodynamics, improve the tissue blood flow, increase the blood oxygen saturation and urine volume, and decrease the lactate level and complication rate. These results show that low-dose of TP continuous infusion can help NE achieves good resuscitation effect by improving vascular reactivity, stabilizing hemodynamics, and protecting organ function in septic shock patients.¹²⁵

Further studies showed that ischemic preconditioning may activate Rho A-Rho kinase pathway and improve the vascular reactivity in hemorrhagic shock rats.¹²⁶ Hu Y *et al.*¹²⁶ observed the effects of ischemic pre-conditioning on vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock in rats and found that a 5% hemorrhage for 30 minutes before hemorrhagic shock may prevent the decrease in vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity after hemorrhage. The study showed that hemorrhagic shock may attenuate Rho-kinase activity while ischemic preconditioning may reverse this process. The further study of Hu Y *et al.* found BK_{Ca} opener, NS1619 pre-treatment could protect against shock-induced vascular hypo-reactivity through PDZ-Rho GEF-RhoA-Rho kinase pathway in rats.¹²⁷

3.5. Based on PKC Pathway

Phorbol-12- myristate-13-acetate (PMA), a non-specific PKC isoform agonist, was found to have good protective effect on shock. Fang YQ *et al.* observed the beneficial effect of PMA in rats that suffered hemorrhagic shock. They found 1µg/kg PMA could significantly enhance the vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity of hemorrhagic shock rats and improve the hemodynamic indexes as well as hepatorenal function.⁷⁷ Although PMA is not used in clinic now, these findings provide a rational ground to develop this kind of drug or search for other approaches to induce or activate PKC to play protective effect on shock in clinic.

Pinacidil, an adenosine triphosphate–sensitive potassium channel (K_{ATP}) opener, is a common agent used to induce preconditioning protection against ischemia insult.^{126,129–130} Xu J *et al.* used 25µg/kg of pinacidil administered 30 min before hemorrhagic shock to mimic ischemic pre-conditioning in rats and found that pinacidil pretreatment could activate PKC α and ε and improve the vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity in rats suffering hemorrhagic shock.¹³¹ This suggests that pre-treatment with pinacidil can improve the vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity after hemorrhagic shock, the mechanism is closely related to the activation of PKC α and ε .

4. Conclusion

Circulatory shock-induced ischemia, hypoxia, inflammatory response and internal environment disorder can damage VSMCs and vascular function. Shock-induced vascular function disorder (hypo-reactivity) can severely interfere with the pathological process and treatment of circulatory shock, especially interferes with the application of vasoactive agents. Three mechanisms including receptor desensitization, membrane hyperpolarization, and calcium desensitization mechanisms for shock- induced vascular hypo-reactivity have been raised. Based on the inducing factors and the important signal regulatory molecules, some beneficial treatment measures have been found for VSMCs damage and vascular hypo-reactivity. Of course, there are still some issues that need further investigation such as the more detailed mechanisms and the more beneficial measures for VSMCs damage and vascular reactivity needing further studies. In addition, some available measures also need to be confirmed with large scale of clinical trials.

References

- Bellamy RF. (1984) The causes of death in conventional land warfare: Implications for combat casualty care research. *Mil Med* 149: 283–289.
- 2. Christaki E, Opal SM. (2008) Is the mortality rate for septic shock really decreasing? *Curr Opin Crit Care* 14: 580–586.
- Angus DC, van der Poll T. (2013) Severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med 21: 369.
- 4. Cerra FB. (1985) The systemic septic response: multiple systems organ failure. *Crit Care Clin* 1: 591–607.
- Zeni F, Freeman B, Natanson C. (1997) Anti-inflammatory therapies to treat sepsis and septic shock: A reassessment. *Crit Care Med* 25: 1095–1100.
- Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G. (2001) Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: Analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. *Crit Care Med* 29: 1303–1310.
- 7. Martin L, van Meegern A, Doemming S, Schuerholz T. (2015) Antimicrobial peptides in human sepsis. *Front Immunol* 6: 404.
- Duan C, Yang G, Li T, Liu L. (2015) Advances in vascular hyporeactivity after shock: the mechanisms and managements. *Shock* Aug 10. [Epub ahead of print] *PMID*: 26263436.
- Zhou R, Liu LM, Hu DY. (2005) Involvement of BK_{Ca} alpha subunit tyrosine phosphorylation in vascular hyporesponsiveness of superior mesenteric artery following hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Cardiovasc Res* 68: 327–335.

- Liang JL, Yang GM, Li T, Liu LM. (2013) Effects of interleukin-1beta on vascular reactivity after lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxic shock in rabbits and its relationship with PKC and Rho kinase. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 62: 84–89.
- Liang JL, Yang GM, Li T, Liu LM. (2014) Interleukin 1β attenuates vascular α1 adrenergic receptors expression following lipopolysaccharide-induced endotoxemia in rabbits: Involvement of JAK2-STAT3 pathway. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 76: 762–770.
- Lei Y, Peng X, Liu L, Dong Z, et al. (2015) Beneficial effect of cyclosporine A on traumatic hemorrhagic shock. J Surg Res 195: 529–540.
- Li T, Liu LM, Xu J, Yang GM, *et al.* (2006) Changes of Rho kinase activity after hemorrhagic shock and its role in shock-induced biphasic response of vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity. *Shock* 26: 504–509.
- 14. Zhou R, Ding XL, Liu LM. (2014) Ryanodine receptor 2 contributes to hemorrhagic shock- induced bi-phasic vascular reactivity in rats. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **35**: 1375–1384.
- 15. Yang GM, Li T, Xu J, Peng XY, *et al.* (2013) Mitogen-activated protein kinases regulate vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock through myosin light chain phosphorylation pathway. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 74: 1033–1043.
- 16. Pagnin E, Semplicini A, Sartori M, Pessina AC, *et al.* (2005) Reduced mRNA and protein content of rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor (RhoGEF) in Bartter's and Gitelman's syndromes: Relevance for the pathophysiology of hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 18: 1200–1205.
- 17. Li T, Fang Y, Yang GM, Zhu Y, *et al.* (2010) The mechanism by which RhoA regulates vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**: 292–299.
- Li T, Fang Y, Yang GM, Xu J, *et al.* (2011) Effects of the balance in activity of RhoA and Rac1 on the shock-induced biphasic change of vascular reactivity in rats. *Ann Surg* 253: 185–193.
- Burridge K, Krister W. (2004) Rho and Rac take center stage. Cell 116: 167–179.
- Brzeska H, Szczepanowska J, Matsumura F, Korn ED. (2004) Racinduced increase of phosphorylation of myosin regulatory light chain in HeLa cells. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 58: 186–199.
- 21. Xu J, Lan D, Li T, Yang GM, *et al.* (2012) Angiopoietins regulate vascular reactivity after haemorrhagic shock in rats through the Tie2nitric oxide pathway. *Cardiovasc Res* **96**: 308–319.

- 22. Brindle NP, Saharinen P, Alitalo K. (2006) Signaling and functions of angiopoietin-1 in vascular protection. *Circ Res* **98**: 1014–1023.
- 23. Liu LM, War JA, Dubick MA. (2003) Hemorrhage-induced vascular hyporeactivity to norepinephrine in select vasculatures of rats and the roles of nitric oxide and endothelin. *Shock* **19**: 208–214.
- 24. Zhu Y, Liu L, Peng X, Ding X, *et al.* (2013) Role of adenosine A2A receptor in organ-specific vascular reactivity following hemorrhagic shock in rats. *J Surg Res* 184: 951–958.
- Liu LM, Dubick MA. (2005) Hemorrhagic shock-induced vascular hyporeactivity in the rat: relationship to gene expression of nitric oxide synthase, endothelin-1, and select cytokines in corresponding organs. *J Surg Res* 125: 128–136.
- Martin CM, Yaghi A, Sibbald WJ, McCormack D, *et al.* (1993) Differential impairment of vascular reactivity of small pulmonary and systemic arteries in hyperdynamic sepsis. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 148: 164–172.
- 27. Demirtas T, Utkan T, Karson A, Yazir Y, *et al.* (2014) The link between unpredictable chronic mild stress model for depression and vascular inflammation? *Inflammation* **37**: 1432–1438.
- 28. Angele MK, Frantz MC, Chaudry IH. (2006) Gender and sex hormones influence the response to trauma and sepsis: potential therapeutic approaches. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* **61**: 479–488.
- 29. Angele MK, Pratschke S, Hubbard WJ, *et al.* (2014) Gender differences in sepsis: Cardiovascular and immunological aspects. *Virulence* **5**: 12–19.
- Frink M, Pape HC, Griensven MV, Krettek C, *et al.* (2007) Influence of sex and age on mods and cytokines after multiple injuries. *Shock* 27: 151–156.
- Maranon R, Reckelhoff JF. (2013) Sex and gender differences in control of blood pressure. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 125: 311–318.
- 32. Proctor DN, Newcomer SC. (2006) Is there a difference in vascular reactivity of the arms and legs? *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **38**: 1819–1828.
- 33. Li T, Xiao XD, Zhang J, Zhu Y, et al. (2014) Age and sex differences in vascular responsiveness in healthy and trauma patients: contribution of estrogen receptor-mediated Rho kinase and PKC pathways. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 306: 1105–1115.
- Lachin JM, Orchard TJ, Nathan DM. (2014) Update on cardiovascular outcomes at 30 years of the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study. *Diabetes Care* 37: 39–43.

- 35. Ahmad R, Cherry RA, Lendel I, Mauger DT, *et al.* (2007) Increased hospital morbidity among trauma patients with diabetes mellitus compared with age- and injury severity score-matched control subjects. *Arch Surg* **142**: 613–618.
- Lustenberger T, Talving P, Lan L, Inaba K, et al. (2013) Effects of diabetes mellitus on outcomes in patients with traumatic brain injury: A national trauma databank analysis. Brain Inj 27: 281–285.
- 37. Wu Y, Lan D, Chen XY, Liu LM, *et al.* (2015) Diversity of vascular reactivity and the treatment response in diabetic, hypertensive, hyper-lipidemic, and healthy rats subjected to hemorrhagic shock. *Shock*, accepted.
- Soriano FG, Liaudet L, Marton A, Hasko G, et al. (2001) Inosine improves gut permeability and vascular reactivity in endotoxic shock. *Crit Care Med* 29: 703–708.
- 39. Yang GM, Liu LM, Xu J. (2006) Effect of arginine vasopressin on vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity after hemorrhagic shock in rats and its relationship to Rho-kinase. *J Trauma* **61**: 1336–1342.
- 40. Hernanz R, Alonso MJ, Briones AM, Vila E, *et al.* (2003) Mechanisms involved in the early increase of serotonin contraction evoked by endotoxin in rat middle cerebral arteries. *Br J Pharmacol* **140**: 671–680.
- 41. Robert R, Derrode CC, Carretier M, Mauco G, *et al.* (2005) Gender differences in vascular reactivity of aortas from rats with and without portal hypertension. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* **20**: 890–894.
- 42. Chen W, Ming J, Xu J, Yang GM, *et al.* (2009) Changes and organ diversity of vascular reactivity following endotoxic shock in rabbits [Article in Chinese]. *J Trauma Surg* 11: 348–353.
- 43. George RL, McGwin G, Windham ST, Melton SM, *et al.* (2003) Agerelated gender differential in outcome after blunt or penetrating trauma. *Shock* **19**: 28–32.
- 44. Kher A, Wang M, Tsai BM, Pitcher JM, *et al.* (2005) Sex differences in the myocardial inflammatory response to acute injury. *Shock* 23: 1–10.
- Bone RC. (1992) Toward an epidemiology and natural history of SIRS (systemic inflammatory response syndrome). JAMA 268: 3452– 3455.
- 46. Schroder J, Kahlke V, Staubach KH, Zabel P, et al. (1998) Gender differences in human sepsis. Arch Surg 133: 1200–1205.
- Liu LM, Hu DY, Chen HS. (1998) Advances of the desensitization of adrenergic receptors during circulatory shock [Article in Chinese]. *Chinese J Pathophysiology* 14: 100–103.

- 48. Sandrini M, Guarini S, Bertolini A. (1989) Characteristics of brain, heart ventricle and spleen capsule adrenoceptors in rats bled to hypovolemic shock and treated with ACTH-(1-24). *Resuscitation* 18: 135–137.
- 49. Onuma T. (1994) Changes in the beta-receptor density and its responsiveness to beta-agonist in rabbit myocardium during hemorrhagic shock. *Masui* **43**: 840–847.
- Tait SM, Wang P, Ba ZF, Chaudry IH. (1995) Downregulation of hepatic beta-adrenergic receptors after trauma and hemorrhagic shock. *Am J Physiol* 268: 749–753.
- Maisel AS, Motulsky HJ, Ziegler MG, Insel PA. (1987) Ischemia- and agonist-induced changes in alpha- and beta-adrenergic receptor traffic in guinea pig hearts. *Am J Physiol* 253: 1159–1166.
- 52. Shepherd RE, Lang CH, McDonough KH. (1987) Myocardial adrenergic responsiveness after lethal and nonlethal doses of endotoxin. *Am J Physiol* 252: 410–416.
- 53. Liu LM, Chen HS, Hu DY, Liu RQ, *et al.* (1995) Myocardial adrenoceptors sensitized by thyrotropin releasing hormone and its mechanisms during hemorrhagic shock in rats [Article in Chinese]. *Chinese J pharmacol and Toxicol* 9: 212–215.
- 54. Romano FD, Jones SB. (1986) Alterations in beta-adrenergic stimulation of myocardial adenylate cyclase in endotoxic rats. *Am J Physiol* **250**: 358–364.
- Wong TM, Wu S. (2003) Roles of kappa opioid receptors in cardioprotection against ischemia: the signaling mechanisms. *Sheng Li Xue Bao* 55: 115–120.
- Matos I, Mizenina Q, Lubkin A, Steinman RM, *et al.* (2013) Targeting Leishmania major Antigens to Dendritic Cells In Vivo Induces Protective effect. *Immunity* 8: e67453.
- 57. Quast U. (1992) Potassium channel openers: pharmacological and clinical aspects. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* **6**: 279–293.
- 58. Liu J, Zhao K. (2000) The ATP-sensitive K(+) channel and membrane potential in the pathogenesis of vascular hyporeactivity in severe hemorrhagic shock. *Chin J Traumatol* **3**: 39–44.
- 59. Horinaka S. (2011) Use of nicorandil in cardiovascular disease and its optimization. *Drugs* 71: 1105–1119.
- 60. Kuo JH, Chen SJ, Shih CC, Lue WM, *et al.* (2009) Abnormal activation of potassium channels in aortic smooth muscle of rats with peritonitis-induced septic shock. *Shock* **32**: 74–79.

- 61. Liu J, Zhao KS, Jin CH. (1999) Effect of intracellular acidosis on ATPsensitive K+ channels in arteriolar smooth muscle cells [Article in Chinese]. *Chinese J Pathophysiol* **15**: 11–14.
- 62. Zhao KS, Huang X, Liu J, Huang Q, *et al.* (2002) New approach to treatment of shock–restitution of vasoreactivity. *Shock* **18**: 189–192.
- 63. Nelson MT, Cheng H, Rubart M, Santana LF, *et al.* (1995) Relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by calcium sparks. *Science* **270**: 633–637.
- 64. Munujos P, Knaus HG, Kaczorowski GJ, Garcia ML. (1995) Crosslinking of charybdotoxin to high-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels: Identification of the covalently modified toxin residue. *Biochemistry* **34**: 10771–10776.
- 65. Kai L, Wang ZF, Hu DY, Shi YL, *et al.* (2003) Opioid receptor antagonists modulate Ca2+-activated K+ channels in mesenteric arterial smooth muscle cells of rats in hemorrhagic shock. *Shock* **19**: 85–90.
- 66. Shankar V, Armstead WM. (1995) Opioids contribute to hypoxiainduced pial artery dilation through activation of ATP-sensitive K+ channels. *Am J Physiol* **269**: 997–1002.
- 67. Wu L, Cao K, Lu Y, Wang R. (2002) Different mechanisms underlying the stimulation of K(Ca) channels by nitric oxide and carbon monoxide. *J Clin Invest* **110**: 691–700.
- 68. Xi Q, Tcheranova D, Parfenova H, Horowitz B, *et al.* (2004) Carbon monoxide activates KCa channels in newborn arteriole smooth muscle cells by increasing apparent Ca2+ sensitivity of alpha-subunits. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **286**: 610–618.
- 69. Zoloev GK, Argintaev ES, Alekminskaia LA, Bespalova D. (1992) Functional state of the endogenous opioid peptide system in traumatic shock in rats. *Biull Eksp Biol Med* **113**: 467–469.
- Xu J, Liu L. (2005) The role of calcium desensitization in vascular hyporeactivity and its regulation after hemorrhagic shock in the rat. *Shock* 23: 576–581.
- Schmitz U, Thommes K, Beier I, Wagner W, *et al.* (2001) Angiotensin II-induced stimulation of p21-activated kinase and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase is mediated by Rac1 and Nck. *J Biol Chem* 276: 22003–22010.
- 72. Doupis J, Rahangdale S, Gnardellis C, Pena SE, *et al.* (2011) Effects of diabetes and obesity on vascular reactivity, inflammatory cytokines, and growth factors. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **19**: 729–735.
- 73. Huang J, Mahavadi S, Sriwai W, Hu W, *et al.* (2006) Gi-coupled receptors mediate phosphorylation of CPI-17 and MLC20 via preferential activation of the PI3K/ILK pathway. *Biochem J* **396**: 193–200.

- 74. Barnett ME, Madgwick DK, Takemoto DJ. (2007) Protein kinase C as a stress sensor. *Cell Signal* **19**: 1820–1829.
- 75. Carter CA, Kane CJ. (2004) Therapeutic potential of natural compounds that regulate the activity of protein kinase C. *Curr Med Chem* **11**: 2883–2902.
- 76. Woodsome TP, Eto M, Everett A, Brautigan DL, et al. (2001) Expression of CPI-17 and myosin phosphatase correlates with Ca(2+) sensitivity of protein kinase C-induced contraction in rabbit smooth muscle. J Physiol 535: 553–564.
- 77. Fang Y, Li T, Fan X, Zhu Y, *et al.* (2010) Beneficial effects of activation of PKC on hemorrhagic shock in rats. *J Trauma* **68**: 865–873.
- 78. Xu J, Yang GM, Li T, Ming J, *et al.* (2010) Involvement of Cpi-17 and zipper-interacting protein kinase in the regulation of protein kinase C-alpha, protein kinase C-epsilon on vascular calcium sensitivity after hemorrhagic shock. *Shock* 33: 49–55.
- Hoefer J, Azam MA, Kroetsch JT, Poi HL, *et al.* (2010) Sphingosinel-phosphate-dependent activation of p38 MAPK maintains elevated peripheral resistance in heart failure through increased myogenic vasoconstriction. *Circ Res* 107: 923–933.
- 80. Matsumoto T, Kakami M, Kobayashi T, Kamata K. (2008) Gender differences in vascular reactivity to endothelin-1 (1-31) in mesenteric arteries from diabetic mice. *Peptides* **29**: 1338–1146.
- Srinivas SP, Satpathy M, Gallagher P, Lariviere E, *et al.* (2004) Adenosine induces dephosphorylation of myosin II regulatory light chain in cultured bovine corneal endothelial cells. *Exp Eye Res* 79: 543–551.
- Lai EY, Martinka P, Fahling M, Mrowka R, *et al.* (2006) Adenosine restores angiotensin II-induced contractions by receptor- independent enhancement of calcium sensitivity in renal arterioles. *Circ Res* 99: 1117–1124.
- Tawfik HE, Schnermann J, Oldenburg PJ, Mustafa SJ. (2005) Role of A1 adenosine receptors in regulation of vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288: 1411–1416.
- Gardner AM, Olah ME. (2003) Distinct protein kinase C isoforms mediate regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression by A2A adenosine receptor activation and phorbol esters in pheochromocytoma PC12 cells. *J Biol Chem* 278: 15421–15428.
- 85. Zhou R, Chen F, Li Q, Hu DY, *et al.* (2010) Stimulation of the adenosine A3 receptor reverses vascular hyporeactivity after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **31**: 413–420.

- 86. Abbracchio MP, Camurri A, Ceruti S, Cattabeni F, *et al.* (2001) The A3 adenosine receptor induces cytoskeleton rearrangement in human astrocytoma cells via a specific action on Rho proteins. *Ann N Υ Acad Sci* 939: 63–73.
- 87. Ming J, Li T, Zhang Y, Xu J, *et al.* (2009) Regulatory effects of myoendothelial gap junction on vascular reactivity after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Shock* **31**: 80–86.
- Zhang J, Yang GM, Zhu Y, Peng XY, *et al.* (2015) Bradykinin induces vascular contraction after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *J Surg Res* 193: 334–43.
- 89. Liu LM, Zhang J, Zhu Y, Xiao XD, *et al.* (2014) Beneficial effects of platelet derived growth factor on hemorrhagic shock in rats and the underlying mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Heart C* **307**: 1277–1287.
- Wang X, Song R, Chen Y, Zhao M, *et al.* (2012) Polydatin a new mitochondria protector for acute severe hemorrhagic shock treatment. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 222: 169–179.
- 91. Raphae I F, J Poissy J, Alves I, Guerry MJ, *et al.* (2013) Activated protein C improves macrovascular and microvascular reactivity in human severe sepsis and septic shock. *Shock* **40**: 512–518.
- 92. Nacira S, Meziani F, Dessebe O, Cattan V, *et al.* (2009) Activated protein C improves lipopolysaccharide-induced cardiovascular dys-function by decreasing tissular inflammation and oxidative stress. *Crit Care Med* **37**: 246–256.
- 93. Bianca R, Sorrentino R, Mitidieri E, Marzocco S, *et al.* (2009) Recombinant human erythropoietin prevents lipopolysaccharideinduced vascular hyporeactivity in the rat. *Shock* **31**: 529–534.
- 94. Yang GM, Peng XY, Hu Y, Lan D, *et al.* (2015) 4-phenylbutyrate benefits traumatic hemorrhagic shock in rats by attenuating oxidative stress, not by attenuating endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Crit Care Med.* **44**: e477–91.
- 95. Annane D, Bellissant E, Sebille V, Lesieur O, *et al.* (1998) Impaired pressor sensitivity to noradrenaline in septic shock patients with and without impaired adrenal function reserve. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **46**: 589–597.
- Buchele GL, Silva E, Tascon GA, Vincent JL, *et al.* (2009) Effects of hydrocortisone on microcirculatory alterations in patients with septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 37: 1341–1347.
- 97. Kaufmann I, Briegel J, Schliephake F, Hoelzl A, et al. (2008) Stress doses of hydrocortisone in septic shock: Beneficial effects on opsonization-dependent neutrophil functions. *Intensive Care Med* 34: 344–349.

- 292 L. Liu, T. Li and C. Duan
 - 98. Annane D, Cavaillon JM. (2003) Corticosteroids in sepsis: From bench to bedside? *Shock* 20: 197–207.
 - 99. Zhang T, Shi WL, Tasker JG, Zhou JR, *et al.* (2013) Dexamethasone induces rapid promotion of norepinephrine-mediated vascular smooth muscle cell contraction. *Mol Med Rep* 7: 549–554.
- 100. Annane D, Sébille V, Charpentier C, Bollaert PE, *et al.* (2002) Effect of treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone on mortality in patients with septic shock. *JAMA* 288: 862–871.
- 101. Sprung CL, Annane D, Keh D, Moreno R, *et al.* (2008) CORTICUS Study Group. Hydrocortisone therapy for patients with septic shock. *N Engl J Med* 358: 111–24.
- 102. Geloen A, Chapelier K, Cividjian A, Dantony E, et al. (2013) Clonidine and Dexmedetomidine Increase the Pressor Response to Norepinephrine in Experimental Sepsis: A Pilot Study. Crit Care Med 41: e431-e438.
- 103. Pichot C, Geloen A, Ghignone M, Quintin L. (2010) Alpha-2 agonists to reduce vasopressor requirements in septic shock? *Medical Hypotheses* 75: 652–656.
- 104. Lankadeva YR1, Booth LC, Kosaka J, Evans RG, *et al.* (2015) Clonidine Restores Pressor Responsiveness to Phenylephrine and Angiotensin II in Ovine Sepsis. *Crit Care Med* **43**: e221–229.
- 105. Zhao KS, Huang X, Liu J, Huang Q, *et al.* (2002) New approach to treatment of shock restitution of vasoreactivity. *Shock* 18: 189–192.
- 106. Kim HW, Greenburg AG. (2002) Nitric oxide scavenging, alone or with nitric oxide synthesis inhibition, modulates vascular hyporeactivity in rats with intraperitoneal sepsis. *Shock* 17: 423–426.
- 107. Zhao KS, Liu J, Yang GY, Jin C, *et al.* (2000) Peroxynitrite leads to arteriolar smooth muscle cell membrane hyperpolarization and low vasoreactivity in severe shock. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc* 23: 259–267.
- 108. Bianca E, Lippolis L, Autore G, Popolo A, et al. (2003) Dexamethasone improves vascular hyporeactivity induced by LPS in vivo by modulating ATP-sensitive potassium channels activity. Brit J Pharmacol 140: 91–96.
- 109. Liu C, Zhang X, Zhou JX, Wei W, *et al.* (2013) The protective action of ketanserin against lipopolysaccharide-induced shock in mice is mediated by inhibiting inducible NO synthase expression via the MEK/ ERK pathway. *Free Radic Biol Med* **65**: 658–666.
- 110. Vellinga NA, Veenstra G, Scorcella C, Koopmans M, *et al.* (2015) Effects of ketanserin on microcirculatory alterations in septic shock: An open-label pilot study. *J Crit Care* **30**: 1156–1162.

- 111. Lo JC, Darracq MA, Clark RF. (2014) A review of methylene blue treatment for cardiovascular collapse. *J Emerg Med* **46**: 670–679.
- Paciullo CA, McMahon Horner D, Hatton KW, Flynn JD. (2010) Methylene blue for the treatment of septic shock. *Pharmacotherapy* 30: 702–715.
- 113. Kirov MY, Evgenov OV, Evgenov NV, Egorina EM, *et al.* (2001) Infusion of methylene blue in human septic shock: a pilot, randomized, controlled study. *Crit Care Med* **29**: 1860–1867.
- 114. Nantais J, Dumbarton TC, Farah N, Maxan A, *et al.* (2014) Impact of methylene blue in addition to norepinephrine on the intestinal microcirculation in experimental septic shock. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc* 58: 97–105.
- 115. Juffermans NP, Vervloet MG, Daemen-Gubbels CR, Binnekade JM, *et al.* (2010) A dose-finding study of methylene blue to inhibit nitric oxide actions in the hemodynamics of human septic shock. *Nitric Oxide* **22**: 275–280.
- 116. Dumbarton TC, Minor S, Yeung CK, Green R. (2011) Prolonged methylene blue infusion in refractory septic shock: a case report. *Can J Anaesth* 58: 401–405.
- 117. Ida KK, Otsuki DA, Sasaki AT, Borges ES, *et al.* (2015) Effects of terlipressin as early treatment for protection of brain in a model of haemorrhagic shock. *Crit Care* 19: 107.
- 118. Albert M, Losser MR, Hayon D, Faivre V, *et al.* (2004) Systemic and renal macro- and microcirculatory responses to arginine vasopressin in endotoxic rabbits. *Crit Care Med* **32**: 1891–1898.
- 119. Backer DD, Creteur J, Vincent JL. (2003) Arginine vasopressin in advanced vasodilatory shock. *Circulation* **108**: e142; author reply e142.
- Dunser MW, Wenzel V, Mayr AJ, Hasibeder WR. (2003) Management of vasodilatory shock: Defining the role of arginine vasopressin. *Drugs* 63: 237–256.
- 121. Berkovich SF, Kagan E, Grossman N, Danon A. (2004) Multiple effects of arginine vasopressin on prostaglandin E2 synthesis in fibroblasts. *Eur J Pharmacol* 485: 53–59.
- 122. Raedler C, Voelckel WG, Wenzel V, Krismer AC, *et al.* (2004) Treatment of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock after liver trauma: fatal effects of fluid resuscitation versus improved outcome after vasopressin. *Anesth Analg* **98**: 1759–1766.
- 123. Yang GM, Xu J, Li T, Ming J, *et al.* (2008) Beneficial effect of arginine vasopressin on hemorrhagic shock through improving the vascular reactivity [Article in Chinese]. *Frontiers of Medicine in China* 2: 47–50.

- 124. Xiao XD, Zhu Y, Zhen D, Chen XM, *et al.* (2015) Beneficial and side effects of arginine vasopressin and terlipressin for septic shock. *J Surg Res* 195: 568–579.
- 125. Xiao X, Zhang J, Wang Y, Zhou J, et al. (2015) Effects of terlipressin on patients with sepsis via improving tissue blood flow. J Surg Res [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 26253455.
- 126. Hu Y, Li T, Tang XF, Chen K, *et al.* (2011) Effects of ischemic preconditioning on vascular reactivity and calcium sensitivity after hemorrhagic shock and their relationship to the RhoA-Rho-kinase pathway in rats. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **57**: 231–239.
- 127. Hu Y, Yang G, Xiao X, Liu L, *et al.* (2014) BK_{Ca} opener, NS1619 pretreatment protects against shock-induced vascular hyporeactivity through PDZ-Rho GEF-RhoA-Rho kinase pathway in rats. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* 76: 394–401.
- 128. Erling N, Nakagawa NK, Cruz JW, Zanoni FL, et al. (2010) Microcirculatory effects of local and remote ischemic preconditioning in supraceliac aortic clamping. J Vasc Surg 52: 1321–1329.
- 129. Raval AP, Dave KR, DeFazio RA, Pinzon MA. (2007) EpsilonPKC phosphorylates the mitochondrial K(+) (ATP) channel during induction of ischemic preconditioning in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res* 1184: 345–353.
- Rezkalla SH, Kloner. (2006) RA Ischemic preconditioning for the clinician. WMJ 105: 22–26.
- 131. Xu J, Li T, Yang GM, Liu LM. (2012) Pinacidil pretreatment improves vascular reactivity after shock through PKCalpha and PKCepsilon in rats. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **59**: 514–522.

Index

A

actin filament dynamics, 3 Actin filament-binding and adaptor proteins, 190 Actin isoforms, 15, 21, 23, 26, 28 Actin polymerization, 3, 59, 65, 70, 81, 94, 149–155, 194, 196-197, 247 adaptive intimal thickening, 214 Adenosine receptor, 94, 276–277 AMP-dependent protein kinase, 48, 60, 70, 77 Angiopoietin, 265–266 Apoptosis, 166, 171, 198, 214, 223-226, 228-229, 265, 276, 279 atheroma formation, 214 atherosclerosis, 1, 184-185, 203 Autophagy, 226

B

BK_{Ca} channels, 272–274, 283

С

Ca²⁺ sensitization, 3, 59, 76, 82, 83, 86–87, 89–90, 92–93, 95, 97, 147–149, 151–152, 155 Ca2+-calmodulin-dependent kinase II, 47, 70 Calcification, 172, 228–229 calcium desensitization, 270, 274-275, 282, 284 calcium sensitivity, 275-278, 280, 282-283 calcium, 57 Caldesmon, 2, 16, 22–23, 89, 167, 183, 185, 192-193, 200 Calponin, 2, 16, 22–23, 89, 183, 188, 193, 244-246, 249 Caveolae, 13, 19-20, 24, 28, 58, 82,87 cell migration and invasion, 195-196, 199 circulatory shock, 1 complicated lesion, 214 Connexins, 278 contractile/differentiated phenotype, 1 contraction, 247, 249 Cortactin, 185–188, 191–192, 194, 197–198, 202 CPI-17, 3, 76, 79-81, 84, 89-90, 147-149, 275-276 cSrc, 4, 188–191, 194–197, 199, 201 - 202cytoskeletal, 19-23, 26-28, 30

296 Index

D

Dedicator of cytokinesis-2, 167 developmental basis, 1

E

embryonic lineages, 3 embryonic origins, 165, 168–169, 171, 174

F

Fas, 225 fatty streak formation, 214 fibroatheroma formation, 214 Fibrous cap, 168, 214, 219, 221, 223, 224–226, 228–229 Filamin, 2, 19, 23

H

Hemorrhagic shock, 6, 264–269, 271, 273–279, 281–283 HOX genes, 172 human pluripotent stem cells, 169, 173 hypertension, 1

Ι

IFN-γ, 224 Induced pluripotent stem cells, 166 integrin-linked kinase, 48, 70 Intermediate filaments, 13, 18–19, 22 invasive/proliferative phenotype, 1

K

К_{атр}, 272–273, 281, 283

kinase inhibitor of NF-kB 2, 48, 70 Kruppel-like transcription factor, 4

L

Lineage-specific Smooth Muscle Cells, 174 LncRNAs, 243–244, 251–253

Μ

20 kDa myosin light chain, 47 MicroRNA biogenesis, 5, 240 MicroRNA, 240, 242, 248 Microtubules, 2, 13, 18-19, 28, 81, 202 mitogen activated protein kinases, 47 Myocardin-like 2 protein, 170 Myosin heavy chain isoforms, 2 Myosin light chain isoforms, 2 myosin light chain kinase, 47, 65, 69,72myosin light chain phosphatase, 72 myosin light chain phosphorylation, 47-48, 65, 72 MYPT1, 3, 72, 76-85, 87-88, 90, 93-94, 97-98, 147-149, 152, 155

N

Nitric oxide, 48, 66, 167, 264, 266, 272–273, 281 non-coding RNA, 5 Nucleoskeleton, 2, 21–22, 28

0

osteogenic transdifferentiation, 228

P

P21-activated kinases, 191 P53, 188-189, 198-202, 251 pathologic intimal thickening, 214 Phenotypic modulation, 3, 166, 168, 218Phenotypic switching, 167, 184 plaque rupture, 223 plaque stabilization, 228 plaque vulnerability, 227 Plectin, 2, 19, 28 podosomes, 1, 183-192, 194, 196-198, 200-203 Poiseuille's Law, 145 protein kinase C, 47, 65, 69, 72 PTEN, 194, 199 Pulmonary vascular disease, 5, 250

R

receptor desensitization, 270–271, 274, 279–280, 284 receptor signaling, 2 Rho kinase, 265–266, 268, 275–278, 280, 282–283 RhoA, 2–3, 47, 65–66, 70, 72, 81–83, 85–87, 147–150, 152, 188, 196–197, 265 RhoGTPases, 194, 196, 199 RNA-induced silencing complex, 5, 240–241 ROCK, 2–3, 65–67, 69, 72–73, 75, 77, 79–90, 92–95, 97, 147–149, 153–155

S

scavenger receptors, 217 Septic shock, 6, 264–265, 269–270, 279–282 shock, 263–284 smooth muscle cell structure, 7–8

Т

terlipressin, 282 TGFβ, 170, 251 TNF-a, 225 Tropomyosin, 2, 14–16, 22–23, 26, 151, 200

V

vascular calcification, 228 vascular disease, 248, 250, 252 vascular function, 264–265, 267, 269–270, 283 Vascular hyporeactivity, 263–265, 273–275, 279, 282 vascular reactivity, 263–271, 273–284 vascular smooth muscle cells, 183, 187–189, 201, 263–264 vascular smooth muscle, 47–50, 54, 62, 65, 75, 79, 244–246, 253 vascular, 7–9, 11, 13, 15, 18, 25, 29 vasopressin, 280, 282

\mathbf{Z}

zipper-interacting kinase, 47, 70